# World Journal of *Gastroenterology*

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2413-2536





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

# World Journal of Gastroenterology

#### Contents

#### Weekly Volume 24 Number 23 June 21, 2018

#### **REVIEW**

- 2413 Recent advances in non-invasive magnetic resonance imaging assessment of hepatocellular carcinoma Ippolito D, Inchingolo R, Grazioli L, Drago SG, Nardella M, Gatti M, Faletti R
- 2427 Taking advantage of the potential of mesenchymal stromal cells in liver regeneration: Cells and extracellular vesicles as therapeutic strategies

Fiore EJ, Domínguez LM, Bayo J, García MG, Mazzolini GD

2441 Feasibility of using marginal liver grafts in living donor liver transplantation Lan X, Zhang H, Li HY, Chen KF, Liu F, Wei YG, Li B

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

Vedolizumab for inflammatory bowel disease: From randomized controlled trials to real-life evidence 2457 Scribano ML

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Basic Study**

Dynamic alterations in the gut microbiota and metabolome during the development of methionine-choline-2468 deficient diet-induced nonalcoholic steatohepatitis Ye JZ, Li YT, Wu WR, Shi D, Fang DQ, Yang LY, Bian XY, Wu JJ, Wang Q, Jiang XW, Peng CG, Ye WC, Xia PC, Li LJ

#### **Case Control Study**

2482 Association of twelve polymorphisms in three onco-IncRNA genes with hepatocellular cancer risk and prognosis: A case-control study Wang BG, Xu Q, Lv Z, Fang XX, Ding HX, Wen J, Yuan Y

#### **Retrospective Cohort Study**

2491 Subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy for the treatment of slow transit constipation in an aged population: A retrospective control study Yang Y, Cao YL, Wang WH, Zhang YY, Zhao N, Wei D

#### **Retrospective Study**

2501 Transarterial embolization and low-dose continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy with oxaliplatin and raltitrexed for hepatocellular carcinoma with major portal vein tumor thrombus Zhu LZ, Xu S, Qian HL

#### **Clinical Trials Study**

2508 Clinical and prognostic significance of Raf kinase inhibitory protein expression in gastrointestinal stromal tumors Wang Y, Chen JJ, Wang XF, Wang Q

#### **META-ANALYSIS**

2518 Comparing outcomes for endoscopic submucosal dissection between Eastern and Western countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis Daoud DC, Suter N, Durand M, Bouin M, Faulques B, von Renteln D



ContentsWorld Journal of GastroentVolume 24 Number 23 June 21						
ABOUT COVER	Editorial board member of <i>World Journal of Gastroenterology</i> , Tatsuo Kanda, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, Nihon University School of Medicine, Tokyo 173-8610, Japan					
AIMS AND SCOPE	World Journal of Gastroenterology (World J Gastroenterol, WJG, print ISSN 1007-9327, online ISSN 2219-2840, DOI: 10.3748) is a peer-reviewed open access journal. WJG was established on October 1, 1995. It is published weekly on the 7 <sup>th</sup> , 14 <sup>th</sup> , 21 <sup>st</sup> , and 28 <sup>th</sup> each month. The WJG Editorial Board consists of 642 experts in gastroenterology and hepatology from 59 countries. The primary task of WJG is to rapidly publish high-quality original articles, reviews, and commentaries in the fields of gastroenterology, hepatology, gastrointestinal endoscopy, gastrointestinal surgery, hepatobiliary surgery, gastrointestinal oncology, gastrointestinal radiation oncology, gastrointestinal imaging, gastrointestinal interventional therapy, gastrointestinal infectious diseases, gastrointestinal pharmacology, gastrointestinal pathophysiology, gastrointestinal laboratory medicine, gastrointestinal molecular biology, gastrointestinal immunology, gastrointestinal microbiology, gastrointestinal translational medicine, gastrointestinal diagnostics, and gastrointestinal translational medicine, gastrointestinal diagnostics, and gastrointestinal translational medicine, gastrointestinal and prestigious journal in gastroenterology and hepatology, to promote the development of above disciplines, and to improve the diagnostic and therapeutic skill and expertise of clinicians.					
INDEXING/ABSTRACTING	<i>World Journal of Gastroenterology (WJG)</i> is now in Science Citation Index Expanded (also known a Medicus, MEDLINE, PubMed, PubMed Centr 2017 edition of Journal Citation Reports <sup>®</sup> cites t impact factor: 3.176), ranking <i>WJG</i> as 29 <sup>th</sup> amo ogy (quartile in category Q2).	dexed in Current Contents <sup>®</sup> /Clinical Medicine, as SciSearch <sup>®</sup> ), Journal Citation Reports <sup>®</sup> , Index ral and Directory of Open Access Journals. The the 2016 impact factor for <i>WJG</i> as 3.365 (5-year ng 79 journals in gastroenterology and hepatol-				
EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE Response Proofing	sible Assistant Editor: Xiang Li     Responsible       sible Electronic Editor: Yan Huang     Proofing E       g Editor-in-Chief: Lian-Sbeng Ma     Responsible	le Science Editor: Xue-Jiao Wang Editorial Office Director: Ze-Mao Gong				
NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Gastroenterology ISSN ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online) LAUNCH DATE October 1, 1995 FREQUENCY Weekly EDITORS-IN-CHIEF Damian Garcia-Olmo, MD, PhD, Doctor, Profes- sor, Surgeon, Department of Surgery, Universidad Autonoma de Madrid; Department of General Sur- gery, Fundacion Jimenez Diaz University Hospital, Madrid 28040, Spain Stephen C Strom, PhD, Professor, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Division of Pathology, Karo- linska Institutet, Stockholm 141-86, Sweden	CA 90822, United States <b>EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS</b> All editorial board members resources online at http:// www.wignet.com/1007-9327/editorialboard.htm <b>EDITORIAL OFFICE</b> Ze-Mao Gong, Director <i>World Journal of Gastroenterology</i> Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7901 Stoneridge Drive, Suite 501, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-2238242 Fax: +1-925-2238243 E-mail: editorialoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk http://www.wjgnet.com <b>PUBLISHER</b> Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7901 Stoneridge Drive, Suite 501, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-2238242	<ul> <li>PUBLICATION DATE June 21, 2018</li> <li>COPYRIGHT</li> <li>© 2018 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. Articles published by this Open-Access journal are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-commercial License, which permits use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non commercial and is otherwise in compliance with the license.</li> <li>SPECIAL STATEMENT All articles published in journals owned by the Baishideng Publishing Group (BPG) represent the views and opinions of their authors, and not the views, opinions or policies of the BPG, except where otherwise explicitly indicated.</li> <li>INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS Full instructions are available online at http://www.</li> </ul>				
Andrzej S Tarnawski, MD, PhD, DSc (Med), Professor of Medicine, Chief Gastroenterology, VA Long Beach Health Care System, University of Cali- fornia, Irvine, CA, 5901 E. Seventh Str., Long Beach,	Facphone: +1->25-2238242 Fax: +1-925-2238243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wignet.com Help Desk: http://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk http://www.wignet.com	wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204 ONLINE SUBMISSION http://www.f6publishing.com				





Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2413

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2413-2426

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

# Recent advances in non-invasive magnetic resonance imaging assessment of hepatocellular carcinoma

Davide Ippolito, Riccardo Inchingolo, Luigi Grazioli, Silvia Girolama Drago, Michele Nardella, Marco Gatti, Riccardo Faletti

Davide Ippolito, Silvia Girolama Drago, School of Medicine, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan 20126, Italy

Davide Ippolito, Silvia Girolama Drago, Department of Diagnostic Radiology, HS Gerardo Monza, Monza (MB) 20900, Italy

Riccardo Inchingolo, Michele Nardella, Division of Interventional Radiology, Department of Radiology, Madonna delle Grazie Hospital, Matera 75100, Italy

Marco Gatti, Riccardo Faletti, Department of Surgical Sciences, Radiology Unit, University of Turin, Turin 10126, Italy

Luigi Grazioli, Department of Radiology, University of Brescia "Spedali Civili", Brescia 25123, Italy

ORCID number: Davide Ippolito (0000-0002-2696-7047); Riccardo Inchingolo (0000-0002-0253-5936); Luigi Grazioli (0000-0002-2345-1571); Silvia Girolama Drago (0000-0003 -3569-2118); Michele Nardella (0000-0002-1573-511X); Marco Gatti (0000-0001-8168-5280); Riccardo Faletti (0000-0002-8865 -8637).

Author contributions: All authors equally contributed to this paper with conception and design of the study, literature review and analysis, drafting and critical revision and editing, and final approval of the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors are aware of the content of the manuscript and have no conflict of interest.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Davide Ippolito, MD, Adjunct Professor, Staff Physician, Department of Diagnostic Radiology, San Gerardo Hospital, University of Milano-Bicocca, Via Pergolesi 33, Monza (MB) 20900, Italy. davide.atena@tiscalinet.it Telephone: +39-2-64488265 Fax: +39-2-64488299

Received: March 26, 2018 Peer-review started: March 28, 2018 First decision: April 19, 2018 Revised: April 27, 2018 Accepted: May 11, 2018 Article in press: May 11, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

## Abstract

Magnetic resonance (MR) imaging of the liver is an important tool for the detection and characterization of focal liver lesions and for assessment of diffuse liver disease, having several intrinsic characteristics, represented by high soft tissue contrast, avoidance of ionizing radiation or iodinated contrast media, and more recently, by application of several functional imaging techniques (i.e., diffusion-weighted sequences, hepatobiliary contrast agents, perfusion imaging, magnetic resonance (MR)-elastography, and radiomics analysis). MR functional imaging techniques are extensively used both in routine practice and in the field of clinical and pre-clinical research because, through a qualitative rather than quantitative approach, they can offer valuable information about tumor tissue and tissue architecture, cellular biomarkers related to the hepatocellular functions, or tissue vascularization profiles related to tumor and tissue biology. This kind of approach offers in vivo physiological parameters, capable of evaluating physiological and pathological modifications of tissues, by the analysis of quantitative data that could be used in tumor detection, characterization, treatment

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

selection, and follow-up, in addition to those obtained from standard morphological imaging. In this review we provide an overview of recent advanced techniques in MR for the diagnosis and staging of hepatocellular carcinoma, and their role in the assessment of response treatment evaluation.

**Key words:** Liver; Cirrhosis; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Magnetic resonance; Transarterial chemoembolization; Contrast media

© **The Author(s) 2018.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Magnetic resonance (MR) of the liver is an important diagnostic option for detection and characterization of focal liver lesions. To date, beside the standard morphological sequences, new functional imaging tools (*i.e.*, diffusion-weighted sequences, hepatobiliary contrast agents, perfusion imaging, MR-elastography, or radiomics analysis) have been introduced in clinical practice. The aim of functional imaging is to provide *in vivo* quantitative complementary functional data related to the tissue or tumor modifications, offering useful comprehensive information about the biology, behavior, and prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma lesions. This functional approach may help clinicians correctly manage cirrhotic patients, also after therapeutic treatment.

Ippolito D, Inchingolo R, Grazioli L, Drago SG, Nardella M, Gatti M, Faletti R. Recent advances in non-invasive magnetic resonance imaging assessment of hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2413-2426 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v24/i23/2413.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2413

#### INTRODUCTION

Liver cancer is the fifth most frequently diagnosed malignancy among men and the ninth among women. Recently, it has risen from the third to the second cause of death from cancer, accounting for nearly 746000 deaths in 2012. In some regions, like Eastern and South-Eastern Asia, mortality almost equals incidence with an overall ratio of  $0.95^{[1]}$ . The most common histological subtype of liver cancer is hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), representing more than 90% of cases. The incidence of HCC increases with advanced age, reaching, at least in developed countries, a peak at 70 years<sup>[2]</sup>. In up to 90% of cases, HCC occurs in the setting of liver cirrhosis and overall, one-third of cirrhotic patients will develop HCC during their lifetimes<sup>[3]</sup>.

The primary risk factor for HCC is still represented by chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) or hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection<sup>[4]</sup>, with a prevalence of virus B infection in Eastern countries and a prevalence of virus C infection in Western countries. Other causes of cirrhosis comprise

alcohol abuse, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and less frequent disorders such as hemochromatosis. All etiologies could lead to cirrhosis and may be complicated by tumor formation, but the risk is higher in patients with hepatitis infection. In the coming years, the diffusion of new antiviral agents for  $HCV^{[5]}$ , vaccination and therapy for  $HBV^{[6]}$ , and prevention campaigns are expected to reduce the burden of chronic viral liver disease and its complications, including  $HCC^{[7]}$ . On the other hand, the widespread epidemic of obesity is expected to induce a significant increase in the incidence of NAFLD and its complications, such as NASH, cirrhosis, and  $HCC^{[8,9]}$ .

Liver cirrhosis is a common underlying condition associated with hepatocarcinogenesis. Cirrhosis develops after a long period of chronic liver disease, when the risk of HCC is still low. The nodules that could be potentially found in a cirrhotic liver comprise: Small and large regenerative nodule (RN), low-grade dysplastic nodule (LGDN), high-grade dysplastic nodule (HGDN), early HCC, well-differentiated HCC, and moderately-poorly differentiated HCC. Hepatocarcinogenesis is a multistep event during which cell density increases, Kuppfer cells decrease, nodules enlarge, and hemodynamics change. In the initial phase, normal arterial supply decreases but portal perfusion is still present. Later, intranodular arterial vascularity increases due to the appearance of unpaired arteries (capillarization) while portal blood supplies progressively decrease<sup>[10]</sup>. Simultaneously, organic anionic transporting polypeptide (OATP), transporters of bile salts, gradually decrease. OATP expression levels are high in RNs and LGDNs and lower in many HGDNs, early HCCs, and progressed HCCs. The hemodynamic changes are well depicted during dynamic multidetector computed tomography (MDCT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and both European and American guidelines have endorsed this technique for the diagnosis of HCC > 1 cm, based on the typical hallmarks of hypervascularity in arterial phase with wash-out in portal phase, thereby avoiding liver biopsy<sup>[11,12]</sup>.

However, there remains a high rate of false negative, ranging from 25%-30%, in particular for nodules  $< 2 \text{ cm}^{[13,14]}$ , which actually are the most often encountered focal liver lesions, thanks to the widespread of surveillance programs. In these small nodules, hemodynamic changes of hepatocarcinogenesis are in an early stage, since neoangiogenesis is incomplete and they are still mainly filled by portal vessels, in contrast to progressed HCC. MRI in part overcomes these limits. It has been recently demonstrated that this diagnostic technique has a higher diagnostic performance over computed tomography (CT) in the detection of highrisk nodules<sup>[15]</sup>. This is due to its high contrast resolution and to its multiparametric characteristics. In fact, it is known that hyperintensity on T2 weighted sequences and restricted diffusion in diffuse weighted images (DWI) are features of malignancy<sup>[16]</sup>. Moreover the recent introduction of hepatospecific MRI contrast agent

![](_page_4_Picture_12.jpeg)

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

![](_page_5_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 1 Schematic comparison between diffusion weighted images (on the left) and perfusion maps (on the right) showing the meaning from the pathophysiological point of view of the two different functional magnetic resonance techniques. The diffusion offers qualitative information strictly related to tissue cellularity, while perfusion sequences offer qualitative information about tissue vascularization.

gadolinium-ethoxybenzyl-dieth-ylenetriamine pentaacetic acid (Gd-EOB-DTPA, Primovist<sup>®</sup>; Bayer Schering Pharma, Berlin, Germany), which gives information not only on vascular changes but also on hepatocyte function, raises the sensitivity for the detection of early HCC to  $91\%-93\%^{[17]}$ . Based on this feature, Kim BR and colleagues<sup>[16]</sup> demonstrated that readers had significantly higher detection sensitivity for early HCCs with MRI than with multidetector CT (78.6% *vs* 52.4%, *P* = 0.001; 71.4% *vs* 50.0%, *P* = 0.011; and 73.8% *vs* 50.0%, *P* = 0.001, respectively), as shown by 30 more LI-RADS category 4 early HCCs identified at MRI.

The correct characterization of all nodules possibly encountered in a cirrhotic liver is of paramount importance because they are managed completely differently. In fact, while regenerative and dysplastic nodules deserve a strict follow-up, HCC should be treated with the more suitable therapeutic option, according its stage. This is clearly defined by the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) staging system, adopted in all Western countries and endorsed by both American and European guidelines.

In this context, beside traditional radiological techniques, new functional imaging tools have been introduced in clinical practice in order to provide not only morphological information but also functional data information. Functional magnetic resonance imaging encompasses a wide range of advanced techniques capable of evaluating physiological and pathological modifications of tissues, by the analysis of quantitative data, in addition to those obtained from standard morphological imaging. These techniques may include diffusion-weighted sequences, hepatobiliary contrast agents, perfusion imaging, MR-elastography, and more recently radiomics analysis. In particular, perfusion imaging (related to vascular profile) and diffusion imaging (related to cellular profile) (Figure 1) techniques have been extensively studied during various steps of HCC evolution, from initial assessment of vascular modifications in cirrhotic liver, through its progression in tumor lesion, and finally to its follow-up after treatment. Hence, in this review, we provide an overview of recent advances and techniques in MR studies for the diagnosis and the staging of HCC.

# CONTRAST MEDIA: EXTRACELLULAR AND HEPATOBILIARY AGENTS

Gadolinium is a paramagnetic ion that shortens T1 relaxation time in tissues and, therefore, produces an increase in signal intensity<sup>[18]</sup>. Based on bio-distribution, there are three categories of gadolinium-based contrast agents: extracellular fluid agents (ECFAs), blood pool agents (BPCAs), and targeted and organ-specific contrast agents, such as hepatocyte-specific contrast agents (HCAs). ECFAs and HCAs are the most commonly used in liver imaging. ECFAs consist of gadolinium chelated to an organic compound, such as DTPA<sup>[19]</sup>. They are

#### Ippolito D et al. Advances in magnetic resonance liver

Table 1 Gadolinium-based magnetic resonance imaging contrast agent								
Contrast agent	Category	Relaxivity	Structure	Concentration (mmol/mL)	Reccomended dosage (mmol/kg)			
Gadoterate-meglumine	ECFAs	Standard	macrocyclic	0.5	0.1			
Gadobutrol	ECFAs	Standard	macrocyclic	1.0	0.1			
Gadoteridol	ECFAs	Standard	macrocyclic	0.5	0.1			
Gadopentetate- dimeglumine	ECFAs	Standard	Linear	0.5	0.1			
Gadoversetamide	ECFAs	Standard	Linear	0.5	0.1			
Gadodiamide	ECFAs	Standard	Linear	0.5	0.1			
Gadofosfaset-trisodium	BPCAs	High	Linear	0.25	0.03			
Gadobenate- dimeglumine	HCAs	High	Linear	0.5	0.1			
Gadoxetate-disodium	HCAs	High	Linear	0.25	0.025			

ECFAs: Extracellular fluid agents; BPCAs: Blood pool agents; HCAs: Hepatocyte-specific contrast agents.

further divided in standard relaxivity macrocyclic agents, standard relaxivity linear agents, and high relativity linear agents (Table 1). The details regarding the advantages and disadvantages of each contrast category is beyond the scope of this article, but in general, there is little clinical difference<sup>[20]</sup>. The standard dose is 0.1 mmol/kg typically injected intravenously at a rate of 2 mL/s followed by a normal saline "flush" of 20 to 50 mL. After the injection, ECFAs are rapidly cleared from the intravascular space through the capillaries into the extracellular space. They are mainly eliminated by renal excretion and have imaging dynamics comparable to the extracellular iodinated contrast media used in CT. However, MRI is more sensitive to the effects of gadolinium than CT is to the effects of iodine, because gadolinium has an amplification effect due to the number of adjacent water protons relaxed by a single gadolinium atom<sup>[19,21]</sup>. In summary, ECFAs enter into the liver through the hepatic artery and portal vein and are freely redistributed into the interstitial space; they demonstrate vascular perfusion by distributing and allow the evaluation of liver lesions based on assessment of vascularity. The combination of arterial phase hyperenhancement followed by washout appearance in the portal venous and/or delayed phase is the key diagnostic feature of  $HCC^{[11,12]}$  (Figure 2).

The pathophysiologic basis for arterial phase hyperenhancement in HCC is related to the increasing of the intranodular arterial supply during hepatocarcinogenesis<sup>[22]</sup>. The mechanisms underlying washout appearance in HCC depend on a range of factors: early venous drainage of contrast material from the tumor, progressive enhancement of background liver, reduced intranodular portal venous blood supply, tumor hypercellularity with corresponding reduction in extracellular volume, and intrinsic hypoattenuation/ hypointensity<sup>[23]</sup>. In cirrhotic patients, this enhancement pattern has approximately 100% specificity for lesions larger than 2 cm and approximately 90% specificity for those of 1-2 cm<sup>[24]</sup>. However, the main limitation with ECFAs for diagnosis and staging HCCs is low per-lesion sensitivity, because an atypical vascular behavior is quite common in small (< 2 cm) nodules and approximately one-third of these are malignant ("the one-third rule")<sup>[25]</sup>. Indeed, the intranodular hemodynamic changes during carcinogenesis start with an arterial hypovascularity with portal perfusion still present, followed by a decrease of both arterial and portal blood supply, then followed by an increase in arterial vascularity to isovascular, and, finally, to a hypervascular pattern<sup>[12]</sup>.

On the other hand, several recent studies demonstrated that the expression of OATP diminishes during hepatocarcinogenesis<sup>[26]</sup>. Moreover, OATP 8 expression level decreases prior to complete neoangiogenesis, with elevation of arterial flow and reduction of portal venous flow<sup>[27]</sup>. Thanks to their lipophilic characteristics, HCAs, after the intravascular/interstitial distribution, are taken up by functioning hepatocytes, metabolized, and excreted into the bile through the OATP 8: Consequently, nodules with low or no OATP expression (the majority of HCC, many early HCCs, and some high-grade dysplastic nodules) do not uptake HCAs and appear hypointense in the hepatobiliary phase (HBP) (Figure 2). A recent meta-analysis has shown that the impact of HBP on a per-lesion sensitivity is significant, in particular the use of Gd-EOB-DTPA allowed a sensitivity of 87% vs 74% (P = 0.03) the one without HBP<sup>[28]</sup>. Based on these considerations, the current contrast agents applied in the study of the liver are the gadobenate dimeglumine (Gd-BOPTA/Dimeg, MultiHance®, Bracco, Milan, Italy), which is a chelate of the paramagnetic gadolinium ion salified with two molecules of meglumine, and gadolinium ethoxybenzyl diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (Gd-EOB-DTPA, Primovist<sup>®</sup>, Bayer Schering Pharma, Berlin, Germany), which is a highly water-soluble contrast agent with an ethobenzyl group attached to gadolinium diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid<sup>[29]</sup>. The approved dose of Gd-BOPTA for hepatic imaging is 0.05 mmol/kg (0.1 mL/kg of a 0.5 mol/L solution)<sup>[30]</sup>, and it should be administered undiluted followed by a normal saline "flush" of 20 to 50 mL. Hepatic uptake represents 2%-4% of the injected dose for Gd-BOPTA, and the HBP is typically performed between 45 and 120 min after injection and is necessary in order to achieve sufficient enhancement.

The approved dose of Gd-EOB-DTPA is 0.025 mmol/kg, which is considered the minimum effective dose for the detection of liver lesions in the hepatobiliary phase.

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

![](_page_7_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 2 Schematic representation showing dynamic contrast enhanced sequences, diffusion weighted images, and T2-weighted features in typical, green, and hypovascular hepatocellular carcinoma, comparing information from extracellular contrast agent and hepatobiliary contrast agent. ECA: Extracellular contrast agent; HBA: Hepatobiliary contrast agent; DWI: Diffusion weighted images.

The modalities of gadoxetic acid administration were addressed in the ESGAR consensus statement[31] (flowrate of 1-2 mL/s followed by a 20 mL saline flush at 1-2 mL/s using a bolus triggering technique). Hepatic uptake represents 50% for Gd-EOB-DTPA, and the HBP reaches its maximum intensity approximately 20 min after injection with gadoxetate disodium and persists for several hours<sup>[32]</sup>. The clinical use of liverspecific contrast agents allows the radiologist to obtain morphologic and vascular-related information, although an overlap between delayed phase and hepatocyte phase have to be considered during dynamic evaluation<sup>[33]</sup>. A recent meta-analysis<sup>[34]</sup> reported that in trials of MRI that directly compared test performance using different contrast agents, use of HCAs was associated with higher sensitivity than ECAs (difference of 13%), with no difference in specificity. The difference was somewhat greater for HCC lesions smaller than 2 cm (difference of 15%). These finding were stressed by the ESGAR consensus<sup>[31]</sup>, who stated that a Gd-EOB-DTPA MR examination should be performed in order to characterize an undetermined focal liver lesion of 10 mm or larger in the cirrhotic liver. In summary, HCAs allow a comprehensive non-invasive imaging

assessment of the liver parenchyma, intrahepatic lesions depiction or characterization, hepatic vasculature, and the biliary tree in a single examination. They have several advantages in the evaluation of the cirrhotic liver including: (1) Higher sensitivity for the diagnosis of HCC, in particular for lesions smaller than 2 cm<sup>[34]</sup>; (2) improved characterization of arterially enhancing lesions without definite washout on subsequent imaging<sup>[35]</sup>; (3) the possibility to differentiate arterially enhancing lesion *vs* pseudolesions<sup>[36]</sup>; and (4) detection of lesions with decreased uptake evidenced only in the HBP that are likely to be precancerous or borderline lesion<sup>[37]</sup>.

#### PERFUSION IMAGING

Perfusion MRI in the assessment of HCC focuses on the detection and characterization of lesions<sup>[38-40]</sup>, the evaluation of response to therapy<sup>[38,41-44]</sup>, and determination of prognosis<sup>[44,45]</sup> (Table 2).

The basis of dynamic contrast-enhanced (DCE)perfusion MR imaging is the acquisition of multiple image sets, every few seconds, through the tumor or as much of the organ as possible, after gadolinium injection. The rate and pattern of contrast enhancement reflects

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Magnetic resonance imaging perfusion with dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging in the assessment of hepatocellular carcinoma, focus on diagnosis, characterization, response to therapy, and prognosis

Ref.	Year	Magnet (Tesla)	Contrast agent	Parameters
Diagnosis and characte	erization			
Taouli <i>et al</i> <sup>[38]</sup>	2013	1.5 T	Gadobenate-dimeglumine and gadopentetate- dimeglumine	AF, VF, ART, DV, MTT
Chen et al <sup>[39]</sup>	2017	3 T	GD-EOB-DTPA	Ktrans, Kep, iAUC, max-Ktrans
Jajamovich et al <sup>[40]</sup>	2016	3 T	Gadobenate-dimeglumine	ART, K trans, ve, kep, τ
Abdullah et al <sup>[61]</sup>	2008	1.5 T	Gadoterate-dimeglumine	HPI, MTT, DV, TF, AF, PF
Response to therapy				
Ippolito et al <sup>[41]</sup>	2016	1.5 T	GD-EOB-DTPA	ME, MRE, RAE, RE, RLE, RVE, TTP
Taouli et al <sup>[38]</sup>	2013	1.5 T	Gadobenate-dimeglumine and Gadopentetate-	AF, VF, ART, DV, MTT
			dimeglumine	
Chen et al <sup>[45]</sup>	2016	1.5 T	Gadodiamide	Peak, Slope, AUC, Ktrans, Kep, Ve
Prognosis				
Chen et al <sup>[45]</sup>	2016	1.5 T	Gadodiamide	Peak, Slope, AUC, Ktrans, Kep, Ve
Chen et al <sup>[45]</sup>	2016	1.5 T	Gadodiamide	ART, AF, PF, TF, MTT, DV, PEAK, SLOPE, AUC

ART: Arterial fraction; K trans: Contrast agent transfer rate constant from plasma to extravascular extracellular space; VE: Extravascular extracellular volume fraction; Kep: Contrast agent intravasation rate constant; τ: Mean intracellular water molecule lifetime; ME: Maximum enhancement; MRE: Maximum relative enhancement; RAE: Relative arterial enhancement; RE: Relative enhancement; RLE: Relative late enhancement; RVE: Relative venous enhancement; TTP: Time to peak; HPI: Hepatic perfusion index; MTT: Mean transit time; DV: Distribution volume; TF: Total blood flow; AF: Arterial blood flow; PF: Portal blood flow; AUC: Area under the gadolinium distribution-time curve.

the time evolution of the contrast agent within the tissue, which occurs as a result of the microcirculatory pathophysiological changes. Perfusion MRI could extend the currently used qualitative assessment applied for the differential diagnosis of lesions, by applying quantitative metrics to describe their vascular behaviour.

The main purpose of MRI perfusion is the quantification of vascular characteristics of HCC, because the growth and progression of histological malignancy of HCC are associated with new blood vessels formation<sup>[46]</sup> (angiogenesis). Moreover, the targets of anti-angiogenic drugs, recently used for HCC treatment, are represented by these new blood vessels and, therefore, the perfusion, as a functional imaging technique, may be suitable for evaluating patients treated with these agents<sup>[47-50]</sup>.

Dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging (DCE-MRI) provides non-invasive imaging biomarkers that can measure changes in tumor blood flow, vascular permeability, and interstitial and intravascular volumes<sup>[40,43,47]</sup> and can predict the survival outcome in patients with HCC<sup>[51-53]</sup>. Generally, DCE-MRI consists of acquisition of T1-weighted MR images before, during, and after intravenous injection of a gadoliniumbased contrast agent<sup>[40]</sup>. The contrast agent extravasates at level of tumor tissue, from intravascular to the extravascular extracellular space (EES) with increased T1-w signal<sup>[43,54,55]</sup>. This extravasation to EES in the tumor tissue depends on vessel leakiness (permeability) and blood flow (perfusion), and so the signal measured with DCE-MRI could be sensitive to alterations in vascular permeability, EES, and blood flow<sup>[43,54]</sup>.

DCE-MRI signals can be quantified using a semiquantitative (model free) or quantitative (model based) analysis<sup>[56]</sup>. Both analysis methods have several parameters related with tumor angiogenesis<sup>[54,57]</sup> and can give different information on liver and tumor perfusion<sup>[56]</sup>. Briefly, with the semi-quantitative analysis, all perfusion parameters are extracted directly from time-signal intensity (SI) curves [*e.g.*, AUC, maximum SI or peak enhancement ratio, wash-in slope, mean transit time (MTT)], derived from different dynamic contrastographic sequences. Although widely used, semi-quantitative analysis is highly affected by the acquisition systems and comparison and quantification of these parameters can be difficult<sup>[56,57]</sup> because the true concentration of contrast agent in the tissues is not estimated (Figure 3).

Quantitative analysis depends on fitting the time SI curves with the changes in concentration of the contrast agent using pharmacokinetic techniques using several kinetics models based on different physiological assumptions made<sup>[56]</sup>. These kinetics models can be bi-compartmental models (taking into account vessels and EES) or mono-compartmental (taking into account the vascular space because of the typical architecture of the liver)<sup>[56]</sup>, with a double or single input system (arterial and portal or arterial alone), conventional compartment (CC) models vs distributed parameters (DP) models<sup>[54,56]</sup>.

Several parameters extracted with quantitative analysis are related to the influx of contrast agent from the intravascular space to the EES (K trans) and its reverse (Kep), the volume fraction of EES (Ve), which is an indirect expression of the cellular density of the tissue<sup>[43,54,56]</sup>.

In comparison to the semi-quantitative analysis, these parameters are more time consuming because they generate parametric maps through a pixel-by-pixel curve fitting process. Although the histogram analysis and the heterogeneity of these parametric maps are more computationally demanding, they may also provide additional information<sup>[43,56]</sup>. Moreover, numerous pharmacokinetic models have been proposed by Tofts

![](_page_9_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 3 Gd-EOB-DTPA enhanced magnetic resonance images of a 67-year-old male patient with large hepatocellular carcinoma lesion in the right liver lobe. Panels A-B: T1-weighted sequences "in and out of phase" demonstrate a heterogeneous mass slightly hypointense without a signal drop in "out of phase" sequence. Panels C-D: T2-weighted image without and with fat saturation demonstrates a slightly hyperintense mass with a central, homogeneous hyperintense area, as per necrosis. Panels E-H: Dynamic contrast-enhanced images delineate the typical contrast behavior of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC): Hyperenhancement during the arterial phase (F) followed by wash-out in portal and delayed phase (G-H). In the hepatobiliary phase image 20 min after Gd-EOB-DTPA injection the nodule appears highly hypointense compared with the surrounding enhanced liver (panel I). Panel J: On the diffusion weighted image, HCC lesion is hyperintense due to the restriction of water diffusion. Panel K-L: Perfusion images derived from semiquantitative analysis (relative arterial enhancement and maximum enhancement) the HCC is characterized by high vascularity intensity signals, shown as hot-spots signals.

*et al*<sup>[58]</sup>, Brix *et al*<sup>[59]</sup>, and Larsson *et al*<sup>[60]</sup>, using a single arterial input function<sup>[43]</sup>. Because HCC receives major blood supply from hepatic neo-arteries and often arise from a cirrhotic liver, the single input model (considering only the arterial input) and the dual compartment model (because of the alteration in the EES) are frequently both used in the literature<sup>[54,56]</sup>.

However, because of numerous DCE-MRI-related limitations, parameters derived from these pharmacokinetic models may lack sufficient precision for clinical application<sup>[38]</sup>, and there is no consensus regarding the pharmacokinetic model that should be used to quantify HCC perfusion parameters, even if some studies demonstrated that some pharmacokinetic models can be equivalent in the results<sup>[40]</sup>.

All these possibilities and differences in the field of DCE-MRI led to literature studies with different results.

In general, two recent studies demonstrated that HCC had significantly higher peak, slope, AUC, arterial fraction, and arterial flow but lower portal flow, distribution volume, and MTT than the liver<sup>[45]</sup>. HCCs with high peak are correlated to a longer overall survival (OS) in comparison with HCC with low peak<sup>[45]</sup>

before systemic therapy. Secondly, high peak reduction assessed early (1 wk) after systemic therapy can be related to  $OS^{[44]}$ .

DCE-MRI semi-quantitative parameters (relative arterial, venous, and late enhancement; maximum enhancement; maximum relative enhancement, and time to peak) potentially can be used also to differentiate residual viable tumor tissue and effective treated lesions after TACE or RFA<sup>[41]</sup>. Some of them, in a multivariate analysis, seemed also to predict the response to radiotherapy RT<sup>[42]</sup>.

Some groups found that with DCE-MRI it is possible to quantify the perfusion in the liver and HCC with an increased arterial flow and decreased portal venous flow in HCC compared with cirrhotic liver, with significant differences in the degree of arterial versus portal venous blood flow in treated and untreated HCCs<sup>[38]</sup>.

Perfusion parameters could be correlated to the grading differentiation of HCC, but in most of the cases, there were no significant differences in perfusions and grade of HCC differentiation, with the exception of the arterial fraction (ART)<sup>[40]</sup>. The ART parameter is a value estimated each time through perfusion equations

obtained from the addition of the two input inflow (arterial and portal) into  $one^{[40]}$ . Moreover, it has been suggested that ART can be used to assess response to local regional therapy in HCC<sup>[38,40,61]</sup>.

In a recent study from Chen *et al*<sup>[39]</sup>, the max-Ktrans seemed to correlate with tumor grades (rho = -0.382, P = 0.028). The Ktrans, Kep, and iAUC of highgrades HCC were significantly lower than that of lowgrades HCC (P = 0.001, 0.031, 0.003, respectively), but there was no statistically significant differences for Ve between high grade and low grade HCC (P > 0.05)<sup>[39]</sup>.

These results suggest that DCE-MRI can be useful as a non-invasive marker of HCC angiogenesis, but new equipment and sequences and models are still under investigation. New equipment will be applied in the near future to quantify the perfusion of HCC, as a biomarker of degree of malignancy, prognosis, and response to therapy<sup>[38-40]</sup>.

#### **DIFFUSION WEIGHTED IMAGING**

DWI is a functional MRI sequence that allow the characterization of biological tissues based on the diffusion properties of water molecules, providing information about tissue cellularity and about the integrity of cellular membranes<sup>[2]</sup>. In fact, in high cellular tissue, the higher density of hydrophobic cellular membranes reduces the "apparent" diffusion of water protons<sup>[62]</sup>, thus the water diffusion can be considered relatively "restricted". More simply the "diffusion restriction" refers to a tumor signal intensity that is higher than the surrounding parenchyma (the liver for example) on high b-value DW MR images, and, to date, DW-imaging represents an integral part of the routine MR protocol for liver disease (Figure 4).

In 2010, Taouli *et al*<sup>[63]</sup> defined DW MR imaging, an attractive technique, which was reaching a potential for clinical use in the abdomen, particularly in the liver. Less than a decade later, all the potential uses of DWI are greatly shown, and diffusion can be considered a useful tool for the diagnosis of focal liver lesions, with better results than T2-weighted images<sup>[64]</sup> especially in HCC<sup>[65]</sup>. There are various reasons why: DWI adds useful qualitative and quantitative information to standard sequences; it has a short acquisition time and can be easily included to existing protocols; and it does not need the use of contrast materials<sup>[66,67]</sup>.

Although several DW imaging sequences can be applied to evaluate the liver, the single shot spin-echo (SE) echo-planar technique is the most frequently used in combination with fat suppression. Recent studies<sup>[68]</sup> compared free breathing (FB) *vs* respiratory triggered (RT) DWI for detecting HCC, using a 3 T scanner, a 32-channel torso-cardiac phased-array coil, and dual-source parallel radiofrequency excitation and transmission technology. They concluded that FB-DWI provided better image quality and showed higher detectability of HCCs in patients with chronic liver disease compared to RT-DWI, without significantly

reducing the SNR of the normal liver parenchyma or the lesion-to-non lesion CNR. DW imaging should not be considered a stand-alone sequence, but should be integrated in MR protocols: The combination of Gd-EOB-DTPA and DWI could allow the assessment of the three main processes in the hepatic multistep carcinogenesis (vascular changes, hepatocyte change, and tissue diffusivity). A recent meta-analysis showed that the combination of gadoxetic acid-enhanced MRI and DWI significantly improved both diagnostic accuracy and specificity for HCCs associated with chronic liver disease<sup>[69]</sup>. Several studies underline the importance that DWI adds to dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI, in characterization of small or atypically enhancing lesions<sup>[70,71]</sup>. In particular, Briani *et al*<sup>[71]</sup> demonstrated that the hypovascular lesions  $\geq$  10 mm that appeared hyperintense in DWI are associated with progression to hypervascular HCC. DWI can not only indicate the morphological characteristics of a lesion with a qualitative assessment, but with apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) measurement, can also provide a quantitative index of diffusion characteristics, analyzing structure and tissue components. Some authors<sup>[70,72]</sup> suggested that a lesion-to-liver ADC ratio cut-off value of 0.92 may offer good sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy in differentiating HCC vs dysplastic nodules (DN). Inchingolo et al<sup>[70]</sup>, furthermore, obtained higher values (sensitivity 90.91%, specificity 80.95%, and accuracy of 83.55%, when the group of LGDNs was compared to the group that included both HGDNs and HCCs, with a cut-off of 0.95. Jiang et al<sup>[73]</sup> conducted a retrospective analysis of the correlation between qualitative and quantitative DWI and HCC tumor grade. They found that while SI values on DWI could distinguish only between well-differentiated HCC and moderately or poorly differentiated HCC, ADC values could distinguish between well, moderately, and poorly differentiated HCC, with the consequence of a better pre-operative and non-invasive histological characterization. Further applications of DW imaging are still ongoing, and larger studies are needed to validate these results. One example is the application of DWI concerning the prediction of microvascular invasion (MVI) in HCC. MVI still remains one of the important prognostic factors of HCC recurrence, especially after surgical resection or liver transplantation<sup>[74,75]</sup>. In the past, other imaging characteristics have previously been suggested as predictors of MVI, such as tumor size, shape and margin, capsule, peritumoral enhancement, and dynamic enhancement pattern; but recently Yang et al<sup>[76]</sup> proposed a new integrated evaluation of T2 and DWI images by defining the concept of "diffusion- and T2-weighted imaging mismatch". They demonstrated that this new "DWI/T2 mismatch" was an independent predictor of MVI (odds ratio 4.521, P = 0.035), with a high specificity (95.65%). Another potential application of DWI is the assessment of liver tumor response to novel therapy. In fact, while a change in tumor size is

WJG www.wjgnet.com

![](_page_11_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 4 Gd-EOB-DTPA enhanced magnetic resonance images of a 61-year-old patient with hepatocellular carcinoma nodule in the VII segment of the liver. Panels A-B: A single nodule slightly hypointense on the T1-weighted "in phase" sequence (A) with a signal drop in the "out of phase" sequence, as per fat deposition. Panels C-D: On T2-weighted image without and with fat saturation the nodule appears slightly hyperintense. Panels E-H: Dynamic contrast-enhanced images demonstrate the typical contrast behavior of hepatocellular carcinoma: Which appear hypervascular during the arterial phase (F) with wash-out in portal and delayed phase (G-H). Panel I-J: Diffusion weighted image (DWI) shows the hyperintense pattern of the lesion which appear hypointense on the relative apparent diffusion coefficient map (arrowhead). Previously treated lesion with transarterial chemoembolization is recognizable, in panel A-E-F-G-H, at V segment of the liver (arrow). No any restriction of signal intensity is evident on DWI (panel I-J).

the common effect of conventional chemotherapy, locoregional therapies may lead to stability of tumor size or even an increase in hepatic tumo. Moreover, novel molecular-targeted therapies may alter the morphology of the tumor by affecting its angiogenesis, with unchanged tumor size<sup>[77]</sup>. Recent studies have shown the possibility to differentiate viable tissue from necrosis on the basis of ADC cut-off values, because necrosis has higher ADC values<sup>[78,79]</sup>. For patients with HCC treated with Sorafenib, a transient decrease in tumor ADC value approximately 1 month after treatment has been reported to be suggestive of hemorrhagic necrosis; however, a sustained decrease in ADC at 3-mo followup may indicate viable tumor or its progression<sup>[80]</sup>. ADC values in patients with HCC treated with transarterial radioembolization (TARE) have been shown to increase, a finding suggestive of cellular necrosis. Increased ADC values in such cases may be an early marker of treatment response before changes in tumor size are observed<sup>[81]</sup>. Despite the several attempts to use ADC values in clinical practice, reproducibility of volumetric

quantification with diffusion-weighted imaging is not well established. Moreover, there are some technical aspects that need to be considered, like the differences in scanner equipments, the lack of a standardized DWI protocol, the low reproducibility and comparability of ADC measurements among different studies, and finally, the susceptibility of ADC maps to noise and artefacts<sup>[64]</sup>.

#### **MR ELASTOGRAPHY**

MR elastography (MRE) is an MRI-based method for the quantitative assessment of liver fibrosis and increased stiffness. This technique is based on the application of mechanical waves (generated through the machine) to the region of interest (the liver). These waves and their wave-length are located in the liver through different elastographic sequences (the most used are gradientecho sequences with motion-encoding gradients) to obtain different set of images and maps. With two different reconstruction algorithms applied to this set of images, it is possible to obtain a final colored image,

WJG www.wjgnet.com

called "confidence map", with different stiffness areas of the liver expressed with different colors that correspond to different in kilo-pascal values (kPa).

Different studies have demonstrated the possibility to use MRE for assessment of mild degree of liver fibrosis<sup>[82-84]</sup> and to differentiate malignant and benign nodules in the liver<sup>[85]</sup>. A recent study tried to understand if there was a correlation between HCC stiffness detected with MRE and HCC pathologic features<sup>[84]</sup>. Tumor stiffness (TS) seemed to be higher in moderate/well differentiated HCC in comparison to poor differentiated HCC (6.5 ± 1.2 kPa vs 4.9 ± 1.2 kPa, P < 0.01); but at the moment, no correlation is found to liver parenchyma stiffness, vascular invasion, and tumor encapsulation<sup>[84]</sup>.

Another important application of MRE regards the assessment to treatment response and in particular loco-regional treatment [<sup>90</sup>Yttrium radio-embolization (RE), trans-arterial chemoembolization (TACE), and radiofrequency ablation (RFA)]<sup>[86]</sup>.

In two animal studies<sup>[87,88]</sup>, reduction in TS was associated with histologically proven central necrosis<sup>[89]</sup> and decreased cellular proliferation and moderate induction of apoptosis<sup>[88]</sup>. In a preliminary study on humans, MRE seems to provide early evidence of therapeutic response, demonstrating that treated tumors have significantly lower TS compared to untreated tumors (3.9 ± 1.8 kPa vs 6.9 ± 3.4 kPa, P = 0.006) and cirrhotic liver, while intra-tumoral hemorrhage is associated with higher TS. TS seems to relate with visually assessed percentage of necrosis and ER and is more in patients treated with RE<sup>[86]</sup>.

MRE still has the limitation of hepatic iron overload, which can decrease hepatic signal intensity in gradient echo based MRE sequences to unacceptably low levels<sup>[83]</sup>. On the other hand, MRE enables qualitative and quantitative assessment of TF without the use of gadolinium chelates<sup>[86]</sup>.

Despite some of the limitations of MRE, it remains a promising technique not only for the evaluation of liver fibrosis but also in the spectrum of diagnosis and prognosis of  $HCC^{[83,84,86]}$ .

#### RADIOMICS

Radiomics represents the possibility to convert digital medical images (CT, MR, or positron emission tomography images) into high-dimensional data<sup>[89]</sup>; the hypothesis is that biomedical images contain information that reflects underlying pathophysiology and that these relationships can be revealed *via* quantitative image analyses. MRI based radiomics signature are currently investigated in glioblastoma, breast, and faringeal cancer. Currently, there are no studies about the possibility to use radiomics in the assessment of HCC. Main efforts remain focused on some complex texture analysis, taking in account just few features, which represent a small and impaired part of radiomics data analysis.

Controversial results were obtained from different

studies concerning the use of texture analysis in the assessment of  $HCC^{[90-93]}$ . The main problems are due to differences in the equipment, contrast phase chosen for the analysis, and type of segmentation (circular ROI *vs* tumor shape ROI, slice analysis vs volumetric ROI analysis). Recently, two studies have been published on the possibility to use complex texture analysis in MRI to assess the malignancy of HCC (Zhou *et al*<sup>[94]</sup>) or to predict the progression of hypovascular nodules (detected with gadoxetate disodium acid during hepatobiliary phase) into hypervascular HCC lesions<sup>[90]</sup>. In both studies, volumetric region of interest (VOI) was evaluated.

All these preliminary studies demonstrated that, among the different features assessed with texture analysis, some of them seem to perform better on a specific dynamic phase (arterial or hepatobiliary) and can give useful information. In order to differentiate low grade and high grade HCC<sup>[94]</sup>, "mean intensity value" (a histogram feature) presented significantly larger values in low-grade HCCs than in the high-grade HCCs, and the values of gray-level run-length nonuniformity (GLN) were significantly smaller in low-grade HCCs than in high-grade HCCs.

Moreover, in another study, different histogram metrics showed the possibility to predict the progression of a hypovascular nodule into an HCC<sup>[90]</sup>, using different flip angles and volumetric region of interest.

Radiomics appears to offer a nearly limitless supply of imaging biomarkers that could potentially aid in cancer detection, diagnosis, assessment of prognosis, prediction of response to treatment, and monitoring of disease status<sup>[89]</sup>. Further studies and validations are required for the performance of the features by themselves, their application according to the different contrast phases available during MRI sequences, and the different MRI equipment.

#### CONCLUSION

MRI of the liver represents an important tool for the detection and characterization of focal liver lesions and for the evaluation of diffuse liver disease. The main advantages of MRI relies on superior soft tissue contrast, absence of ionizing radiation, and the possibility of performing functional and advanced imaging techniques. Unlike conventional MR imaging sequences, which are usually reported qualitatively based on the varying brightness of tissue, functional MR-imaging techniques offers quantitative data. Among the different functional MR imaging techniques, DWI, MR elastography, and T1-weighted DCE sequences are the most likely to find clinical use at present or in the near future in liver imaging.

MR functional imaging allows for the addition of qualitative and quantitative functional information to conventional anatomic sequences and routine clinical protocols, thereby offering clinicians further comprehensive information about the biology, behavior, and prognosis about HCC lesions.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to thank Professor Adam Cassels for his contribution in amending and polishing the language of this manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray F. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *Int J Cancer* 2015; 136: E359-E386 [PMID: 25220842 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.29210]
- 2 **El-Serag HB**, Mason AC. Rising incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. *N Engl J Med* 1999; **340**: 745-750 [PMID: 10072408 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199903113401001]
- 3 Sangiovanni A, Prati GM, Fasani P, Ronchi G, Romeo R, Manini M, Del Ninno E, Morabito A, Colombo M. The natural history of compensated cirrhosis due to hepatitis C virus: A 17-year cohort study of 214 patients. *Hepatology* 2006; 43: 1303-1310 [PMID: 16729298 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21176]
- 4 Bosch FX, Ribes J, Cléries R, Díaz M. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clin Liver Dis* 2005; 9: 191-211, v [PMID: 15831268 DOI: 10.1016/j.cld.2004.12.009]
- 5 Singal AK, Singh A, Jaganmohan S, Guturu P, Mummadi R, Kuo YF, Sood GK. Antiviral therapy reduces risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis C virus-related cirrhosis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 8: 192-199 [PMID: 19879972 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2009.10.026]
- 6 Zanetti AR, Van Damme P, Shouval D. The global impact of vaccination against hepatitis B: a historical overview. *Vaccine* 2008; 26: 6266-6273 [PMID: 18848855 DOI: 10.1016/ j.vaccine.2008.09.056]
- Mittal S, El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of hepatocellular carcinoma: consider the population. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2013; 47 Suppl: S2-S6 [PMID: 23632345 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e3182872f29. Epidemiology]
- 8 Dyson J, Jaques B, Chattopadyhay D, Lochan R, Graham J, Das D, Aslam T, Patanwala I, Gaggar S, Cole M, Sumpter K, Stewart S, Rose J, Hudson M, Manas D, Reeves HL. Hepatocellular cancer: the impact of obesity, type 2 diabetes and a multidisciplinary team. *J Hepatol* 2014; **60**: 110-117 [PMID: 23978719 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2013.08.011]
- 9 Siegel AB, Zhu AX. Metabolic syndrome and hepatocellular carcinoma: two growing epidemics with a potential link. *Cancer* 2009; 115: 5651-5661 [PMID: 19834957 DOI: 10.1002/ cncr.24687]
- 10 Kudo M. Multistep human hepatocarcinogenesis: correlation of imaging with pathology. J Gastroenterol 2009; 44 Suppl 19: 112-118 [PMID: 19148804 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-008-2274-6]
- 11 European Association For The Study Of The Liver; European Organisation For Research And Treatment Of Cancer. EASL-EORTC clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol* 2012; 56: 908-943 [PMID: 22424438 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.12.001]
- 12 Bruix J, Sherman M; American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma: an update. *Hepatology* 2011; 53: 1020-1022 [PMID: 21374666 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.24199]
- 13 Colli A, Fraquelli M, Casazza G, Massironi S, Colucci A, Conte D, Duca P. Accuracy of ultrasonography, spiral CT, magnetic resonance, and alpha-fetoprotein in diagnosing hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006; **101**: 513-523 [PMID: 16542288 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00467.x]
- 14 Burrel M, Llovet JM, Ayuso C, Iglesias C, Sala M, Miquel R,

Caralt T, Ayuso JR, Solé M, Sanchez M, Brú C, Bruix J; Barcelona Clínic Liver Cancer Group. MRI angiography is superior to helical CT for detection of HCC prior to liver transplantation: an explant correlation. *Hepatology* 2003; **38**: 1034-1042 [PMID: 14512891 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2003.50409]

- 15 Kim BR, Lee JM, Lee DH, Yoon JH, Hur BY, Suh KS, Yi NJ, Lee KB, Han JK. Diagnostic Performance of Gadoxetic Acid-enhanced Liver MR Imaging versus Multidetector CT in the Detection of Dysplastic Nodules and Early Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Radiology* 2017; 285: 134-146 [PMID: 28609205 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2017162080]
- 16 Golfieri R, Garzillo G, Ascanio S, Renzulli M. Focal lesions in the cirrhotic liver: their pivotal role in gadoxetic acid-enhanced MRI and recognition by the Western guidelines. *Dig Dis* 2014; 32: 696-704 [PMID: 25376286 DOI: 10.1159/000368002]
- 17 Park MJ, Kim YK, Lee MW, Lee WJ, Kim YS, Kim SH, Choi D, Rhim H. Small hepatocellular carcinomas: improved sensitivity by combining gadoxetic acid-enhanced and diffusion-weighted MR imaging patterns. *Radiology* 2012; 264: 761-770 [PMID: 22843769 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.12112517]
- 18 Xiao YD, Paudel R, Liu J, Ma C, Zhang ZS, Zhou SK. MRI contrast agents: Classification and application (Review). *Int J Mol Med* 2016; 38: 1319-1326 [PMID: 27666161 DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.2016.2744]
- 19 Balci NC, Semelka RC. Contrast agents for MR imaging of the liver. *Radiol Clin North Am* 2005; 43: 887-898, viii [PMID: 16098345 DOI: 10.1016/j.rcl.2005.05.004]
- 20 Bellin MF. MR contrast agents, the old and the new. Eur J Radiol 2006; 60: 314-323 [PMID: 17005349 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ejrad.2006.06.021]
- 21 Verloh N, Utpatel K, Haimerl M, Zeman F, Fellner C, Fichtner-Feigl S, Teufel A, Stroszczynski C, Evert M, Wiggermann P. Liver fibrosis and Gd-EOB-DTPA-enhanced MRI: A histopathologic correlation. *Sci Rep* 2015; **5**: 15408 [PMID: 26478097 DOI: 10.1038/srep15408]
- 22 Park HJ, Choi BI, Lee ES, Park SB, Lee JB. How to Differentiate Borderline Hepatic Nodules in Hepatocarcinogenesis: Emphasis on Imaging Diagnosis. *Liver Cancer* 2017; 6: 189-203 [PMID: 28626731 DOI: 10.1159/000455949]
- 23 Marrero JA, Hussain HK, Nghiem HV, Umar R, Fontana RJ, Lok AS. Improving the prediction of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhotic patients with an arterially-enhancing liver mass. *Liver Transpl* 2005; 11: 281-289 [PMID: 15719410 DOI: 10.1002/ lt.20357]
- 24 Khalili K, Kim TK, Jang HJ, Haider MA, Khan L, Guindi M, Sherman M. Optimization of imaging diagnosis of 1-2 cm hepatocellular carcinoma: an analysis of diagnostic performance and resource utilization. *J Hepatol* 2011; 54: 723-728 [PMID: 21156219 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.07.025]
- 25 Golfieri R, Renzulli M, Lucidi V, Corcioni B, Trevisani F, Bolondi L. Contribution of the hepatobiliary phase of Gd-EOB-DTPA-enhanced MRI to Dynamic MRI in the detection of hypovascular small (≤ 2 cm) HCC in cirrhosis. *Eur Radiol* 2011; 21: 1233-1242 [PMID: 21293864 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-010-2030-1]
- 26 Kitao A, Matsui O, Yoneda N, Kozaka K, Shinmura R, Koda W, Kobayashi S, Gabata T, Zen Y, Yamashita T, Kaneko S, Nakanuma Y. The uptake transporter OATP8 expression decreases during multistep hepatocarcinogenesis: correlation with gadoxetic acid enhanced MR imaging. *Eur Radiol* 2011; 21: 2056-2066 [PMID: 21626360 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-011-2165-8]
- 27 Tsuboyama T, Onishi H, Kim T, Akita H, Hori M, Tatsumi M, Nakamoto A, Nagano H, Matsuura N, Wakasa K, Tomoda K. Hepatocellular carcinoma: hepatocyte-selective enhancement at gadoxetic acid-enhanced MR imaging--correlation with expression of sinusoidal and canalicular transporters and bile accumulation. *Radiology* 2010; 255: 824-833 [PMID: 20501720 DOI: 10.1148/ radiol.10091557]
- 28 Lee YJ, Lee JM, Lee JS, Lee HY, Park BH, Kim YH, Han JK, Choi BI. Hepatocellular carcinoma: diagnostic performance of multidetector CT and MR imaging-a systematic review and meta-

analysis. *Radiology* 2015; **275**: 97-109 [PMID: 25559230 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.14140690]

- 29 Lee NK, Kim S, Lee JW, Lee SH, Kang DH, Kim GH, Seo HI. Biliary MR imaging with Gd-EOB-DTPA and its clinical applications. *Radiographics* 2009; 29: 1707-1724 [PMID: 19959517 DOI: 10.1148/rg.296095501]
- 30 Schneider G, Maas R, Schultze Kool L, Rummeny E, Gehl HB, Lodemann KP, Kirchin MA. Low-dose gadobenate dimeglumine versus standard dose gadopentetate dimeglumine for contrastenhanced magnetic resonance imaging of the liver: an intraindividual crossover comparison. *Invest Radiol* 2003; 38: 85-94 [PMID: 12544071 DOI: 10.1097/01.RLI.0000044931.26224.F9]
- 31 Neri E, Bali MA, Ba-Ssalamah A, Boraschi P, Brancatelli G, Alves FC, Grazioli L, Helmberger T, Lee JM, Manfredi R, Marti-Bonmati L, Matos C, Merkle EM, Op De Beeck B, Schima W, Skehan S, Vilgrain V, Zech C, Bartolozzi C. ESGAR consensus statement on liver MR imaging and clinical use of liver-specific contrast agents. *Eur Radiol* 2016; **26**: 921-931 [PMID: 26194455 DOI: 10.1007/ s00330-015-3900-3]
- 32 Hamm B, Staks T, Mühler A, Bollow M, Taupitz M, Frenzel T, Wolf KJ, Weinmann HJ, Lange L. Phase I clinical evaluation of Gd-EOB-DTPA as a hepatobiliary MR contrast agent: safety, pharmacokinetics, and MR imaging. *Radiology* 1995; **195**: 785-792 [PMID: 7754011 DOI: 10.1148/radiology.195.3.7754011]
- 33 Nakamura Y, Toyota N, Date S, Oda S, Namimoto T, Yamashita Y, Beppu T, Awai K. Clinical significance of the transitional phase at gadoxetate disodium-enhanced hepatic MRI for the diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma: preliminary results. *J Comput Assist Tomogr* 2011; 35: 723-727 [PMID: 22082543 DOI: 10.1097/RCT.0b013e3182372c40]
- 34 Chou R, Cuevas C, Fu R, Devine B, Wasson N, Ginsburg A, Zakher B, Pappas M, Graham E, Sullivan SD. Imaging Techniques for the Diagnosis of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med* 2015; 162: 697-711 [PMID: 25984845 DOI: 10.7326/M14-2509]
- 35 Kudo M, Matsui O, Izumi N, Iijima H, Kadoya M, Imai Y; Liver Cancer Study Group of Japan. Surveillance and diagnostic algorithm for hepatocellular carcinoma proposed by the Liver Cancer Study Group of Japan: 2014 update. *Oncology* 2014; 87 Suppl 1: 7-21 [PMID: 25427729 DOI: 10.1159/000368141]
- 36 Motosugi U, Ichikawa T, Sou H, Sano K, Tominaga L, Muhi A, Araki T. Distinguishing hypervascular pseudolesions of the liver from hypervascular hepatocellular carcinomas with gadoxetic acidenhanced MR imaging. *Radiology* 2010; 256: 151-158 [PMID: 20574092 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.10091885]
- 37 Kumada T, Toyoda H, Tada T, Sone Y, Fujimori M, Ogawa S, Ishikawa T. Evolution of hypointense hepatocellular nodules observed only in the hepatobiliary phase of gadoxetate disodiumenhanced MRI. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2011; **197**: 58-63 [PMID: 21701011 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.10.5390]
- 38 Taouli B, Johnson RS, Hajdu CH, Oei MT, Merad M, Yee H, Rusinek H. Hepatocellular carcinoma: perfusion quantification with dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2013; 201: 795-800 [PMID: 24059368 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.12.9798]
- 39 Chen J, Chen C, Xia C, Huang Z, Zuo P, Stemmer A, Song B. Quantitative free-breathing dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI in hepatocellular carcinoma using gadoxetic acid: correlations with Ki67 proliferation status, histological grades, and microvascular density. *Abdom Radiol* (NY) 2018; **43**: 1393-1403 [PMID: 28939963 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-017-1320-3]
- 40 Jajamovich GH, Huang W, Besa C, Li X, Afzal A, Dyvorne HA, Taouli B. DCE-MRI of hepatocellular carcinoma: perfusion quantification with Tofts model versus shutter-speed model--initial experience. *MAGMA* 2016; 29: 49-58 [PMID: 26646522 DOI: 10.1007/s10334-015-0513-4]
- 41 Ippolito D, Trattenero C, Talei Franzesi C, Casiraghi A, Lombardi S, Vacirca F, Corso R, Sironi S. Dynamic Contrast-Enhanced Magnetic Resonance Imaging With Gadolinium Ethoxybenzyl Diethylenetriamine Pentaacetic Acid for Quantitative Assessment of Vascular Effects on Hepatocellular-Carcinoma Lesions Treated

by Transarterial Chemoembolization or Radiofrequency Ablation. *J Comput Assist Tomogr* 2016; **40**: 692-700 [PMID: 27560010 DOI: 10.1097/RCT.00000000000427]

- 42 Liang PC, Ch'ang HJ, Hsu C, Chen LT, Shih TT, Liu TW. Perfusion parameters of dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging predict outcomes of hepatocellular carcinoma receiving radiotherapy with or without thalidomide. *Hepatol Int* 2015; 9: 258-268 [PMID: 25788178 DOI: 10.1007/ s12072-014-9557-1]
- 43 Chen BB, Shih TT. DCE-MRI in hepatocellular carcinoma-clinical and therapeutic image biomarker. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 3125-3134 [PMID: 24695624 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i12.3125]
- 44 Chen BB, Hsu CY, Yu CW, Liang PC, Hsu C, Hsu CH, Cheng AL, Shih TT. Early perfusion changes within 1 week of systemic treatment measured by dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI may predict survival in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Eur Radiol* 2017; 27: 3069-3079 [PMID: 27957638 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-016-4670-2]
- 45 Chen BB, Hsu CY, Yu CW, Liang PC, Hsu C, Hsu CH, Cheng AL, Shih TT. Dynamic Contrast-enhanced MR Imaging of Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Comparison with the Liver Parenchyma and Correlation with the Survival of Patients Receiving Systemic Therapy. *Radiology* 2016; 281: 454-464 [PMID: 27171020 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2016152659]
- 46 Folkman J. Is angiogenesis an organizing principle in biology and medicine? *J Pediatr Surg* 2007; 42: 1-11 [PMID: 17208533 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2006.09.048]
- 47 De Robertis R, Tinazzi Martini P, Demozzi E, Puntel G, Ortolani S, Cingarlini S, Ruzzenente A, Guglielmi A, Tortora G, Bassi C, Pederzoli P, D'Onofrio M. Prognostication and response assessment in liver and pancreatic tumors: The new imaging. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; **21**: 6794-6808 [PMID: 26078555 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i22.6794]
- 48 Duffy AG, Ulahannan SV, Cao L, Rahma OE, Makarova-Rusher OV, Kleiner DE, Fioravanti S, Walker M, Carey S, Yu Y, Venkatesan AM, Turkbey B, Choyke P, Trepel J, Bollen KC, Steinberg SM, Figg WD, Greten TF. A phase II study of TRC105 in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma who have progressed on sorafenib. United European Gastroenterol J 2015; 3: 453-461 [PMID: 26535124 DOI: 10.1177/2050640615583587]
- 49 O'Connor JP, Jackson A, Parker GJ, Roberts C, Jayson GC. Dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI in clinical trials of antivascular therapies. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 2012; 9: 167-177 [PMID: 22330689 DOI: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.2]
- 50 Fischer MA, Kartalis N, Grigoriadis A, Loizou L, Stål P, Leidner B, Aspelin P, Brismar TB. Perfusion computed tomography for detection of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with liver cirrhosis. *Eur Radiol* 2015; 25: 3123-3132 [PMID: 25903707 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-015-3732-1]
- 51 Yuan Z, Li WT, Ye XD, Zhu HY, Peng WJ. Novel functional magnetic resonance imaging biomarkers for assessing response to therapy in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clin Transl Oncol* 2014; 16: 599-605 [PMID: 24356932 DOI: 10.1007/s12094-013-1147-5]
- 52 Lee SH, Hayano K, Zhu AX, Sahani DV, Yoshida H. Water-Exchange-Modified Kinetic Parameters from Dynamic Contrast-Enhanced MRI as Prognostic Biomarkers of Survival in Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma Treated with Antiangiogenic Monotherapy. *PLoS One* 2015; 10: e0136725 [PMID: 26366997 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0136725]
- 53 Lee SH, Hayano K, Zhu AX, Sahani DV, Yoshida H. Dynamic Contrast-Enhanced MRI Kinetic Parameters as Prognostic Biomarkers for Prediction of Survival of Patient with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Pilot Comparative Study. Acad Radiol 2015; 22: 1344-1360 [PMID: 26211553 DOI: 10.1016/ j.acra.2015.05.012]
- 54 Donato H, França M, Candelária I, Caseiro-Alves F. Liver MRI: From basic protocol to advanced techniques. *Eur J Radiol* 2017;
   93: 30-39 [PMID: 28668428 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2017.05.028]
- 55 **Brix G**, Griebel J, Kiessling F, Wenz F. Tracer kinetic modelling of tumour angiogenesis based on dynamic contrast-enhanced CT and

![](_page_14_Picture_30.jpeg)

MRI measurements. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* 2010; **37** Suppl 1: S30-S51 [PMID: 20503049 DOI: 10.1007/s00259-010-1448-7]

- 56 Thng CH, Koh TS, Collins DJ, Koh DM. Perfusion magnetic resonance imaging of the liver. World J Gastroenterol 2010; 16: 1598-1609 [PMID: 20355238 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i13.1598]
- 57 Sourbron S. Technical aspects of MR perfusion. *Eur J Radiol* 2010;
   76: 304-313 [PMID: 20363574 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2010.02.017]
- 58 Tofts PS, Wicks DA, Barker GJ. The MRI measurement of NMR and physiological parameters in tissue to study disease process. *Prog Clin Biol Res* 1991; 363: 313-325 [PMID: 1988983]
- 59 Brix G, Semmler W, Port R, Schad LR, Layer G, Lorenz WJ. Pharmacokinetic parameters in CNS Gd-DTPA enhanced MR imaging. J Comput Assist Tomogr 1991; 15: 621-628 [PMID: 2061479]
- 60 Larsson HB, Stubgaard M, Frederiksen JL, Jensen M, Henriksen O, Paulson OB. Quantitation of blood-brain barrier defect by magnetic resonance imaging and gadolinium-DTPA in patients with multiple sclerosis and brain tumors. *Magn Reson Med* 1990; 16: 117-131 [PMID: 2255233 DOI: 10.1002/mrm.1910160111]
- 61 Abdullah SS, Pialat JB, Wiart M, Duboeuf F, Mabrut JY, Bancel B, Rode A, Ducerf C, Baulieux J, Berthezene Y. Characterization of hepatocellular carcinoma and colorectal liver metastasis by means of perfusion MRI. *J Magn Reson Imaging* 2008; 28: 390-395 [PMID: 18666145 DOI: 10.1002/jmri.21429]
- 62 Szafer A, Zhong J, Anderson AW, Gore JC. Diffusion-weighted imaging in tissues: theoretical models. *NMR Biomed* 1995; 8: 289-296 [PMID: 8739267 DOI: 10.1002/nbm.1940080704]
- 63 Taouli B, Koh DM. Diffusion-weighted MR imaging of the liver. *Radiology* 2010; 254: 47-66 [PMID: 20032142 DOI: 10.1148/ radiol.09090021]
- 64 Filipe JP, Curvo-Semedo L, Casalta-Lopes J, Marques MC, Caseiro-Alves F. Diffusion-weighted imaging of the liver: usefulness of ADC values in the differential diagnosis of focal lesions and effect of ROI methods on ADC measurements. *MAGMA* 2013; 26: 303-312 [PMID: 23053714 DOI: 10.1007/ s10334-012-0348-1]
- 65 Lim KS. Diffusion-weighted MRI of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis. *Clin Radiol* 2014; 69: 1-10 [PMID: 24034549 DOI: 10.1016/j.crad.2013.07.022]
- 66 Sadowski EA, Bennett LK, Chan MR, Wentland AL, Garrett AL, Garrett RW, Djamali A. Nephrogenic systemic fibrosis: risk factors and incidence estimation. *Radiology* 2007; 243: 148-157 [PMID: 17267695 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2431062144]
- 67 Thomsen HS, Marckmann P, Logager VB. Update on nephrogenic systemic fibrosis. *Magn Reson Imaging Clin N Am* 2008; 16: 551-560, vii [PMID: 18926421 DOI: 10.1016/j.mric.2008.07.011]
- 68 Takayama Y, Nishie A, Asayama Y, Ishigami K, Kakihara D, Ushijima Y, Fujita N, Shirabe K, Takemura A, Honda H. Image quality and diagnostic performance of free-breathing diffusionweighted imaging for hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Hepatol* 2017; 9: 657-666 [PMID: 28588750 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v9.i14.657]
- 69 Li X, Li C, Wang R, Ren J, Yang J, Zhang Y. Combined Application of Gadoxetic Acid Disodium-Enhanced Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and Diffusion-Weighted Imaging (DWI) in the Diagnosis of Chronic Liver Disease-Induced Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One* 2015; **10**: e0144247 [PMID: 26629904 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144247]
- 70 Inchingolo R, De Gaetano AM, Curione D, Ciresa M, Miele L, Pompili M, Vecchio FM, Giuliante F, Bonomo L. Role of diffusion-weighted imaging, apparent diffusion coefficient and correlation with hepatobiliary phase findings in the differentiation of hepatocellular carcinoma from dysplastic nodules in cirrhotic liver. *Eur Radiol* 2015; 25: 1087-1096 [PMID: 25430005 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-014-3500-7]
- 71 Briani C, Di Pietropaolo M, Marignani M, Carbonetti F, Begini P, David V, Iannicelli E. Non-Hypervascular Hypointense Nodules at Gadoxetic Acid MRI: Hepatocellular Carcinoma Risk Assessment with Emphasis on the Role of Diffusion-Weighted Imaging. J Gastrointest Cancer 2017; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 28547117 DOI: 10.1007/s12029-017-9952-7]

- 72 Xu PJ, Yan FH, Wang JH, Lin J, Ji Y. Added value of breathhold diffusion-weighted MRI in detection of small hepatocellular carcinoma lesions compared with dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI alone using receiver operating characteristic curve analysis. J Magn Reson Imaging 2009; 29: 341-349 [PMID: 19161186 DOI: 10.1002/jmri.21650]
- 73 Jiang T, Xu JH, Zou Y, Chen R, Peng LR, Zhou ZD, Yang M. Diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) of hepatocellular carcinomas: a retrospective analysis of the correlation between qualitative and quantitative DWI and tumour grade. *Clin Radiol* 2017; **72**: 465-472 [PMID: 28109531 DOI: 10.1016/j.crad.2016.12.017]
- 74 D'Amico F, Schwartz M, Vitale A, Tabrizian P, Roayaie S, Thung S, Guido M, del Rio Martin J, Schiano T, Cillo U. Predicting recurrence after liver transplantation in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma exceeding the up-to-seven criteria. *Liver Transpl* 2009; 15: 1278-1287 [PMID: 19790142 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21842]
- 75 Sumie S, Kuromatsu R, Okuda K, Ando E, Takata A, Fukushima N, Watanabe Y, Kojiro M, Sata M. Microvascular invasion in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and its predictable clinicopathological factors. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2008; **15**: 1375-1382 [PMID: 18324443 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-008-9846-9]
- 76 Yang C, Wang H, Sheng R, Ji Y, Rao S, Zeng M. Microvascular invasion in hepatocellular carcinoma: is it predictable with a new, preoperative application of diffusion-weighted imaging? *Clin Imaging* 2017; **41**: 101-105 [PMID: 27840260 DOI: 10.1016/ j.clinimag.2016.10.004]
- 77 Gonzalez-Guindalini FD, Botelho MP, Harmath CB, Sandrasegaran K, Miller FH, Salem R, Yaghmai V. Assessment of liver tumor response to therapy: role of quantitative imaging. *Radiographics* 2013; 33: 1781-1800 [PMID: 24108562 DOI: 10.1148/rg.336135511]
- 78 Heijmen L, Ter Voert EE, Nagtegaal ID, Span P, Bussink J, Punt CJ, de Wilt JH, Sweep FC, Heerschap A, van Laarhoven HW. Diffusion-weighted MR imaging in liver metastases of colorectal cancer: reproducibility and biological validation. *Eur Radiol* 2013; 23: 748-756 [PMID: 23001604 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-012-2654-4]
- 79 Wagner M, Doblas S, Daire JL, Paradis V, Haddad N, Leitão H, Garteiser P, Vilgrain V, Sinkus R, Van Beers BE. Diffusion-weighted MR imaging for the regional characterization of liver tumors. *Radiology* 2012; 264: 464-472 [PMID: 22692032 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.12111530]
- 80 Schraml C, Schwenzer NF, Martirosian P, Bitzer M, Lauer U, Claussen CD, Horger M. Diffusion-weighted MRI of advanced hepatocellular carcinoma during sorafenib treatment: initial results. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2009; **193**: W301-W307 [PMID: 19770299 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.08.2289]
- 81 Kamel IR, Reyes DK, Liapi E, Bluemke DA, Geschwind JF. Functional MR imaging assessment of tumor response after 90Y microsphere treatment in patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Vasc Interv Radiol* 2007; 18: 49-56 [PMID: 17296704 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvir.2006.10.005]
- 82 Bonekamp S, Kamel I, Solga S, Clark J. Can imaging modalities diagnose and stage hepatic fibrosis and cirrhosis accurately? *J Hepatol* 2009; 50: 17-35 [PMID: 19022517 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2008.10.016]
- 83 Venkatesh SK, Yin M, Ehman RL. Magnetic resonance elastography of liver: technique, analysis, and clinical applications. *J Magn Reson Imaging* 2013; 37: 544-555 [PMID: 23423795 DOI: 10.1002/jmri.23731]
- 84 Thompson SM, Wang J, Chandan VS, Glaser KJ, Roberts LR, Ehman RL, Venkatesh SK. MR elastography of hepatocellular carcinoma: Correlation of tumor stiffness with histopathology features-Preliminary findings. *Magn Reson Imaging* 2017; 37: 41-45 [PMID: 27845245 DOI: 10.1016/j.mri.2016.11.005]
- 85 Hennedige TP, Hallinan JT, Leung FP, Teo LL, Iyer S, Wang G, Chang S, Madhavan KK, Wee A, Venkatesh SK. Comparison of magnetic resonance elastography and diffusion-weighted imaging for differentiating benign and malignant liver lesions. *Eur Radiol* 2016; 26: 398-406 [PMID: 26032879 DOI: 10.1007/ s00330-015-3835-8]
- 86 Gordic S, Ayache JB, Kennedy P, Besa C, Wagner M, Bane O,

Ehman RL, Kim E, Taouli B. Value of tumor stiffness measured with MR elastography for assessment of response of hepatocellular carcinoma to locoregional therapy. *Abdom Radiol* (NY) 2017; **42**: 1685-1694 [PMID: 28154910 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-017-1066-y]

- 87 Li J, Jamin Y, Boult JK, Cummings C, Waterton JC, Ulloa J, Sinkus R, Bamber JC, Robinson SP. Tumour biomechanical response to the vascular disrupting agent ZD6126 in vivo assessed by magnetic resonance elastography. *Br J Cancer* 2014; 110: 1727-1732 [PMID: 24569471 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2014.76]
- 88 Pepin KM, Chen J, Glaser KJ, Mariappan YK, Reuland B, Ziesmer S, Carter R, Ansell SM, Ehman RL, McGee KP. MR elastography derived shear stiffness--a new imaging biomarker for the assessment of early tumor response to chemotherapy. *Magn Reson Med* 2014; **71**: 1834-1840 [PMID: 23801372 DOI: 10.1002/ mrm.24825]
- 89 Gillies RJ, Kinahan PE, Hricak H. Radiomics: Images Are More than Pictures, They Are Data. *Radiology* 2016; 278: 563-577 [PMID: 26579733 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2015151169]
- 90 Rosenkrantz AB, Pinnamaneni N, Kierans AS, Ream JM. Hypovascular hepatic nodules at gadoxetic acid-enhanced MRI: whole-lesion hepatobiliary phase histogram metrics for prediction of progression to arterial-enhancing hepatocellular carcinoma. *Abdom Radiol* (NY) 2016; **41**: 63-70 [PMID: 26830613 DOI:

10.1007/s00261-015-0610-x]

- 91 Kim YK, Lee WJ, Park MJ, Kim SH, Rhim H, Choi D. Hypovascular hypointense nodules on hepatobiliary phase gadoxetic acid-enhanced MR images in patients with cirrhosis: potential of DW imaging in predicting progression to hypervascular HCC. *Radiology* 2012; 265: 104-114 [PMID: 22891358 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.12112649]
- 92 Choi JW, Lee JM, Kim SJ, Yoon JH, Baek JH, Han JK, Choi BI. Hepatocellular carcinoma: imaging patterns on gadoxetic acidenhanced MR Images and their value as an imaging biomarker. *Radiology* 2013; 267: 776-786 [PMID: 23401584 DOI: 10.1148/ radiol.13120775]
- 93 Kitao A, Matsui O, Yoneda N, Kozaka K, Kobayashi S, Koda W, Gabata T, Yamashita T, Kaneko S, Nakanuma Y, Kita R, Arii S. Hypervascular hepatocellular carcinoma: correlation between biologic features and signal intensity on gadoxetic acid-enhanced MR images. *Radiology* 2012; 265: 780-789 [PMID: 23175543 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.12120226]
- 94 Zhou W, Zhang L, Wang K, Chen S, Wang G, Liu Z, Liang C. Malignancy characterization of hepatocellular carcinomas based on texture analysis of contrast-enhanced MR images. *J Magn Reson Imaging* 2017; 45: 1476-1484 [PMID: 27626270 DOI: 10.1002/ jmri.25454]

P- Reviewer: Grieco A, Jia NY, Nah YW, Zhao HT S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: Filipodia E- Editor: Huang Y

![](_page_16_Picture_12.jpeg)

![](_page_16_Picture_13.jpeg)

![](_page_17_Picture_0.jpeg)

Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2427

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2427-2440

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

# Taking advantage of the potential of mesenchymal stromal cells in liver regeneration: Cells and extracellular vesicles as therapeutic strategies

Esteban Juan Fiore, Luciana María Domínguez, Juan Bayo, Mariana Gabriela García, Guillermo Daniel Mazzolini

Esteban Juan Fiore, Luciana María Domínguez, Juan Bayo, Mariana Gabriela García, Guillermo Daniel Mazzolini, Laboratory of Gene Therapy, Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional, CONICET-Universidad Austral, Buenos Aires 999071, Argentina

ORCID number: Esteban Juan Fiore (0000-0003-1059-1695); Luciana María Domínguez (0000-0002-9949-5132); Juan Bayo (0000-0003-3999-0841); Mariana Gabriela García (0000-0001-8999 -5347); Guillermo Daniel Mazzolini (0000-0002-1450-8441).

Author contributions: Fiore EJ collected the information, wrote manuscript and drawn the figures; Domínguez LM collected information and assembly the tables; Bayo J and García MG wrote and reviewed the manuscript critically; Mazzolini GD wrote, reviewed critically and final approval of manuscript; all authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors indicate no potential conflicts of interest.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Guillermo Daniel Mazzolini, MD, PhD, Professor, Laboratory of Gene Therapy, Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional, CONICET-Universidad Austral, Av. Pte. Perón 1500 (B1629AHJ) Derqui-Pilar, Buenos Aires 999071, Argentina. gmazzoli@austral.edu.ar Telephone: +54-230-4482618 Fax: +54-230-4482618

Received: April 13, 2018

Peer-review started: April 13, 2018 First decision: April 27, 2018 Revised: May 8, 2018 Accepted: June 2, 2018 Article in press: June 2, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

# Abstract

Cell-based therapies for acute and chronic liver diseases are under continuous progress. Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) are multipotent cells able to migrate selectively to damaged tissue and contribute to its healing and regeneration. The MSC pro-regenerative effect occurs due to their immunomodulatory capacity and their ability to produce factors that promote cell protection and survival. Likewise, it has been observed that part of their paracrine effect is mediated by MSC-derived extracellular vesicles (EVs). EVs contain proteins, lipids and nucleic acids (DNA, mRNA, miRNA, IncRNA) from the cell of origin, allowing for intercellular communication. Recently, different studies have demonstrated that MSC-derived EVs could reproduce, at least in part, the biological effects obtained by MSCbased therapies. Moreover, due to EVs' stability for long periods of time and easy isolation methods they have become a therapeutic option to MSCs treatments. This review summarizes the latest results achieved in clinical trials using MSCs as cell therapy for liver regeneration, the role of EVs in liver physiopathology and the potential of MSC-derived EVs as intercellular mediators and therapeutic tools in liver diseases.

Key words: Mesenchymal stem cells; Extracellular vesicles; Cirrhosis; Liver; Acute damage; Regeneration

© **The Author(s) 2018.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

![](_page_17_Picture_21.jpeg)

WJG www.wjgnet.com

**Core tip:** Cell-based therapies for acute and chronic liver diseases are very attractive strategies. In particular, mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) are multipotent cells able to induce protective and pro-regenerative effects in different liver diseases. The mechanism through which MSCs support tissue regeneration is *via* secretion of paracrine factors, and solid evidence supports that part of these effects is mediated by extracellular vesicles (EVs). Therefore, EVs have become an attractive option in the research for new treatments in liver diseases.

Fiore EJ, Domínguez LM, Bayo J, García MG, Mazzolini GD. Taking advantage of the potential of mesenchymal stromal cells in liver regeneration: Cells and extracellular vesicles as therapeutic strategies. *World J Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2427-2440 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v24/i23/2427.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v24. i23.2427

#### INTRODUCTION

A diverse set of toxic, metabolic, and inflammatory insults result in liver diseases and imply different degrees of inflammation, apoptosis, and necrosis of parenchymal cells<sup>[1-4]</sup>. For example, acute liver failure (ALF) is characterized by a massive and sudden death of hepatocytes that lead to abrupt hepatocellular and systemic dysfunction<sup>[3]</sup>. Similarly, in patients with chronic liver disease an important loss of viable parenchymal cells is observed<sup>[1,2,4]</sup>. Cirrhosis is caused by diverse chronic liver diseases, such as viral hepatitis and chronic alcoholism<sup>[1,2]</sup>. Moreover, increases in the prevalence of hypertriglyceridemia, obesity and diabetes in developed countries have resulted in an increase in the incidence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)<sup>[4,5]</sup>. This condition is characterized by a lipid accumulation in the liver that could lead to hepatocytes apoptosis and inflammation. Regardless the liver chronic disease origin, the apoptosis of hepatocytes results in extracellular matrix accumulation that will affect the liver histoarchitecture of liver and ultimately impair its function<sup>[4]</sup>. It is well known that mesenchymal stem/ stromal cells (MSCs) migrate toward injured organs where they can provide tissue protection and promote liver regeneration<sup>[6-8]</sup>. These properties make MSCs interesting tools to carry therapeutic genes in modern cellular-based therapeutic strategies<sup>[6]</sup>. It is accepted that the main mechanism through which MSCs support tissue regeneration is via secretion of paracrine factors<sup>[7,9]</sup>. However, solid evidence supports that part of these effects are mediated by extracellular vesicles (EVs)<sup>[10]</sup>. In this review, we first provide an update on clinical trials using MSCs in different liver diseases; second, the mechanisms involved in the therapeutic effects of MSCs; third, general EVs characteristics and

their role in liver diseases, and finally, the role of MSCderived EVs as therapeutic tools for liver regeneration.

# CLINICAL TRIALS INVOLVING THE USE OF MSCS IN LIVER DISEASES

Clinical investigations using MSCs to treat a broad spectrum of degenerative diseases, including liver diseases, are increasing steadily in recent years<sup>[11,12]</sup>. The first clinical trial using MSCs was started in 2005 and 52 trials are registered up to now (CinicalTrial.gov and reviewed by Tsuchiya 2017<sup>[13]</sup>). MSCs are obtained from bone marrow in most of the studies, but other sources such as umbilical cord, adipose tissue and menstrual blood has also been tested (Figure 1A). It should be noted that, allogeneic transplantation is more commonly used than autologous (Figure 1B). Between liver diseases, most of the trials are destined to the treatment of liver cirrhosis (Figure 1C) and only 2 of them are in phase II/III (CinicalTrial.gov). Unfortunately, only 22 of 52 registered clinical trials have published their results (Table 1). It is important to mention that MSCs were administered after culture in vitro between passages 3 to 6. Regarding the administration route, MSC transplant was performed by peripheral vein<sup>[14-28]</sup>, hepatic artery<sup>[29-33]</sup>, portal vein<sup>[15,27]</sup> or directly into the spleen<sup>[16,34,35]</sup>. One study performed on 12 patients showed similar therapeutic effects when MSCs were injected into the spleen or intravenously<sup>[17]</sup>.

In general, MSC administration in patients with different liver pathologies proved to be feasible and safe (Table 1). Regarding their efficacy, studies demonstrated that MSCs exert positive effects on liver function by increase in serum levels of albumin and improving coagulation or decreasing bilirubin, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and  $\gamma$ -glutamyltransferase ( $\gamma$ -GT)<sup>[17-19,21-24,26,29,31,33-35]</sup>. In addition, the MELD (Model for End-stage Liver Disease) and Child-Pugh scores were improved after MSC treatment<sup>[14-19,23,28-32,34]</sup> (Table 1). Furthermore, in some studies it was demonstrated that the application of MSCs not only improved patient's quality of life but also modulated the immune response of patients<sup>[22,26,31]</sup>. In this sense, a randomized clinical trial using autologous BM-derived MSCs in patients with hepatitis B virusrelated liver cirrhosis resulted in an improvement of liver function, an increase in Treg cells, and a decrease in Th17 cells, serum levels of interleukin (IL)-17, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and IL-6; in addition, tumor growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) levels were increased in comparison with control group<sup>[31]</sup>. Similar results were reported in a phase I/II clinical trial in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) transplanted with allogeneic MSCs that showed a reduction in the number of CD8+ T-cells and an increment of Treg cells and IL-10 serum levels<sup>[22]</sup>.

Recently, Suk *et al*<sup> $^{(32)}$ </sup> reported a phase II clinical trial comparing the effects of one or two doses of autologous BM-derived MSC therapy with a control group in alco-

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

![](_page_19_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 1 Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells clinical trials in liver disease. A: MSCs clinical trials classified by cell source; B: MSCs clinical trials classified by transplant type; C: MSCs clinical trials classified by liver disease treated. Data from http://www.clinicaltrial.gov. n: Number of clinical trials; MSCs: Mesenchymal stem/ stromal cells; BM: Bone marrow; UC: Umbilical cord; AT: Adipose tissue.

holic patients. The authors observed that liver fibrosis quantification diminished after cell treatment, although no significant differences in fibrosis area were found between one and two doses. Importantly, no evidence of tumor formation was found during the follow-up in the MSC-treated groups<sup>[32]</sup>.

On the other hand, MSCs were used to diminish hepatocellular damage in acute liver diseases. Recently, a phase II clinical trial in acute-on-chronic liver failure compared the standard medical treatment with one dose of allogeneic BM-derived MSC therapy<sup>[28]</sup>. In this study, MSC treatment demonstrated to be safe and able to improve bilirubin levels and MELD score. Interestingly, MSC transplant increased survival rate and decreased severe infection events<sup>[28]</sup>.

Long-term immunosuppression is frequently associated with impairment in patients' quality of life and increased risk of infection or cancer. Therefore, considering their immunomodulatory capacity, MSCs can be used to induce tolerance after liver transplantation. In this regard, Detry *et al*<sup>(25)</sup> reported that MSC infusion 3 d after liver transplant was feasible, safe and well tolerated. No opportunistic infections or *de novo* cancer were detected in 12 mo follow-up. However, no difference was observed in peripheral blood CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell proportion and immunosuppression could not be withdrawn in MSC-treated patients. In addition, the administration of umbilical cord-derived MSCs as therapy to prolong graftsurvival in patients with severe ischemic-type biliary lesions after liver transplantation was also evaluated<sup>[24]</sup>. Six doses of MSCs were infused intravenously every 2-4 wk, and patients were followed-up for 2 years and compared with a prospective cohort of patients treated with standard therapy. Remarkably, MSCs were safe, improved hepatic function, prolonged graft-survival and did not induce cancer or increase microbial infection events<sup>[24]</sup>. In conclusion, these results demonstrated that MSC therapy is a safe procedure, especially in the field of solid organ transplant where intense and prolonged immunosuppression is required. Moreover, MSC administration could prevent the development of opportunistic infections or de novo tumor formation. All considered, the promising information generated in the clinic opens the possibility for further studies to determine the optimal protocol conditions of MSC application needed to induce tolerance after liver transplant.

Application of MSCs for treatment of either acute or chronic liver diseases has a promising future in the clinic. In acute liver diseases, MSCs could have a role decreasing liver damage progression or as a bridge for

#### Fiore EJ et al. Mesenchymal stromal cells and extracellular vesicles in liver regeneration

Table 1 Mesen	chymal stem/st	romal cells o	clinical trials fo	or liver diseases						
Ref.	Etiology or disease	Cell source/ origen	Study design (n: groups)	Cell administrati	on con	dition	Phase	Results	Follow	Side effects
Mohamadneiad	Cirrhosis	BM/Auto	n = 4	$1, 0.6 \times 10^7$	2-4	IV	I	MELD	12 mo	None
<i>et al</i> <sup>[14]</sup> 2007 Kharaziha <i>et al</i> <sup>[15]</sup> 2009	Cirrhosis	BM/Auto	n = 8; 4 HBV 1 HCV 1 Alcohol 2	$3.5 \times 10^7$	3-4	PV/IV	I/II	MELD↓	24 wk	None
El-Ansary <i>et al</i> <sup>[16]</sup> 2010	Cirrhosis	BM/Auto	Control $n = 12$	$10 \times 10^6$	1	IS/IV	Ι	MELD ↓; no differences between	6 mo	NA
Peng et al <sup>[29]</sup> 2011	Cirrhosis (HBV)	BM/Auto	n = 158; 53 MSC 105 Control	$3.4-3.8 \times 10^8$	3	HA	I/II	ALB↑, MELD↓	48 mo	None
Amer <i>et al</i> <sup>[34]</sup> 2011	Cirrhosis (HCV)	BM/Auto	n = 40; 20 MSC 20 Control	2 × 10 <sup>7</sup>	NA	IS/IH	I/II	ALB $\uparrow,$ C.P $\downarrow,$ MELD $\downarrow$	6 mo	Fever (50%), transient shivering (15%)
El-Ansary <i>et al</i> <sup>[17]</sup> 2012	Cirrhosis (HCV)	BM/Auto	n = 25; 9 MSC 6 Hep. Diff. 10 Control	1 × 10 <sup>6</sup> /kg MSC or 40% HLCs and 60% MSCs	5	IV	II	ALB↑, MELD↓, no differences between HLCs <i>vs</i> MSCs.	6 mo	NA
Zhang <i>et al</i> <sup>[18]</sup> 2012	Cirrhosis (HBV)	UC/Allo	<i>n</i> = 45; 30 MSC 15 Control	$0.5 \times 10^6$ /kg every 4 wk, 3 times	3-4	IV	I/II	ALB↑, MELD↓, ascites↓	48 wk	None
Shi <i>et al</i> <sup>[19]</sup> 2012	Acute-on- chronic Liver failure (HBV	UC/Allo	n = 43; 34 MSC 9 Control	$0.5 \times 10^6$ /kg every 4 wk, 3 times	3-4	IV	I/II	ALB $\uparrow$ , PT $\uparrow$ , MELD $\downarrow$ , SR $\uparrow$	72 wk	None
Mohamadnejad <i>et al</i> <sup>[20]</sup> 2013	Cirrhosis	BM/Auto	n = 25; 14 MSC 11 Control	$2 \times 10^{8}$	3-4	IV	Π	No beneficial effect	12 mo	None
Wang <i>et al</i> <sup>[21]</sup> 2013	UDCA-resistant PBC	UC/Allo	<i>n</i> = 7	$0.5 \times 10^6$ /kg every 4 wk, 3 times	4	IV	I/II	ALP↓, γ-GT↓, quality of life↑ (fatigue↓ pruritus↓)	48 wk	None
Amin <i>et al</i> <sup>[35]</sup> 2013	Cirrhosis	BM/Auto	<i>n</i> = 20	$10 \times 10^{6}$	2	IS	I/II	ALT ↓,AST ↓,BIL ↓, PT ↓, ALB↑, PT↑	24 wk	None
Jang et al <sup>[30]</sup> 2014	Cirrhosis	BM/Auto	<i>n</i> = 11	$5 \times 10^7$ every 4 wk, 2 times	4-5	HA	Π	$C.P \downarrow$ , TGF- $\beta \downarrow$ , $\alpha$ -SMA $\downarrow$ , collagen-1	20 wk	None
Wang et al <sup>[18]</sup> 2014	UDCA-resistant PBC	BM/Allo	<i>n</i> = 10	3-5 × 10⁵/kg	3-5	IV	I/II	<pre>↓, Insteads ↓, ALT ↓, AST ↓, γ-GT, BIL ↓, IgM ↓, Tregs ↑, IL-10↑, CD8+T cells↓</pre>	12 mo	None
Salama et al <sup>[23]</sup> 2014	Cirrhosis	BM/Auto	n = 40; 20 MSC 20 Control	$1 \times 10^{6}/\text{kg}$	0	IV	Π	ALT↓, AST↓,BIL↓, ALB↑, PT↑, C.P↓,	26 wk	NA
Xu et al <sup>[31]</sup> 2014	Cirrhosis	BM/Auto	n = 56; 27 MSC 29 Control	$0.75 \times 10^{6}/kg$	NA	HA	II/III	ALB <sup>↑</sup> , MELD <sup>↓</sup> , <sup>↑</sup> Tregs/Th17 cell ratio, IL-17 <sup>↓</sup> , TNF-α	24 wk	NA
Suk <i>et al</i> <sup>[32]</sup> 2016	Cirrhosis	BM/Auto	n = 55; 18 MSC (× 1 d) 19 MSC (× 2 d) 18 Control	$5 \times 10^7$ (1 mo post BM asp.) $/5 \times 10^7$ (1 and 2 m post BM asp.)	4-5	НА	II	C.P↓, fibrosis↓	12 mo	None
Zhang <i>et al</i> <sup>[24]</sup> 2017	Ischemic-type biliary lesions	UC/Allo	n = 82; 12 MSC 70 Control	1 × 10 <sup>6</sup> /kg; week 1, 2, 4, 8, 12 and 16	4	IV	II/III	BIL↓,ALP↓, γ-GT↓, graft survival↑	24 mo	None
Detry <i>et al</i> <sup>[25]</sup> 2017	Liver transplantation	BM/Allo	n = 20; 10 MSC 10 Control	1.5-3 × 10 <sup>6</sup> /kg; day 3 post-transplant	2-3	IV	I/II	No beneficial effect	6 mo	None
Sakai <i>et al</i> <sup>[33]</sup> 2017 Shi <i>et a</i> l <sup>[26]</sup> 2017	Cirrhosis Liver transplantation	AT/Auto UC/Allo	n = 4 n = 20; 14 MSC 13 Control	6.6 × 10 <sup>5</sup> /kg 1 × 10 <sup>6</sup> /kg; every 4 wk, 3 times	0 3-4	HA IV	I I	ALB ↑, PT↓ ALT↓, AST↓, BIL ↓, improve liver allograft histology, acute rejection↓ (↑ peripheral Tregs, ↑ Tregs/Th17 cell ratio).	1 mo 12 wk	None None
Hartleif <i>et al</i> <sup>[27]</sup> 2017	Pediatric liver transplantation	BM/Allo	<i>n</i> = 7	1 × 10 <sup>6</sup> /kg; day 0 and day 2 post- transplantation	2-3	PV/IV	Ι	NA	24 mo	None

![](_page_20_Picture_2.jpeg)

#### Fiore EJ et al. Mesenchymal stromal cells and extracellular vesicles in liver regeneration

Lin et al <sup>[28]</sup> 2017	Acute-on-	BM/Allo	n = 110; 56	$1-10 \times 10^5$ cells/	5-6	IV	I/II	MELD↓, SR↑,	24 wk	None
	chronic		MSC 54	kg; 1/wk, 4 wk				infections↓		
	Cirrhosis (HBV)		Control							

P: Passage; BM: Bone Marrow; Allo: Allogeneic; Auto: Autologous; IV: Intravenous Infusion; MELD: Model for end-stage Liver Disease; HBV: Hepatitis B Virus; HCV: Hepatitis C Virus; IS: Intrasplenic; IH: Intrahepatic; NA: Not available; HA: Hepatic artery; CP: Child-Pugh score; HLC: Hepatocyte-like cells; UC: Umbilical cord; SR: Survival rate; Cr: Creatinine; BIL: Bilirubin; PBC: Primary biliary cirrhosis; UDCA: Ursodeoxycholic acid; Hep. Diff.: Hepatocyte differentiated; PT: Prothrombin time; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; ALP: Alkaline phosphatase; γ-GT: γ-glutamyltrans peptidase; Asp: Aspiration.

liver transplant. In chronic liver diseases, MSCs could contribute to decrease liver damage, to ameliorate the degree of fibrosis, and even to avoid the need for transplant in some particular cases. On the other hand, in the post-transplant setting, MSC therapy could extend the graft survival and/or decrease the amount of immunosuppression. However, it is extremely important to understand that therapeutic potential of MSCs is an open question, and the information regarding source of MSCs, culture conditions, pre-condition protocols before cell transplantation, administration route, number of doses, and time of treatment are very heterogeneous and standardization is needed.

# MECHANISM OF ACTION OF MSCS IN LIVER REGENERATION

As detailed above, is necessary to understand the mechanisms that mediate MSCs therapeutic effects prior to continuing with its clinical application. The understanding of MSC biology has grown considerably. In the last decade, many mechanisms involved in their regenerative potential have been identified. These mechanisms involve, at least in part, migration toward injured tissues, immunomodulatory properties, differentiation and/or secretion of regenerative factors, which induce cell survival and proliferation<sup>[7,9,36,37]</sup>. It has been described that MSCs can be recruited to inflamed tissue by classic mechanism of blood stream migration: Rolling, adherence to endothelium and transmigration<sup>[8,36]</sup>. The injured liver produces signals that induce migration and homing of different cell types<sup>[38,39]</sup>. Both, chronic and acute liver injury induce apoptosis and necrosis of hepatocytes and/or cholangiocytes, infiltration of leucocytes, monocytes and activation of Kupffer cells (KCs), liver sinusoidal endothelial cells (LSECs) and hepatic stellate cells (HeSCs)<sup>[2,3,40]</sup>. In this context, MSCs could be attracted by several chemokines, cytokines and factors secreted by the damaged liver microenvironment, such as IL-1<sub>β</sub>, IL-6, IL-8, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), growth-regulated protein (GRO), TNF- $\alpha$ , TGF- $\beta$ 1, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) among others. Receptors for these chemoattractants were found to be expressed in MSCs allowing them to migrate to the injured liver<sup>[11,36]</sup>.

The differentiation potential of MSCs has been

considered one of the advantages for their regenerative application<sup>[7,41-43]</sup>. By definition, MSCs give rise to cells of mesodermal lineages including osteoblasts, adipoblasts and chondroblasts<sup>[44]</sup>. Furthermore, there are many reports demonstrating that MSCs might differentiate to ectodermal (neurons), endodermal (hepatocytes) as well as other mesodermal lineages (cardiomyocytes), but this field remains very controversial<sup>[7,41]</sup>. In this context, a putative mechanism postulated for liver regeneration was the MSC differentiation into hepatocyte-like cells<sup>[45]</sup>. A number of differentiation in vitro protocols were explored in MSCs obtained from bone marrow, adipose tissue or umbilical cord demonstrating that MSC-derived cells acquired characteristic markers and functions of immature and mature hepatocytes (reviewed in Fiore *et al*<sup>[7]</sup>). In fact,</sup>a clinical trial compared the effect of autologous BM-MSCs undifferentiated or differentiated into hepatocytelike cells in patients with cirrhosis. Despite the improvement of liver function, there was no significant difference between undifferentiated or differentiated MSC-based treatment<sup>[17]</sup>. However, difficulties to study and reproduce the in vitro differentiation and in vivo tracking after their administration, makes the MSC differentiation to hepatocytes a controversial field. This difficulty is due, at least in part, to unspecificity and/or unreliability of methods/trackers/reagents frequently used for the identification of cells or the phenotype they might acquire after their transplantation<sup>[46,47]</sup>. It should be noted that track able MSCs by GFP expression is detectable in the liver up to 7 d after transplant and then the signal rapidly decreases in animal models<sup>[48]</sup>. Moreover, some evidence indicated that in spite of the MSC homing to the liver, the rate of differentiation to hepatocyte-like cells is very low (less to 1%)<sup>[49,50]</sup>. Together, this information demonstrates that the main regenerative effect of MSCs cannot be explained by the differentiation to hepatocyte-like cells.

Broad scientific consensus states that the regenerative effect of MSCs is due to paracrine mechanisms. The versatility of MSCs makes them able to differentially express factors depending on the surrounding microenvironment<sup>[51]</sup>. In the context of liver fibrosis, it was observed that MSCs produce high levels of anti-apoptotic growth factors such as SDF-1, VEGF, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I<sup>[9]</sup>. Also, the release of HGF, fibroblast growth factor (FGF), IL-6, fibrinogen and TGF- $\alpha$  can induce hepatocyte proliferation<sup>[51]</sup>. In addition, HGF

and epidermal growth factor (EGF) can induce hepatic progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation<sup>[52]</sup> and VEGF increases angiogenesis, an important event for liver regeneration<sup>[53]</sup>. Moreover, IL-10, HGF and IGF-I produced by MSCs can reduce fibrogenesis by inhibition of HeSCs activation and proliferation<sup>[7,9]</sup>. MSCs also secrete factors involved in extracellular matrix remodeling and chemokines that attract immune cells which could modulate their function<sup>[51]</sup>. In this way, in vivo administration of conditioned medium (CM) obtained from MSC cultures can be effective to reduce liver injury. It was reported that the administration of MSC-derived CM significantly improved short-term survival in a D-galactosamine-induced rat model of fulminant hepatic failure<sup>[54,55]</sup>. Furthermore, MSC-CM therapy had great inhibitory effects on hepatocellular death reducing hepatocyte apoptosis in a 90%. In addition, an increase in liver regeneration programs and number of proliferating hepatocytes was observed<sup>[55]</sup>. Subsequently, it was demonstrated that EVs, present in CM, are partly responsible of the therapeutic effects of MSCs<sup>[10,56]</sup>

#### **EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES**

Although, EVs were described as intracellular mediators many years ago, they have recently generated great interest as therapeutic and diagnostic tools. Initially, "extracellular vesicle" was used to refer to all kind of vesicles released by cells. Nevertheless, the increased knowledge of their biology allowed to distinguish between different types of vesicles<sup>[57]</sup>. Exosomes (50-100 nm in diameter) are homogenous and the largest family of EVs and are different from microvesicles (100-1000 nm) and apoptotic bodies (500-2000 nm) in size and biogenesis<sup>[58]</sup>. While exosomes are originated from multivesicular bodies (MVBs), microvesicles are originated directly from plasma membrane and released to extracellular space<sup>[58]</sup>. At present, vesicles can only be fractioned according to their sizes and no specific markers have been described. Due to a large heterogeneity in methods of isolation and terminology in the past published results, in this review we will refer to exosomes and microvesicles as "EVs". In order to define a minimal criteria for EV characterization, the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles (ISEV) suggests a semi-quantitative analysis for typical protein marker, such as CD9, CD63, CD81, Alix or TSG101, size analysis and morphology examination<sup>[59]</sup>. In addition to these specific proteins, EVs contain a large number of proteins (growth factors, cytokines, vesicles proteins), DNAs, mRNAs, microRNAs (miRNAs), long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs)<sup>[57,59]</sup>. An interesting characteristic of EVs is that they can be charged with specific components of the cell of origin, and this "cargo" could be modified by different stimuli and microenvironment conditions<sup>[58]</sup>. As mentioned above, it has been demonstrated that EVs are involved in the paracrine effects of MSCs, but as EVs

are implicated in many intercellular communications, we will first describe their implication in liver diseases.

#### **EVS IN LIVER DISEASES**

EVs have been implicated in a number of physiological and pathophysiological processes, such as immune response, angiogenesis, tissue regeneration, tumorigenesis/metastasis and neurodegenerative diseases<sup>[60-62]</sup>. In patients with primary biliary cirrhosis it was demonstrated that serum exosomes are taken up by peripheral monocytes and dendritic cells, resulting in the up regulation of co-stimulatory molecules<sup>[63]</sup>. Interestingly, serum circulating EVs present different miRNA composition in cirrhotic patients when compared with healthy controls<sup>[63,64]</sup>. Recent findings demonstrated that EVs are implicated in viral hepatitis, drug-induced injury, alcohol injury, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and biliary injury<sup>[65,66]</sup>.

#### EVs derived from parenchymal cells

Exosomes transport a variety of macromolecules that could act as signals between donor and recipient cells. In vitro studies demonstrated that liver parenchymal cells produce EVs that are involved in many physiological and pathophysiological processes<sup>[65,66]</sup>. For instance, it was demonstrated that there is an increase in the number of circulating exosomes with proliferative effect on hepatocytes after ischemia/ reperfusion injury<sup>[67]</sup>. Nojima *et al*<sup>[67]</sup> reported that EVs derived from hepatocytes, but no other liver cells can induce hepatocyte proliferation in vitro. It should be noted that hepatocyte-derived EVs exert their effect in a dose-dependent manner. Furthermore, their administration in mice under ischemia/reperfusion liver injury or after 70% hepatectomy promotes hepatocyte proliferation and liver regeneration. Similarly, Herrera et al<sup>[68]</sup> showed that hepatic progenitor cell-derived EVs promote hepatocyte proliferation, suppress cell death, and accelerate liver regeneration in rats after hepatectomy. The author suggested that this effect is mediated by the delivery of RNA by EVs to target cells. It is worth mention, that current data demonstrated that hepatocyte-derived exosome properties are mediated by fusion with target hepatocytes transferring their cargos<sup>[67,69,70]</sup>. For example, hepatocyte-derived EVs transfer neutral ceramidase and sphingosine kinase 2 (SK2) within hepatocytes resulting in the induction of sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), a demonstrated promoter of cell proliferation<sup>[67]</sup> (Figure 2). Further studies of the same group showed that CXCR1 is required for packaging of SK2 into exosomes and CXCR2 regulates neutral sphingomyelinase activity and there by neutral ceramidase production<sup>[71]</sup>.

On the other hand, hepatocyte-derived EVs in a nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) model interact with macrophages inducing an inflammatory phenotype<sup>[72]</sup> (Figure 2). Activation of the death receptor 5 (DR-5) expressed on hepatocytes by free fatty acid induces

![](_page_22_Picture_10.jpeg)

![](_page_23_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 2** Extracellular vesicles as paracrine mediator in liver disease and therapeutics potential of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. After ischemia reperfusion injury (I/R) or hepatectomy, hepatocytes (1) HPCs (2) release EVs with the ability to induce hepatocyte proliferation. (3) HPC-derived EVs stimulate LSECs and macrophages production of proliferative cytokines such as IL25 and IL17B. (4) On the other hand, free fatty acids induce the production of hepatocyte-derived EVs that result in the activation of quiescent HeSCs and pro-inflammatory macrophages (M1). (5) During chronic hepatitis C virus infection, EVs secreted by HCV-infected hepatocytes induce activation of HeSCs. (6) EVs secreted by hepatocytes after alcohol injury (containing CD40L and miRNAs) induce activation of monocytes and HeSCs. It seems to be a balance between EVs derived from active or quiescent HeSCs that promotes or inhibits fibrogenesis. Activated HeSC-derived EVs could also regulate HeSC activation (9). MSC-EVs induce hepatocyte proliferation, reduce oxidative stress and apoptosis, and modulate inflammatory response by carrying GPX1 or SK2 (10). Engineered MSC-EVs transferring miRNA-122, miRNA 181 5p and miRNA-223 have potential effects. The effects of MSC-EVs on HeSCs, hepatic macrophages, LSEC and infiltrated cells populations remain poorly explored. Green arrows: Inactivation of HeSCs; Red arrows: Activation of HeSCs; Blue arrow: Proliferative effect; Colors spots represent EVs from different cell origin; NCDase: Neutral ceramidase; SK2: Sphingosine kinase 2; S1P: Sphingosine-1-phosphate; IL: Interleukin; SK1: Sphingosine kinase 1; CCN2: Connective tissue growth factor; Twist1: Basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor; GPX1: Glutathione peroxidase 1; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; EVs: Extracellular vesicles.

there lease of EVs that could stimulate IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 expression on macrophages<sup>[72]</sup>. On the same line, EVs derived from palmitic acid (PA) stimulated hepatoma cells (Huh7 and HepG2) induce a profibrogenic phenotype on HeSCs<sup>[73]</sup>. Moreover, the activation of HeSCs seems to be related with the presence of miRNA-122 and miRNA-192 in the EVs<sup>[73]</sup> (Figure 2). Similarly, an increase in the number of circulating exosomes in mice is observed after chronic alcohol consumption<sup>[74]</sup>. Furthermore, *in vitro* incubation of hepatocytes with ethanol not only increases the release of exosomes but also allows monocyte activation through miRNA-122 horizontal transfer<sup>[74,75]</sup>. Remarkably, circulating EVs obtained from patients with alcoholic hepatitis show higher levels of miRNA-30a, miRNA-192 and, in particular, miRNA-122 than those

obtained from heathy donors<sup>[74]</sup> (Figure 2).

EVs have also been implicated in horizontal transfer of information in chronic hepatitis C infection between hepatocytes and HeSCs. Devhare *et al*<sup>[76]</sup> demonstrated that EVs derived from HCV-infected hepatocytes transfer viral RNAs that increases the expression of profibrogenic markers on HeSCs. Interestingly, these EVs carry miR-19a that activates the STAT3 signaling, enhancing the expression of TGF- $\beta$  and IL-6. Importantly, miR-19a upregulation was observed in HCV-infected hepatocytes and in sera of chronic HCV patients with fibrosis<sup>[76,77]</sup> (Figure 2). Moreover, Seo *et al*<sup>[78]</sup> demonstrated that EVs are implicated in HeSCs activation *via* toll-like receptor 3 with the subsequent activation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell population exacerbating liver fibrosis. Regarding other

WJG www.wjgnet.com

liver parenchymal cells, the role of cholangiocyte-derived EVs has been less studied. However, the presence of circulating EVs with altered miRNA composition and immunostimulatory functions on patients with PBC could suggest a role of cholangiocyte-derived EVs on this disease<sup>[63,64]</sup>.

#### EVs derived from non-parenchymal cells

Non-parenchymal cells, including LSECs, Kupffer cells, lymphocytes, and HeSCs play a critical role in many liver diseases and use EVs for communication with neighbor cells during liver damage<sup>[65,66]</sup>. For instance, connective tissue growth factor (CCN2), a pro-fibrogenic mediator, is packaged into EVs produced by activated HeSCs. Then, exosome CCN2 can be delivered to other quiescent or activated HeSCs to induce transactivation<sup>[79]</sup>. On the other hand, EVs derived from quiescent but not from activated HeSCs transport Twist 1 that suppress CCN2 on target cells through miR-214 induction<sup>[80]</sup>. Furthermore, Chen *et al*<sup>[81]</sup> showed that miR-199a-5p is loaded in guiescent HeSCs-derived EVs and also regulates CCN2 expression and activity on target cells (Figure 2). It seems to be a balance between EVs derived from active or quiescent HeSCs that promotes or inhibits liver damage. In addition, LSECs are known to maintain the HeSC quiescence through direct cell-to-cell contact and paracrine factors secretion<sup>[82]</sup>. Wang et al<sup>[83]</sup> demonstrated that LSECderived EVs have the ability to transfer Sphingosine kinase 1 (SK1) to regulate HeSC activation. In contrast, Ichinohe et al<sup>[84]</sup> demonstrated that progenitor hepatic cell-derived EVs stimulate LSECs and Kupffer cells to produce IL17B and IL25 resulting in proliferation of small progenitor hepatic cells (SPHCs) and liver regeneration (Figure 2). These findings evidence the importance of EVs derived from LSECs in affecting the activation state of neighboring cells. However, the mechanisms by which exosomes reach and attach target cells are not well understood. It has been reported that endocytosis of LSEC-derived EVs is mediated by the interaction between exosomal fibronectin and its ligand on the surface of HeSCs  $^{[83]}$  . Additionally, integrin  $\alpha v\beta 3$  or  $\alpha 5\beta 1$ and heparan sulfate proteoglycan are ligand for EVs-HeSCs interaction and allow information transfer from endothelial cells<sup>[85]</sup>.

Other important non-parenchymal cells involved in fibrogenesis are Kupffer cells and infiltrating macrophages. These cells are key players not only in fibrogenesis but also in fibrosis resolution and regeneration<sup>[86,87]</sup>. In alcoholic liver injury, hepatocyte-derived EVs enriched in miR-122 sensitize macrophages to LPS and induce their production of pro-inflammatory cytokines<sup>[75]</sup>. Moreover, CD40L presence on hepatocyte-derived EVs during alcoholic hepatitis promotes macrophage activation and the switch to a pro-inflammatory profile<sup>[88,89]</sup>. In contrast, *in vitro* exposure of monocytes to alcohol increased their release of EVs, which in turn induce an anti-inflammatory M2 profile of naïve monocytes<sup>[90]</sup>. Interestingly, EVs derived

from alcohol exposed monocytes contain high levels of miR-27a that is known to induce M2 polarization<sup>[90,91]</sup> (Figure 2).

In summary, it has been determined that EVs play a key role on the pathophysiological response to liver damage. EVs allow the interaction between parenchymal cells and non-parenchymal cells, mainly HeSCs, Kupffer cells and LSECs, mediating their anti/ pro-fibrogenic state. The role of EVs in cell-to-cell communication during liver damage and the transfer of molecules, proteins and miRNAs is gaining importance in the field. Furthermore, this mechanism can be exploited for new therapeutic approaches or used as biomarkers in non-invasive methods. In line with this, it has recently been reported that MSCs release high levels of EVs that can mediate part of their therapeutic effects. Thus, considering the key role of EVs in liver cell communication, MSC-derived EVs (MSC-EVs) could be studied as a new therapeutic approach for hepatic regeneration strategies.

# MSC-EVS AND THEIR POTENTIAL FOR LIVER REGENERATION

As described above, the main mechanism by which MSCs support the repair and regeneration of injured tissues is by releasing paracrine factors<sup>[7]</sup>. Recently, this paracrine mechanism was described to be partially mediated by EVs released by MSCs<sup>[10,56]</sup>. *In vitro* assays demonstrated that MSC-EVs induce hepatocyte proliferation and dedifferentiation into progenitor oval cells<sup>[92,93]</sup>. Therapeutic effects of MSC-EVs were demonstrated in pre-clinical models of acute kidney injury<sup>[94]</sup>, and then in pathologies of heart, brain, kidney, muscle and liver<sup>[95]</sup>.

Li *et al*<sup>[96]</sup> demonstrated that MSC-EVs reduced the degree of hepatic injury, collagen deposition and inflammation in mice with fibrosis induced by carbon tetrachloride (CCl<sub>4</sub>). The antifibrotic effect observed by MSC-EVs is mediated by the inactivation of TGF- $\beta$ 1/ Smad signaling pathway. Moreover, a reversion of the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) both *in vivo* and *in vitro* was observed after the EV treatment<sup>[96]</sup> (Figure 2). Therefore, EVs derived from human MSCs were effective in mice demonstrating that they preserve at least part of the immunomodulatory properties of the cells of origin.

As for liver fibrosis, the therapeutic capacity of MSC-EVs was also assessed in acute models of liver injury. Cheng *et al*<sup>[97]</sup> studied the effect of EVs derived from menstrual blood MSCs in a galactosamine/LPS mice model. MSC-EVs were able to enhance animal survival and reversion of liver failure through hepatocyte apoptosis inhibition and systemic inflammation reduction. In addition, *in vitro* assays showed that EVs are taken up by AML12 cells (hepatocyte cell line) resulting in the inhibition of apoptosis induced by galactosamine/LPS<sup>[97]</sup>. Similar results were observed by Haga *et al*<sup>[98]</sup> using EVs

![](_page_24_Picture_11.jpeg)

	,			
Ref.	EVs Isolation/characteristics	Experimental model	Protocol	<b>Biological effects</b>
Haga <i>et al</i> <sup>[98]</sup> 2016	Ultracentrifugation Size:	C57Bl mice. ALF, i.p. 20	$2 \times 10^8$ to $2 \times 10^{10}$ i.p./i.v.	$\uparrow$ Survival, $\uparrow$ F4/80, $\uparrow$ inhibitor
-	46-116 nm Alix <sup>+</sup> CD9 <sup>+</sup> , CD81 <sup>+</sup>	mg/body D-GalNAc + 0,3	-	MMP-1 and IL-6, ↓ inflammation
		mg/body TNF-α		and apoptosis, $\downarrow$ ALT/AST, $\downarrow$ ALP, $\downarrow$
				EGF, SCF, IFN-γ, IP-10, IL-1α, MIP-3,
				MCP-1/3
Yan et al <sup>[100]</sup> 2016	Ultracentrifugation Size:	BALB/c- <sup>nu/nu</sup> mice, i.p.	8, 16, and 32 mg/kg i.v./oral	$\downarrow$ Oxidative stress and apoptosis
	30-100 nm CD9 <sup>+</sup> , CD61 <sup>+</sup> ,	CCL4-induced ALF, 0.15-0.35		Induces ERK1/2 phosphorylation and
	CD63 <sup>+</sup>	mL/kg		Bcl2 expression Inhibits IKKB/NF $\kappa B/$
				casp9/3 pathway
Tan <i>et al</i> <sup>[99]</sup> 2014	TFF, 100.kDa MWCO filter	C57BL/6 mice. CCL4-induced	0.4 μg (100 μL) i.s.	$\uparrow$ Cell viability: TAMH, THLE-2, and
	Size: 55-100 nm	ALF, i.p. 0.05 mL CCL4/kg		Huh-7    † Hepatocytes proliferation
				$\downarrow$ ALT/AST $\downarrow$ Casp 3/7 $\uparrow$
				antiapoptoticBcl-xL
Chen <i>et al</i> <sup>[97]</sup> 2017	Centrifugation and Exoquick-	C57BL/6 mice. ALF, i.p.	1 μg/μL i.v.	$\uparrow$ Liver function and survival $\downarrow$
	TC Size: $30-100 \text{ nm CD63}^+$	D-GalNAc 800 mg/kg and		Apoptosis $\downarrow$ TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-1 $\downarrow$
	and tsg101 <sup>+</sup>	LPS 50 µg/kg		Casp-3 $\downarrow$ Necrosis and inflammation
Nong <i>et al</i> <sup>[101]</sup> 2016	Ultracentrifugation and	Rats I/R injury	600 $\mu$ g suspended in 400 $\mu$ L	$\uparrow$ GSH, GSH-PX and SOD $\downarrow$ AST/ALT
	ultrafiltration Size: 50-60 nm		of PBS i.v.	$\downarrow$ TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and HMGB1 $\downarrow$ Casp-3
	$CD9^+$ , $CD63^+$ and $CD81^+$			and Bax
Du <i>et al</i> <sup>[93]</sup> 2017	Centrifugation and filtered	C57 mice I/R injury	$2.5 \times 10^{12}$ particles in 500 µL	↑ Hepatocytes proliferation ↑
	by 0, 45-μm PVDF filter		of PBS i.v.	SK activity and S1P formation.
	ExoQuick Size: 100-200 nm			Hepatoprotective and proliferative
	Alix <sup><math>+</math></sup> , CD63 <sup><math>+</math></sup> and CD81 <sup><math>+</math></sup>			effect abolished by the inhibition of
				SK or S1P receptor 1

#### Table 2 Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells-derived extracellular vesicles in experimental models of liver disease

i.p.: Intraperitoneal injection; i.v.: Intravenous injection; i.s.: Intrasplenic; MMP: Metalloproteinases; CCL4: Corbon tetrachloride; D-GalNAc: N Acetylgalactosamine; IL: Interleukins; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; ALP: Alkaline phosphatase; EGF: Epidermal growth factor; SCF: Stem cell factor; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; IFN: Interferon; IP: Inducible protein; MIP: Macrophage inflammatory protein; MCP: Monocyte chemotactic protein; ERK: Extracellular signal-regulated kinase; Bcl: B-cell lymphoma; TFF: Tangential flow filtration; MWCO: Molecular weight cut-off; ALF: Acute liver failure; TAMH: Transgenic mouse hepatocyte; THLE: T-antigen immortalized human liver epithelial; Casp: Caspase; GSH: Glutathione; GSH-PX: Glutathione peroxidase; SOD: Superoxide dismutase; HMGB: High mobility group box; PBS: Phosphate-buffered saline; SK: Sphingosine kinase; S1P: Sphingosine 1-phosphate.

derived from bone marrow MSCs in an animal model of acute liver failure. A relevant finding was the preservation of the biological activity of cryopreserved-EVs m up to 3 mo, indicating the stability of EVs<sup>[98]</sup>.

It is known that induction of oxidative stress in the liver results in severe hepatic diseases by inducing cell apoptosis. A protective and proliferative effect of MSC-EVs in a lethal mice model induced by a single dose of CCl4 has been reported<sup>[99]</sup>. In addition, MSC-EVs inhibited hepatocyte apoptosis induced by acetaminophen and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and increased cell viability in vitro<sup>[99]</sup>. In this line, Yan et al<sup>[100]</sup> demonstrated that EVs derived from umbilical cord MSCs induced an antioxidant effect on hepatocytes. Glutathione peroxidase 1 (GPX1) delivered on MSC-EVs reduces the reactive oxygen species (ROS) intracellular levels and inhibits the oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in vitro and in vivo. Remarkably, authors demonstrated that a low dose of EVs (16 mg/kg of body weight) resulted in similar effects either by tail vein administration or oral gavage. In addition, Nong et al<sup>[101]</sup> tested the effect of EVs generated from MSC-derived Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) (MSC-iPSC-EVs) in hepatic ischemia-reperfusion (I-R) injury models. In vivo administration of MSC-iPSC-EVs in I-R injury mice model resulted in a decrease of oxidative stress response and apoptosis, and an increase of hepatocyte proliferation (Figure 2).Consistently, an amelioration of hepatic damage and inflammatory response was observed after EV treatment. It should be noted that MSC-iPSC-EVs keep the characteristics of EVs usually obtained from tissue-derived MSCs (bone marrow, adipose tissue and umbilical cord)<sup>[101]</sup>. In addition, it has been reported that MSC-iPSC-EVs could directly fuse with hepatocytes increasing the activity of sphingosine kinase (SK1). Moreover, the increase in SK activity will in turn increase the sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) levels affecting hepatocyte proliferation<sup>[93]</sup> (Table 2).

Although there is a great therapeutic potential of MSC-EVs in liver protection and regeneration, it is mandatory to understand the mechanisms involved in their biological effects. One key point of research is to know the bio distribution of EVs after systemic administration *in vivo*. *In vitro* assays showed that EVs are taken up *via* integrin mediated endocytosis by target liver cells<sup>[67,85,90,97]</sup>. In addition, MSC-EV biodistribution after intravenous (IV) administration shows EVs uptake as fast as 3 to 6 h after injection in liver, spleen and lung cells<sup>[97]</sup>. Furthermore, Haga *et al*<sup>[98]</sup> reported that liver, spleen and lung from mice with fulminant hepatitis exert a higher uptake of MSC-EVs in comparison with organs from healthy mice. However, since these experiments have been carried out using lipophilic tracers, confirmation of these results with specific markers is necessary. The MSC-EV survival in circulation after being administered and the recognition pathways used by the target cells need to be studied in depth. Moreover, this knowledge could help to define the better scheme of doses, the time of treatment and the route of administration depending of the type of liver damage. In addition, conformation details of proteins and nucleic acids loaded in the EVs is required.

# ENGINEERING MSC-EVS FOR LIVER REGENERATION

Recently, an increased interest has been shown by the research community to improve the efficiency and potency of EVs loading specific cargos<sup>[102]</sup>. As described above, the EVs produced by MSCs have useful properties that would allow them to be used as therapies in different liver pathologies<sup>[62]</sup>, and advances in nanomedicine would allow to improve the technology to generate more effective EVs<sup>[102,103]</sup>. Thereby, engineered EVs can be generated with strategies based on covalent surface chemistry, hydrophobic insertions or membrane permeabilization. Moreover, modification of the parental cells through metabolic labeling, genetic modification or by insertion of exogenous material could also produce modified EVs. These engineered EVs could carry specific DNAs, mRNAs or non-coding RNAs to the specific cell<sup>[102]</sup>.

Lou et al<sup>[104]</sup> demonstrated that miRNA-122 expression in MSCs by lentiviral infection increased their therapeutic effect in a fibrosis model in mice. MiR-122 positively regulates proliferation and trans differentiation of HeSCs having an important role in liver fibrogenesis<sup>[105]</sup>. Authors demonstrated that *in vitro* miRNA-122 is transferred to HeSCs through MSC-EVs resulting in the regulation of genes involved in collagen maturation and cell proliferation<sup>[104]</sup>. Another strategy uses EVs derived from MSCs with transient expression of miRNA-181-5p as a therapeutic option in a liver fibrosis model<sup>[106]</sup>. As for miRNA-122, miRNA-181-5p was delivered by MSC-EVs reducing the fibrosis and the inflammatory state of fibrotic mice<sup>[106]</sup>. Moreover, in vitro experiments show that after reaching the target cell, miRNA-181-5p binds to3'-UTR of STAT3 and Bcl-2, which in turn down regulates TGF- $\beta$ 1 expression and induces autophagy in HeSCs<sup>[106]</sup>. Finally, in a model of autoimmune hepatitis, a cytoprotective effect of MSC-EVs engineered to charge miRNA-223 was observed. The in vitro experiments demonstrated that miRNA-223 levels were increased in hepatocytes after their incubation with the engineered EVs<sup>[107]</sup>. Similar results were observed in vivo with an increase of this miRNA in the liver and a reduction of its target gene NLRP3, and therefore a decrease in hepatocyte apoptosis  $^{\left[ 107\right] }$  (Figure 2).

In summary, more information is needed not only to develop more efficient therapies for liver diseases based on MSC-EVs but also to engineer them to increase their efficacy and potency.

### CONCLUSION

MSCs-based therapy has emerged as a potent and innovative treatment for acute and chronic liver diseases. The safety and feasibility observed in the early clinical trials using MSCs have increased the interest to translate the use of these cells to the clinic. Moreover, pro-regenerative results and an improvement in the life quality of patients were observed. In ALF, MSCs could have a role decreasing liver damage progression due their immunomodulatory properties. In chronic liver diseases, MSCs could contribute to decrease liver damage and to ameliorate the degree of fibrosis. Even more, in both case MSC treatment could not only delay the transplant but also to avoid it in some particular cases. In addition, in the post-transplant setting, MSC therapy could extend the graft survival and/or decrease the amount of immunosuppression required. Although the main mechanism by which MSCs support the repair and regeneration of injured livers is by releasing paracrine factors, strong evidences demonstrated that this paracrine mechanism is mediated by EVs released by MSCs. Therefore, due to EVs' stability for long periods of time and easy isolation methods they have become a therapeutic option to MSCs treatments in liver diseases. At present, EVs are strongly explored for therapeutic or diagnostic application, and more information is needed to develop more efficient tools for liver diseases based on MSC-EVs. However, it is important to understand that therapeutic potential of MSCs or its EVs is still a matter of debate. In addition, standardization of source of MSCs, culture conditions, pre-condition protocols for cell transplantation, administration route, doses and time of treatment is required. Nevertheless, considering that development of new therapeutic approaches for liver diseases is urgent, MSCs emerge as potent innovation. Thus, take advantage of the therapeutic potential of MSCs as promising tool for liver regeneration could attend to an important worldwide human health problem.

#### REFERENCES

- Friedman SL. Mechanisms of hepatic fibrogenesis. Gastroenterology 2008; 134: 1655-1669 [PMID: 18471545 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.03.003]
- 2 Lee YA, Wallace MC, Friedman SL. Pathobiology of liver fibrosis: a translational success story. *Gut* 2015; **64**: 830-841 [PMID: 25681399 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-306842]
- 3 Stravitz RT, Kramer DJ. Management of acute liver failure. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 6: 542-553 [PMID: 19652652 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2009.127]
- 4 Trovato FM, Catalano D, Musumeci G, Trovato GM. 4Ps medicine of the fatty liver: the research model of predictive, preventive, personalized and participatory medicine-recommendations for facing obesity, fatty liver and fibrosis epidemics. *EPMA J* 2014; 5: 21 [PMID: 25937854 DOI: 10.1186/1878-5085-5-21]
- 5 Trovato FM, Martines GF, Brischetto D, Catalano D, Musumeci G, Trovato GM. Fatty liver disease and lifestyle in youngsters: diet, food intake frequency, exercise, sleep shortage and fashion. *Liver*

Int 2016; 36: 427-433 [PMID: 26346413 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12957]

- 6 Aquino JB, Bolontrade MF, García MG, Podhajcer OL, Mazzolini G. Mesenchymal stem cells as therapeutic tools and gene carriers in liver fibrosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gene Ther* 2010; 17: 692-708 [PMID: 20220785 DOI: 10.1038/gt.2010.10]
- 7 Fiore EJ, Mazzolini G, Aquino JB. Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells in Liver Fibrosis: Recent Findings, Old/New Caveats and Future Perspectives. *Stem Cell Rev* 2015; 11: 586-597 [PMID: 25820543 DOI: 10.1007/s12015-015-9585-9]
- 8 Garcia MG, Bayo J, Bolontrade MF, Sganga L, Malvicini M, Alaniz L, Aquino JB, Fiore E, Rizzo MM, Rodriguez A, Lorenti A, Andriani O, Podhajcer O, Mazzolini G. Hepatocellular carcinoma cells and their fibrotic microenvironment modulate bone marrowderived mesenchymal stromal cell migration in vitro and in vivo. *Mol Pharm* 2011; 8: 1538-1548 [PMID: 21770423 DOI: 10.1021/ mp200137c]
- 9 Volarevic V, Nurkovic J, Arsenijevic N, Stojkovic M. Concise review: Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of acute liver failure and cirrhosis. *Stem Cells* 2014; 32: 2818-2823 [PMID: 25154380 DOI: 10.1002/stem.1818]
- 10 Camussi G, Deregibus MC, Cantaluppi V. Role of stem-cellderived microvesicles in the paracrine action of stem cells. *Biochem Soc Trans* 2013; 41: 283-287 [PMID: 23356298 DOI: 10.1042/BST20120192]
- Squillaro T, Peluso G, Galderisi U. Clinical Trials With Mesenchymal Stem Cells: An Update. *Cell Transplant* 2016; 25: 829-848 [PMID: 26423725 DOI: 10.3727/096368915X689622]
- 12 Mobasheri A, Kalamegam G, Musumeci G, Batt ME. Chondrocyte and mesenchymal stem cell-based therapies for cartilage repair in osteoarthritis and related orthopaedic conditions. *Maturitas* 2014; 78: 188-198 [PMID: 24855933 DOI: 10.1016/ j.maturitas.2014.04.017]
- Tsuchiya A, Kojima Y, Ikarashi S, Seino S, Watanabe Y, Kawata Y, Terai S. Clinical trials using mesenchymal stem cells in liver diseases and inflammatory bowel diseases. *Inflamm Regen* 2017; 37: 16 [PMID: 29259715 DOI: 10.1186/s41232-017-0045-6]
- 14 Mohamadnejad M, Alimoghaddam K, Mohyeddin-Bonab M, Bagheri M, Bashtar M, Ghanaati H, Baharvand H, Ghavamzadeh A, Malekzadeh R. Phase 1 trial of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis. *Arch Iran Med* 2007; 10: 459-466 [PMID: 17903050]
- 15 Kharaziha P, Hellström PM, Noorinayer B, Farzaneh F, Aghajani K, Jafari F, Telkabadi M, Atashi A, Honardoost M, Zali MR, Soleimani M. Improvement of liver function in liver cirrhosis patients after autologous mesenchymal stem cell injection: a phase I-II clinical trial. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; 21: 1199-1205 [PMID: 19455046 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e32832a1f6c]
- 16 El-Ansary M MS, Abdel-Aziz I, Abdel-Hamid S. Phase I Trial: Mesenchymal Stem Cells Transplantation in End Stage Liver Disease. *Journal of American Science* 2010; 6: 1
- 17 El-Ansary M, Abdel-Aziz I, Mogawer S, Abdel-Hamid S, Hammam O, Teaema S, Wahdan M. Phase II trial: undifferentiated versus differentiated autologous mesenchymal stem cells transplantation in Egyptian patients with HCV induced liver cirrhosis. *Stem Cell Rev* 2012; 8: 972-981 [PMID: 21989829 DOI: 10.1007/s12015-011-9322-y]
- 18 Zhang Z, Lin H, Shi M, Xu R, Fu J, Lv J, Chen L, Lv S, Li Y, Yu S, Geng H, Jin L, Lau GK, Wang FS. Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells improve liver function and ascites in decompensated liver cirrhosis patients. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 27 Suppl 2: 112-120 [PMID: 22320928 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1440-1746.2011.07024.x]
- 19 Shi M, Zhang Z, Xu R, Lin H, Fu J, Zou Z, Zhang A, Shi J, Chen L, Lv S, He W, Geng H, Jin L, Liu Z, Wang FS. Human mesenchymal stem cell transfusion is safe and improves liver function in acuteon-chronic liver failure patients. *Stem Cells Transl Med* 2012; 1: 725-731 [PMID: 23197664 DOI: 10.5966/sctm.2012-0034]
- 20 **Mohamadnejad M**, Alimoghaddam K, Bagheri M, Ashrafi M, Abdollahzadeh L, Akhlaghpoor S, Bashtar M, Ghavamzadeh

A, Malekzadeh R. Randomized placebo-controlled trial of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in decompensated cirrhosis. *Liver Int* 2013; **33**: 1490-1496 [PMID: 23763455 DOI: 10.1111/ liv.12228]

- 21 Wang L, Li J, Liu H, Li Y, Fu J, Sun Y, Xu R, Lin H, Wang S, Lv S, Chen L, Zou Z, Li B, Shi M, Zhang Z, Wang FS. Pilot study of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell transfusion in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 28 Suppl 1: 85-92 [PMID: 23855301 DOI: 10.1111/ jgh.12029]
- 22 Wang L, Han Q, Chen H, Wang K, Shan GL, Kong F, Yang YJ, Li YZ, Zhang X, Dong F, Wang Q, Xu D, Hu ZJ, Wang SH, Keating A, Bi YL, Zhang FC, Zhao RC. Allogeneic bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with UDCA-resistant primary biliary cirrhosis. *Stem Cells Dev* 2014; 23: 2482-2489 [PMID: 24835895 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2013.0500]
- 23 Salama H, Zekri AR, Medhat E, Al Alim SA, Ahmed OS, Bahnassy AA, Lotfy MM, Ahmed R, Musa S. Peripheral vein infusion of autologous mesenchymal stem cells in Egyptian HCVpositive patients with end-stage liver disease. *Stem Cell Res Ther* 2014; 5: 70 [PMID: 24886681 DOI: 10.1186/scrt459]
- 24 Zhang YC, Liu W, Fu BS, Wang GY, Li HB, Yi HM, Jiang N, Wang G, Zhang J, Yi SH, Li H, Zhang Q, Yang Y, Chen GH. Therapeutic potentials of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stromal cells for ischemic-type biliary lesions following liver transplantation. *Cytotherapy* 2017; **19**: 194-199 [PMID: 27964826 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.11.005]
- 25 Detry O, Vandermeulen M, Delbouille MH, Somja J, Bletard N, Briquet A, Lechanteur C, Giet O, Baudoux E, Hannon M, Baron F, Beguin Y. Infusion of mesenchymal stromal cells after deceased liver transplantation: A phase I-II, open-label, clinical study. *J Hepatol* 2017; 67: 47-55 [PMID: 28284916 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.03.001]
- 26 Shi M, Liu Z, Wang Y, Xu R, Sun Y, Zhang M, Yu X, Wang H, Meng L, Su H, Jin L, Wang FS. A Pilot Study of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for Acute Liver Allograft Rejection. *Stem Cells Transl Med* 2017; 6: 2053-2061 [PMID: 29178564 DOI: 10.1002/ sctm.17-0134]
- 27 Hartleif S, Schumm M, Döring M, Mezger M, Lang P, Dahlke MH, Riethmüller J, Königsrainer A, Handgretinger R, Nadalin S, Sturm E. Safety and Tolerance of Donor-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Pediatric Living-Donor Liver Transplantation: The MYSTEP1 Study. *Stem Cells Int* 2017; 2017: 2352954 [PMID: 28740511 DOI: 10.1155/2017/2352954]
- 28 Lin BL, Chen JF, Qiu WH, Wang KW, Xie DY, Chen XY, Liu QL, Peng L, Li JG, Mei YY, Weng WZ, Peng YW, Cao HJ, Xie JQ, Xie SB, Xiang AP, Gao ZL. Allogeneic bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells for hepatitis B virus-related acute-on-chronic liver failure: A randomized controlled trial. *Hepatology* 2017; 66: 209-219 [PMID: 28370357 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29189]
- 29 Peng L, Xie DY, Lin BL, Liu J, Zhu HP, Xie C, Zheng YB, Gao ZL. Autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in liver failure patients caused by hepatitis B: shortterm and long-term outcomes. *Hepatology* 2011; 54: 820-828 [PMID: 21608000 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24434]
- 30 Jang YO, Kim YJ, Baik SK, Kim MY, Eom YW, Cho MY, Park HJ, Park SY, Kim BR, Kim JW, Soo Kim H, Kwon SO, Choi EH, Kim YM. Histological improvement following administration of autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for alcoholic cirrhosis: a pilot study. *Liver Int* 2014; 34: 33-41 [PMID: 23782511 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12218]
- 31 Xu L, Gong Y, Wang B, Shi K, Hou Y, Wang L, Lin Z, Han Y, Lu L, Chen D, Lin X, Zeng Q, Feng W, Chen Y. Randomized trial of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells transplantation for hepatitis B virus cirrhosis: regulation of Treg/Th17 cells. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2014; 29: 1620-1628 [PMID: 24942592 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12653]
- 32 **Suk KT**, Yoon JH, Kim MY, Kim CW, Kim JK, Park H, Hwang SG, Kim DJ, Lee BS, Lee SH, Kim HS, Jang JY, Lee CH, Kim BS, Jang YO, Cho MY, Jung ES, Kim YM, Bae SH, Baik

![](_page_27_Picture_30.jpeg)

SK. Transplantation with autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for alcoholic cirrhosis: Phase 2 trial. *Hepatology* 2016; **64**: 2185-2197 [PMID: 27339398 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.28693]

- 33 Sakai Y TM, Seki A, Sunagozaka H, Terashima T, Komura T, Yamato M, Miyazawa M, Kawaguchi K, Nasti A, Mochida H, Usui S, Otani N, Ochiya T, Wada T, Honda M, Kaneko S. Phase I clinical study of liver regenerative therapy for cirrhosis by intrahepatic arterial infusion of freshly isolated autologous adipose tissue-derived stromal/stem (regenerative) cell Reg. *Ther* 2017; 6: 52-64
- 34 Amer ME, El-Sayed SZ, El-Kheir WA, Gabr H, Gomaa AA, El-Noomani N, Hegazy M. Clinical and laboratory evaluation of patients with end-stage liver cell failure injected with bone marrow-derived hepatocyte-like cells. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 23: 936-941 [PMID: 21900788 DOI: 10.1097/ MEG.0b013e3283488b00]
- 35 Amin MA, Sabry D, Rashed LA, Aref WM, el-Ghobary MA, Farhan MS, Fouad HA, Youssef YA. Short-term evaluation of autologous transplantation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in patients with cirrhosis: Egyptian study. *Clin Transplant* 2013; 27: 607-612 [PMID: 23923970 DOI: 10.1111/ ctr.12179]
- 36 Bayo J, Marrodán M, Aquino JB, Silva M, García MG, Mazzolini G. The therapeutic potential of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells on hepatocellular carcinoma. *Liver Int* 2014; 34: 330-342 [PMID: 24112437 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12338]
- 37 Usunier B, Benderitter M, Tamarat R, Chapel A. Management of fibrosis: the mesenchymal stromal cells breakthrough. *Stem Cells Int* 2014; 2014: 340257 [PMID: 25132856 DOI: 10.1155/2014/340257]
- 38 Bayo J, Fiore E, Aquino JB, Malvicini M, Rizzo M, Peixoto E, Andriani O, Alaniz L, Piccioni F, Bolontrade M, Podhajcer O, Garcia MG, Mazzolini G. Increased migration of human mesenchymal stromal cells by autocrine motility factor (AMF) resulted in enhanced recruitment towards hepatocellular carcinoma. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e95171 [PMID: 24736611 DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0095171]
- 39 Bayo J, Real A, Fiore EJ, Malvicini M, Sganga L, Bolontrade M, Andriani O, Bizama C, Fresno C, Podhajcer O, Fernandez E, Gidekel M, Mazzolini GD, García MG. IL-8, GRO and MCP-1 produced by hepatocellular carcinoma microenvironment determine the migratory capacity of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells without affecting tumor aggressiveness. *Oncotarget* 2016; 8: 80235-80248 [PMID: 29113298 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.10288]
- 40 Bataller R, Brenner DA. Liver fibrosis. *J Clin Invest* 2005; 115: 209-218 [PMID: 15690074 DOI: 10.1172/JCI24282]
- 41 Kuroda Y, Kitada M, Wakao S, Dezawa M. Bone marrow mesenchymal cells: how do they contribute to tissue repair and are they really stem cells? *Arch Immunol Ther Exp* (Warsz) 2011; 59: 369-378 [PMID: 21789625 DOI: 10.1007/s00005-011-0139-9]
- 42 Gardner OFW, Musumeci G, Neumann AJ, Eglin D, Archer CW, Alini M, Stoddart MJ. Asymmetrical seeding of MSCs into fibrin-poly(ester-urethane) scaffolds and its effect on mechanically induced chondrogenesis. *J Tissue Eng Regen Med* 2017; 11: 2912-2921 [PMID: 27406210 DOI: 10.1002/term.2194]
- 43 Musumeci G, Lo Furno D, Loreto C, Giuffrida R, Caggia S, Leonardi R, Cardile V. Mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue which have been differentiated into chondrocytes in threedimensional culture express lubricin. *Exp Biol Med* (Maywood) 2011; 236: 1333-1341 [PMID: 22036733 DOI: 10.1258/ebm.2011.011183]
- 44 Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA, Simonetti DW, Craig S, Marshak DR. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* 1999; 284: 143-147 [PMID: 10102814]
- 45 Meier RP, Müller YD, Morel P, Gonelle-Gispert C, Bühler LH. Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of liver diseases, is there enough evidence? *Stem Cell Res* 2013; 11: 1348-1364 [PMID: 24090934 DOI: 10.1016/j.scr.2013.08.011]

- 46 Lin CS, Xin ZC, Dai J, Lue TF. Commonly used mesenchymal stem cell markers and tracking labels: Limitations and challenges. *Histol Histopathol* 2013; 28: 1109-1116 [PMID: 23588700 DOI: 10.14670/HH-28.1109]
- 47 Reagan MR, Kaplan DL. Concise review: Mesenchymal stem cell tumor-homing: detection methods in disease model systems. *Stem Cells* 2011; 29: 920-927 [PMID: 21557390 DOI: 10.1002/ stem.645]
- 48 Fiore EJ, Bayo JM, Garcia MG, Malvicini M, Lloyd R, Piccioni F, Rizzo M, Peixoto E, Sola MB, Atorrasagasti C, Alaniz L, Camilletti MA, Enguita M, Prieto J, Aquino JB, Mazzolini G. Mesenchymal stromal cells engineered to produce IGF-I by recombinant adenovirus ameliorate liver fibrosis in mice. *Stem Cells Dev* 2015; 24: 791-801 [PMID: 25315017 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2014.0174]
- 49 Dai LJ, Li HY, Guan LX, Ritchie G, Zhou JX. The therapeutic potential of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells on hepatic cirrhosis. *Stem Cell Res* 2009; 2: 16-25 [PMID: 19383405 DOI: 10.1016/j.scr.2008.07.005]
- 50 Sato Y, Araki H, Kato J, Nakamura K, Kawano Y, Kobune M, Sato T, Miyanishi K, Takayama T, Takahashi M, Takimoto R, Iyama S, Matsunaga T, Ohtani S, Matsuura A, Hamada H, Niitsu Y. Human mesenchymal stem cells xenografted directly to rat liver are differentiated into human hepatocytes without fusion. *Blood* 2005; 106: 756-763 [PMID: 15817682 DOI: 10.1182/ blood-2005-02-0572]
- 51 Meirelles Lda S, Fontes AM, Covas DT, Caplan AI. Mechanisms involved in the therapeutic properties of mesenchymal stem cells. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 2009; 20: 419-427 [PMID: 19926330 DOI: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2009.10.002]
- 52 Li WL, Su J, Yao YC, Tao XR, Yan YB, Yu HY, Wang XM, Li JX, Yang YJ, Lau JT, Hu YP. Isolation and characterization of bipotent liver progenitor cells from adult mouse. *Stem Cells* 2006; 24: 322-332 [PMID: 16109753 DOI: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0108]
- 53 Wang L, Wang X, Wang L, Chiu JD, van de Ven G, Gaarde WA, Deleve LD. Hepatic vascular endothelial growth factor regulates recruitment of rat liver sinusoidal endothelial cell progenitor cells. *Gastroenterology* 2012; **143**: 1555-1563.e2 [PMID: 22902870 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.08.008]
- 54 Parekkadan B, van Poll D, Suganuma K, Carter EA, Berthiaume F, Tilles AW, Yarmush ML. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived molecules reverse fulminant hepatic failure. *PLoS One* 2007; 2: e941 [PMID: 17895982 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000941]
- 55 van Poll D, Parekkadan B, Cho CH, Berthiaume F, Nahmias Y, Tilles AW, Yarmush ML. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived molecules directly modulate hepatocellular death and regeneration in vitro and in vivo. *Hepatology* 2008; 47: 1634-1643 [PMID: 18395843 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22236]
- 56 Yu B, Zhang X, Li X. Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells. *Int J Mol Sci* 2014; 15: 4142-4157 [PMID: 24608926 DOI: 10.3390/ijms15034142]
- 57 Ha D, Yang N, Nadithe V. Exosomes as therapeutic drug carriers and delivery vehicles across biological membranes: current perspectives and future challenges. *Acta Pharm Sin B* 2016; 6: 287-296 [PMID: 27471669 DOI: 10.1016/j.apsb.2016.02.001]
- 58 Théry C, Zitvogel L, Amigorena S. Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2002; 2: 569-579 [PMID: 12154376 DOI: 10.1038/nri855]
- 59 Lötvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F, Buzás EI, Di Vizio D, Gardiner C, Gho YS, Kurochkin IV, Mathivanan S, Quesenberry P, Sahoo S, Tahara H, Wauben MH, Witwer KW, Théry C. Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles. *J Extracell Vesicles* 2014; 3: 26913 [PMID: 25536934 DOI: 10.3402/jev.v3.26913]
- 60 Maumus M, Jorgensen C, Noël D. Mesenchymal stem cells in regenerative medicine applied to rheumatic diseases: role of secretome and exosomes. *Biochimie* 2013; 95: 2229-2234 [PMID: 23685070 DOI: 10.1016/j.biochi.2013.04.017]
- 61 **Huang L**, Ma W, Ma Y, Feng D, Chen H, Cai B. Exosomes in mesenchymal stem cells, a new therapeutic strategy for

![](_page_28_Picture_31.jpeg)

cardiovascular diseases? *Int J Biol Sci* 2015; **11**: 238-245 [PMID: 25632267 DOI: 10.7150/ijbs.10725]

- 62 Börger V, Bremer M, Ferrer-Tur R, Gockeln L, Stambouli O, Becic A, Giebel B. Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles and Their Potential as Novel Immunomodulatory Therapeutic Agents. *Int J Mol Sci* 2017; 18 [PMID: 28684664 DOI: 10.3390/ijms18071450]
- 63 Tomiyama T, Yang GX, Zhao M, Zhang W, Tanaka H, Wang J, Leung PS, Okazaki K, He XS, Lu Q, Coppel RL, Bowlus CL, Gershwin ME. The modulation of co-stimulatory molecules by circulating exosomes in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Cell Mol Immunol* 2017; 14: 276-284 [PMID: 26388238 DOI: 10.1038/ cmi.2015.86]
- 64 Fornari F, Ferracin M, Trerè D, Milazzo M, Marinelli S, Galassi M, Venerandi L, Pollutri D, Patrizi C, Borghi A, Foschi FG, Stefanini GF, Negrini M, Bolondi L, Gramantieri L. Circulating microRNAs, miR-939, miR-595, miR-519d and miR-494, Identify Cirrhotic Patients with HCC. *PLoS One* 2015; **10**: e0141448 [PMID: 26509672 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141448]
- 65 Maji S, Matsuda A, Yan IK, Parasramka M, Patel T. Extracellular vesicles in liver diseases. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2017; **312**: G194-G200 [PMID: 28039157 DOI: 10.1152/ ajpgi.00216.2016]
- 66 Szabo G, Momen-Heravi F. Extracellular vesicles in liver disease and potential as biomarkers and therapeutic targets. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2017; 14: 455-466 [PMID: 28634412 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.71]
- 67 Nojima H, Freeman CM, Schuster RM, Japtok L, Kleuser B, Edwards MJ, Gulbins E, Lentsch AB. Hepatocyte exosomes mediate liver repair and regeneration via sphingosine-1-phosphate. *J Hepatol* 2016; 64: 60-68 [PMID: 26254847 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2015.07.030]
- 68 Herrera MB, Fonsato V, Gatti S, Deregibus MC, Sordi A, Cantarella D, Calogero R, Bussolati B, Tetta C, Camussi G. Human liver stem cell-derived microvesicles accelerate hepatic regeneration in hepatectomized rats. *J Cell Mol Med* 2010; 14: 1605-1618 [PMID: 19650833 DOI: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00860.x]
- 69 Fatima F, Ekstrom K, Nazarenko I, Maugeri M, Valadi H, Hill AF, Camussi G, Nawaz M. Non-coding RNAs in Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles: Deciphering Regulatory Roles in Stem Cell Potency, Inflammatory Resolve, and Tissue Regeneration. *Front Genet* 2017; 8: 161 [PMID: 29123544 DOI: 10.3389/fgene.2017.00161]
- Kim KM, Abdelmohsen K, Mustapic M, Kapogiannis D, Gorospe M. RNA in extracellular vesicles. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA* 2017;
   8 [PMID: 28130830 DOI: 10.1002/wrna.1413]
- 71 Nojima H, Konishi T, Freeman CM, Schuster RM, Japtok L, Kleuser B, Edwards MJ, Gulbins E, Lentsch AB. Chemokine Receptors, CXCR1 and CXCR2, Differentially Regulate Exosome Release in Hepatocytes. *PLoS One* 2016; **11**: e0161443 [PMID: 27551720 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161443]
- 72 Hirsova P, Ibrahim SH, Krishnan A, Verma VK, Bronk SF, Werneburg NW, Charlton MR, Shah VH, Malhi H, Gores GJ. Lipid-Induced Signaling Causes Release of Inflammatory Extracellular Vesicles From Hepatocytes. *Gastroenterology* 2016; **150**: 956-967 [PMID: 26764184 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.12.037]
- 73 Lee YS, Kim SY, Ko E, Lee JH, Yi HS, Yoo YJ, Je J, Suh SJ, Jung YK, Kim JH, Seo YS, Yim HJ, Jeong WI, Yeon JE, Um SH, Byun KS. Exosomes derived from palmitic acid-treated hepatocytes induce fibrotic activation of hepatic stellate cells. *Sci Rep* 2017; 7: 3710 [PMID: 28623272 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-03389-2]
- 74 Momen-Heravi F, Saha B, Kodys K, Catalano D, Satishchandran A, Szabo G. Increased number of circulating exosomes and their microRNA cargos are potential novel biomarkers in alcoholic hepatitis. *J Transl Med* 2015; 13: 261 [PMID: 26264599 DOI: 10.1186/s12967-015-0623-9]
- 75 Momen-Heravi F, Bala S, Kodys K, Szabo G. Exosomes derived from alcohol-treated hepatocytes horizontally transfer liver specific miRNA-122 and sensitize monocytes to LPS. *Sci Rep* 2015; 5: 9991 [PMID: 25973575 DOI: 10.1038/srep09991]

- 76 Devhare PB, Sasaki R, Shrivastava S, Di Bisceglie AM, Ray R, Ray RB. Exosome-Mediated Intercellular Communication between Hepatitis C Virus-Infected Hepatocytes and Hepatic Stellate Cells. *J Virol* 2017; 91 [PMID: 28077652 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.02225-16]
- Bukong TN, Momen-Heravi F, Kodys K, Bala S, Szabo G. Exosomes from hepatitis C infected patients transmit HCV infection and contain replication competent viral RNA in complex with Ago2-miR122-HSP90. *PLoS Pathog* 2014; 10: e1004424 [PMID: 25275643 DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004424]
- 78 Seo W, Eun HS, Kim SY, Yi HS, Lee YS, Park SH, Jang MJ, Jo E, Kim SC, Han YM, Park KG, Jeong WI. Exosome-mediated activation of toll-like receptor 3 in stellate cells stimulates interleukin-17 production by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in liver fibrosis. *Hepatology* 2016; **64**: 616-631 [PMID: 27178735 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28644]
- 79 Charrier A, Chen R, Chen L, Kemper S, Hattori T, Takigawa M, Brigstock DR. Exosomes mediate intercellular transfer of profibrogenic connective tissue growth factor (CCN2) between hepatic stellate cells, the principal fibrotic cells in the liver. *Surgery* 2014; 156: 548-555 [PMID: 24882759 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2014.04.014]
- 80 Chen L, Chen R, Kemper S, Charrier A, Brigstock DR. Suppression of fibrogenic signaling in hepatic stellate cells by Twist1-dependent microRNA-214 expression: Role of exosomes in horizontal transfer of Twist1. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2015; **309**: G491-G499 [PMID: 26229009 DOI: 10.1152/ ajpgi.00140.2015]
- 81 Chen L, Chen R, Velazquez VM, Brigstock DR. Fibrogenic Signaling Is Suppressed in Hepatic Stellate Cells through Targeting of Connective Tissue Growth Factor (CCN2) by Cellular or Exosomal MicroRNA-199a-5p. *Am J Pathol* 2016; **186**: 2921-2933 [PMID: 27662798 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.07.011]
- 82 DeLeve LD. Liver sinusoidal endothelial cells in hepatic fibrosis. *Hepatology* 2015; 61: 1740-1746 [PMID: 25131509 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.27376]
- 83 Wang R, Ding Q, Yaqoob U, de Assuncao TM, Verma VK, Hirsova P, Cao S, Mukhopadhyay D, Huebert RC, Shah VH. Exosome Adherence and Internalization by Hepatic Stellate Cells Triggers Sphingosine 1-Phosphate-dependent Migration. *J Biol Chem* 2015; **290**: 30684-30696 [PMID: 26534962 DOI: 10.1074/ jbc.M115.671735]
- 84 Ichinohe N, Ishii M, Tanimizu N, Kon J, Yoshioka Y, Ochiya T, Mizuguchi T, Hirata K, Mitaka T. Transplantation of Thy1+ Cells Accelerates Liver Regeneration by Enhancing the Growth of Small Hepatocyte-Like Progenitor Cells via IL17RB Signaling. *Stem Cells* 2017; 35: 920-931 [PMID: 27925343 DOI: 10.1002/ stem.2548]
- 85 Chen L, Brigstock DR. Integrins and heparan sulfate proteoglycans on hepatic stellate cells (HSC) are novel receptors for HSC-derived exosomes. *FEBS Lett* 2016; **590**: 4263-4274 [PMID: 27714787 DOI: 10.1002/1873-3468.12448]
- 86 Fiore E, Malvicini M, Bayo J, Peixoto E, Atorrasagasti C, Sierra R, Rodríguez M, Gómez Bustillo S, García MG, Aquino JB, Mazzolini G. Involvement of hepatic macrophages in the antifibrotic effect of IGF-I-overexpressing mesenchymal stromal cells. *Stem Cell Res Ther* 2016; 7: 172 [PMID: 27876093 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-016-0424-y]
- 87 Ramachandran P, Iredale JP. Macrophages: central regulators of hepatic fibrogenesis and fibrosis resolution. *J Hepatol* 2012; 56: 1417-1419 [PMID: 22314426 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.10.026]
- 88 Saha B, Momen-Heravi F, Furi I, Kodys K, Catalano D, Gangopadhyay A, Haraszti R, Satishchandran A, Iracheta-Vellve A, Adejumo A, Shaffer SA, Szabo G. Extracellular vesicles from mice with alcoholic liver disease carry a distinct protein cargo and induce macrophage activation through heat shock protein 90. *Hepatology* 2018; 67: 1986-2000 [PMID: 29251792 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.29732]
- 89 Verma VK, Li H, Wang R, Hirsova P, Mushref M, Liu Y, Cao S, Contreras PC, Malhi H, Kamath PS, Gores GJ, Shah VH. Alcohol stimulates macrophage activation through caspase-dependent hepatocyte derived release of CD40L containing extracellular vesicles. J Hepatol 2016; 64: 651-660 [PMID: 26632633 DOI:

#### Fiore EJ et al. Mesenchymal stromal cells and extracellular vesicles in liver regeneration

10.1016/j.jhep.2015.11.020]

- 90 Saha B, Momen-Heravi F, Kodys K, Szabo G. MicroRNA Cargo of Extracellular Vesicles from Alcohol-exposed Monocytes Signals Naive Monocytes to Differentiate into M2 Macrophages. *J Biol Chem* 2016; 291: 149-159 [PMID: 26527689 DOI: 10.1074/jbc. M115.694133]
- 91 Saha B, Bruneau JC, Kodys K, Szabo G. Alcohol-induced miR-27a regulates differentiation and M2 macrophage polarization of normal human monocytes. *J Immunol* 2015; 194: 3079-3087 [PMID: 25716995 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402190]
- 92 Wu HH, Lee OK. Exosomes from mesenchymal stem cells induce the conversion of hepatocytes into progenitor oval cells. *Stem Cell Res Ther* 2017; 8: 117 [PMID: 28535778 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-017-0560-z]
- 93 Du Y, Li D, Han C, Wu H, Xu L, Zhang M, Zhang J, Chen X. Exosomes from Human-Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells (hiPSC-MSCs) Protect Liver against Hepatic Ischemia/ Reperfusion Injury via Activating Sphingosine Kinase and Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Signaling Pathway. *Cell Physiol Biochem* 2017; **43**: 611-625 [PMID: 28934733 DOI: 10.1159/000480533]
- 94 Bruno S, Grange C, Deregibus MC, Calogero RA, Saviozzi S, Collino F, Morando L, Busca A, Falda M, Bussolati B, Tetta C, Camussi G. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles protect against acute tubular injury. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2009; 20: 1053-1067 [PMID: 19389847 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2008070798]
- 95 Akyurekli C, Le Y, Richardson RB, Fergusson D, Tay J, Allan DS. A systematic review of preclinical studies on the therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived microvesicles. *Stem Cell Rev* 2015; 11: 150-160 [PMID: 25091427 DOI: 10.1007/s12015-014-9545-9]
- 96 Li T, Yan Y, Wang B, Qian H, Zhang X, Shen L, Wang M, Zhou Y, Zhu W, Li W, Xu W. Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate liver fibrosis. *Stem Cells Dev* 2013; 22: 845-854 [PMID: 23002959 DOI: 10.1089/ scd.2012.0395]
- 97 Chen L, Xiang B, Wang X, Xiang C. Exosomes derived from human menstrual blood-derived stem cells alleviate fulminant hepatic failure. *Stem Cell Res Ther* 2017; 8: 9 [PMID: 28115012 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-016-0453-6]
- 98 Haga H, Yan IK, Takahashi K, Matsuda A, Patel T. Extracellular Vesicles from Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Improve Survival from Lethal Hepatic Failure in Mice. *Stem Cells*

*Transl Med* 2017; **6**: 1262-1272 [PMID: 28213967 DOI: 10.1002/ sctm.16-0226]

- 99 Tan CY, Lai RC, Wong W, Dan YY, Lim SK, Ho HK. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote hepatic regeneration in drug-induced liver injury models. *Stem Cell Res Ther* 2014; **5**: 76 [PMID: 24915963 DOI: 10.1186/scrt465]
- 100 Yan Y, Jiang W, Tan Y, Zou S, Zhang H, Mao F, Gong A, Qian H, Xu W. hucMSC Exosome-Derived GPX1 Is Required for the Recovery of Hepatic Oxidant Injury. *Mol Ther* 2017; 25: 465-479 [PMID: 28089078 DOI: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2016.11.019]
- 101 Nong K, Wang W, Niu X, Hu B, Ma C, Bai Y, Wu B, Wang Y, Ai K. Hepatoprotective effect of exosomes from human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stromal cells against hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. *Cytotherapy* 2016; 18: 1548-1559 [PMID: 27592404 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.08.002]
- 102 Armstrong JP, Holme MN, Stevens MM. Re-Engineering Extracellular Vesicles as Smart Nanoscale Therapeutics. ACS Nano 2017; 11: 69-83 [PMID: 28068069 DOI: 10.1021/ acsnano.6b07607]
- 103 Dilnawaz F, Acharya S, Sahoo SK. Recent trends of nanomedicinal approaches in clinics. *Int J Pharm* 2018; 538: 263-278 [PMID: 29339248 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.01.016]
- 104 Lou G, Yang Y, Liu F, Ye B, Chen Z, Zheng M, Liu Y. MiR-122 modification enhances the therapeutic efficacy of adipose tissuederived mesenchymal stem cells against liver fibrosis. *J Cell Mol Med* 2017; 21: 2963-2973 [PMID: 28544786 DOI: 10.1111/ jcmm.13208]
- 105 Zeng C, Wang YL, Xie C, Sang Y, Li TJ, Zhang M, Wang R, Zhang Q, Zheng L, Zhuang SM. Identification of a novel TGF-βmiR-122-fibronectin 1/serum response factor signaling cascade and its implication in hepatic fibrogenesis. *Oncotarget* 2015; 6: 12224-12233 [PMID: 25909171 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.3652]
- 106 Qu Y, Zhang Q, Cai X, Li F, Ma Z, Xu M, Lu L. Exosomes derived from miR-181-5p-modified adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells prevent liver fibrosis via autophagy activation. *J Cell Mol Med* 2017; 21: 2491-2502 [PMID: 28382720 DOI: 10.1111/ jcmm.13170]
- 107 Chen L, Lu FB, Chen DZ, Wu JL, Hu ED, Xu LM, Zheng MH, Li H, Huang Y, Jin XY, Gong YW, Lin Z, Wang XD, Chen YP. BMSCs-derived miR-223-containing exosomes contribute to liver protection in experimental autoimmune hepatitis. *Mol Immunol* 2018; **93**: 38-46 [PMID: 29145157 DOI: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2017.11.008]
- P- Reviewer: Miloso M, Musumeci G, Scarfi S S- Editor: Wang XJ L- Editor: A E- Editor: Huang Y

![](_page_30_Picture_22.jpeg)

![](_page_30_Picture_23.jpeg)

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

![](_page_31_Picture_0.jpeg)

Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2441-2456

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2441

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

REVIEW

# Feasibility of using marginal liver grafts in living donor liver transplantation

Xiang Lan, Hua Zhang, Hong-Yu Li, Ke-Fei Chen, Fei Liu, Yong-Gang Wei, Bo Li

Xiang Lan, Hua Zhang, Ke-Fei Chen, Fei Liu, Yong-Gang Wei, Bo Li, Department of Liver Surgery and Liver Transplantation Center, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China

Hong-Yu Li, Department of Pancreatic Surgery, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China

ORCID number: Xiang Lan (0000-0002-5626-0106); Hua Zhang (0000-0002-5776-8286); Hong-Yu Li (0000-0002 -9614-5700); Ke-Fei Chen (0000-0003-1657-0094); Fei Liu (0000-0002-9650-1576); Yong-Gang Wei (0000-0001-8776 -289X); Bo Li (0000-0002-1411-3722).

Author contributions: Lan X and Zhang H contributed equally to this study and participated in the research design and manuscript preparation; Li HY, Chen KF, and Liu F generated the tables and figures; and Li B and Wei YG revised the article.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest in this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Bo Li, MD, PhD, Professor, Department of Liver Surgery and Liver Transplantation Center, West China Hospital of Sichuan University, 37 Guoxue Road, Wuhou District, Chengdu 610041, Sichuan Province, China. hxcdlibo@126.com Telephone: +86-18980601470

Received: March 25, 2018 Peer-review started: March 26, 2018 First decision: April 18, 2018 Revised: May 4, 2018 Accepted: May 18, 2018 Article in press: May 18, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

## Abstract

Liver transplantation (LT) is one of the most effective treatments for end-stage liver disease caused by related risk factors when liver resection is contraindicated. Additionally, despite the decrease in the prevalence of hepatitis B virus (HBV) over the past two decades, the absolute number of HBsAg-positive people has increased, leading to an increase in HBV-related liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Consequently, a large demand exists for LT. While the wait time for patients on the donor list is, to some degree, shorter due to the development of living donor liver transplantation (LDLT), there is still a shortage of liver grafts. Furthermore, recipients often suffer from emergent conditions, such as liver dysfunction or even hepatic encephalopathy, which can lead to a limited choice in grafts. To expand the pool of available liver grafts, one option is the use of organs that were previously considered "unusable" by many, which are often labeled "marginal" organs. Many previous studies have reported on the possibilities of using marginal grafts in orthotopic LT; however, there is still a lack of discussion on this topic, especially regarding the feasibility of using marginal grafts in LDLT. Therefore, the present review aimed to summarize the feasibility of using marginal liver grafts for LDLT and discuss the possibility of expanding the application of these grafts.

Key words: Marginal liver grafts; Living donor liver transplantation; Liver transplant waiting lists; Small-forsize grafts; Older donors; ABO-incompatible; Steatosis; Chronic hepatitis

© The Author(s) 2018. Published by Baishideng Publishing

![](_page_31_Picture_22.jpeg)

Lan X et al. Best strategy for choosing marginal donors

Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** There are few reviews concerning the feasibility of using marginal liver grafts in living donor liver transplantation (LDLT). We reviewed more than 300 articles, summarized new findings, and confirmed that marginal grafts are a feasible option for expanding options for patients on liver transplant waiting lists in emergency situations in LDLT (*e.g.*, liver failure or hepatic encephalopathy). However, such grafts place the recipients at greater risk for adverse events. Although some indispensable treatments are needed to address the deficiencies of these grafts, recipients can receive a favorable prognosis, similar to that of patients who receive standard liver grafts, under these treatments.

Lan X, Zhang H, Li HY, Chen KF, Liu F, Wei YG, Li B. Feasibility of using marginal liver grafts in living donor liver transplantation. *World J Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2441-2456 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/ v24/i23/2441.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v24. i23.2441

#### INTRODUCTION

The high mortality of patients on waiting lists due to the shortage of cadaveric donors is a major challenge in liver transplantation (LT)<sup>[1]</sup>. This challenge has led to the emergence of living donor liver transplantation (LDLT) after the first successful procedure in 1989<sup>[2,3]</sup>. However, following a sharp increase in recipients who suffer from emergency situations, the wide gap between the demands of patients and suitable living donors is gradually increasing<sup>[4,5]</sup>. Therefore, the transplantation community has focused on the search for strategies to increase the pool of available liver grafts, including the use of organs that were previously considered "unusable" by many and often labeled "marginal" organs<sup>[6]</sup>.

An accepted definition of marginal donors remains unclear in LDLT. These expanded-criteria grafts have the potential to increase the risk of poor graft function or primary nonfunction and are referred to as "marginal" organs<sup>[7]</sup>. In this review, we define marginal liver grafts for LDLT as small-for-size grafts, older donors, moderate or severe steatosis of liver grafts, chronic hepatitis, and grafts with tumors. The survival of recipients with marginal organs can be the same as that of patients with high-quality liver grafts under proper treatment<sup>[8]</sup>.

Many previous studies have reported on the possibilities of using marginal grafts in orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT), but there is still a lack of discussion on this topic, especially regarding the feasibility of using marginal grafts in LDLT. Therefore, the present review aimed to summarize and discuss the possibility of expanding the application of marginal grafts in LDLT.

#### SMALL-FOR-SIZE GRAFTS IN LDLT

Choosing to use a liver graft can be a remarkably complex decision. There is an increasing trend of patients dying while on waiting lists due to the everyday risk of death or serious complications while waiting; this risk must be balanced against the use of a marginal graft, which may not be feasible. Size mismatching between the graft and the recipient is a critical predictor of the so-called "marginal liver grafts" in LDLT recipients. A small-for-size graft has become the main reason for unsuitability for liver donation in some transplantation centers<sup>[9]</sup>. The most common index with which to evaluate graft size matching is the graft-to-recipient weight ratio (GRWR) or graft volume (GV)/standard liver volume (SLV). The GRWR was first reported to require a safety range of above 1%; otherwise, the rate of graft survival could decrease<sup>[10]</sup>. With the increased demand for LDLT and the improvement of surgical techniques, however, many expanded-criteria grafts are used. Accordingly, the accepted arbitrary requirement for GRWR was reduced to 0.8%, and the GV/SLV value was 40%<sup>[11,12]</sup>. As many transplantation centers accumulated experience on small-for-size grafts for LDLT, grafts with a GRWR < 0.8% were used and reported to be as safe as those with a GRWR  $\geq$ 0.8%<sup>[13-17]</sup>. After challenging the boundary of GRWR = 0.8%, the acceptable minimum GRWR has been continuously lowered. Lee SD et al<sup>[18]</sup> reported that a GRWR as low as 0.7% is safe and that there is no need to modulate portal pressure in adult-to-adult LDLT using the right-lobe in favorable conditions, such as a low Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD) score. Furthermore, Alim A et al<sup>[19]</sup> even suggested that a GRWR as low as 0.6% may be safe if the MELD score is < 20, donor age is < 45, and there is no evidence of liver steatosis in the donor graft during portal inflow modulation performed according to the portal flow. To date, the reported lowest GRWR of grafts that have been successfully used is between 0.40% and 0.46% (Table 1)<sup>[20]</sup>.

Small-for-size syndrome (SFSS), including smallfor-size dysfunction (SFSD) and small-for-size nonfunction (SFSNF), is a concerning and life-threatening complication in patients receiving grafts with a GRWR <  $0.8\%^{[21,22]}$ . The incidence of SFSS varies from 4.7% to 27.5% in different LT centers<sup>[23-30]</sup>. Specifically, the syndrome rate can be as high as 50%-75% in left-lobe LDLT or small-for-size grafts group and as low as 8.4% in right-lobe LDLT<sup>[31,32]</sup>. Graft size is the only independent predictor of SFSS<sup>[31]</sup>. However, other studies have described that SFSS can occur even in the presence of a normal GRWR<sup>[16]</sup>. Regardless of the definition used for SFSS, it seems clear that other key factors should be considered in addition to a mismatched graft size. The

Table 1 Recommended minimum	graft-to-recipient wei	ght ratio in different studie
-----------------------------	------------------------	-------------------------------

Ref.	Recommended minimum GRWR	n (small vs large)	One-year survival (small vs large) Fig	ve-year survival (small <i>vs</i> large)	Study type
Kiuchi et al <sup>[10]</sup> (1999)	1%	276 (49 vs 215)	61.2% vs 92.6%	NS	RS
Lee et al <sup>[11]</sup> (2003)	0.8%	141 (10 vs 131)	Univariate and multiple analysis	NS	RS
Moon <i>et al</i> <sup>[13]</sup> (2010)	Less than 0.8%	427 (35 vs 392)	87.8% vs 90.7%	74.1% vs 79.4%	RS
Lan <i>et al</i> <sup>[14]</sup> (2009)	Less than 0.8%	89 (15 vs 74)	73.3% vs 71.6%	NS	RS
Selzner <i>et al</i> <sup>[15]</sup> (2009)	Less than 0.8%	271 (22 vs 249)	91.0% vs 89.0%	83.0% vs 87%	RS
Chen et al <sup>[16]</sup> (2014)	Less than 0.8%	196 (45 vs 151)	82.2% vs 81.4%	71.1% vs 75.5%	RS
She <i>et al</i> <sup>[17]</sup> (2017)	Left lobe graft <i>vs</i> right lobe graft	218 (19 vs 199)	89.5% vs 95.9%	89.5% vs 86.8%	RS
Lee et al <sup>[18]</sup> (2014)	Less than 0.7%	317 (23 vs 294)	100% vs 93.2%	NS	RS
			Seven patients had GRWR of 0.6%.	If MELD score was below 20,	
Alim et al <sup>[19]</sup> (2016)	0.6%	649	donor age below 45, and no signs for	any hepatosteatosis, GRWR of	RS
			0.6% was	safe	
Lee et al <sup>[20]</sup> (2015)	0.40%	NS	Lowest GRWR of 0.40% had	been successfully used	RS

PS: Prospective study; RS: Retrospective study; Ref.: Reference; GRWR: Graft-to-recipient weight ratio.

#### Table 2 Incidence of small-for-size syndrome when using small-for-size grafts n (%)

Ref.	п	SFSS (Incidence)	Factors to SFSS	Study type
Goldaracena et al <sup>[21]</sup> (2017)	NS	NS	A graft GRWR < 0.8% of predisposes the graft to SFSS	RE
Graham <i>et al</i> <sup>[22]</sup> (2014)	NS	NS	GRWR of 0.8 to 1.0 was established as a lower limit to prevent SFSS	RE
Botha <i>et al</i> <sup>[23]</sup> (2010)	21	1 (4.7)	Hemi-portocaval shunt can decrease SFSS incidence	RS
Goralczyk et al <sup>[24]</sup> (2011)	22	5 (22.7)	Posterior cavoplasty can decrease SFSS incidence	RS
Soejima et al <sup>[25]</sup> (2003)	36	8 (22.2)	Cirrhosis predisposes the graft to SFSS	RS
Ben-Haim <i>et al</i> <sup>[26]</sup> (2001)	40	5 (8)	Child's class B or C with received grafts of GRWR < 0.85% predisposes the graft to SFSS	RS
Sudhindran et al <sup>[27]</sup> (2012)	NS	10%-20%	Left lobe grafts predisposes the graft to SFSS	RE
Yi et al <sup>[28]</sup> (2008)	29	8 (27.5)	Left lobe grafts predisposes the graft to SFSS	RS
Soejima <i>et al</i> <sup>[29]</sup> (2012)	312	43 (15.3)	Left lobe grafts predisposes the graft to SFSS	RS
Gruttadauria et al <sup>[30]</sup> (2015)	83	13 (15.7)	Non-surgical modulation of the portal inflow can decrease SFSS incidence	RS
Shoreem <i>et al</i> <sup>[31]</sup> (2017)	174	20 (11.5)	Left lobe grafts predisposes the graft to SFSS	RS
Lauro <i>et al</i> <sup>[32]</sup> (2007)	8	4 (50)	Surgical modulation of the portal inflow can decrease SFSS incidence	RS

RE: Review; RS: Retrospective study; SFSS: Small-for-size syndrome; GRWR: Graft-to-recipient weight ratio.

incidence of SFSS is listed in Table 2.

Middle hepatic vein (MHV) or outflow reconstruction of the liver graft is associated with size mismatch. A small-for-size graft without MHV reconstruction can lead to various degrees of congestion of the anterior segment and a greater loss of hepatocellular function<sup>[33]</sup>. In our early observational studies with small sample sizes, we recommended a GRWR >  $1.0\%^{[34]}$  or even  $1.2\%^{[35]}$  as a security threshold for patients without MHV reconstruction. Asakuma M et al<sup>[36]</sup> established an algorithm known as the estimated congestion ratio (ECR, ECR = regional volume of v5 + v8 / rightlobe volume) to estimate whether MHV should be reconstructed for low-GRWR grafts. A liver with an ECR > 0.4 is an MHV-dominant liver, and higher GRWR grafts should be used. However, it is still unknown how far we can lower the GRWR following the improvement of postoperative management and surgical technique if there is no reconstruction of outflow. In addition to outflow reconstruction, the inflow of grafts, including portal hypertension following reperfusion and the

hyperdynamic splanchnic state, is reported as a major factor that can trigger SFSS<sup>[37-39]</sup>; however, these views are controversial<sup>[40]</sup>. Enhanced cholestasis, hepatocyte ballooning, disruption of the sinusoidal line, and transformation of activated Ito cells into fibroblasts are observed under the conditions of portal hypertension, or overperfusion<sup>[41,42]</sup>. Recipients with a final portal vein pressure (PVP)  $\leq$  15 mmHg or a pressure gradient of PVP-central vein pressure (CVP)  $\leq$  5 mmHg have a better prognosis<sup>[43]</sup>. In another study, liver-graft-tospleen-volume ratio was used to predict early graft function in children and young adults undergoing LDLT, in which < 0.88 predicted portal hyperperfusion<sup>[44]</sup>. Moreover, a MELD score  $> 20^{[45]}$ , a decline in the platelet (PLT) count at post operation day (POD)  $3 > 56\%^{[46]}$ and donor age > 45 years are also risk factors for a poor prognosis in recipients of small-for-size grafts<sup>[19]</sup>.

To increase the safety of the expanded use of smallfor-size grafts, some treatments are recommended. Graft inflow or PVP modulation is at the forefront of these treatments. Portosystemic shunting techniques

![](_page_33_Picture_11.jpeg)

#### Lan X et al. Best strategy for choosing marginal donors

Table 3         Remedies when u	ising small-for-siz	ze graft	
Ref.	п	Remedy for using small-for-size graft	Study type
Botha <i>et al</i> <sup>[23]</sup> (2010)	21	Hemi-portocaval shunt can decrease SFSS incidence	RS
Goralczyk et al <sup>[24]</sup> (2011)	22	Posterior cavoplasty can decrease SFSS incidence	RS
Kim <i>et al</i> <sup>[47]</sup> (2017)	160	Preserving collateral veins on small-for-size grafts	RS + PSM
Hessheimer et al <sup>[48]</sup> (2011)	NS	Portocaval shunt	AE
Xiao <i>et al</i> <sup>[49]</sup> (2012)	1	Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt	CR
Sato <i>et al</i> <sup>[50]</sup> (2008)	4	Portocaval shunt using ligamentum teres	CR
Nutu <i>et al</i> <sup>[51]</sup> (2018)	2	Complete splenic embolization	CR
Badawy et al <sup>[52]</sup> (2017)	164	Splenectomy	RS
Troisi <i>et al</i> <sup>[53]</sup> (2016)	NS	Splenic artery ligation, splenectomy, meso-caval shunt, spleno-renal shunt, portocaval shunt, and splenic artery embolization	SR
Xu et al <sup>[54]</sup> (2015)	NS	Dual grafts	RE
Gao et al <sup>[55]</sup> (2017)	NS	Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells tranplantation	AE
Kobayashi <i>et al</i> <sup>[56]</sup> (2009)	5	Auxiliary partial liver transplantation	CR

PSM: Propensity score matching; AE: Animal experiments; CR: Case report; SR: Systematic review; RE: Review; SFSS: Small-for-size syndrome.

or preservation of collateral veins<sup>[19,47-50]</sup>, as well as splenectomy or splenic artery ligation/embolization<sup>[51-53]</sup>, are effective ways to address post-transplantation portal hyperperfusion. In cases where the GRWR of grafts is very low, dual grafts can be considered<sup>[54]</sup>. Moreover, autologous stem cell implantation<sup>[55]</sup> and auxiliary partial LDLT (a second transplant) are also reported to treat SSFS<sup>[56]</sup>. Remedies when using small-for-size grafts are listed in Table 3.

Generally, a GRWR < 0.8% is no longer a critical predictor for recipients and can even be lowered to 0.5%-0.6% if there are accompanying factors of PVP  $\leq$  15 mmHg, MHV reconstruction, or young donor age.

#### **OLDER DONORS IN LDLT**

Because LDLT allows more choices in the use of a suitable liver graft compared with OLT, elderly donors were rarely considered in the early years of transplantation. However, following the increasing demands for LDLT and the urgent need to save the lives of patients suffering from hepatic encephalopathy, the use of elderly liver grafts has been reported more frequently in recent years as a means to increase the donor pool and address high waiting list mortality<sup>[57]</sup>. In Japan, the percentages of donors older than 50 and 60 years were 18.1% and 4%, respectively<sup>[58]</sup>. It is expected that the number of older donors will increase in the future because of the continuing donor shortage<sup>[59]</sup>.

The definition of older donors is quite different in different transplantation centers. In the present review, we define older donors as donors older than 50 years. Controversy exists regarding the use of livers from older donors. The liver regeneration rate is impaired in older donors (donor age  $\geq$  50 years) compared with young donors (donor age < 30 years), according to computed tomography (CT) volumetric data after LDLT at POD 7<sup>[60]</sup>, and donor age ( $\geq$ 50 years) was independently correlated with impaired remnant liver regeneration at 3<sup>[61]</sup> and 6 mo in rightlobe LDLT<sup>[58]</sup>. Kawano Y *et al*<sup>[62]</sup> analyzed telomeres in the hepatocytes of 12 paired donor-recipients and found that donor age was a crucial factor affecting the sustainability of telomere length in hepatocytes after pediatric LDLT. Based on the conclusion that older donors were significantly associated with impaired liver regeneration, some researchers found that the recipients of grafts from donors older than 45-50 years old, along with a GW/SLV ratio < 35%-40%, had worse outcomes<sup>[63,64]</sup>. Yoshizumi T et al<sup>[65]</sup> established the following formula, called a predictive score, to evaluate the impact of donor age, graft size, and MELD score on prognosis: predictive score =  $0.011 \times \text{graft}$ weight (%) - 0.016 × donor age - 0.008 × MELD score - 0.15 × shunt (if present) - 1.757. Patients with a predictive score  $\geq$  1.3 had a lower incidence of postoperative complications and a better prognosis.

Additionally, more studies have shown that LDLT using older donors could induce more serious postoperative complications and higher mortality rates than transplants using younger donors<sup>[66-70]</sup>; similarly, having a donor older than the recipient by > 20 years is problematic<sup>[68]</sup>. Moreover, it has been reported that fibrosis progression in patients with recurrent hepatitis C tended to be faster after LDLT with grafts from older donors<sup>[71]</sup>. Donor age is an independent, strong prognostic factor in LDLT. However, other researchers found that grafts from older donors can be used safely, even though the regenerative capacity of older grafts is impaired when the donor age is  $\geq$  50 years<sup>[72-75]</sup> or even  $\geq$  55 years<sup>[76]</sup>. The impact of older donors on the 1- and 5-year survival of recipients is shown in Table 4.

While donor age is a controversial topic, the impaired regenerative capacity of older grafts has been confirmed in some studies. According to these previous studies, older liver grafts can be prudent candidates but cannot be used in the presence of other marginal conditions (*e.g.*, small-for-size grafts or moderate and severe steatosis). More high-quality and prospective studies are needed on this topic.

#### Table 4 Older donors for living donor liver transplantation

Ref.	Definition of older donors	<i>n</i> (older <i>vs</i> young)	One-year survival (older <i>vs</i> young)	Five-year survival (older <i>vs</i> young)	Study type	
Tanemura <i>et al</i> <sup>[58]</sup> (2012)	50 yr old	101 (24 vs 77)	Older donor livers might have	impaired regenerative ability	RS	
Ono et al <sup>[60]</sup> (2011)	50 yr old	15 (6 vs 9)	Liver regeneration is impaired w	ith age after donor hepatectomy	RS	
Akamatsu <i>et al</i> <sup>[61]</sup> (2007)	50 yr old	299 (62 vs 237)	85.0% vs 93.0%	72.0% vs 87.0%	RS	
Kawano <i>et al</i> <sup>[62]</sup> (2014)	NS	12	Donor age is a crucial factor affectin hepatocytes after	Donor age is a crucial factor affecting telomere length sustainability in hepatocytes after pediatric LDLT		
Imamura et al <sup>[63]</sup> (2017)	NS	198	A worse outcome might be asso	ociated with aging of the donor	RS	
Dayangac <i>et al</i> <sup>[64]</sup> (2011)	50 yr old	150 (28 vs 122)	78.6% vs 83.4%	NS	RS	
Yoshizumi <i>et al</i> <sup>[65]</sup> (2008)	NS	28	Graft size, donor age, and patient status are the indicators of early graft function			
Han <i>et al</i> <sup>[66]</sup> (2014)	55 yr old	604 (26 vs 578)	Median OS (M): 31.2	± 31.3 vs 50.6 ± 40.6	RS	
Kamo et al <sup>[67]</sup> (2015)	60 yr old	1597 (69 vs 1528)	69.5% vs 81.2%	62.0% vs 79.3%	RS	
Shin <i>et al</i> <sup>[68]</sup> (2013)	Donor-recipient age gradient > 20	821	Worse graft survival was observed if by >	the donor is older than the recipient > 20	RS	
Kubota <i>et al</i> <sup>[69]</sup> (2017)	50 yr old	315 (126vs 189)	73.0% vs 80.9%	39.7% vs 47.1%	RS	
Katsuragawa et al <sup>[70]</sup>	NS	24	G/SLV and donor age were independ rat	ent factors that affected graft survival res	RS	
Wang et al <sup>[72]</sup> (2015)	50 yr old	159 (10 vs 149)	100% vs 93.0%	90.0% vs 87.0%	RS	
Ikegami et al <sup>[73]</sup> (2008)	50 yr old	232 (32 vs 200)	80.0% vs 81.7%	73.8% vs 76.7%	RS	
Li et al <sup>[74]</sup> (2012)	50 yr old	129 (21 vs 108)	90.0% vs 86.0%	66.0% vs 75%	RS	
Goldaracena et al <sup>[75]</sup> (2016)	50 yr old	469 (91 vs 378)	92.0% vs 96.0%	83.0% vs 79.0%	RS	
Kim et al <sup>[76]</sup> (2017)	55 yr old	540 (42 vs 498)	95.2% vs 94.6%	NS	RS	

LDLT: Living donor liver transplantation; CR: Case report; RS: Retrospective study.

#### ABO-INCOMPATIBLE LDLT

Although more high-quality liver grafts are available for patients in LDLT than in OLT, donors are restricted to family members or domestic relationships in many transplantation centers because of ethical norms. ABOincompatible LTs are performed only in emergencies, when ABO-compatible grafts are unavailable. Therefore, breaking ABO blood group barriers becomes inevitable. ABO-incompatible LT was first performed and reported by Starzl *et al*<sup>(77)</sup>, and no acute rejections were observed after transplantation. Subsequently, ABO-incompatible LT gradually began to be performed in some LT centers, and hyperacute rejection was commonly reported<sup>[78,79]</sup>.

In addition to antibody-mediated rejection, ABOincompatible LDLT can involve other complications. Thrombotic microangiopathy (TMA) is a rare complication following LT, but it is reported to have a slightly higher incidence in ABO-incompatible  $\text{LDLT}^{[80\text{-}82]}.$  ABO incompatibility, cyclophosphamide and recipient blood group (type O) are closely correlated with the occurrence of TMA<sup>[80,82]</sup>. The incidence of TMA is 37.9% following ABO-incompatible LDLT and 0.0%-2.8% following ABO-compatible LDLT (OR = 44.7)<sup>[80]</sup>. The elevation of fibrinolytic function markers, such as plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1, can be considered a predictor of TMA following LDLT. The incidence of biliary tract complications is more common than that of TMA. Biliary strictures are one of the most important complications associated with ABO incompatibility, with reported incidence rates between 15.8% and 20.7%  $^{\scriptscriptstyle [83,84]}$  . An isoagglutinin attack on the graft vascular endothelium can result in ischemic cholangiopathy, and isoagglutinin can even directly attack the endothelium of the graft bile duct<sup>[85,86]</sup>. CT scans can provide a clear indication of biliary strictures in ABO-incompatible LDLT<sup>[87]</sup>. Yamada Y *et al*<sup>[88]</sup> reported a case of idiopathic hypereosinophilic syndrome following ABO-incompatible LDLT. The patient suffered from portal vein thrombosis on postoperative day 10, and the histopathological findings of the thrombus revealed dense eosinophilic deposition. Studies on the impact of ABO incompatibility on LDLT are listed in Table 5.

Despite serious complications, ABO-incompatible LDLT can be a feasible option for patients if certain essential treatments are included<sup>[89,90]</sup>. Rituximab, an anti-CD20 immunoglobulin (IgG)1 terminating B-lymphocytes with an affinity for IgG Fc receptor ( $Fc_{\gamma}R$ ), is a critical strategy in the regimens for desensitization for ABO-incompatible LDLT and yields outcomes for ABO-incompatible LDLT that are similar to those for ABO-compatible LDLT<sup>[91,92]</sup>. Rituximab is given for 3 d<sup>[93]</sup>, 3 wk, or even as soon as a suitable donor that is ABO-compatible is selected<sup>[94]</sup> at a dosage of 375 mg/m<sup>2</sup>. In the early stage of transplantation, rituximab was usually given along with one or more other protocols, such as a splenectomy<sup>[95,96]</sup>, plasma exchanges<sup>[97-102]</sup>, intravenous IgG<sup>[100,103]</sup>, and intrahepatic arterial infusion of prostaglandin E1<sup>[92,104,105]</sup>. In some recent studies, pre-transplant rituximab and/or basiliximab monotherapy, without additional treatments, also vielded outcomes that are comparable to those of procedures with additional treatments<sup>[106]</sup>. The affinity between IgG Fcy Receptor (FcyR) and rituximab, however, is influenced by the single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of FcyR. SNPs of FCGR2A (131H/R) and FCGR3A (158F/V) are the alleles that encode FcyR. FCGR2A (131H/ H) had a higher affinity for IgG1 than FCGR2A (131H/R

WJG | www.wjgnet.com
#### Lan X et al. Best strategy for choosing marginal donors

Table 5 Impact of ABO-incompatible on living donor liver transplantation							
Ref.	п	Complications	Incidence of related complication (%)	<b>Risk factors</b>	Study type		
Miyata <i>et al</i> <sup>[80]</sup> (2007)	57	Thrombotic microangiopathy	7.0	ABO-incompatibility, CPA, and recipient blood group (type O)	RS		
Oya <i>et al</i> <sup>[81]</sup> (2008)	1	Thrombotic microangiopathy	NS	ABO-incompatible LDLT (type B to O)	CR		
Kishida <i>et al</i> <sup>[82]</sup> (2016)	129	Thrombotic microangiopathy	10.1	ABO-incompatible, tacrolimus	RS		
Song <i>et al</i> <sup>[83]</sup> (2014)	1102	Biliary stricture	15.8	ABO-incompatible, acute cellular rejection	RS		
Ikegami <i>et al</i> <sup>[84]</sup> (2016)	408	Biliary stricture	20.4	ABO-incompatible	RS		
Yamada <i>et al</i> <sup>[88]</sup> (2010)	1	Idiopathic hypereosinophilic	NS	ABO-incompatible	CR		

LDLT: Living donor liver transplantation; CR: Case report; RS: Retrospective study.

or R/R). Accordingly, patients with FCGR2A (131H/H) have a better reaction to the effects of rituximab on B cells<sup>[91]</sup>. The treatment results of ABO-compatible LDLT are summarized in Table 6.

These findings reveal that rituximab monotherapy in ABO-compatible LDLT is feasible, but it is better to test the SNPs of  $F_{C\gamma}R$ ; otherwise, multiple treatments, such as plasma exchanges and intravenous IgG, must be performed in addition to rituximab if there is a lower affinity between IgG  $F_{C\gamma}R$  and rituximab. There is still a lack of more persuasive evidence to confirm the feasibility of splenectomy in conjunction with ABOcompatible LDLT treatments.

#### LIVER GRAFT STEATOSIS

Steatosis is a common feature used to identify marginal liver function, and reports on the utility of steatotic liver grafts in clinical practice have yielded controversial results. The use of steatotic liver grafts has been confirmed to have a significant relationship with increased complications and poorer outcomes<sup>[107,108]</sup>. Traditionally, steatotic livers with > 60% fat must be discarded. Livers with < 30% fat are feasible and anticipated to have good function. Livers with 30%-60% fat have poor results, with decreased graft survival and decreased patient survival<sup>[109]</sup>. Moreover, hepatic steatosis is reported to be a leading cause of donor rejection in LDLT<sup>[110]</sup>. In some transplantation centers, approximately 40% of donor grafts are discarded because of severe liver steatosis<sup>[9]</sup>. Because of the release of inflammatory cytokines and inhibition of the capacity to differentiate steatosis hepatocytes, the early regenerative capacity of the remnant liver is injured, and, as a result of impaired hepatocyte replication, compensatory expansion of hepatic progenitor cells occurs during steatotic liver regeneration after LDLT<sup>[111]</sup>. Furthermore, Cho *et al*<sup>[112]</sup> confirmed that hepatic steatosis is associated with intrahepatic cholestasis and transient hyperbilirubinemia

during regeneration after LDLT. In this study, 67 LDLT recipients examined on POD 10 were scored based on the numbers of portal tracts per area of liver tissue and intrahepatic cholestasis, and the preoperative degree of macrovesicular steatosis was found to be independently associated with cholestasis after LDLT. However, these researchers also found that the long-term capacity of hepatocyte regeneration was not impaired after LDLT with mild macrovesicular steatosis grafts<sup>[113]</sup>. Based on this finding, some recent studies have found that moderately steatotic liver grafts and donors with a BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> are not contraindications for LDLT, and complications and survival are not significantly different compared with those associated with nonsteatosis grafts<sup>[114,115]</sup>. Moreover, the risk of steatosis was determined by the presence of microsteatosis and macrosteatosis, rather than the total quantitative degree of steatosis. The grafts with high microsteatosis (30%) mixed with macrosteatosis showed no significant difference in postoperative biochemical liver function, 2-wk graft regeneration, postoperative complications, and 5-year survival<sup>[116]</sup>. The studies on the impact of graft steatosis on LDLT outcomes are listed in Table 7.

To decrease the risk associated with fatty liver grafts, especially with severe steatosis, some treatments are suggested (Table 8). According to Oshita et al<sup>[117]</sup>, donors who are diagnosed with hepatic steatosis pre-transplantation should undergo a diet treatment consisting of an 800-1400 kcal/d diet and a 100-400 kcal/d exercise regimen without drug treatment with a target body mass index of 22 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. After these strategies, the average BMI was reduced from  $23.3 \pm 0.6$ to 21.9  $\pm$  0.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The liver biopsy results of most of these donors showed stage 0/1 fibrosis and minimal/ mild steatosis after the diet therapy. In addition, surgical outcomes and overall survival did not significantly differ between the recipients of grafts from non-steatosis and diet-treated donors (with steatosis). In another study, bezafibrate (400 mg/d) was used along with a proteinrich (1000 kcal/d) diet and exercise (600 kcal/d) for 2-8



Table 6         Remedies when using ABO- incompatible on living donor liver transplantation							
Ref.	п	Immunosuppression strategy	Remedies	Conclusion	Study type		
Kawagishi <i>et al</i> <sup>[89]</sup> (2009)	105	TAC + MP + AZ	Rituximab	ABO-incompatible LDLT can be feasible used if humoral rejection are overcome	RS		
Yoon <i>et al</i> <sup>[90]</sup> (2018)	918	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab and PE	ABO-incompatible LDLT is a feasible option under remedies	RS		
Sakai <i>et al</i> <sup>[91]</sup> (2017)	20	TAC+ MP	Rituximab and PE	FCGR SNPs influence the effect of rituximab on B-cells	PS		
Egawa <i>et al<sup>192]</sup> (</i> 2017)	33	TAC	Rituximab, PE, local infusion, splenectomy and immunoglobulins	Only rituximab dose is a significantly favorable factor for AMR	RS		
Ikegami <i>et al</i> <sup>[93]</sup> (2007)	1	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab and PE	Rituximab and plasma exchanges seemed ineffective	CR		
Ikegami <i>et al</i> <sup>[94]</sup> (2009)	7	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab, IVIG, and PE	Rituximab, IVIG, and PE seems to be a safe treatment	RS		
Usui <i>et al</i> <sup>[95]</sup> (2007)	73	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab, PE and splenectomy	Bone suppression is a big challenge when using rituximab	RS		
Chen <i>et al</i> <sup>[96]</sup> (2017)	2	TAC + MP + steroids	Basiliximab combine with splenectomy	ABO-i LDLT with splenectomy is undoubtedly life-saving	CR		
Uchiyama <i>et al<sup>[97]</sup></i> (2011)	15	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab and PE	Isoagglutinin mediated- rejection should be more concerned	RS		
Soin <i>et al</i> <sup>[98]</sup> (2014)	3	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab and PE	ABO-incompatible LDLT is a feasible option under remedies	CR		
Rummler <i>et al</i> <sup>[99]</sup> (2017)	10	TAC + MP + steroids	PE	Immunosuppression only combining with PE is feasible	RS		
Kim <i>et al</i> <sup>[100]</sup> (2016)	182	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab, IVIG, and PE	ABO-incompatible LDLT can be safely performed under remedies	RS		
Kim <i>et al</i> <sup>[101]</sup> (2013)	22	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab and PE	ABO-incompatible LDLT can be safely performed under remedies	RS		
Kawagishi <i>et al</i> <sup>[102]</sup> (2005)	3	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab and PE	ABO-incompatible LDLT can be safely performed under remedies	CR		
Kim <i>et al</i> <sup>[103]</sup> (2017)	43	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab and IVIG	A simplified protocol using rituximab and IVIG for ABO-I LDLT is safe	RS		
Yoshizawa <i>et al</i> <sup>[104]</sup> (2005)	8	TAC + MP + cyclophosphamide	Rituximab and PGE1 infusion	Rituximab prophylaxis and HA infusion therapy is feasible	RS		
Egawa <i>et al</i> <sup>[105]</sup> (2008)	118	TAC + steroids	Methylprednisolone and PGE1 infusion	Recipients with preexisting high effector CD8 T- cells are unfavorable candidates for ABO-I LDLT	RS		
Yamamoto <i>et al</i> <sup>[106]</sup> (2018)	40	TAC + MP + steroids	Rituximab monotherapy	Rituximab monotherapy is feasible	RS		

LDLT: Living donor liver transplantation; CR: Case report; RS: Retrospective study; SNPs: Single-nucleotide polymorphisms.

wk<sup>[118]</sup>. Even severely steatotic livers could be used for LDLT grafting subsequent to this short-term treatment regimen. Furthermore, a 1200 kcal/d diet and a minimum of 60 min/d of moderate cardio training are also recommended to rapidly reverse liver steatosis in donors<sup>[119]</sup>. In addition to lifestyle and dietary changes, dual-graft LDLT was reported when one donor had severe liver steatosis and another had a low GRWR<sup>[120]</sup>.

In conclusion, steatosis in the donor must be thoroughly evaluated before LDLT, either by biopsy or imaging diagnosis. The proportion of macrosteatosis is now considered a crucial predictor of the prognosis of recipients. If there are no further options, donors with hepatic steatosis can reach donation criteria through lifestyle and dietary changes in a short time.

#### **CHRONIC HEPATITIS OF GRAFTS**

The use of liver grafts that test positive for chronic hepatitis or other blood disseminated diseases found in epidemic areas is usually inevitable in cases of organ shortages associated with OLT. However, because LDLT recipients, to some degree, have more choices regarding his/her donors, there are a few studies reporting on HBsAg or HBcAb(+) liver grafts, while no studies refer to HCV-positive living liver grafts.

HBsAg(-) LDLT patients who have received HBsAg or HBcAb(+) grafts have a high risk of *de novo* HBV

#### Lan X et al. Best strategy for choosing marginal donors

#### Table 7 Impact of graft steatosis on living donor liver transplantation

Ref.	п	Conclusion	Study type
Dirican <i>et al</i> <sup>[9]</sup> (2015)	161	Approximately 40% of donor grafts are discarded because of severe liver steatosis	RS
Perkins <i>et al</i> <sup>[109]</sup> (2006)	NS	Typically steatotic livers with > 60% fat are not transplanted; with < 30% fat are usable and anticipated to have good function; with 30%-60% fat give poor results	Comments
Kotecha et al <sup>[110]</sup> (2013)	340	Hepatic steatosis is a leading cause of donor rejection in LDLT	PS
Cho et a <sup>[111]</sup> l (2010)	54	Hepatocyte replication is impaired during steatotic liver regeneration after LDLT	PS
Cho <i>et al</i> <sup>[112]</sup> (2006)	67	Hepatic steatosis is associated with intrahepatic cholestasis and transient hyperbilirubinemia during regeneration	PS
Cho <i>et al</i> <sup>[113]</sup> (2005)	55	Mildly steatotic graft did not increase the risk of graft dysfunction or morbidity in LDLT	PS
Gao <i>et al</i> <sup>[114]</sup> (2009)	24	Moderately steatotic (30%-60%) liver grafts provide adequate function in the first phase after transplantation and can be used for transplantation	RS
Knaak <i>et al</i> <sup>[115]</sup> (2017)	105	Donors with BMI > 30, in the absence of graft steatosis, are not contraindicated for LDLT	RS
Han <i>et al</i> <sup>[116]</sup> (2015)	211	The risk of steatosis may be determined by the relative composition of MiS and MaS, rather than the total quantitative degree	RS

LDLT: Living donor liver transplantation; RS: Retrospective study; PS: Prospective study.

Table 8 Treatments for	fat donors		
Ref.	п	Treatments	Study type
Oshita <i>et al</i> <sup>[117]</sup> (2012)	128	Diet treatment consisting of an 800 to 1400 kcal/d diet and a 100 to 400 kcal/d exercise regimen without drug treatment, targeting body mass index of $22 \text{ kg/m}^2$	RS
Nakamuta <i>et al</i> <sup>[118]</sup> (2013)	11	Bezafibrate (400 mg/d) was used along with a protein-rich (1000 kcal/d) diet and exercise (600 kcal/d) for 2-8 wk	RS
Choudhary <i>et al</i> <sup>[119]</sup> (2015)	16	1200 kcal/d and a minimum of 60 min/d of moderate cardio training are also recommended to rapidly reverse liver steatosis in donors	PS
Moon <i>et al</i> <sup>[120]</sup> (2006)	2	Dual-graft living donor liver transplantation for severe graft steatosis	CR

RS: Retrospective study; PS: Prospective study; CR: Case report.

infection after transplantation (Table 9). However, these grafts are still considered to be safe and feasible with antiviral prophylaxis in both adult and pediatric LDLT<sup>[121-126]</sup>. Patients were given HBV vaccinations to achieve anti-HBs > 1000 IU/L pre-transplantation and > 100 IU/L post-transplantation, with a standardpost-transplantation treatment regimen of high-dose hepatitis B IgG, lamivudine and/or adefovir (in cases of lamivudine resistance)<sup>[126]</sup>. Specifically, some studies have proposed a new strategy; specifically, patients with a pre-transplantation anti-HB titer > 1000 IU/L do not need post-transplantation prophylaxis; patients with a low pre-transplantation titer, < 1000 IU/L, should be given lamivudine post-transplantation (at a dose of 100 mg/d or 3 mg/kg/d for at least 2 years after transplantation) or adefovir prophylaxis (with lamivudine at a dose of 10 mg/d if a mutant strain for lamivudine is identified) and, hopefully, will respond appropriately to post-transplantation vaccinations by maintaining anti-HB titers > 100 IU/L; and low titer non-responders (anti-HB titer < 100 IU/L despite vaccination) should be given continuous lamivudine or adefovir indefinitely<sup>[121]</sup>. In some transplantation centers, nucleotide analogs (lamivudine) are routinely used first if HBsAg(-) LDLT patients receive HBsAg or HBcAb(+) grafts, regardless of the anti-HB titer, for at least 2 years. Moreover,

patients who had a YMDD mutation were given adefovir combined with lamivudine<sup>[123]</sup>. Hara Y *et al*<sup>[127]</sup> reported one patient who experienced spontaneous eradication of *de novo* HBV after LDLT with an HBcAb(+) graft without any treatment. This 8-year-old female patient (HBsAgnegative) underwent LDLT, received an HBcAb(+) leftlobe graft, and was subsequently infected with HBV. Sixteen years after LDLT, her serological HBV status was as follows: HbsAg(-), HBsAb(+), HBeAb(-), HBeAb(+), HbcAb(+), and HBV DNA(-). In another study, recipients with HCV genotype 2 infections who had received an HBcAb(+) graft were given sofosbuvir and ribavirin, along with hepatitis B IgG to prevent recurrence of HCV and HBV<sup>[128]</sup>.

In HbsAg(+) LDLT patients who receive HBsAg or HBcAb(+) grafts, the antiviral protocol must be performed as for HBsAg(-) LDLT patients to maintain the HBV DNA at a low or negative level, despite the persistence of the HBV marker (HBsAg). High-dose HBV IgG, lamivudine, famciclovir, and interferon were recommended (Table 10)<sup>[129-131]</sup>.

Populations with HBsAg-negative/HBcAb-positive and undetectable serum HBV DNA have been gradually increasing over the past several decades. Most patients are now considered to have a covert HBV infection and have a high risk of HBV reactivation when treated with

#### Table 9 Impact of HBsAg or HBcAb(+) grafts on HBsAg(-) living donor liver transplantation patients

Ref.	Donor	Incidence of <i>de novo</i> HBV infection (%)	Prevention of <i>de novo</i> HBV infection	Study type
Wang <sup>[121]</sup> (2017)	HBcAb(+)	4.2	HBV vaccinations with the aim of achieving anti-HBs > 1000 IU/L pre-transplant and > 100 IU/L post-transplant	RS
Xi <i>et al</i> <sup>[122]</sup> (2013)	HBcAb(+)	23.9	No prophylaxis, adefovir, and lamivudine are given to <i>de novo</i> patients	RS
Dong <i>et al</i> <sup>[123]</sup> (2017)	HBcAb(+)	7.9	HBIG 100 IU/kg during the operation and lamivudine 3 mg/kg per day after the surgery for at least 1 year until HBV vaccine reaction	RS
Loggi et al <sup>[124]</sup> (2016)	HBsAg(+)	NS	HBIG and lamivudine, adefovir or tenofovir	SR
Lei et al <sup>[125]</sup> (2013)	HBcAb(+)	15.0	No specific prophylaxis	RS
Lin et al <sup>[126]</sup> (2007)	HBcAb(+)	3.3	Lamivudine monoprophylaxis, HBV vaccinations	RS
Hara <i>et al</i> <sup>[127]</sup> (2016)	HBcAb(+)	NS	Lamivudine first and adefovir dipivoxil were combined with lamivudine 2 yr later	CR

HBV: Hepatitis B virus; RS: Retrospective study; SR: Systematic review; CR: Case report.

#### Table 10 Impact of HBsAg or HBcAb(+) grafts on HBsAg(+) living donor liver transplantation patients

Ref.	Donor	Incidence of <i>de novo</i> HBV infection	Prevention of De Novo HBV infection	Study type
Hwang <i>et al</i> <sup>[129]</sup> (2006)	HBsAg(+)	NS	High-dose HBIG and lamivudine, famciclovir and interferon; a final regimen of lamivudine and adefovir	CR
Soejima et al <sup>[130]</sup> (2007)	HBsAg(+)	NS	lamivudine and adefovir dipivoxil	CR
Jeng et al <sup>[131]</sup> (2015)	HBsAg(+)	NS	Entecavir 0.5 mg once daily	RS

HBV: Hepatitis B virus; CR: Case report; RS: Retrospective study.

Table 11 Graft with hepatic benign tumor							
Ref.	п	Type of tumors in grafts	Prognosis	Study type			
		Cavernous hemangioma, perivascular epithelioid					
Li <i>et al</i> <sup>[133]</sup> (2017)	15	cell tumor, inflammatory pseudotumor, and focal nodular hyperplasia	One patient died from pulmonary embolism	OS			
Fuchino et al <sup>[134]</sup> (2017)	1	HBsAg(+) and inflammatory pseudotumor	Tumor vanished after 3 yr	CR			

OS: Observational study; CR: Case report.

a robust immunosuppressive agent<sup>[132]</sup>. Therefore, the use of HBsAg-negative/HBcAb-positive liver grafts has a high risk of *de novo* HBV for HBsAg(-) recipients. However, with active immunization and an antiviral protocol, the HBsAg-negative/HBcAb-positive liver grafts can be transplanted safely.

#### GRAFTS WITH A BENIGN HEPATIC TUMOR

Usually, there are rare recipients of LDLT or doctors who are willing to make an active choice to use a graft with an undetermined tumor. This is not only an ethical issue but also indicates a high risk for recipients to face rapid dysfunction of their liver grafts. However, if recipients are in an emergency situation and have no other proper donors, grafts with benign tumors may be a last choice. Li G *et al*<sup>[133]</sup> recently reported on 15 consecutive recipients using an otherwise discarded, partial liver

resection graft with a benign hepatic tumor. These benign tumors are as follows: Cavernous hemangioma, perivascular epithelioid cell tumor, inflammatory pseudotumor, and focal nodular hyperplasia. One patient died from a pulmonary embolism, and the other 14 patients had a good prognosis. Additionally, a vanishing tumor in a liver graft from an HBV(+) donor was observed. Contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed hypervascularity in the arterial phase and in the hepatobiliary phase, the tumor showed a low intensity, findings similar to those in HCC. Regardless, the graft with suspected HCC was accepted by the recipient, and the tumor disappeared completely within several months after LDLT<sup>[134]</sup>.

For LDLT patients using grafts with a benign hepatic tumor, only two observational studies with a small sample size are present in the literature (Table 11). It seems that grafts with benign tumors are feasible in some conditions, but more studies with long-term follow-ups are needed to evaluate the safety of these

Baishideng®



Figure 1 Selective strategies and remedies of using marginal donors in living donor liver transplantation.

marginal grafts.

#### CONCLUSION

To our knowledge, this is the first review on marginal donors specifically for LDLT. This review, which includes cohort studies, case-control studies, and case reports on marginal liver grafts in LDLT, demonstrated that marginal grafts are a feasible way to expand the options for patients on LT waiting lists in emergency situations (*e.g.*, liver failure or hepatic encephalopathy); however, these grafts place the recipients at a greater risk of liver

dysfunction. Some indispensable treatments are needed to address the deficiencies of these grafts.

There are some new findings in this review: (1) It is permissible for the GRWR to be as low as 0.5%-0.6% (not 0.8%, as currently specified) if PVP is controlled under 15 mmHg; otherwise, outflow reconstruction is needed. (2) There is controversy surrounding older liver grafts. These grafts can be used prudently, but other marginal conditions must be absent (*e.g.*, small-for-size grafts or moderate and severe steatosis). (3) Splenectomy is no longer necessary when an ABO-incompatible LDLT is performed. Rituximab monotherapy is even confirmed to be an effective treatment if there is a high affinity between IgG  $Fc_{\gamma}R$  and rituximab. (4) Total steatosis of liver grafts is not a proper predictor of prognosis. Instead, the presence of microsteatosis and macrosteatosis is a crucial factor. Donors with steatosis of the liver can meet the donation criteria through lifestyle and dietary changes before surgery. (5) HbsAg or HbcAb(+) grafts increase the risk of *de novo* HBV infection after transplantation in HBsAg(-) LDLT patients but can also be used safely with active immunotherapy. And (6) Grafts with benign tumors that have been discarded from other patients are feasible, but the long-term prognosis cannot be determined.

According to the new findings of this review listed above, we summarized a selection of strategies for different types of marginal liver grafts in LDLT and their related treatments (Figure 1). With this review, based on more than 100 references, we expect that the transplantation pool can be effectively and safely expanded in the situation of organ shortage.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Lunan Yan (Department of Liver Surgery and Liver Transplantation Center, West China Hospital of Sichuan University) for the assistance with data collection.

#### REFERENCES

- Fisher RA. Living donor liver transplantation: eliminating the wait for death in end-stage liver disease? *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2017; 14: 373-382 [PMID: 28196987 DOI: 10.1038/ nrgastro.2017.2]
- 2 Makuuchi M, Kawasaki S, Noguchi T, Hashikura Y, Matsunami H, Hayashi K, Harada H, Kakazu T, Takayama T, Kawarasaki H. Donor hepatectomy for living related partial liver transplantation. Surgery 1993; 113: 395-402 [PMID: 8456395]
- Makuuchi M, Kawarazaki H, Iwanaka T, Kamada N, Takayama T, Kumon M. Living related liver transplantation. *Surg Today* 1992; 22: 297-300 [PMID: 1392338]
- 4 Routh D, Sharma S, Naidu CS, Rao PP, Sharma AK, Ranjan P. Comparison of outcomes in ideal donor and extended criteria donor in deceased donor liver transplant: a prospective study. *Int J Surg* 2014; **12**: 774-777 [PMID: 24947949 DOI: 10.1016/ j.ijsu.2014.06.003]
- 5 Nure E, Lirosi MC, Frongillo F, Bianco G, Silvestrini N, Fiorillo C, Sganga G, Agnes S. Overextended Criteria Donors: Experience of an Italian Transplantation Center. *Transplant Proc* 2015; 47: 2102-2105 [PMID: 26361653 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2014.1 1.077]
- 6 Laing RW, Mergental H, Yap C, Kirkham A, Whilku M, Barton D, Curbishley S, Boteon YL, Neil DA, Hübscher SG, Perera MTPR, Muiesan P, Isaac J, Roberts KJ, Cilliers H, Afford SC, Mirza DF. Viability testing and transplantation of marginal livers (VITTAL) using normothermic machine perfusion: study protocol for an open-label, non-randomised, prospective, single-arm trial. *BMJ Open* 2017; 7: e017733 [PMID: 29183928 DOI: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2017-017733]
- 7 Nemes B, Gelley F, Zádori G, Piros L, Perneczky J, Kóbori L, Fehérvári I, Görög D. Outcome of liver transplantation based on donor graft quality and recipient status. *Transplant Proc* 2010; 42: 2327-2330 [PMID: 20692473 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2010.0 5.018]

#### Lan X et al. Best strategy for choosing marginal donors

- 8 Giretti G, Barbier L, Bucur P, Marques F, Perarnau JM, Ferrandière M, Tellier AC, Kerouredan V, Altieri M, Causse X, Debette-Gratien M, Silvain C, Salamé E. Recipient Selection for Optimal Utilization of Discarded Grafts in Liver Transplantation. *Transplantation* 2018; **102**: 775-782 [PMID: 29298235 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000002069]
- 9 Dirican A, Baskiran A, Dogan M, Ates M, Soyer V, Sarici B, Ozdemir F, Polat Y, Yilmaz S. Evaluation of Potential Donors in Living Donor Liver Transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2015; 47: 1315-1318 [PMID: 26093708 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2015.0 4.045]
- 10 Kiuchi T, Kasahara M, Uryuhara K, Inomata Y, Uemoto S, Asonuma K, Egawa H, Fujita S, Hayashi M, Tanaka K. Impact of graft size mismatching on graft prognosis in liver transplantation from living donors. *Transplantation* 1999; 67: 321-327 [PMID: 10075602]
- 11 Lee DS, Gil WH, Lee HH, Lee KW, Lee SK, Kim SJ, Choi SH, Heo JS, Hyon WS, Kim GS, Paik SW, Koh KC, Joh JW. Factors affecting graft survival after living donor liver transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2004; 36: 2255-2256 [PMID: 15561210 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2004.08.073]
- 12 Fan ST, Lo CM, Liu CL, Yong BH, Wong J. Determinants of hospital mortality of adult recipients of right lobe live donor liver transplantation. *Ann Surg* 2003; 238: 864-869; discussion 869-870 [PMID: 14631223 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000098618.11382.77]
- 13 Moon JI, Kwon CH, Joh JW, Jung GO, Choi GS, Park JB, Kim JM, Shin M, Kim SJ, Lee SK. Safety of small-for-size grafts in adult-to-adult living donor liver transplantation using the right lobe. *Liver Transpl* 2010; 16: 864-869 [PMID: 20583075 DOI: 10.1002/lt.22094]
- 14 Lan X, Li B, Wang XF, Peng CJ, Wei YG, Yan LN. [Feasibility of small size graft following living donor liver transplantation]. *Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi* 2009; 47: 1218-1220 [PMID: 19781165]
- 15 Selzner M, Kashfi A, Cattral MS, Selzner N, Greig PD, Lilly L, McGilvray ID, Therapondos G, Adcock LE, Ghanekar A, Levy GA, Renner EL, Grant DR. A graft to body weight ratio less than 0.8 does not exclude adult-to-adult right-lobe living donor liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2009; 15: 1776-1782 [PMID: 19938139 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21955]
- 16 Chen PX, Yan LN, Wang WT. Outcome of patients undergoing right lobe living donor liver transplantation with small-for-size grafts. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 282-289 [PMID: 24415883 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i1.282]
- 17 She WH, Chok KS, Fung JY, Chan AC, Lo CM. Outcomes of right-lobe and left-lobe living-donor liver transplantations using small-for-size grafts. *World J Gastroenterol* 2017; 23: 4270-4277 [PMID: 28694667 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i23.4270]
- 18 Lee SD, Kim SH, Kim YK, Lee SA, Park SJ. Graft-to-recipient weight ratio lower to 0.7% is safe without portal pressure modulation in right-lobe living donor liver transplantation with favorable conditions. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int* 2014; 13: 18-24 [PMID: 24463075]
- 19 Alim A, Erdogan Y, Yuzer Y, Tokat Y, Oezcelik A. Graft-torecipient weight ratio threshold adjusted to the model for end-stage liver disease score for living donor liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2016; 22: 1643-1648 [PMID: 27509534 DOI: 10.1002/ lt.24523]
- Lee SG. A complete treatment of adult living donor liver transplantation: a review of surgical technique and current challenges to expand indication of patients. *Am J Transplant* 2015; 15: 17-38 [PMID: 25358749 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12907]
- 21 **Goldaracena N**, Echeverri J, Selzner M. Small-for-size syndrome in live donor liver transplantation-Pathways of injury and therapeutic strategies. *Clin Transplant* 2017; **31** [PMID: 27935645 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12885]
- 22 Graham JA, Samstein B, Emond JC. Early Graft Dysfunction in Living Donor Liver Transplantation and the Small for Size Syndrome. *Curr Transplant Rep* 2014; 1: 43-52 [PMID: 27280080 DOI: 10.1007/s40472-013-0006-1]

Lan X et al. Best strategy for choosing marginal donors

- 23 Botha JF, Langnas AN, Campos BD, Grant WJ, Freise CE, Ascher NL, Mercer DF, Roberts JP. Left lobe adult-to-adult living donor liver transplantation: small grafts and hemiportocaval shunts in the prevention of small-for-size syndrome. *Liver Transpl* 2010; 16: 649-657 [PMID: 20440774 DOI: 10.1002/lt.22043]
- 24 Goralczyk AD, Obed A, Beham A, Tsui TY, Lorf T. Posterior cavoplasty: a new approach to avoid venous outflow obstruction and symptoms for small-for-size syndrome in right lobe living donor liver transplantation. *Langenbecks Arch Surg* 2011; 396: 389-395 [PMID: 21207055 DOI: 10.1007/s00423-010-0736-9]
- 25 Soejima Y, Shimada M, Suehiro T, Hiroshige S, Ninomiya M, Shiotani S, Harada N, Hideki I, Yonemura Y, Maehara Y. Outcome analysis in adult-to-adult living donor liver transplantation using the left lobe. *Liver Transpl* 2003; 9: 581-586 [PMID: 12783399 DOI: 10.1053/jlts.2003.50114]
- 26 Ben-Haim M, Emre S, Fishbein TM, Sheiner PA, Bodian CA, Kim-Schluger L, Schwartz ME, Miller CM. Critical graft size in adult-to-adult living donor liver transplantation: impact of the recipient's disease. *Liver Transpl* 2001; 7: 948-953 [PMID: 11699030 DOI: 10.1053/jlts.2001.29033]
- 27 Sudhindran S, Menon RN, Balakrishnan D. Challenges and Outcome of Left-lobe Liver Transplants in Adult Living Donor Liver Transplants. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2012; 2: 181-187 [PMID: 25755426 DOI: 10.1016/S0973-6883(12)60106-6]
- 28 Yi NJ, Suh KS, Cho YB, Lee HW, Cho EH, Cho JY, Shin WY, Kim J, Lee KU. The right small-for-size graft results in better outcomes than the left small-for-size graft in adult-to-adult living donor liver transplantation. *World J Surg* 2008; **32**: 1722-1730 [PMID: 18553047 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-008-9641-6]
- 29 Soejima Y, Shirabe K, Taketomi A, Yoshizumi T, Uchiyama H, Ikegami T, Ninomiya M, Harada N, Ijichi H, Maehara Y. Left lobe living donor liver transplantation in adults. *Am J Transplant* 2012; 12: 1877-1885 [PMID: 22429497 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04022.x]
- 30 Gruttadauria S, Pagano D, Liotta R, Tropea A, Tuzzolino F, Marrone G, Mamone G, Marsh JW, Miraglia R, Luca A, Vizzini G, Gridelli BG. Liver Volume Restoration and Hepatic Microarchitecture in Small-for-Size Syndrome. Ann Transplant 2015; 20: 381-389 [PMID: 26148966 DOI: 10.12659/AOT.894082]
- 31 Shoreem H, Gad EH, Soliman H, Hegazy O, Saleh S, Zakaria H, Ayoub E, Kamel Y, Abouelella K, Ibrahim T, Marawan I. Small for size syndrome difficult dilemma: Lessons from 10 years single centre experience in living donor liver transplantation. *World J Hepatol* 2017; 9: 930-944 [PMID: 28824744 DOI: 10.4254/wjh. v9.i21.930]
- 32 Lauro A, Diago Uso T, Quintini C, Di Benedetto F, Dazzi A, De Ruvo N, Masetti M, Cautero N, Risaliti A, Zanfi C, Ramacciato G, Begliomini B, Siniscalchi A, Miller CM, Pinna AD. Adult-to-adult living donor liver transplantation using left lobes: the importance of surgical modulations on portal graft inflow. *Transplant Proc* 2007; **39**: 1874-1876 [PMID: 17692638 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproce ed.2007.05.052]
- 33 Kim DG, Moon IS, Kim SJ, Lee YJ, Lee MD. Effect of middle hepatic vein reconstruction in living donor liver transplantation using right lobe. *Transplant Proc* 2006; 38: 2099-2101 [PMID: 16980012 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.06.005]
- 34 Peng CJ, Wang XF, Li B, Wei YG, Yan LN, Wen TF, Yang JY, Wang WT, Zhao JC. Efficacy of middle hepatic vein reconstruction in adult right-lobe living donor liver transplantation. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int* 2010; 9: 135-138 [PMID: 20382582]
- 35 Wu H, Yan LN, Li B, Zeng Y, Wen TF, Zhao JC, Wang WT, Yang JY, Xu MQ, Chen ZY, Lu Q, Luo HZ, Li J. Hepatic venous outflow reconstruction in right lobe graft without middle hepatic vein. *Hepatol Res* 2007; **37**: 1044-1051 [PMID: 17645520 DOI: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2007.00121.x]
- 36 Asakuma M, Fujimoto Y, Bourquain H, Uryuhara K, Hayashi M, Tanigawa N, Peitgen HO, Tanaka K. Graft selection algorithm based on congestion volume for adult living donor liver transplantation. Am J Transplant 2007; 7: 1788-1796 [PMID:

17524079 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01849.x]

- 37 Navasa M, Feu F, García-Pagán JC, Jiménez W, Llach J, Rimola A, Bosch J, Rodés J. Hemodynamic and humoral changes after liver transplantation in patients with cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 1993; 17: 355-360 [PMID: 8444409]
- 38 Matsudaira S, Ishizaki Y, Yoshimoto J, Fujiwara N, Kawasaki S. Risk Factors for Intractable Ascites After Adult-to-Adult Living Donor Liver Transplantation Using Left Lobe. *Transplant Direct* 2017; 3: e138 [PMID: 28361122 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.00000000000652]
- 39 Mukhtar A, Dabbous H. Modulation of splanchnic circulation: Role in perioperative management of liver transplant patients. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22: 1582-1592 [PMID: 26819524 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i4.1582]
- 40 Kanetkar AV, Balakrishnan D, Sudhindran S, Dhar P, Gopalakrishnan U, Menon R, Sudheer OV. Is Portal Venous Pressure or Porto-systemic Gradient Really A Harbinger of Poor Outcomes After Living Donor Liver Transplantation? J Clin Exp Hepatol 2017; 7: 235-246 [PMID: 28970711 DOI: 10.1016/ i.jcch.2017.01.114]
- 41 Ikegami T, Shirabe K, Yoshizumi T, Aishima S, Taketomi YA, Soejima Y, Uchiyama H, Kayashima H, Toshima T, Maehara Y. Primary graft dysfunction after living donor liver transplantation is characterized by delayed functional hyperbilirubinemia. *Am J Transplant* 2012; **12**: 1886-1897 [PMID: 22494784 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1600-6143.2012.04052.x]
- 42 Demetris AJ, Kelly DM, Eghtesad B, Fontes P, Wallis Marsh J, Tom K, Tan HP, Shaw-Stiffel T, Boig L, Novelli P, Planinsic R, Fung JJ, Marcos A. Pathophysiologic observations and histopathologic recognition of the portal hyperperfusion or small-for-size syndrome. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2006; **30**: 986-993 [PMID: 16861970]
- 43 Uemura T, Wada S, Kaido T, Mori A, Ogura Y, Yagi S, Fujimoto Y, Ogawa K, Hata K, Yoshizawa A, Okajima H, Uemoto S. How far can we lower graft-to-recipient weight ratio for living donor liver transplantation under modulation of portal venous pressure? *Surgery* 2016; **159**: 1623-1630 [PMID: 26936527 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2016.01.009]
- 44 Takahashi Y, Matsuura T, Yoshimaru K, Yanagi Y, Hayashida M, Taguchi T. Liver graft-to-spleen volume ratio as a useful predictive factor of the early graft function in children and young adults transplanted for biliary atresia: a retrospective study. *Transpl Int* 2018; **31**: 620-628 [PMID: 29424478 DOI: 10.1111/tri.13131]
- 45 Karademir S, Astarcioglu H, Ozbilgin M, Ozkardesler S, Yilmaz T, Akarsu M, Akan M, Ozzeybek D, Obuz F, Astarcioglu I. Efficacy of right anterior sector drainage reconstruction in right-lobe livedonor transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2006; **38**: 3582-3584 [PMID: 17175337 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.10.043]
- 46 Mori S, Park MS, Kim H, Choi Y, Hong G, Yi NJ, Lee KW, Suh KS. Dysfunction in Patients With Small-for-Size Grafts After Living Donor Liver Transplantation. *Int Surg* 2015; 100: 524-530 [PMID: 25785339 DOI: 10.9738/INTSURG-D-14-00016.1]
- 47 Kim SH, Lee EC, Park SJ. Impact of preserved collateral veins on small-for-size grafts in living donor liver transplantation. *Hepatol Res* 2018; 48: 295-302 [PMID: 29125895 DOI: 10.1111/ hepr.13002]
- 48 Hessheimer AJ, Fondevila C, Taurá P, Muñoz J, Sánchez O, Fuster J, Rimola A, García-Valdecasas JC. Decompression of the portal bed and twice-baseline portal inflow are necessary for the functional recovery of a "small-for-size" graft. *Ann Surg* 2011; 253: 1201-1210 [PMID: 21587116 DOI: 10.1097/ SLA.0b013e3181ffb2d7]
- 49 Xiao L, Li F, Wei B, Li B, Tang CW. Small-for-size syndrome after living donor liver transplantation: successful treatment with a transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt. *Liver Transpl* 2012; 18: 1118-1120 [PMID: 22511462 DOI: 10.1002/lt.23457]
- 50 Sato Y, Oya H, Yamamoto S, Kobayashi T, Hara Y, Kokai H, Hatakeyama K. Method for spontaneous constriction and closure of portocaval shunt using a ligamentum teres hepatis in small-for-size

graft liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 2010; **90**: 1200-1203 [PMID: 21088651 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181fa93e0]

- 51 Nutu OA, Justo Alonso I, Marcacuzco Quinto AA, Calvo Pulido J, Jiménez Romero LC. Complete splenic embolization for the treatment of refractory ascites after liver transplantation. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2018; 110: 257-259 [PMID: 29411988 DOI: 10.17235/ reed.2018.5338/2017]
- 52 Badawy A, Hamaguchi Y, Satoru S, Kaido T, Okajima H, Uemoto S. Evaluation of safety of concomitant splenectomy in living donor liver transplantation: a retrospective study. *Transpl Int* 2017; 30: 914-923 [PMID: 28512755 DOI: 10.1111/tri.12985]
- 53 Troisi RI, Berardi G, Tomassini F, Sainz-Barriga M. Graft inflow modulation in adult-to-adult living donor liver transplantation: A systematic review. *Transplant Rev* (Orlando) 2017; 31: 127-135 [PMID: 27989547 DOI: 10.1016/j.trre.2016.11.002]
- 54 Xu Y, Chen H, Yeh H, Wang H, Leng J, Dong J. Living donor liver transplantation using dual grafts: Experience and lessons learned from cases worldwide. *Liver Transpl* 2015; 21: 1438-1448 [PMID: 26336078 DOI: 10.1002/lt.24315]
- 55 Gao W, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Sun C, Chen X, Wang Y. Adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells promote liver regeneration and suppress rejection in small-for-size liver allograft. *Transpl Immunol* 2017; 45: 1-7 [PMID: 28778713 DOI: 10.1016/j.trim.2017.07.005]
- 56 Kobayashi T, Sato Y, Yamamoto S, Oya H, Hara Y, Watanabe T, Kokai H, Hatakeyama K. Feasibility of auxiliary partial living donor liver transplantation for fulminant hepatic failure as an aid for small-for-size graft: single center experience. *Transplant Proc* 2009; **41**: 262-264 [PMID: 19249530 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed .2008.10.025]
- 57 Dasari BVM, Schlegel A, Mergental H, Perera MTPR. The use of old donors in liver transplantation. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2017; 31: 211-217 [PMID: 28624109 DOI: 10.1016/ j.bpg.2017.03.002]
- 58 Tanemura A, Mizuno S, Wada H, Yamada T, Nobori T, Isaji S. Donor age affects liver regeneration during early period in the graft liver and late period in the remnant liver after living donor liver transplantation. *World J Surg* 2012; 36: 1102-1111 [PMID: 22374540 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-012-1496-1]
- 59 Abdelfattah MR, Elsiesy H. Reappraisal of upper age limit for adult living-donor liver transplantation using right lobe grafts: an outcome analysis. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; 27: 593-599 [PMID: 25822867 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000322]
- 60 Ono Y, Kawachi S, Hayashida T, Wakui M, Tanabe M, Itano O, Obara H, Shinoda M, Hibi T, Oshima G, Tani N, Mihara K, Kitagawa Y. The influence of donor age on liver regeneration and hepatic progenitor cell populations. *Surgery* 2011; **150**: 154-161 [PMID: 21719061 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2011.05.004]
- 61 Akamatsu N, Sugawara Y, Tamura S, Kaneko J, Matsui Y, Togashi J, Makuuchi M. Impact of live donor age on liver transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2007; **39**: 3189-3193 [PMID: 18089350 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2007.03.116]
- 62 Kawano Y, Ishikawa N, Aida J, Sanada Y, Izumiyama-Shimomura N, Nakamura K, Poon SS, Matsumoto K, Mizuta K, Uchida E, Tajiri T, Kawarasaki H, Takubo K. Q-FISH measurement of hepatocyte telomere lengths in donor liver and graft after pediatric living-donor liver transplantation: donor age affects telomere length sustainability. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e93749 [PMID: 24727734 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093749]
- 63 Imamura H, Hidaka M, Soyama A, Kitasato A, Adachi T, Ono S, Natsuda K, Hara T, Kugiyama T, Baimakhanov Z, Okada S, Fujita F, Kanetaka K, Takatsuki M, Kuroki T, Eguchi S. A Donor Age-Based and Graft Volume-Based Analysis for Living Donor Liver Transplantation in Elderly Recipients. *Transplant Direct* 2017; 3: e168 [PMID: 28706971 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.000000000000088]
- 64 Dayangac M, Taner CB, Yaprak O, Demirbas T, Balci D, Duran C, Yuzer Y, Tokat Y. Utilization of elderly donors in living donor liver transplantation: when more is less? *Liver Transpl* 2011; 17: 548-555 [PMID: 21506243 DOI: 10.1002/lt.22276]
- 65 Yoshizumi T, Taketomi A, Uchiyama H, Harada N, Kayashima H,

Yamashita Y, Soejima Y, Shimada M, Maehara Y. Graft size, donor age, and patient status are the indicators of early graft function after living donor liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2008; **14**: 1007-1013 [PMID: 18581462 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21462]

- 66 Han JH, You YK, Na GH, Kim EY, Lee SH, Hong TH, Kim DG. Outcomes of living donor liver transplantation using elderly donors. *Ann Surg Treat Res* 2014; 86: 184-191 [PMID: 24783177 DOI: 10.4174/astr.2014.86.4.184]
- 67 Kamo N, Kaido T, Hammad A, Ogawa K, Fujimoto Y, Uemura T, Mori A, Hatano E, Okajima H, Uemoto S. Impact of elderly donors for liver transplantation: A single-center experience. *Liver Transpl* 2015; 21: 591-598 [PMID: 25641778 DOI: 10.1002/lt.24086]
- 68 Shin M, Moon HH, Kim JM, Park JB, Kwon CH, Kim SJ, Joh JW. Importance of donor-recipient age gradient to the prediction of graft outcome after living donor liver transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2013; 45: 3005-3012 [PMID: 24157024 DOI: 10.1016/j.trans proceed.2013.08.018]
- 69 Kubota T, Hata K, Sozu T, Ueda Y, Hirao H, Okamura Y, Tamaki I, Yoshikawa J, Kusakabe J, Tanaka H, Kageyama S, Anazawa T, Yoshizawa A, Yagi S, Yamashiki N, Okajima H, Kaido T, Uemoto S. Impact of Donor Age on Recipient Survival in Adult-to-Adult Living-donor Liver Transplantation. *Ann Surg* 2018; 267: 1126-1133 [PMID: 28288061 DOI: 10.1097/ SLA.00000000002194]
- 70 Katsuragawa H, Yamamoto M, Katagiri S, Yoshitoshi K, Ariizumi S, Kotera Y, Takahashi Y, Takasaki K. Graft size and donor age are independent factors for graft loss in adult-to-adult living-donor liver transplantation using the left liver. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg* 2009; 16: 178-183 [PMID: 19165414 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-008-0026-x]
- 71 Selzner N, Girgrah N, Lilly L, Guindi M, Selzner M, Therapondos G, Adeyi O, McGilvray I, Cattral M, Greig PD, Grant D, Levy G, Renner EL. The difference in the fibrosis progression of recurrent hepatitis C after live donor liver transplantation versus deceased donor liver transplantation is attributable to the difference in donor age. *Liver Transpl* 2008; 14: 1778-1786 [PMID: 19025914 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21598]
- 72 Wang K, Jiang WT, Deng YL, Pan C, Shen ZY. Effect of donor age on graft function and long-term survival of recipients undergoing living donor liver transplantation. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int* 2015; 14: 50-55 [PMID: 25655290]
- 73 Ikegami T, Taketomi A, Ohta R, Soejima Y, Yoshizumi T, Shimada M, Maehara Y. Donor age in living donor liver transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2008; 40: 1471-1475 [PMID: 18589131 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.02.084]
- 74 Li C, Wen TF, Yan LN, Li B, Yang JY, Xu MQ, Wang WT, Wei YG. Safety of living donor liver transplantation using older donors. *J Surg Res* 2012; **178**: 982-987 [PMID: 22835951 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jss.2012.06.065]
- 75 Goldaracena N, Sapisochin G, Spetzler V, Echeverri J, Kaths M, Cattral MS, Greig PD, Lilly L, McGilvray ID, Levy GA, Ghanekar A, Renner EL, Grant DR, Selzner M, Selzner N. Live Donor Liver Transplantation With Older (≥50 Years) Versus Younger Donors: Does Age Matter? Ann Surg 2016; 263: 979-985 [PMID: 26106842 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.000000000001337]
- 76 Kim SH, Lee EC, Shim JR, Park SJ. Right lobe living donors ages 55 years old and older in liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2017; 23: 1305-1311 [PMID: 28734130 DOI: 10.1002/lt.24823]
- 77 Starzl TE, Koep LJ, Halgrimson CG, Hood J, Schroter GP, Porter KA, Weil R 3rd. Fifteen years of clinical liver transplantation. *Gastroenterology* 1979; 77: 375-388 [PMID: 376395]
- 78 Sanchez-Urdazpal L, Sterioff S, Janes C, Schwerman L, Rosen C, Krom RA. Increased bile duct complications in ABO incompatible liver transplant recipients. *Transplant Proc* 1991; 23: 1440-1441 [PMID: 1989259]
- 79 Gugenheim J, Samuel D, Fabiani B, Saliba F, Castaing D, Reynes M, Bismuth H. Rejection of ABO incompatible liver allografts in man. *Transplant Proc* 1989; 21: 2223-2224 [PMID: 2652718]
- 80 Miyata R, Shimazu M, Tanabe M, Kawachi S, Hoshino K,



Wakabayashi G, Kawai Y, Kitajima M. Clinical characteristics of thrombotic microangiopathy following ABO incompatible living donor liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2007; **13**: 1455-1462 [PMID: 17902122 DOI: 10.1002/lt.21253]

- 81 Oya H, Sato Y, Yamamoto S, Nakatsuka H, Kobayashi T, Watanabe T, Kokai H, Hatakeyama K. Thrombotic microangiopathy after ABO-incompatible living donor liver transplantation: a case report. *Transplant Proc* 2008; 40: 2549-2551 [PMID: 18929797 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.07.117]
- 82 Kishida N, Shinoda M, Itano O, Obara H, Kitago M, Hibi T, Yagi H, Abe Y, Matsubara K, Odaira M, Tanabe M, Shimazu M, Kitagawa Y. Increased Incidence of Thrombotic Microangiopathy After ABO-Incompatible Living Donor Liver Transplantation. *Ann Transplant* 2016; 21: 755-764 [PMID: 27956735]
- 83 Song GW, Lee SG, Hwang S, Kim KH, Ahn CS, Moon DB, Ha TY, Jung DH, Park GC, Kang SH, Jung BH, Yoon YI, Kim N. Biliary stricture is the only concern in ABO-incompatible adult living donor liver transplantation in the rituximab era. J Hepatol 2014; 61: 575-582 [PMID: 24801413 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2014.04.039]
- 84 Ikegami T, Yoshizumi T, Soejima Y, Uchiyama H, Shirabe K, Maehara Y. Feasible usage of ABO incompatible grafts in living donor liver transplantation. *Hepatobiliary Surg Nutr* 2016; 5: 91-97 [PMID: 27115002 DOI: 10.3978/j.issn.2304-3881.2015.06.02]
- 85 Sanchez-Urdazpal L, Batts KP, Gores GJ, Moore SB, Sterioff S, Wiesner RH, Krom RA. Increased bile duct complications in liver transplantation across the ABO barrier. *Ann Surg* 1993; 218: 152-158 [PMID: 8342994]
- 86 Demetris AJ, Jaffe R, Tzakis A, Ramsey G, Todo S, Belle S, Esquivel C, Shapiro R, Markus B, Mroczek E. Antibody-mediated rejection of human orthotopic liver allografts. A study of liver transplantation across ABO blood group barriers. *Am J Pathol* 1988; **132**: 489-502 [PMID: 3046369]
- 87 Choi SH, Kim KW, Kim SY, Kim JS, Kwon JH, Song GW, Lee SG. Computed tomography findings in ABO-incompatible living donor liver transplantation recipients with biliary strictures. *Eur Radiol* 2018; 28: 2572-2581 [PMID: 29294154 DOI: 10.1007/ s00330-017-5226-9]
- 88 Yamada Y, Hoshino K, Shimojima N, Shinoda M, Obara H, Kawachi S, Fuchimoto Y, Tanabe M, Kitagawa Y, Morikawa Y. Idiopathic hypereosinophilic syndrome in a case with ABOincompatible liver transplantation for biliary atresia complicated by portal vein thrombosis. *Pediatr Transplant* 2010; 14: e49-e53 [PMID: 20042017 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3046.2009.01170.x]
- 89 Kawagishi N, Takeda I, Miyagi S, Satoh K, Akamatsu Y, Sekiguchi S, Satomi S. Long-term outcome of ABO-incompatible living-donor liver transplantation: a single-center experience. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2009; 16: 468-472 [PMID: 19333538 DOI: 10.1007/s00534-009-0074-x]
- 90 Yoon YI, Song GW, Lee SG, Hwang S, Kim KH, Kim SH, Kang WH, Cho HD, Jwa EK, Kwon JH, Tak EY, Kirchner VA. Outcome of ABO-incompatible adult living-donor liver transplantation for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol* 2018; 68: 1153-1162 [PMID: 29452208 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.02.002]
- 91 Sakai H, Tanaka Y, Tazawa H, Shimizu S, Verma S, Ohira M, Tahara H, Ide K, Ishiyama K, Kobayashi T, Onoe T, Ohdan H. Effect of Fc-γ Receptor Polymorphism on Rituximab-Mediated B Cell Depletion in ABO-Incompatible Adult Living Donor Liver Transplantation. *Transplant Direct* 2017; **3**: e164 [PMID: 28620648 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.00000000000683]
- 92 Egawa H, Umeshita K, Uemoto S. Optimal dosage regimen for rituximab in ABO-incompatible living donor liver transplantation. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci* 2017; 24: 89-94 [PMID: 28002655 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.419]
- 93 Ikegami T, Taketomi A, Soejima Y, Iguchi T, Sanefuji K, Kayashima H, Yoshizumi T, Harada N, Maehara Y. Successful ABO incompatible living donor liver transplantation in a patient with high isoagglutinin titer using high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin. *Transplant Proc* 2007; **39**: 3491-3494 [PMID:

18089417 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2007.09.028]

- 94 Ikegami T, Taketomi A, Soejima Y, Yoshizumi T, Uchiyama H, Harada N, Iguchi T, Hashimoto N, Maehara Y. Rituximab, IVIG, and plasma exchange without graft local infusion treatment: a new protocol in ABO incompatible living donor liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 2009; 88: 303-307 [PMID: 19667930 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181adcae6]
- 95 Usui M, Isaji S, Mizuno S, Sakurai H, Uemoto S. Experiences and problems pre-operative anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody infusion therapy with splenectomy and plasma exchange for ABO-incompatible living-donor liver transplantation. *Clin Transplant* 2007; **21**: 24-31 [PMID: 17302588 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1399-0012.2006.00572.x]
- 96 Chen G, Sun J, Wei S, Chen Y, Tang G, Xie Z, Xu H, Chen J, Zhao H, Yuan Z, Wang W, Liu G, Wang B, Niu B. Simultaneous ABO-incompatible living-donor liver transplantation and splenectomy without plasma exchange in China: Two case reports. *J Int Med Res* 2017; 45: 2146-2152 [PMID: 28635356 DOI: 10.1177/030006 0517710407]
- 97 Uchiyama H, Mano Y, Taketomi A, Soejima Y, Yoshizumi T, Ikegami T, Shirabe K, Maehara Y. Kinetics of anti-blood type isoagglutinin titers and B lymphocytes in ABO-incompatible living donor liver transplantation with rituximab and plasma exchange. *Transplantation* 2011; **92**: 1134-1139 [PMID: 21946174 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e318231e9f8]
- 98 Soin AS, Raut V, Mohanka R, Rastogi A, Goja S, Balachandran M, Saigal S, Saraf N, Bhangui P, Sumana KR, Singla P, Srinivasan T, Choudhary N, Tiwari A, Raina V, Govil D, Mohan N, Vohra V. Use of ABO-incompatible grafts in living donor liver transplantationfirst report from India. *Indian J Gastroenterol* 2014; **33**: 72-76 [PMID: 24369388 DOI: 10.1007/s12664-013-0424-0]
- 99 Rummler S, Bauschke A, Baerthel E, Juette H, Maier K, Malessa C, Barz D, Settmacher U. ABO-Incompatible Living Donor Liver Transplantation in Focus of Antibody Rebound. *Transfus Med Hemother* 2017; 44: 46-51 [PMID: 28275333 DOI: 10.1159/000450792]
- 100 Kim JD, Choi DL, Kim SG, Lee AJ. Single-Center Experience of ABO-Incompatible Living-Donor Liver Transplantation With a New Simplified Intravenous Immunoglobulin Protocol: A Propensity Score-Matching Analysis. *Transplant Proc* 2016; 48: 1134-1138 [PMID: 27320573 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2016.0 2.040]
- 101 Kim JM, Kwon CH, Joh JW, Kang ES, Park JB, Lee JH, Kim SJ, Paik SW, Lee SK, Kim DW. ABO-incompatible living donor liver transplantation is suitable in patients without ABO-matched donor. *J Hepatol* 2013; **59**: 1215-1222 [PMID: 23928408 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2013.07.035]
- 102 Kawagishi N, Satoh K, Enomoto Y, Akamatsu Y, Sekiguchi S, Fukumori T, Fujimori K, Satomi S. New strategy for ABOincompatible living donor liver transplantation with anti-CD20 antibody (rituximab) and plasma exchange. *Transplant Proc* 2005; 37: 1205-1206 [PMID: 15848670 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.200 4.12.114]
- 103 Kim SH, Lee EC, Shim JR, Park SJ. A simplified protocol using rituximab and immunoglobulin for ABO-incompatible low-titre living donor liver transplantation. *Liver Int* 2018; 38: 932-939 [PMID: 29053910 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13614]
- 104 Yoshizawa A, Sakamoto S, Ogawa K, Kasahara M, Uryuhara K, Oike F, Ueda M, Takada Y, Egawa H, Tanaka K. New protocol of immunosuppression for liver transplantation across ABO barrier: the use of Rituximab, hepatic arterial infusion, and preservation of spleen. *Transplant Proc* 2005; **37**: 1718-1719 [PMID: 15919443 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2005.03.148]
- 105 Egawa H, Teramukai S, Haga H, Tanabe M, Fukushima M, Shimazu M. Present status of ABO-incompatible living donor liver transplantation in Japan. *Hepatology* 2008; 47: 143-152 [PMID: 17929298 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21928]
- 106 Yamamoto H, Uchida K, Kawabata S, Isono K, Miura K, Hayashida S, Oya Y, Sugawara Y, Inomata Y. Feasibility of

Lan X et al. Best strategy for choosing marginal donors

Monotherapy by Rituximab Without Additional Desensitization in ABO-incompatible Living-Donor Liver Transplantation. *Transplantation* 2018; **102**: 97-104 [PMID: 28938311 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000001956]

- 107 Jiménez-Castro MB, Negrete-Sánchez E, Casillas-Ramírez A, Gulfo J, Álvarez-Mercado AI, Cornide-Petronio ME, Gracia-Sancho J, Rodés J, Peralta C. The effect of cortisol in rat steatotic and non-steatotic liver transplantation from brain-dead donors. *Clin Sci* (Lond) 2017; **131**: 733-746 [PMID: 28246131 DOI: 10.1042/ CS20160676]
- 108 Xue M, Lv C, Chen X, Liang J, Zhao C, Zhang Y, Huang X, Sun Q, Wang T, Gao J, Zhou J, Yu M, Fan J, Gao X. Donor liver steatosis: A risk factor for early new-onset diabetes after liver transplantation. J Diabetes Investig 2017; 8: 181-187 [PMID: 27511316 DOI: 10.1111/jdi.12560]
- 109 Perkins JD. Saying "Yes" to obese living liver donors: short-term intensive treatment for donors with hepatic steatosis in livingdonor liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2006; 12: 1012-1013 [PMID: 16721781 DOI: 10.1002/lt.20807]
- 110 Kotecha HL, Saraf N, Saigal S, Choudhary NS, Yadav A, Mohanka R, Rastogi A, Menon PB, Goja S, Soin AS. NAFLD is the leading cause of donor rejection in living donor liver transplantation. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2013; 3: S116 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jceh.2013.03.201]
- 111 Cho JY, Suh KS, Shin WY, Lee HW, Yi NJ, Kim MA, Jang JJ, Lee KU. Expansion of hepatic progenitor cell in fatty liver graft after living donor liver transplantation. *Transpl Int* 2010; 23: 530-537 [PMID: 20003044 DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2009.01020.x]
- 112 Cho JY, Suh KS, Lee HW, Cho EH, Yang SH, Cho YB, Yi NJ, Kim MA, Jang JJ, Lee KU. Hepatic steatosis is associated with intrahepatic cholestasis and transient hyperbilirubinemia during regeneration after living donor liver transplantation. *Transpl Int* 2006; **19**: 807-813 [PMID: 16961772 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1432-2277.2006.00355.x]
- 113 Cho JY, Suh KS, Kwon CH, Yi NJ, Cho SY, Jang JJ, Kim SH, Lee KU. The hepatic regeneration power of mild steatotic grafts is not impaired in living-donor liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2005; 11: 210-217 [PMID: 15666394 DOI: 10.1002/lt.20340]
- 114 Gao F, Xu X, Ling Q, Wu J, Zhou L, Xie HY, Wang HP, Zheng SS. Efficacy and safety of moderately steatotic donor liver in transplantation. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int* 2009; 8: 29-33 [PMID: 19208511]
- 115 Knaak M, Goldaracena N, Doyle A, Cattral MS, Greig PD, Lilly L, McGilvray ID, Levy GA, Ghanekar A, Renner EL, Grant DR, Selzner M, Selzner N. Donor BMI; 30 Is Not a Contraindication for Live Liver Donation. *Am J Transplant* 2017; **17**: 754-760 [PMID: 27545327 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14019]
- 116 Han S, Ha SY, Park CK, Joh JW, Kwon CH, Kwon GY, Kim G, Gwak MS, Jeong WK, Ko JS. Microsteatosis may not interact with macrosteatosis in living donor liver transplantation. J Hepatol 2015; 62: 556-562 [PMID: 25450710 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jhep.2014.10.027]
- 117 Oshita A, Tashiro H, Amano H, Kobayashi T, Onoe T, Ide K, Takaki S, Takahashi S, Arihiro K, Chayama K, Ohdan H. Safety and feasibility of diet-treated donors with steatotic livers at the initial consultation for living-donor liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 2012; **93**: 1024-1030 [PMID: 22495493 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31824c9e25]
- 118 Nakamuta M, Morizono S, Soejima Y, Yoshizumi T, Aishima S, Takasugi S, Yoshimitsu K, Enjoji M, Kotoh K, Taketomi A, Uchiyama H, Shimada M, Nawata H, Maehara Y. Short-term intensive treatment for donors with hepatic steatosis in living-donor liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 2005; 80: 608-612 [PMID: 16177634]
- 119 Choudhary NS, Saraf N, Saigal S, Gautam D, Lipi L, Rastogi A, Goja S, Menon PB, Bhangui P, Ramchandra SK, Soin AS. Rapid Reversal of Liver Steatosis With Life Style Modification in Highly Motivated Liver Donors. *J Clin Exp Hepatol* 2015; **5**: 123-126 [PMID: 26155039 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2015.04.002]

- 120 Moon D, Lee S, Hwang S, Kim K, Ahn C, Park K, Ha T, Song G. Resolution of severe graft steatosis following dual-graft living donor liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl* 2006; **12**: 1156-1160 [PMID: 16799937 DOI: 10.1002/lt.20814]
- 121 Wang SH, Loh PY, Lin TL, Lin LM, Li WF, Lin YH, Lin CC, Chen CL. Active immunization for prevention of De novo hepatitis B virus infection after adult living donor liver transplantation with a hepatitis B core antigen-positive graft. *Liver Transpl* 2017; 23: 1266-1272 [PMID: 28691231 DOI: 10.1002/lt.24814]
- 122 Xi ZF, Xia Q, Zhang JJ, Chen XS, Han LZ, Zhu JJ, Wang SY, Qiu DK. De novo hepatitis B virus infection from anti-HBcpositive donors in pediatric living donor liver transplantation. *J Dig Dis* 2013; 14: 439-445 [PMID: 23638710 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12066]
- 123 Dong C, Gao W, Ma N, Sun C, Zheng WP, Wang K, Shen ZY. Risks and treatment strategies for de novo hepatitis B virus infection from anti-HBc-positive donors in pediatric living donor liver transplantation. *Pediatr Transplant* 2017; 21 [PMID: 27933716 DOI: 10.1111/petr.12854]
- 124 Loggi E, Conti F, Cucchetti A, Ercolani G, Pinna AD, Andreone P. Liver grafts from hepatitis B surface antigen-positive donors: A review of the literature. *World J Gastroenterol* 2016; 22: 8010-8016 [PMID: 27672295 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i35.8010]
- 125 Lei J, Yan L, Wang W. A comprehensive study of the safety of using anti-hepatitis B core (Hbc) positive subjects in living donor liver transplants. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2013; 60: 1426-1432 [PMID: 23933935 DOI: 10.5754/hge13062]
- 126 Lin CC, Chen CL, Concejero A, Wang CC, Wang SH, Liu YW, Yang CH, Yong CC, Lin TS, Jawan B, Cheng YF, Eng HL. Active immunization to prevent de novo hepatitis B virus infection in pediatric live donor liver recipients. *Am J Transplant* 2007; 7: 195-200 [PMID: 17227568 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01618.x]
- 127 Hara Y, Tokodai K, Nakanishi C, Miyagi S, Kawagishi N. Spontaneous resolution of de novo hepatitis B after living donor liver transplantation with hepatitis B core antibody positive graft: a case report. *Surg Case Rep* 2016; 2: 118 [PMID: 27797067 DOI: 10.1186/s40792-016-0246-2]
- 128 Sasaki R, Kanda T, Ohtsuka M, Yasui S, Haga Y, Nakamura M, Yokoyama M, Wu S, Nakamoto S, Arai M, Maruyama H, Miyazaki M, Yokosuka O. Successful Management of Graft Reinfection of HCV Genotype 2 in Living Donor Liver Transplantation from a Hepatitis B Core Antibody-Positive Donor with Sofosbuvir and Ribavirin. *Case Rep Gastroenterol* 2016; **10**: 366-372 [PMID: 27721720 DOI: 10.1159/000447423]
- 129 Hwang S, Lee SG, Park KM, Kim KH, Ahn CS, Oh HB, Moon DB, Ha TY, Lim YS, Jung DH. Five-year follow-up of a hepatitis B virus-positive recipient of hepatitis B surface antigen-positive living donor liver graft. *Liver Transpl* 2006; 12: 993-997 [PMID: 16721765 DOI: 10.1002/lt.20799]
- 130 Soejima Y, Shimada M, Taketomi A, Yoshizumi T, Uchiyama H, Ikegami T, Nakamuta M, Maehara Y. Successful living donor liver transplantation using a graft from a hepatitis B surface antigenpositive donor. *Liver Int* 2007; 27: 1282-1286 [PMID: 17919241 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2007.01528.x]
- 131 Jeng LB, Thorat A, Yang HR, Yeh CC, Chen TH, Hsu CH, Hsu SC, Poon KS, Li PC, Lai HC, Su WP, Peng CY. Successful use of hepatitis B surface antigen-positive liver grafts an effective source for donor organs in endemic areas: a single-center experience. *Ann Transplant* 2015; 20: 103-111 [PMID: 25703063 DOI: 10.12659/AOT.893032]
- 132 Tang Z, Li X, Wu S, Liu Y, Qiao Y, Xu D, Li J. Risk of hepatitis B reactivation in HBsAg-negative/HBcAb-positive patients with undetectable serum HBV DNA after treatment with rituximab for lymphoma: a meta-analysis. *Hepatol Int* 2017; 11: 429-433 [PMID: 28856548 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-017-9817-y]
- 133 Li G, Mu X, Huang X, Qian X, Qin J, Tan Z, Zhang W, Xu X, Tan S, Zhu Z, Li W, Wang X, Wang X, Sun B. Liver transplantation using the otherwise-discarded partial liver resection graft with hepatic benign tumor: Analysis of a preliminary experience on 15

Lan X et al. Best strategy for choosing marginal donors

consecutive cases. *Medicine* (Baltimore) 2017; **96**: e7295 [PMID: 28723742 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000007295]

134 Fuchino M, Tajiri K, Minemura M, Sugiyama T. Vanishing

Tumor in a Liver Graft from a Hepatitis B Virus Surface Antigen-Positive Donor. *Case Rep Gastroenterol* 2017; **11**: 610-615 [PMID: 29118691 DOI: 10.1159/000481164]

P-Reviewer: Chiu KW, Kanda T, Qi XS S- Editor: Wang XJ L- Editor: Filipodia E- Editor: Huang Y







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2457

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2457-2467

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

# Vedolizumab for inflammatory bowel disease: From randomized controlled trials to real-life evidence

#### Maria Lia Scribano

Maria Lia Scribano, IBD Unit, Azienda Ospedaliera San Camillo-Forlanini, Rome 00152, Italy

ORCID number: Maria Lia Scribano (0000-0003-1839-8136).

Author contributions: Scribano ML solely contributed to this paper.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** Advisory board member and/or speaker for Abbvie, Biogen Idec, Janssen, Mundipharma, Pfizer, and Takeda.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Maria Lia Scribano, MD, IBD Unit, Azienda Ospedaliera San Camillo-Forlanini, Circonvallazione Gianicolense, 87, Rome 00152, Italy. marialiascribano@virgilio.it Telephone: +39-6-58703308 Fax: +39-6-58704328

Received: April 16, 2018 Peer-review started: April 18, 2018 First decision: April 27, 2018 Revised: May 6, 2018 Accepted: May 18, 2018 Article in press: May 18, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

#### Abstract

The biologic antitumor necrosis factor alpha (anti-TNF $\alpha$ ) agents have revolutionised the treatment of inflammatory

bowel disease (IBD). However, some patients experience primary nonresponse, loss of response, or intolerance. Therefore, introducing a newer class of therapy with a mechanism of action that acts on different inflammatory pathways involved in IBD pathogenesis is appealing. Vedolizumab is a fully humanised monoclonal antibody that selectively targets  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  integrin. Based on the results of the pivotal clinical GEMINI trials, vedolizumab was approved for the treatment of adult patients with moderately to severely active ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD) refractory or intolerant to either conventional therapy or  $TNF\alpha$  inhibitors. This review describes the efficacy, safety, and tolerability of vedolizumab reported in both randomized, controlled, clinical trials and from real-world experience in patients with UC and CD in order to identify its place in treatment algorithms for IBD.

Key words: Vedolizumab; Crohn's disease; Real-world; Efficacy; Ulcerative colitis; Controlled trial; Effectiveness; Safety

© **The Author(s) 2018.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core tip: Vedolizumab represents an interesting new therapeutic option for the treatment of patients with moderate-to-severe ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease that are refractory or intolerant to either conventional treatments or anti-TNF $\alpha$  agents. This review describes the efficacy, safety, and tolerability of vedolizumab demonstrated in the clinical GEMINI trials. In addition, the paper reviews the effectiveness and the safety of vedolizumab in the real-world studies in order to identify its place in treatment algorithms for patients with inflammatory bowel disease.

Scribano ML. Vedolizumab for inflammatory bowel disease: From randomized controlled trials to real-life evidence. *World J* 



*Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2457-2467 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v24/i23/2457.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2457

#### INTRODUCTION

The introduction of biologic, antitumor necrosis factor alpha (anti-TNF $\alpha$ ) therapies has transformed the management of patients with moderate-to-severe, active inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) that are refractory to conventional treatments<sup>[1-3]</sup>. However, a proportion of patients do not respond to these drugs, loose their response over time, or are intolerant to these treatments<sup>[4-6]</sup>. Additionally, the efficacy of a second anti-TNF $\alpha$  agent is lower in patients who have previously received an anti-TNF $\alpha$  drug<sup>[7]</sup>. Therefore, the advent of a newer class of therapy, characterized by a different mode of action, is an attractive option for patients with IBD.

Vedolizumab is a fully humanised monoclonal IgG-1 antibody that selectively inhibits the interaction between  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  integrin and mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1). It prevents lymphocyte translocation from the blood into the inflamed gut tissue, resulting in a reduction in local inflammation<sup>[8,9]</sup> (Figure 1).

The efficacy of vedolizumab for the induction and maintenance of remission in patients with IBD was demonstrated in the pivotal phase III GEMINI studies<sup>[10-12]</sup>. Based on the results of these randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials, vedolizumab was approved for the treatment of adult patients with moderate-to-severe active ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD) who had an inadequate response to either standard therapies or TNF $\alpha$  antagonists by both the European Medicines Agency and the US Food and Drug Administration.

However, all randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have restrictive enrolment criteria and, in order to include a highly selected and homogeneous population, tend to exclude several groups of patients<sup>[13]</sup>. This limits the generalisation of RCT results to patients commonly seen in general practice.

Patients in real-world cohorts tend to have more complicated diseases, multiple comorbidities, variable treatment regimens applied with flexibility, and follow-up controls that are not fixed. In addition, the goals of therapy in clinical practice are variable and are specific for the single patient ("treat to target")<sup>[14]</sup>. Therefore, evaluating biologic therapies is highly relevant in the clinical practice setting.

To date, several real-world studies on the effectiveness and safety of vedolizumab in patients with moderateto-severe, active UC and CD have been published<sup>[15-26]</sup>. This paper reviews the efficacy of vedolizumab for the treatment of IBD from the randomized controlled clinical trials (GEMINI program) and in the GEMINI long-term safety (LTS) study<sup>[27,28]</sup>, the effectiveness of vedolizumab in the real-world studies, and the drug's safety profile.

#### EFFICACY OF VEDOLIZUMAB FROM RCTS

#### Vedolizumab in UC

The efficacy of vedolizumab for inducing and maintaining remission in patients with UC was demonstrated in the GEMINI 1 study, a trial involving more than 800 patients with moderate-to-severe UC, defined as a Mayo score<sup>[29]</sup> of 6-12, with an endoscopic subscore  $\geq 2^{[10]}$ . The trial consisted of two induction cohorts; a double-blind cohort including 374 patients randomized to receive vedolizumab 300 mg intravenous (iv) or placebo at weeks 0 and 2, and a second additional cohort of 521 patients receiving open-label vedolizumab aimed to generate the needed number of responders to fulfil sample-size requirements for the maintenance phase. Eligible patients had no response to or unacceptable adverse events from steroids, immunosuppressive drugs, or anti-TNF $\alpha$  therapy.

In the first cohort, a significantly higher rate of patients treated with vedolizumab achieved clinical response, clinical remission, and mucosal healing after 6 wk compared to placebo. The primary outcome of the induction phase, clinical response at week 6, was achieved by 47.1% of patients treated with vedolizumab *vs* 25.5% of patients in the placebo group (P < 0.001) (Table 1).

Patients from both cohorts achieving clinical response to vedolizumab at 6 wk were randomized to receive vedolizumab 300 mg iv every 4 wk or 8 wk, or to receive placebo in the maintenance phase for up to 52 wk. The results of the maintenance phase were as impressive as those in the induction phase. The rates of clinical remission at week 52, the primary outcome of the maintenance phase, were significantly higher in patients treated with vedolizumab than in those treated with placebo (44.8% in the vedolizumab 4-weekly group, 41.8% in the vedolizumab 8-weekly group, and 15.9% in the placebo group; P < 0.001). Durable clinical remission (defined as remission at week 6 and week 52) was also reported by significantly more patients in the vedolizumab groups (24.0% in the vedolizumab 4-weekly group, 20.5% in the vedolizumab 8-weekly group, and 8.7% in the placebo group; P = 0.001 and P = 0.008, respectively, vs placebo). Vedolizumab was also associated with greater mucosal healing rates (P < 0.001for both vedolizumab groups vs placebo) and significantly higher rates of steroid-free remission (P < 0.001 for both vedolizumab groups vs placebo) (Table 1).

A clear difference in efficacy between the 4- and 8-weekly vedolizumab regimens was not observed. Efficacy was reported by both patients with previous exposure to anti-TNF $\alpha$  therapy as well as those who



Figure 1 Vedolizumab targets the  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  integrin, preventing leucocyte translocation from the blood into the inflamed gut tissue. MadCAM-1: Mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule.

were anti-TNF $\alpha$  therapy-naïve; however, slightly better outcomes were seen in patients who were TNF $\alpha$ -inhibitor-naïve.

#### Vedolizumab in CD

The efficacy of vedolizumab in patients with moderately to severely active CD was demonstrated in the GEMINI 2 and GEMINI 3 clinical trials<sup>[11,12]</sup>. In GEMINI-2, 368 patients were randomized to receive either vedolizumab 300 mg iv or placebo at week 0 and week  $2^{[11]}$ . Additionally, as in the GEMINI 1 trial, a second cohort of 747 subjects was treated with vedolizumab in an openlabel fashion. All patients enrolled had active disease defined by a Crohn's Disease Activity Index (CDAI)<sup>[30]</sup> of 220-450, and had one of the following: serum C-reactive protein (CRP) > 2.87 mg/L or colonoscopic documentation showing  $\geq$  3 large ulcers or  $\geq$  10 aphthous ulcers, or faecal calprotectin concentrations > 250  $\mu$ g/g in conjunction with computed tomography or magnetic resonance enterography, small-bowel radiography, or capsule endoscopy revealing Crohn's ulcers. Eligible patients had no response to or unacceptable adverse events from steroids, immunosuppressive drugs, or anti-TNF $\alpha$  drugs.

Two coprimary endpoints in the induction trial, clinical remission and CDA-100 response, were evaluated at week 6. A significantly greater proportion of patients receiving vedolizumab achieved clinical remission at 6 wk with respect to the placebo group (14.5% vs 6.8%; P = 0.02) (Table 1). However, the CDAI-100 response rate was comparable to the placebo (31.4% vs 25.7%; P = 0.23).

During the maintenance phase, 461 patients

who were vedolizumab responders were randomized to receive vedolizumab 300 mg iv administered at either 4- or 8-weekly intervals up to week 52. Clinical remission at week 52, the primary endpoint of this phase, was significantly greater in patients assigned to vedolizumab therapy every 4 wk or 8 wk (36.4% and 39.0%) than in the placebo group (21.6%; P = 0.004and P < 0.001, respectively, *vs* placebo). The rates of steroid-sparing remission were also significantly higher among patients treated with vedolizumab (P = 0.04and P < 0.02, respectively, *vs* placebo), while the rates of durable clinical remission showed no significant differences (Table 1).

Similar results were observed in the GEMINI 3 trial, which evaluated the efficacy of vedolizumab in 315 patients with moderately to severely active CD and inadequate response, loss of response, or intolerance to previous TNF $\alpha$  antagonists<sup>[12]</sup>. Patients were assigned randomly to receive vedolizumab 300 mg iv or placebo at weeks 0, 2, and 6. Clinical remission at week 6 was observed in 15.2% of vedolizumab patients compared to 12.1% in the placebo group (P = 0.4) (Table 1). Therefore, the primary endpoint of the study was not met. However, the rates of clinical remission at week 10 were significantly higher in patients treated with vedolizumab (26.6% vs 12.1% in the placebo group; p = 0.001). The benefit in this population was therefore observed at week 10, suggesting a delayed response in obtaining clinical remission. In clinical practice, there is an opportunity for a fourth induction dose at week 10 in patients with CD, with insufficient response to the first three administrations of vedolizumab.

A meta-analysis pooling data from the phase II

Study	n (patients)	Setting of trial	Treatment arms	Clinical response (%)	Clinical remission (%)	CS-free remission (%)	Mucosal healing (%)
GEMINI 1 <sup>[10]</sup> 2013	374	Induction	300 mg	47.1	16.9	-	40.9
			Placebo	25.5	5.4		24.8
		Maintenance	300 mg 4 weekly	-	44.8	45.2	56.0
			300 mg 8 weekly		41.8	31.4	51.6
			Placebo		15.9	13.9	19.8
GEMINI 2 <sup>[11]</sup> 2013	368	Induction	300 mg	31.4	14.5	-	-
			Placebo	25.7	6.8		
		Maintenance	300 mg 4 weekly	45.5	36.4	28.8	-
			300 mg 8 weekly	43.5	39.0	31.7	
			Placebo	30.1	21.6	15.9	
GEMINI 3 <sup>[12]</sup> 2015	315	Induction	300 mg	-	15.2	-	-
			Placebo		12.1		

Table 1 Phase III randomized controlled trials of vedolizumab in patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease

Clinical response was defined as a reduction in the Mayo score of at least 3 points plus a decrease of at least 30% from the baseline score, with a decrease in the rectal bleeding subscore  $\leq 1$  (GEMINI 1), or as a  $\geq 100$ -point decrease in the CDAI score (GEMINI 2). Clinical remission defined as a Mayo score of  $\leq 2$  and no subscore > 1 (GEMINI 1) or as a CDAI score  $\leq 150$  points (GEMINI 2, GEMINI 3). CS: Corticosteroid.

and phase III randomized controlled studies involving patients with active CD showed that vedolizumab increased the rates of clinical remission and CDAI-100 response during the induction phase, although it failed to meet some of the primary endpoints of the GEMINI 2 and GEMINI 3 trials<sup>[31]</sup>.

#### LONG-TERM EFFICACY OF VEDOLIZUMAB IN IBD FROM CLINICAL TRIALS

An interim analysis of the efficacy data from the GEMINI LTS study was recently published<sup>[27,28]</sup>. The GEMINI LTS study is an ongoing, open-label, extension trial in patients with UC and CD designed to investigate the long-term safety of vedolizumab in patients with IBD. In addition, an exploratory evaluation of long-term clinical efficacy was also performed. Patients were enrolled from the long-term, phase II, C13004 study and from the GEMINI 1, GEMINI 2, and GEMINI 3 trials. A remaining part of the population consisted of patients with IBD who were vedolizumab-naïve who were included directly into the GEMINI LTS trial. A total of 894 patients with UC and 1349 with CD were enrolled in the GEMINI LTS. All patients received vedolizumab 300 mg iv every 4 wk.

Populations evaluated during the efficacy analysis of the GEMINI LTS included only patients with moderateto-severe UC (532/894) or CD (1297/1349); patients from the C13004 study were excluded because some patients with mild IBD were enrolled in this study.

Outcomes of clinical response and remission, evaluated using a partial Mayo score in UC and the Harvey-Bradshaw Index<sup>[32]</sup> in CD, were assessed after up to 152 wk of therapy. The results showed that among patients with UC having a response to vedolizumab at week 6 in the GEMINI 1 study, 88% (n = 120/136) and 96% (n = 70/73) were in clinical

remission after 104 and 152 wk, respectively. Similarly, the rates of remission reported by the patients with CD who responded to the induction phase of the GEMINI 2 study were 83% (n = 100/120) and 89% (n = 62/70) at the same time points.

An increase in dosing frequency in patients who had withdrawn early from the GEMINI 1 and GEMINI 2 studies, treated every 8 wk to every 4 wk in the GEMINI LTS trial, resulted in remission rates of 28% and 32%, respectively, after 52 wk. Similar improvements were observed regardless of previous anti-TNF $\alpha$  therapy.

A retrospective evaluation of mucosal healing after treatment with vedolizumab in patients with IBD enrolled in the GEMINI LTS study at Leuven University Hospital was recently reported<sup>[33]</sup>. A total of 58 patients (34 UC, 24 CD), previously exposed to anti-TNF $\alpha$ therapy, were endoscopically followed for a median duration of 3.2 years. Mucosal healing, corrected with non-responder imputation, was reported by 50% of patients with UC and 29% with CD. Additionally, 32.4% of patients with UC and 20.8% with CD achieved histological healing. A significant correlation between mucosal and histological healing was observed in both patients with UC and CD.

#### EFFECTIVENESS OF VEDOLIZUMAB IN PATIENTS WITH IBD FROM REAL-WORLD STUDIES

Several prospective and retrospective real-life studies of vedolizumab in patients with moderate-to-severe UC and CD have been published by authors from Europe and the United States<sup>[15-26]</sup>.

#### European real-life studies

To date, the French GETAID group (Groupe d' Etude Therapeutique des Affections Inflammatoires du tube Digestif) has published the largest real-world cohort

Study author (country) years	IBD	CD	uc
Amiot et al <sup>[15,16]</sup> (France), 2016-2017	294	173	121
Eriksson et al <sup>[19]</sup> (Sweden), 2017	246	147	99 <sup>1</sup>
Baumgart et al <sup>[17]</sup> (Germany), 2016	212	97	115
Dulai et al <sup>[23]</sup> (United States, multicentre), 2016	212	212	-
Kopylov et al <sup>[20]</sup> (Israel), 2017	204	130	74 <sup>1</sup>
Shelton et al <sup>[24]</sup> (United States, Boston), 2015	172	107	65 <sup>1</sup>
Macaluso et al <sup>[22]</sup> (Italy, Sicily), 2018	163	84	79
Allegretti et al <sup>[26]</sup> (United States, Boston), 2017	136	96	40
Stallmach et al <sup>[18]</sup> (German Registry), 2016	127	67	60
Vivio et al <sup>[25]</sup> (United States, Saint Louis), 2016	$102(51)^2$	30	21
Samaan et al <sup>[21]</sup> (United Kingdom), 2017	50	27	23 <sup>1</sup>
Total	1.918	1.170	697

<sup>1</sup>UC + IBD unclassified; <sup>2</sup>102 patients started vedolizumab, and 51 patients were followed prospectively. IBD: Inflammatory bowel disease; CD: Crohn's disease; UC: Ulcerative colitis.



Figure 2 Real-world studies with vedolizumab in patients with ulcerative colitis (A) and Crohn's disease (B): Results at week 14.

comprising 294 patients with moderately to severely active IBD who were followed prospectively until week 54<sup>[15,16]</sup> (Table 2). Almost all patients had previously failed at least one anti-TNF $\alpha$  agent, with 91% having failed two. Patients received vedolizumab 300 mg iv

at weeks 0, 2, and 6 then every 8 wk afterward up to week 52. At week 6, 32% of patients with UC and 31% with CD were in clinical remission. The primary outcome of the induction study, steroid-free clinical remission at week 14, was reported by 36% and 31%

of patients with UC and CD, respectively<sup>[15]</sup> (Figure 2A and B). At week 54, steroid-free clinical remission rates were 40.5% in patients with UC and 27.2% in patients with CD<sup>[16]</sup>. Mucosal healing, assessed between weeks 30 and 54, occurred in 54.8% of patients with UC and 29.8% with CD. However, it was evaluated in only a small proportion of the population, and it is possible that patients with active disease were reassessed less frequently. A significant number of patients experienced inadequate response or loss of response during the year of treatment, and vedolizumab therapy was optimized (300 mg every 4 wk) in 54% of patients. Dose optimization induced or restored clinical response in 41% of patients, of whom 30% achieved clinical remission.

Predictors of clinical effectiveness were assessed by the authors, who found that a clinical response at week 6, baseline CRP > 20 mg/L, and a higher baseline disease activity were predictive of steroid-free remission at week 14 in both groups<sup>[15]</sup>. In addition, patients with UC and CD who achieved a clinical response at week 6 were more likely to achieve steroid-free clinical remission at week 54 (P < 0.001)<sup>[16]</sup>.

A German National cohort study prospectively included 212 patients with IBD, most of whom were anti-TNF $\alpha$  experienced<sup>[17]</sup> (Table 2). The results showed that clinical remission at week 6 was reached by 11.3% and 15.5%, and at week 14 by 23.5% and 23.7%, of patients with UC and CD, respectively (Figure 2A and B). This group identified a low HBI at baseline and hospitalization in the past 12 mo as independent predictors of clinical remission at week 14 in patients with CD.

These data were followed by a longer-term study that included some patients from the previous German induction cohort as well as additional patients with IBD<sup>[18]</sup> (Table 2). Based on nonresponding imputation analysis, clinical remission was observed in 22% and 19% of patients with UC and CD, respectively, at week 14 (Figure 2A and B). Clinical remission at week 54 was reported by 15/60 (25%) patients with UC and 14/67 (21%) patients with CD. Nonresponse status at week 14 was an indicator of a low likelihood of clinical response and remission at week 54 in patients with both diseases. In addition, the reduction of CRP at week 14 in patients with UC and CD, and of faecal calprotectin in patients with UC, was predictive of clinical remission at week 54.

More recently, a large prospective cohort based on the Swedish National Quality Registry for IBD (SWIBREG), evaluating the data at week 12, 52 and the last follow-up, reported that clinical remission was obtained with vedolizumab after 52 wk in 64% and 60% of patients with UC and CD, respectively, 86% of whom had previously used TNF $\alpha$  inhibitors<sup>[19]</sup> (Table 2). Elevated CRP at baseline and prior use of anti-TNF $\alpha$ were associated with a higher risk of vedolizumab discontinuation.

The large, Israeli, real-world study in patients with IBD who had high rates of previous anti-TNF $\alpha$  therapy, showed similar efficacy of vedolizumab in patients with UC and CD<sup>[20]</sup> (Table 2; Figure 2A and B). A retrospective cohort of 50 patients with IBD from the UK demonstrated similar rates of effectiveness compared to the other real-world studies<sup>[21]</sup> (Table 2; Figure 2A and B).

Very recently, real-world data on the effectiveness of vedolizumab on gut and articular symptoms in 163 patients with IBD were reported by an Italian group<sup>[22]</sup> (Table 2). Steroid-free remission was observed in 71 (43.6%; UC: 45.6%, CD: 41.7%) and 29 (40.8%; UC: 40.0 %, CD: 41.7%) patients at weeks 10 and 22, respectively. At the same time points, a response on articular symptoms was achieved in 39.5% and 45.4% of patients with IBD who had active spondyloarthritis at baseline. The only factor associated with response on articular manifestations was the coexistence of a concomitant intestinal benefit at both weeks 10 and 22. These data suggest that the improvement of articular symptoms could be mainly related to the intestinal response.

#### United States real-world studies

A large real-world cohort in the United States was published by the US VICTORY (Vedolizumab for Health Outcomes in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases) consortium and included 212 patients with CD, 90% of whom were TNF $\alpha$ -antagonist exposed<sup>[23]</sup> (Table 2). This retrospective study of seven medical centres from across the United States reported rates of clinical remission of 18%, 35%, and 54% at 6, 12 and 18 mo, respectively. Prior TNF $\alpha$ inhibitor use, severe disease activity, active perianal disease, and smoking history were associated with a lower likelihood of achieving clinical remission. Cumulative rates of mucosal healing and "deep remission" (defined as a combination of clinical remission and mucosal healing) after 12 mo were observed in 63% and 26% of patients with CD, respectively. Patients with previous anti-TNF $\alpha$ treatment and severe disease activity were less likely to obtain mucosal healing.

In another study from the United States, two centres in Boston enrolled 172 patients with IBD, almost all with previous use of TNF $\alpha$  antagonist<sup>[24]</sup> (Table 2). Similar rates of clinical response, clinical remission, and steroid-free remission at week 14 were reported by patients with UC and CD (Figure 2A and B). Early response at week 6 was a significant predictive factor of week 14 response/remission in patients with UC, with a trend toward significance in those with CD. Elevated CRP (> 8 mg/L) at baseline was associated with a lower likelihood of achieving clinical response/remission in patients with both diseases.

Vivio *et al*<sup>[25]</sup> reported data on 102 patients with IBD, of whom 51 were followed prospectively (Table 2). At week 14, 55% of the patients with UC in the

prospective cohort achieved clinical remission. Rates of mucosal healing and endoscopic improvement after a median treatment duration of 22 wk were higher in patients with UC (69% and 76%) than in patients with CD (30% and 52%).

# Combination of vedolizumab and anti-tnf $\alpha$ agents in the treatment of IBD

The combination of vedolizumab and anti-TNF $\alpha$  drugs (infliximab or adalimumab) in the treatment of IBD was very recently reported by a case series of 6 patients with UC and 4 patients with CD<sup>[34]</sup>. Before combination therapy, all patients were treated with anti-TNF $\alpha$ , however they still had an active disease even after the optimization of the dosage and/or the infusion interval. At the time of inclusion 4 patients received concomitant immunomodulators and 1 patient received systemic corticosteroid. The patients were prospectively followed for at least 12 mo (median 17 mo) and at the end of the follow-up period all patients achieved clinical remission, and 8 out of 10 could stop the anti-TNF $\alpha$  treatment.

In 2 case reports previously published vedolizumab was successfully used in association with an anti-TNF $\alpha$  drug for the treatment of a patient with chronic refractory pouchitis and axial spondylarthritis and a patient with CD and erythema nodosum<sup>[35,36]</sup>.

These data suggest that combination treatment of vedolizumab and anti-TNF $\alpha$  therapy might represent a therapeutic option in selected patients with IBD, however further larger studies are needed.

#### PREDICTORS OF RESPONSE TO VEDOLIZUMAB

Several factors have been evaluated as predictors of response and remission to vedolizumab and a recent review summarized the current data<sup>[37]</sup>. Overall, patients with less disease activity (by clinical and inflammatory indices), naïve to TNF $\alpha$  inhibitors, and having higher vedolizumab trough levels at induction<sup>[38-40]</sup> had a greater likelihood of responding to treatment in both disease groups.

Concomitant immunomodulatory treatment was not associated with improved results in the GEMINI 1 and 2 studies<sup>[10,11]</sup>. However, the interpretation of these data is limited by the small sample size of patients receiving concomitant immunomodulators and their interruption during the maintenance period in both trials. In addition, the studies were not designed to address outcomes in patients on combination immunosuppressive therapy. No consistent benefit of adding an immunomodulatory agent to vedolizumab was observed in some realworld studies and in a small group of patients with IBD<sup>[15,20,23,24,41]</sup>. These data are in line with the finding that combination therapy did not lead to higher early vedolizumab trough levels<sup>[38]</sup>. A potential explanation is the low immunogenic profile of vedolizumab, which differs from that of anti-TNF $\alpha$  agents<sup>[42,43]</sup>. Currently, only a multicentre study and a recent case series showed that the addition of an immunomodulatory agent to vedolizumab was associated with an increased clinical response and remission in patients with CD and UC<sup>[26,44]</sup>. Further studies are needed to better define this aspect.

#### SAFETY OF VEDOLIZUMAB FROM RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIALS AND REAL-WORLD STUDIES

Safety data on vedolizumab have been evaluated from four double-blind and two open-label trials in an analysis that included over 2800 vedolizumab-exposed patients with IBD who were treated for up to 5 years<sup>[45]</sup>. A very good safety profile and minimal immunogenicity were reported.

The risk of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) is a potential safety concern for drugs that block lymphocyte migration. More than 500 cases have occurred in natalizumab-treated patients<sup>[46]</sup>. However, no cases of PML have been observed during treatment with vedolizumab according to the concept that the gut selectivity of vedolizumab is protective against the development of PML<sup>[47]</sup>.

Vedolizumab is not associated with an increased risk of serious or opportunistic infections, and few patients (< 1%) discontinued therapy because of infection. The most common events were upper respiratory tract infections, which accounted for approximately half of the total infections. Lower respiratory tract, lung infections, and abdominal and enteric infections were reported with similar rates as those in the placebo group. Serious infections including sepsis, Clostridium difficile infections, and tuberculosis occurred very rarely ( $\leq$  0.6% of patients). Independent risk factors for serious infections were younger age (HR = 0.97) and concomitant steroid use (HR = 1.88) in patients with CD, and prior anti-TNF $\alpha$  failure (HR = 1.99) in patients with UC. Concomitant narcotic analgesic use was a risk factor for patients with both CD and UC (HR = 2.72 and HR = 2.68, respectively).

The rate of malignancy was consistent with that generally reported in patients with IBD.

A total of 23 hepatobiliary events were observed among vedolizumab-treated patients, most of which were hepatic steatosis and transaminase increases. Five hepatic events were considered serious and vedolizumab was interrupted. Appropriate treatment resulted in resolution or near resolution of the liver abnormalities.

Infusion-related reactions occurred in  $\leq$  5% of

Baishideng®

patients, and < 1% of patients discontinued the infusion or received an incomplete dose. Transient anti-drug antibodies were reported by 4% of subjects enrolled in the GEMINI 1 and GEMINI 2 trials, suggesting that loss of response related to the development of anti-drug antibodies may be a rare event.

Additionally, a post-hoc analyses of the GEMINI 1 and GEMINI 2 studies did not report any significant differences in infections or other adverse events amongst the age groups, confirming a good safety profile in older (> 55 years) patients<sup>[48]</sup>.

No higher rate of adverse events than the one expected with anti-TNF $\alpha$  therapy alone was observed in the small series of patients treated with a combination of vedolizumab and anti-TNF $\alpha$  agents.

The good safety profile of vedolizumab may be related to its mechanism of action, which is characterized by a gut-selectivity, without systemic action.

Cumulative evidence from real-world studies has not pointed out any relevant differences in infectious and noninfectious adverse events compared to those seen in the RCTs<sup>[49]</sup>. Therefore, postmarketing data have confirmed the favourable safety profile of vedolizumab observed in the GEMINI program.

#### CONCLUSION

Vedolizumab represents an interesting new therapeutic option for the treatment of patients with UC and CD that are refractory to either conventional treatments or TNF $\alpha$  inhibitors<sup>[50]</sup>. The efficacy and safety of vedolizumab in patients with IBD were demonstrated in the pivotal GEMINI studies. However, the stringent and restrictive inclusion and exclusion criteria in the study designs may limit the translation of clinical trial results into patients commonly seen in the clinic. In fact, patients enrolled in RCTs only partially represent the IBD population encountered during routine clinical practice<sup>[13]</sup>.

Real-world studies confirm the effectiveness of vedolizumab in the clinical practice setting and have also evaluated long-term data. Even though the interpretation of the data is limited by significant heterogeneity in the study designs, real-world experience series provide additional relevant evidence<sup>[51]</sup>. A systematic review and pooled analysis on the effectiveness and safety of real-world studies has recently been published<sup>[52]</sup>.

Mucosal healing is a relevant therapeutic target in patients with IBD because it is associated with a reduction in hospitalization, IBD-related surgery, bowel damage, and risk of colonic dysplasia. There is increasing evidence that achieving mucosal healing can favourably alter the natural course of IBD<sup>[53,54]</sup>. Therefore, the rates of long-term mucosal healing with vedolizumab reported by Noman, in keeping with the one-year mucosal healing data observed in the GEMINI 1 trial and in the real-world US VICTORY consortium study, appear very promising.

Safety data from all the GEMINI studies showed an

overall rate of adverse events similar to that reported in the placebo group. In addition, an increasing amount of real-world data has confirmed the reassuring safety profile of vedolizumab over an extended treatment period.

In conclusion, vedolizumab has demonstrated efficacy and safety in patients who failed TNF- $\alpha$  antagonists, and should therefore be considered a valid second-line induction and maintenance therapy for these patients. In addition, along with other biologic drugs, vedolizumab should be considered as a first-line treatment for steroiddependent and steroid-refractory patients and for patients not responding or intolerant to immunosuppressant agents, thanks to its favourable safety profile. Although head-to-head prospective trials to compare the safety of biologic drugs are not available, in patients in whom it is preferable to avoid systemic immunosuppression (patients with high risk of opportunistic infections or the elderly<sup>[55,56]</sup>), vedolizumab may be a safer alternative.

#### REFERENCES

- Orlando A, Armuzzi A, Papi C, Annese V, Ardizzone S, Biancone L, Bortoli A, Castiglione F, D'Incà R, Gionchetti P, Kohn A, Poggioli G, Rizzello F, Vecchi M, Cottone M; Italian Society of Gastroenterology; Italian Group for the study of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. The Italian Society of Gastroenterology (SIGE) and the Italian Group for the study of Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IG-IBD) Clinical Practice Guidelines: The use of tumor necrosis factor-alpha antagonist therapy in inflammatory bowel disease. *Dig Liver Dis* 2011; **43**: 1-20 [PMID: 20843756 DOI: 10.1016/ j.dld.2010.07.010]
- 2 Ford AC, Sandborn WJ, Khan KJ, Hanauer SB, Talley NJ, Moayyedi P. Efficacy of biological therapies in inflammatory bowel disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011; **106**: 644-659, quiz 660 [PMID: 21407183 DOI: 10.1038/ ajg.2011.73]
- 3 Feagan BG, Lémann M, Befrits R, Connell W, D'Haens G, Ghosh S, Michetti P, Ochsenkühn T, Panaccione R, Schreiber S, Silverberg M, Sorrentino D, van der Woude CJ, Vermeire S, Rutgeerts P. Recommendations for the treatment of Crohn's disease with tumor necrosis factor antagonists: an expert consensus report. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2012; 18: 152-160 [PMID: 22038857 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21870]
- 4 Allez M, Karmiris K, Louis E, Van Assche G, Ben-Horin S, Klein A, Van der Woude J, Baert F, Eliakim R, Katsanos K, Brynskov J, Steinwurz F, Danese S, Vermeire S, Teillaud JL, Lémann M, Chowers Y. Report of the ECCO pathogenesis workshop on anti-TNF therapy failures in inflammatory bowel diseases: definitions, frequency and pharmacological aspects. *J Crohns Colitis* 2010; 4: 355-366 [PMID: 21122530 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2010.04.004]
- 5 Danese S, Fiorino G, Reinisch W. Review article: Causative factors and the clinical management of patients with Crohn' s disease who lose response to anti-TNF-α therapy. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2011; 34: 1-10 [PMID: 21539588 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1365-2036.2011.04679.x]
- 6 Ben-Horin S, Chowers Y. Review article: loss of response to anti-TNF treatments in Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2011; **33**: 987-995 [PMID: 21366636 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1365-2036.2011.04612.x]
- 7 Gisbert JP, Marín AC, McNicholl AG, Chaparro M. Systematic review with meta-analysis: the efficacy of a second anti-TNF in patients with inflammatory bowel disease whose previous anti-TNF treatment has failed. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2015; **41**: 613-623 [PMID: 25652884 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13083]

- 8 Fiorino G, Correale C, Fries W, Repici A, Malesci A, Danese S. Leukocyte traffic control: a novel therapeutic strategy for inflammatory bowel disease. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* 2010; 6: 567-572 [PMID: 20594130 DOI: 10.1586/eci.10.40]
- 9 Cominelli F. Inhibition of leukocyte trafficking in inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 775-776 [PMID: 23964940 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMe1307415]
- 10 Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Sands BE, Hanauer S, Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Van Assche G, Axler J, Kim HJ, Danese S, Fox I, Milch C, Sankoh S, Wyant T, Xu J, Parikh A; GEMINI 1 Study Group. Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. *N Engl J Med* 2013; 369: 699-710 [PMID: 23964932 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215734]
- 11 Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Hanauer S, Colombel JF, Sands BE, Lukas M, Fedorak RN, Lee S, Bressler B, Fox I, Rosario M, Sankoh S, Xu J, Stephens K, Milch C, Parikh A; GEMINI 2 Study Group. Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for Crohn's disease. *N Engl J Med* 2013; **369**: 711-721 [PMID: 23964933 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215739]
- 12 Sands BE, Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Sy R, D'Haens G, Ben-Horin S, Xu J, Rosario M, Fox I, Parikh A, Milch C, Hanauer S. Effects of vedolizumab induction therapy for patients with Crohn's disease in whom tumor necrosis factor antagonist treatment failed. *Gastroenterology* 2014; **147**: 618-627. e3 [PMID: 24859203 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.05.008]
- 13 Ha C, Ullman TA, Siegel CA, Kornbluth A. Patients enrolled in randomized controlled trials do not represent the inflammatory bowel disease patient population. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 10: 1002-1007; quiz e78 [PMID: 22343692 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cgh.2012.02.004]
- 14 Peyrin-Biroulet L, Sandborn W, Sands BE, Reinisch W, Bemelman W, Bryant RV, D'Haens G, Dotan I, Dubinsky M, Feagan B, Fiorino G, Gearry R, Krishnareddy S, Lakatos PL, Loftus EV Jr, Marteau P, Munkholm P, Murdoch TB, Ordás I, Panaccione R, Riddell RH, Ruel J, Rubin DT, Samaan M, Siegel CA, Silverberg MS, Stoker J, Schreiber S, Travis S, Van Assche G, Danese S, Panes J, Bouguen G, O'Donnell S, Pariente B, Winer S, Hanauer S, Colombel JF. Selecting Therapeutic Targets in Inflammatory Bowel Disease (STRIDE): Determining Therapeutic Goals for Treat-to-Target. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2015; 110: 1324-1338 [PMID: 26303131 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2015.233]
- 15 Amiot A, Grimaud JC, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Filippi J, Pariente B, Roblin X, Buisson A, Stefanescu C, Trang-Poisson C, Altwegg R, Marteau P, Vaysse T, Bourrier A, Nancey S, Laharie D, Allez M, Savoye G, Moreau J, Gagniere C, Vuitton L, Viennot S, Aubourg A, Pelletier AL, Bouguen G, Abitbol V, Bouhnik Y; Observatory on Efficacy and of Vedolizumab in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease Study Group; Groupe d'Etude Therapeutique des Affections Inflammatoires du tube Digestif. Effectiveness and Safety of Vedolizumab Induction Therapy for Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2016; 14: 1593-1601.e2 [PMID: 26917043 DOI: 10.1016/ j.cgh.2016.02.016]
- 16 Amiot A, Serrero M, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Filippi J, Pariente B, Roblin X, Buisson A, Stefanescu C, Trang-Poisson C, Altwegg R, Marteau P, Vaysse T, Bourrier A, Nancey S, Laharie D, Allez M, Savoye G, Moreau J, Vuitton L, Viennot S, Aubourg A, Pelletier AL, Bouguen G, Abitbol V, Gagniere C, Bouhnik Y; OBSERV-IBD study group and the GETAID. One-year effectiveness and safety of vedolizumab therapy for inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective multicentre cohort study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2017; 46: 310-321 [PMID: 28593685 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14167]
- 17 Baumgart DC, Bokemeyer B, Drabik A, Stallmach A, Schreiber S; Vedolizumab Germany Consortium. Vedolizumab induction therapy for inflammatory bowel disease in clinical practice--a nationwide consecutive German cohort study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2016; 43: 1090-1102 [PMID: 27038247 DOI: 10.1111/ apt.13594]
- 18 Stallmach A, Langbein C, Atreya R, Bruns T, Dignass A, Ende K,

Hampe J, Hartmann F, Neurath MF, Maul J, Preiss JC, Schmelz R, Siegmund B, Schulze H, Teich N, von Arnim U, Baumgart DC, Schmidt C. Vedolizumab provides clinical benefit over 1 year in patients with active inflammatory bowel disease - a prospective multicenter observational study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2016; **44**: 1199-1212 [PMID: 27714831 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13813]

- 19 Eriksson C, Marsal J, Bergemalm D, Vigren L, Björk J, Eberhardson M, Karling P, Söderman C; SWIBREG Vedolizumab Study Group, Myrelid P, Cao Y, Sjöberg D, Thörn M, Karlén P, Hertervig E, Strid H, Ludvigsson JF, Almer S, Halfvarson J. Long-term effectiveness of vedolizumab in inflammatory bowel disease: a national study based on the Swedish National Quality Registry for Inflammatory Bowel Disease (SWIBREG). *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2017; **52**: 722-729 [PMID: 28362144 DOI: 10.1080/ 00365521.2017.1304987]
- 20 Kopylov U, Ron Y, Avni-Biron I, Koslowsky B, Waterman M, Daher S, Ungar B, Yanai H, Maharshak N, Ben-Bassat O, Lichtenstein L, Bar-Gil Shitrit A, Israeli E, Schwartz D, Zittan E, Eliakim R, Chowers Y, Ben-Horin S, Dotan I. Efficacy and Safety of Vedolizumab for Induction of Remission in Inflammatory Bowel Disease-the Israeli Real-World Experience. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2017; 23: 404-408 [PMID: 28178003 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.00000000001039]
- 21 Samaan MA, Pavlidis P, Johnston E, Warner B, Digby-Bell J, Koumoutsos I, Fong S, Goldberg R, Patel K, Gulati S, Medcalf L, Sastrillo M, Brown-Clarke C, Bidewell-Sullivan J, Forsyth K, Lee E, Stanton A, Duncan J, Chung-Faye G, Dubois P, Powell N, Anderson S, Sanderson J, Hayee B, Irving PM. Vedolizumab: early experience and medium-term outcomes from two UK tertiary IBD centres. *Frontline Gastroenterol* 2017; 8: 196-202 [PMID: 28839909 DOI: 10.1136/figastro-2016-100720]
- 22 Macaluso FS, Orlando R, Fries W, Scolaro M, Magnano A, Pluchino D, Cappello M, Morreale GC, Siringo S, Privitera AC, Ferracane C, Belluardo N, Alberghina N, Ventimiglia M, Rizzuto G, Renna S, Cottone M, Orlando A. The real-world effectiveness of vedolizumab on intestinal and articular outcomes in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Dig Liver Dis* 2018; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 29576495 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2018.02.013]
- 23 Dulai PS, Singh S, Jiang X, Peerani F, Narula N, Chaudrey K, Whitehead D, Hudesman D, Lukin D, Swaminath A, Shmidt E, Wang S, Boland BS, Chang JT, Kane S, Siegel CA, Loftus EV, Sandborn WJ, Sands BE, Colombel JF. The Real-World Effectiveness and Safety of Vedolizumab for Moderate-Severe Crohn's Disease: Results From the US VICTORY Consortium. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2016; **111**: 1147-1155 [PMID: 27296941 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2016.236]
- Shelton E, Allegretti JR, Stevens B, Lucci M, Khalili H, Nguyen DD, Sauk J, Giallourakis C, Garber J, Hamilton MJ, Tomczak M, Makrauer F, Burakoff RB, Levine J, de Silva P, Friedman S, Ananthakrishnan A, Korzenik JR, Yajnik V. Efficacy of Vedolizumab as Induction Therapy in Refractory IBD Patients: A Multicenter Cohort. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2015; 21: 2879-2885 [PMID: 26288002 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.000000000000561]
- 25 Vivio EE, Kanuri N, Gilbertsen JJ, Monroe K, Dey N, Chen CH, Gutierrez AM, Ciorba MA. Vedolizumab Effectiveness and Safety Over the First Year of Use in an IBD Clinical Practice. J Crohns Colitis 2016; 10: 402-409 [PMID: 26681763 DOI: 10.1093/eccojcc/jjv226]
- 26 Allegretti JR, Barnes EL, Stevens B, Storm M, Ananthakrishnan A, Yajnik V, Korzenik J. Predictors of Clinical Response and Remission at 1 Year Among a Multicenter Cohort of Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease Treated with Vedolizumab. *Dig Dis Sci* 2017; **62**: 1590-1596 [PMID: 28357697 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-017-4549-3]
- 27 Loftus EV Jr, Colombel JF, Feagan BG, Vermeire S, Sandborn WJ, Sands BE, Danese S, D'Haens GR, Kaser A, Panaccione R, Rubin DT, Shafran I, McAuliffe M, Kaviya A, Sankoh S, Mody R, Abhyankar B, Smyth M. Long-term Efficacy of Vedolizumab for Ulcerative Colitis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2017; **11**: 400-411 [PMID:

27683800 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw177]

- 28 Vermeire S, Loftus EV Jr, Colombel JF, Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, Sands BE, Danese S, D'Haens GR, Kaser A, Panaccione R, Rubin DT, Shafran I, McAuliffe M, Kaviya A, Sankoh S, Mody R, Abhyankar B, Smyth M. Long-term Efficacy of Vedolizumab for Crohn's Disease. *J Crohns Colitis* 2017; **11**: 412-424 [PMID: 27683798 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw176]
- 29 Schroeder KW, Tremaine WJ, Ilstrup DM. Coated oral 5-aminosalicylic acid therapy for mildly to moderately active ulcerative colitis. A randomized study. N Engl J Med 1987; 317: 1625-1629 [PMID: 3317057]
- 30 Best WR, Becktel JM, Singleton JW, Kern F Jr. Development of a Crohn's disease activity index. National Cooperative Crohn' s Disease Study. *Gastroenterology* 1976; 70: 439-444 [PMID: 1248701]
- 31 Wang MC, Zhang LY, Han W, Shao Y, Chen M, Ni R, Wang GN, Wei FX, Zhang YW, Xu XD, Zhang YC. PRISMA--efficacy and safety of vedolizumab for inflammatory bowel diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Medicine* (Baltimore) 2014; **93**: e326 [PMID: 25526490 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000000326]
- 32 Harvey RF, Bradshaw JM. A simple index of Crohn's-disease activity. *Lancet* 1980; 1: 514 [PMID: 6102236]
- 33 Noman M, Ferrante M, Bisschops R, De Hertogh G, Van den Broeck K, Rans K, Rutgeerts P, Vermeire S, Van Assche G. Vedolizumab Induces Long-term Mucosal Healing in Patients With Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2017; 11: 1085-1089 [PMID: 28369329 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx048]
- 34 Buer LCT, Høivik ML, Warren DJ, Medhus AW, Moum BA. Combining Anti-TNF-α and Vedolizumab in the Treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Case Series. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2018; 24: 997-1004 [PMID: 29668901 DOI: 10.1093/ibd/izx110]
- 35 Hirten R, Longman RS, Bosworth BP, Steinlauf A, Scherl E. Vedolizumab and Infliximab Combination Therapy in the Treatment of Crohn's Disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2015; 110: 1737-1738 [PMID: 26673509 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2015.355]
- 36 Bethge J, Meffert S, Ellrichmann M, Conrad C, Nikolaus S, Schreiber S. Combination therapy with vedolizumab and etanercept in a patient with pouchitis and spondylarthritis. *BMJ Open Gastroenterol* 2017; 4: e000127 [PMID: 28243458 DOI: 10.1136/bmjgast-2016-000127]
- 37 Barré A, Colombel JF, Ungaro R. Review article: predictors of response to vedolizumab and ustekinumab in inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2018; 47: 896-905 [PMID: 29430672 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14550]
- 38 Yacoub W, Williet N, Pouillon L, Di-Bernado T, De Carvalho Bittencourt M, Nancey S, Lopez A, Paul S, Zallot C, Roblin X, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Early vedolizumab trough levels predict mucosal healing in inflammatory bowel disease: a multicentre prospective observational study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2018; 47: 906-912 [PMID: 29384209 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14548]
- 39 Williet N, Boschetti G, Fovet M, Di Bernado T, Claudez P, Del Tedesco E, Jarlot C, Rinaldi L, Berger A, Phelip JM, Flourie B, Nancey S, Paul S, Roblin X. Association Between Low Trough Levels of Vedolizumab During Induction Therapy for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases and Need for Additional Doses Within 6 Months. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2017; **15**: 1750-1757.e3 [PMID: 27890854 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.11.023]
- 40 Rosario M, French JL, Dirks NL, Sankoh S, Parikh A, Yang H, Danese S, Colombel JF, Smyth M, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Reinisch W, Sands BE, Sans M, Fox I. Exposure-efficacy Relationships for Vedolizumab Induction Therapy in Patients with Ulcerative Colitis or Crohn's Disease. *J Crohns Colitis* 2017; 11: 921-929 [PMID: 28333288 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx021]
- 41 Gouynou C, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Letter: addition of methotrexate neither restores clinical response nor improves the pharmacokinetic profile of vedolizumab-treated patients. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2017; 46: 1019-1020 [PMID: 29052861 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14320]
- 42 Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Reinisch W, Mantzaris GJ, Kornbluth

A, Rachmilewitz D, Lichtiger S, D'Haens G, Diamond RH, Broussard DL, Tang KL, van der Woude CJ, Rutgeerts P; SONIC Study Group. Infliximab, azathioprine, or combination therapy for Crohn's disease. *N Engl J Med* 2010; **362**: 1383-1395 [PMID: 20393175 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0904492]

- 43 Sokol H, Seksik P, Carrat F, Nion-Larmurier I, Vienne A, Beaugerie L, Cosnes J. Usefulness of co-treatment with immunomodulators in patients with inflammatory bowel disease treated with scheduled infliximab maintenance therapy. *Gut* 2010; 59: 1363-1368 [PMID: 20587545 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2010.212712]
- Macaluso FS, Orlando R, Renna S, Sapienza C, Ventimiglia M, Rizzuto G, Cottone M, Orlando A. Letter: the addition of an immunosuppressant in patients with unsatisfactory response to vedolizumab. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2018; 47: 1040-1041 [PMID: 29512915 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14541]
- 45 Colombel JF, Sands BE, Rutgeerts P, Sandborn W, Danese S, D' Haens G, Panaccione R, Loftus EV Jr, Sankoh S, Fox I, Parikh A, Milch C, Abhyankar B, Feagan BG. The safety of vedolizumab for ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2017; 66: 839-851 [PMID: 26893500 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-311079]
- 46 Plavina T, Subramanyam M, Bloomgren G, Richman S, Pace A, Lee S, Schlain B, Campagnolo D, Belachew S, Ticho B. Anti-JC virus antibody levels in serum or plasma further define risk of natalizumab-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. *Ann Neurol* 2014; **76**: 802-812 [PMID: 25273271 DOI: 10.1002/ana.24286]
- 47 Krupka N, Baumgart DC. Designing biologic selectivity for inflammatory bowel disease--role of vedolizumab. *Drug Des Devel Ther* 2014; 9: 147-154 [PMID: 25552903 DOI: 10.2147/DDDT. S50348]
- 48 Yajnik V, Khan N, Dubinsky M, Axler J, James A, Abhyankar B, Lasch K. Efficacy and Safety of Vedolizumab in Ulcerative Colitis and Crohn's Disease Patients Stratified by Age. *Adv Ther* 2017; 34: 542-559 [PMID: 28070861 DOI: 10.1007/s12325-016-0467-6]
- 49 Bye WA, Jairath V, Travis SPL. Systematic review: the safety of vedolizumab for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2017; 46: 3-15 [PMID: 28449273 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14075]
- 50 Armuzzi A, Gionchetti P, Daperno M, Danese S, Orlando A, Lia Scribano M, Vecchi M, Rizzello F; GIVI (Gruppo Italiano su Vedolizumab nelle IBD) Group. Expert consensus paper on the use of Vedolizumab for the management of patients with moderate-to-severe Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Dig Liver Dis* 2016; **48**: 360-370 [PMID: 26821929 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2015.12.016]
- 51 Salleron J, Danese S, D'Agay L, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Effectiveness Research in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Necessity and a Methodological Challenge. *J Crohns Colitis* 2016; 10: 1096-1102 [PMID: 26944416 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw068]
- 52 Engel T, Ungar B, Yung DE, Ben-Horin S, Eliakim R, Kopylov U. Vedolizumab in IBD-Lessons From Real-world Experience; A Systematic Review and Pooled Analysis. *J Crohns Colitis* 2018; 12: 245-257 [PMID: 29077833 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx143]
- 53 Shah SC, Colombel JF, Sands BE, Narula N. Mucosal Healing Is Associated With Improved Long-term Outcomes of Patients With Ulcerative Colitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2016; 14: 1245-1255.e8 [PMID: 26829025 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.01.015]
- 54 Shah SC, Colombel JF, Sands BE, Narula N. Systematic review with meta-analysis: mucosal healing is associated with improved long-term outcomes in Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2016; 43: 317-333 [PMID: 26607562 DOI: 10.1111/apt.13475]
- 55 Desai A, Zator ZA, de Silva P, Nguyen DD, Korzenik J, Yajnik V, Ananthakrishnan AN. Older age is associated with higher rate of discontinuation of anti-TNF therapy in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2013; 19: 309-315 [PMID: 22605668 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.23026]
- 56 Cottone M, Kohn A, Daperno M, Armuzzi A, Guidi L, D'Inca R, Bossa F, Angelucci E, Biancone L, Gionchetti P, Ardizzone S,

Papi C, Fries W, Danese S, Riegler G, Cappello M, Castiglione F, Annese V, Orlando A. Advanced age is an independent risk factor for severe infections and mortality in patients given anti-

tumor necrosis factor therapy for inflammatory bowel disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; **9**: 30-35 [PMID: 20951835 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.09.026]

P- Reviewer: De Silva AP, Naito Y, Trifan A S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: A E- Editor: Huang Y







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2468

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2468-2481 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### **Basic Study**

### Dynamic alterations in the gut microbiota and metabolome during the development of methionine-choline-deficient diet-induced nonalcoholic steatohepatitis

Jian-Zhong Ye, Ya-Ting Li, Wen-Rui Wu, Ding Shi, Dai-Qiong Fang, Li-Ya Yang, Xiao-Yuan Bian, Jing-Jing Wu, Qing Wang, Xian-Wan Jiang, Cong-Gao Peng, Wan-Chun Ye, Peng-Cheng Xia, Lan-Juan Li

Jian-Zhong Ye, Ya-Ting Li, Wen-Rui Wu, Ding Shi, Dai-Qiong Fang, Li-Ya Yang, Xiao-Yuan Bian, Jing-Jing Wu, Qing Wang, Xian-Wan Jiang, Cong-Gao Peng, Lan-Juan Li, State Key Laboratory for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China

Jian-Zhong Ye, Ya-Ting Li, Wen-Rui Wu, Ding Shi, Dai-Qiong Fang, Li-Ya Yang, Xiao-Yuan Bian, Jing-Jing Wu, Qing Wang, Xian-Wan Jiang, Cong-Gao Peng, Lan-Juan Li, Collaborative Innovation Center for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China

Wan-Chun Ye, Department of Chemotherapy 2, Wenzhou Central Hospital, Wenzhou 325000, Zhejiang Province, China

Peng-Cheng Xia, Department of Clinical Laboratory, Tai'an Central Hospital, Tai'an 271000, Shandong Province, China

ORCID number: Jian-Zhong Ye (0000-0001-8174-2580); Ya-Ting Li (0000-0002-0761-4967); Wen-Rui Wu (0000-0002-8457 -9675); Ding Shi (0000-0003-3988-9321); Dai-Qiong Fang (0000-0002-0758-3988); Li-Ya Yang (0000-0002-7832-983X); Xiao-Yuan Bian (0000-0002-7275-3103); Jing-Jing Wu (0000 -0001-9289-0538); Qing Wang (0000-0003-4914-5473); Xian-Wan Jiang (0000-0003-0982-7306); Cong-Gao Peng (0000-0002 -0945-0986); Wan-Chun Ye (0000-0002-2732-5150); Peng-Cheng Xia (0000-0001-8990-4900); Lan-Juan Li (0000-0001-6945-0593).

Author contributions: Ye JZ, Li YT and Wu WR have contributed equally to this work. Ye JZ, Li YT, Wu WR and Li LJ conceived and designed the experiments; Ye JZ, Li YT and Wu WR performed the experiments; Ye JZ, Shi D, Fang DQ, Yang LY and Bian XY analyzed the data; Wu JJ, Wang Q and Jiang XW contributed analysis tools; Ye JZ, Li YT and Wu WR wrote the manuscript; Ye JZ and Peng CG conducted a critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content; Ye WC, Xia PC and Li LJ reviewed the manuscript; all authors have approved the final version of the manuscript.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of

China, No. 81330011, No. 81790631, and No. 81790633; the Science Fund for Creative Research Groups of the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81721091; and the National Basic Research Program of China (973 program), No. 2013CB531401.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: All procedures involving animals were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Zhejiang University School of Medicine (Permit number: 2017-591).

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** There is no conflict of interest in this study.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

**ARRIVE guidelines statement:** The ARRIVE Guidelines have been adopted.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Lan-Juan Li, MD, PhD, Academic Research, Doctor, Professor, State Key Laboratory for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, No.79 Qingchun Road, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, China. ljli@zju.edu.cn Telephone: +86-571-87236759 Fax: +86-571-87236459

Received: February 28, 2018 Peer-review started: March 1, 2018



First decision: March 15, 2018 Revised: March 27, 2018 Accepted: May 11, 2018 Article in press: May 11, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

#### Abstract

#### AIM

To investigate changes in gut microbiota and metabolism during nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) development in mice fed a methionine-choline-deficient (MCD) diet.

#### **METHODS**

Twenty-four male C57BL/6J mice were equally divided into four groups and fed a methionine-choline-sufficient diet for 2 wk (Control 2w group, n = 6) or 4 wk (Control 4w group, n = 6) or the MCD diet for 2 wk (MCD 2w group, n = 6) or 4 wk (MCD 4w group, n = 6). Liver injury, fibrosis, and intestinal barrier function were evaluated after 2 and 4 wk of feeding. The fecal microbiome and metabolome were studied using 16s rRNA deep sequencing and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry.

#### RESULTS

The mice fed the MCD diet presented with simple hepatic steatosis and slight intestinal barrier deterioration after 2 wk. After 4 wk of feeding with the MCD diet, however, the mice developed prominent NASH with liver fibrosis, and the intestinal barrier was more impaired. Compared with the control diet, the MCD diet induced gradual gut microbiota dysbiosis, as evidenced by a marked decrease in the abundance of Alistipes and the (*Eubacterium*) coprostanoligenes group (P < 0.001and P < 0.05, respectively) and a significant increase in Ruminococcaceae UCG 014 abundance (P < 0.05) after 2 wk. At 4 wk, the MCD diet significantly reduced the promising probiotic *Bifidobacterium* levels and markedly promoted *Bacteroides* abundance (P < 0.05, and P < 0.01, respectively). The fecal metabolomic profile was also substantially altered by the MCD diet: At 2 wk, arachidic acid, hexadecane, palmitic acid, and tetracosane were selected as potential biomarkers that were significantly different in the corresponding control group, and at 4 wk, cholic acid, cholesterol, arachidic acid, tetracosane, and stearic acid were selected.

#### CONCLUSION

The MCD diet induced persistent alterations in the gut microbiota and metabolome.

**Key words:** Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis; Methioninecholine deficient diet; Gut microbiota; Metabolome; Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease

© **The Author(s) 2018.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) is increasingly prevalent as a remarkable problem worldwide. Increased evidence indicates the critical role of gut microbiota in NASH progression. We aimed to investigate the dynamic alterations in the gut microbiota and the related metabolites during NASH development in mice fed a methionine-choline-deficient (MCD) diet. We for the first time find that the MCD diet may induce persistent gut microbiota and metabolome deterioration.

Ye JZ, Li YT, Wu WR, Shi D, Fang DQ, Yang LY, Bian XY, Wu JJ, Wang Q, Jiang XW, Peng CG, Ye WC, Xia PC, Li LJ. Dynamic alterations in the gut microbiota and metabolome during the development of methionine-choline-deficient diet-induced nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2468-2481 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v24/i23/2468.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2468

#### INTRODUCTION

The prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), the most common chronic liver disease worldwide, is increasing, encompassing a pathological spectrum from simple steatosis to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH)<sup>[1]</sup>. NASH is a liver characteristic of metabolic syndrome, accounting for lipid accumulation and hepatic inflammation<sup>[2]</sup> and is projected to be the main indication for liver transplantation in the next decade<sup>[3]</sup>. NASH is commonly associated with type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and end-stage kidney disease<sup>[4,5]</sup>, and no approved pharmacological therapies currently exist for NASH<sup>[6]</sup>.

Recently, compelling evidence has indicated the critical role of the gut microbiota in the pathogenesis and progression of NAFLD to NASH<sup>[7]</sup>. Normally, the commensal gut microbiota and the host maintain a beneficial symbiotic relationship. The liver may function as a vascular firewall, mediating mutualism between the host and the intestinal commensal bacteria<sup>[8]</sup>. This intimate connection between the gastrointestinal tract and liver defines the term gut-liver axis. However, gut microbiota dysbiosis increases the influx of harmful substances, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), ethanol, and bacterial DNA, into the liver through portal vein circulation and promotes NASH development<sup>[9,10]</sup>. Currently, early and noninvasive diagnosis of NASH with high sensitivity and specificity remains challenging. Metabolomics, along with other "omics" technologies, helps provide a detailed understanding of biochemical events using the systems biology approach and facilitates early diagnosis and exploitation of treatment strategies<sup>[11]</sup>.

Despite the importance of the gut microbiota and metabolome in NASH, detailed information regarding their role during NASH development is limited. The



purpose of the present study was to investigate dynamic alterations in the gut microbiota and metabolome during the development of methionine-choline-deficient (MCD) diet-induced NASH in a mouse model.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals and treatments

The animal protocol was designed to minimize the animals' pain or discomfort and was approved by the Animal Care Committee of Zhejiang University School of Medicine (Permit number: 2017-591). Male C57BL/6J mice (8 wk old) were purchased from SLAC Laboratory (Shanghai, China). After their arrival, the mice were acclimatized for 1 wk in a specific pathogen-free environment (23°C, 12 h/12 h light/dark, 50% humidity, and ad libitum access to food and water) prior to experimentation. The mice were fed a methionine-choline-sufficient diet (Research Diet, New Brunswick, United States) for 2 wk (the Control 2w group, n = 6) or 4 wk (the Control 4w group, n = 6). Alternatively, the mice were fed an MCD diet (Research Diet) for 2 wk (the MCD 2w group, n = 6) or 4 wk (the MCD 4w group, n = 6). The diet specifications are summarized in Supplementary Table 1. After 2 or 4 wk on the diet, the mice were euthanized by an intraperitoneal injection of 4% chloral hydrate (with 1 mg/100 mL of atropine, to inhibit respiratory secretions) for tissue collection.

#### Sample collection

Fecal samples were collected from all mice upon defecation and were stored at -80  $^\circ C$  for further procedures. Blood samples were centrifuged (3000 rpm, 15 min) for serum separation, and all serum aliquots were stored in a -80  $^\circ C$ freezer. Liver and colon samples were fixed in either neutral-buffered formalin or optimal cutting temperature (OCT)-embedding media for histological staining or were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and kept in a -80  $^\circ C$  freezer for further procedures.

#### Histopathological evaluation of liver tissue

Paraffin-embedded liver sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin (HE) or Masson's trichrome to detect liver injury or fibrosis. The stained sections were scanned using a NanoZoomer Digital Pathology system (Hamamatsu Photonics, KK, Japan), which digitally scanned the sections into a particular image format for further assessment. The HE-stained sections were scored in accordance with the NAFLD activity score (NAS) system (score 0-2: Not NASH, 3-4: Borderline NASH, and 5-8: NASH)<sup>[12]</sup>. Six fields from each section were selected and analyzed at  $200 \times \text{magnification}$ . The Masson's trichrome-stained sections were analyzed to quantify fibrosis using Image-Pro Plus software (version 6.0, Media Cybernetics, Rockville, United States) as previously detailed<sup>[13]</sup>. For each section, the blue area (collagen) was normalized to the red area (hepatocyte). The fibrosis index (%) was calculated as a percent of the total tissue region and represented the average of six randomly selected fields from each section.

#### Oil red O staining and liver triglyceride assay

Frozen liver sections fixed in OCT (10  $\mu m)$  were stained with Oil red O (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States). Images were captured using the abovementioned NanoZoomer Digital Pathology system. To quantify intrahepatic lipid accumulation, the mean optical density of the red intensity was assessed using Image-Pro Plus software.

The liver triglyceride (TG) content was determined using a commercial kit from Applygen Technologies Inc. (Beijing, China) according to the manufacturer's protocols, and the final TG concentrations were normalized to the corresponding protein content.

# Immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence staining

Paraffin-embedded liver sections were stained for F4/80 (anti-active macrophage) (Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom) and  $\alpha$ -SMA (fibrosis hallmark) with immunohistochemistry (IHC) staining procedures as previously detailed<sup>[14]</sup>. Briefly, liver sections were incubated with a specific primary antibody, followed by incubation with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-linked secondary antibody (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) and 3,3'-diaminobenzidine; the sections were then scanned with the NanoZoomer Digital Pathology system. Image-Pro Plus software was used to count F4/80+ cells and quantitatively analyze the staining intensity of  $\alpha$ -SMA as previously described<sup>[13]</sup>. Six fields of view were randomly selected in each section.

Likewise, paraffin-embedded colon sections were stained for Zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) (intestinal barrier hallmark) (Proteintech, Rosemont, IL, United States) with standard immunofluorescence staining procedures as previously detailed<sup>[15]</sup>. Briefly, sections were incubated with the rabbit polyclonal ZO-1 antibody, followed by incubation with Texas Red-conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove, PA, United States) and 4',6-diamino-2-phenyl indole (DAPI), and images were captured using a Zeiss LSM T-PMT confocal microscope (Zeiss, Jena, Germany).

#### Microbial community analysis of fecal samples

Total DNA was extracted from fecal samples with a QIAamp fast DNA stool mini kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, United States) following the manufacturer's handbook. After determining the DNA concentration and integrity, an amplicon sequencing library was constructed based on the PCR-amplified V3-V4 variable regions of 16s rDNA. Then, the qualified libraries were paired-end sequenced on an Illumina MiSeq platform according to manufacturer's procedures. Raw sequencing data were subjected to filtration using Trimmomatic, FLASH, and QIIME software. Then, clean reads were clustered into operational taxonomic units (OTUs) using UPARSE



 Table 1 Effects of the methionine-choline-deficient diet on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease activity score, alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, and hepatic triglycerides levels

Control 2w	MCD 2w	Control 4w	MCD 4w
$0.17 \pm 0.17$	$1.17 \pm 0.17^{a}$	$0.33 \pm 0.21$	$4.83 \pm 0.31^{c,f,j}$
$0.00 \pm 0.00$	$1.17 \pm 0.17^{\rm b}$	$0.33 \pm 0.21$	$2.50 \pm 0.22^{c,e,j}$
$0.00 \pm 0.00$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	$1.17 \pm 0.17^{b,e,i}$
$0.17 \pm 0.17$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	$1.17 \pm 0.31$
$179.41 \pm 21.72$	$592.88 \pm 55.84^{\rm b}$	$204.45 \pm 6.76^{\circ}$	731.60 ± 113.46 <sup>a,h</sup>
$19.33 \pm 0.88$	$413.83 \pm 81.77^{a}$	$34.83 \pm 2.64^{b,d}$	$974.17 \pm 163.00^{a,h}$
$105.50 \pm 10.55$	$327.33 \pm 39.92^{a}$	$109.83 \pm 11.91^{d}$	$749.677 \pm 92.34^{b,d,i}$
	Control 2w $0.17 \pm 0.17$ $0.00 \pm 0.00$ $0.00 \pm 0.00$ $0.17 \pm 0.17$ $179.41 \pm 21.72$ $19.33 \pm 0.88$ $105.50 \pm 10.55$	Control 2wMCD 2w $0.17 \pm 0.17$ $1.17 \pm 0.17^a$ $0.00 \pm 0.00$ $1.17 \pm 0.17^b$ $0.00 \pm 0.00$ $0.00 \pm 0.00$ $0.17 \pm 0.17$ $0.00 \pm 0.00$ $179.41 \pm 21.72$ $592.88 \pm 55.84^b$ $19.33 \pm 0.88$ $413.83 \pm 81.77^a$ $105.50 \pm 10.55$ $327.33 \pm 39.92^a$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline Control 2w & MCD 2w & Control 4w \\ \hline 0.17 \pm 0.17 & 1.17 \pm 0.17^a & 0.33 \pm 0.21 \\ \hline 0.00 \pm 0.00 & 1.17 \pm 0.17^b & 0.33 \pm 0.21 \\ \hline 0.00 \pm 0.00 & 0.00 \pm 0.00 & 0.00 \pm 0.00 \\ \hline 0.17 \pm 0.17 & 0.00 \pm 0.00 & 0.00 \pm 0.00 \\ \hline 179.41 \pm 21.72 & 592.88 \pm 55.84^b & 204.45 \pm 6.76^e \\ \hline 19.33 \pm 0.88 & 413.83 \pm 81.77^a & 34.83 \pm 2.64^{b.d} \\ \hline 105.50 \pm 10.55 & 327.33 \pm 39.92^a & 109.83 \pm 11.91^d \\ \hline \end{tabular}$

 ${}^{a}P < 0.05$ ,  ${}^{b}P < 0.01$  and  ${}^{c}P < 0.001$  vs Control 2w group,  ${}^{d}P < 0.05$ ,  ${}^{e}P < 0.01$  and  ${}^{f}P < 0.001$  vs MCD 2w group,  ${}^{h}P < 0.05$ ,  ${}^{i}P < 0.01$  and  ${}^{i}P < 0.01$  vs Control 4w group. The data are shown as the means ± SEM of 6 mice per group. MCD: Methionine-choline-deficient; NAS: NAFLD activity score; NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; TG: Triglycerides; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase.

software with a 97% threshold. The representative read from each OTU was selected using the QIIME package<sup>[16]</sup>. Representative OTU sequences were annotated and taxonomically classified using Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) Classifier v.2.2, trained on the Silva database version 123<sup>[17]</sup>. The linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size (LEfSe) method (http:// huttenhower.sph.harvard.edu/galaxy/) was applied to differentiate taxa with statistical significance and biological relevance<sup>[18]</sup>.

#### Metabolomic profiling analysis of fecal samples

Metabolomic profiling analysis was performed as previously described<sup>[19]</sup> with slight modification. Briefly, fecal metabolites were extracted by mixing 15 mg of feces with 800 µL of ice-cold methanol. After homogenization and centrifugation, the supernatant was transferred into an Eppendorf tube containing 20 µL of 1 mg/mL heptadecanoic acid as the internal standard. Then, the sample was dried using a nitrogen stream (Aosheng, Hangzhou, China). The residue was reconstituted in 50  $\mu$ L of 15 mg/mL methoxylamine hydrochloride in anhydrous pyridine and was incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. Then, 50  $\mu$ L of N,O-bistrifluoroacetamide (BSTFA) [with 1% trimethylsilyl chloride (TMCS)] (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, United States) was added to the mixture, and the sample was incubated at 70 °C for 120 min. Metabolomic analysis was performed with a gas chromatographymass spectrometry (GC-MS) on an Agilent 7890A GC system coupled to an Agilent 5975C inert mass selective detector (MSD) system (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, United States). For data analysis, ChemStation software (version E.02.02.1431), and ChromaTOF software (version 4.34, LECO, St. Joseph, MI, United States) were used. Metabolites were identified by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) and Fiehn databases. Principal component analysis (PCA) and orthogonal partial least-squares-discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) were performed to visualize metabolic differences among the experimental groups. Differential metabolites were selected according to the statistically significant VIP values obtained from the OPLS-DA model, and the P values from two-tailed Student's t-tests on the

normalized peak areas; metabolites with VIP values > 1 and *P* values < 0.05 were included.

#### Statistical analysis

The data are shown as the means  $\pm$  SEM, and the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was performed to assess data normality. For most data, one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test was used to determine the significance between the groups. The Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to evaluate alpha diversity and principal coordinates between the different cohorts in the 16s sequencing analysis. Analysis of similarities (ANOSIM) was performed to test for microbial community clustering according to unweighted UniFrac distance matrices. *P* values < 0.05 were considered significant. The data were analyzed using SPSS version 17.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States).

#### RESULTS

## MCD diet resulted in gradual liver injury and intestinal barrier impairment

After 2 wk, the mice fed the MCD diet developed simple hepatic steatosis: the liver showed predominantly microvesicular fat accumulation without lobular inflammation and ballooning (Figure 1A, Table 1). Hepatic steatosis was significantly increased in the MCD 2w group compared with that in the Control 2w group, as further indicated by Oil red O staining and hepatic TG quantification (Figure 1B and D, Table 1). No significant difference was found in the number of F4/80+ cells between the MCD 2w group and the Control 2w group (Figure 1C and E). Compared with the Control 2w group, the MCD 2w group presented significantly increased serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) (P < 0.01) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) (P < 0.01) levels (Table 1). Evidence of liver fibrosis was not found, as shown by Masson's trichrome and  $\alpha$ -SMA immunohistochemical staining (Figure 2). Intestinal barrier destruction is associated with NAFLD progression<sup>[10]</sup>; therefore, we detected tight junction protein expression in the colon, where the most abundant gut microbiota reside<sup>[20]</sup>. ZO-1 immunostaining revealed that the colon tissues of the mice in the MCD 2w group exhibited



# A HE Control 2W MCD 2W Control 4W MCD 4W B

Ye JZ et al. Alteration of the gut microbiota and metabolome during NASH progression



Figure 1 Methionine-choline-deficient diet induced hepatic injury, fat accumulation, and macrophage infiltration. A-C: Representative liver histology assessed by HE staining (A), Oil red O staining (B), and macrophages (F4/80) staining (C). Scale bar: 250  $\mu$ m. D: Representative staining intensities of Oil red O as designated by mean optical density. E: Percentage of F4/80 positive cells. The data are given as the means ± SEM. *n* = 6 per group. <sup>c</sup>*P* < 0.001 *vs* Control 2w group, <sup>e</sup>*P* < 0.01 and <sup>f</sup>*P* < 0.001 *vs* Control 4w group by post hoc ANOVA one-way statistical analysis. MCD: Methionine-choline-deficient.

increased disruption and disorganization on the apical surface and in the crypts (Figure 3).

Oil red O

F4/80

С

As expected, the mice in the MCD 4w group developed prominent NASH, as evidenced by major hepatic steatosis with lobular inflammation and ballooning hepatocytes in the liver (Figure 1A, Table 1). Oil red O staining and hepatic TG quantification also revealed that fat accumulation was significantly increased in the livers of the mice fed the MCD diet for 4 wk (the MCD 4w group) compared with that in the mice fed the control diet for 4 wk (the Control 4w group) (Figure 1B and D, Table 1). F4/80+ cell infiltration was significantly increased in the MCD 4w group compared with that in the Control 4w group (Figure 1C and E). In addition, we found that the mice in the MCD 4w group exhibited indications of liver fibrosis, including periportal and interstitial collagen deposition (Figure 2A and C). Immunohistochemical analysis further confirmed our result:  $\alpha$ -SMA protein expression was significantly upregulated in the MCD 4w group compared with that in the Control 4w group (Figure 2B and D). Intestinal barrier function was further impaired in the mice fed the MCD diet for 4 wk compared with that in the mice fed the control diet, as revealed by ZO-1 immunostaining (Figure 3).

#### MCD diet induced gradual gut microbiota dysbiosis

The MCD diet clearly altered the gut microbiota configuration. No significant differences were observed in alpha diversity between the control and MCD groups after 2 and 4 wk of treatment, as estimated by the Chao1, Shannon, and Simpson indices (data not shown). However, these two groups were clearly separated into different clusters at 2 wk (ANOSIM, P < 0.01, r =



Figure 2 Methionine-choline-deficient diet induced liver fibrosis after 4 wk of feeding. A-B: Representative liver histology assessed by Masson's trichrome staining (A) and  $\alpha$ -SMA staining (B). Scale bar: 250  $\mu$ m. C: Percent of Masson's trichrome-stained area as indicated by the fibrosis index (%). D: Representative staining intensities of  $\alpha$ -SMA as designated by the mean optical density. The data are given as the means ± SEM. *n* = 6 per group. <sup>a</sup>*P* < 0.05 and <sup>b</sup>*P* < 0.01 *vs* Control 4w group by post hoc ANOVA one-way statistical analysis. MCD: Methionine-choline-deficient.

0.6352) and at 4 wk (ANOSIM, P < 0.01, r = 0.9074) in the unweighted UniFrac principal coordinate analysis (PCoA), which was performed to calculate the betadiversity values (Figure 4A). The most abundant taxa at the phylum, family, and genus levels are shown in Figure 4B-D. At the phylum level, Tenericutes was increasingly more abundant in the fecal microbiota of the MCD group compared with that of the control group at 2 and 4 wk (P < 0.05, and P < 0.01, respectively), while Verrucomicrobia was consistently less abundant in the MCD group at 2 and 4 wk (P < 0.05, and P < 0.05, respectively). Compared with the control group, the MCD group had a significantly higher abundance of Firmicutes and a significantly reduced abundance of Proteobacteria at 2 wk (P < 0.001, and P < 0.05, respectively). At 4 wk, the abundance of Actinobacteria was significantly lower in the MCD group than that in the corresponding control group (P < 0.01). At the family level, the relative abundance levels of Rikenellaceae, Desulfovibrionaceae, and Verrucomicrobiaceae were persistently reduced in the MCD group compared with those in the control group at 2 wk (P < 0.001, P < 0.05, and P < 0.05 respectively) and at 4 wk (P < 0.05, P < 0.05, and P< 0.05 respectively). The relative abundance of the Bacteroidales S24-7 group was significantly lower in the MCD group than that in the control group at 2 wk (P <0.01), while Ruminococcaceae was significantly higher in the MCD group (P < 0.05). Compared with the control group, the MCD group had significantly higher abundance levels of Bacteroidaceae and Enterobacteriaceae at 4 wk (P < 0.01, and P < 0.05 respectively) and a significantly reduced abundance of *Bifidobacteriaceae* (P < 0.05). At the genus level, the abundance of the Rikenellaceae RC9 gut group was significantly reduced in the MCD group compared with that in the control group at 2 and 4 wk (P < 0.001, and P < 0.05, respectively). Compared with the control group, the MCD group presented with marked decreases in the abundance levels of Alistipes and (Eubacterium) coprostanoligenes at 2 wk (P < 0.001, and P < 0.05, respectively) and a significant increase in Ruminococcaceae UCG 014 abundance (P < 0.05). However, at 4 wk, the MCD diet significantly reduced the





Figure 3 Methionine-choline-deficient diet resulted in gradual intestinal barrier impairment. Representative colon histology was assessed by ZO-1 immunofluorescence staining. Scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m. The data are given as the means ± SEM. MCD: Methionine-choline-deficient.

abundance of the promising probiotic *Bifidobacterium* and markedly promoted *Bacteroides* abundance (P < 0.05, and P < 0.01, respectively).

To characterize further the distinguishing phylotypes in the gut microbiota of the two groups, LEfSe analysis was performed. No significant differences were found between the MCD 2w group and Control 2w group. At 4 wk, however, we found that the MCD diet increased the abundance levels of *Anaerotruncus*, *Bilophila*, *SMB53*, *Clostridium*, *Anaeroplasma*, *Turicibacter*, *Helicobacteraceae*, *Flexispira*, and *Bacteroides* [LDA score (-log10) > 4.8] and decreased the abundance levels of *Allobaculum*, S24-7, *Bifidobacterium*, *Adlercreutzia*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Akkermansia*, *Sutterella*, *Desulfovibrionaceae*, *Porphyromonadaceae*, *Parabacteroides*, and *Erysipelotrichaceae* [LDA score (log10) > 4.8] (Figure 4E and F).

## MCD diet altered the fecal metabolomic profile during NASH progression

Using an untargeted strategy, we studied the fecal metabolome associated with functional characteristics of the gut microbiome, and a total of 322 metabolites were ultimately identified and quantified.

The PCA model was established ( $R^2X = 0.526$ ,  $Q^2 = 0.223$ ), corresponding to the four groups (the Control 2w group, MCD 2w group, Control 4w group, and MCD 4w group) (Figure 5A), and the score plot showed a clustering tendency in the first predictive principal component (X axis) and second predictive principal component (Y axis). Then, an OPLS-DA model was constructed. As depicted in Figure 5B, the score plot in the direction of the X axis (the first predictive principal component) and Y axis (the first orthogonal principal



Ye JZ et al. Alteration of the gut microbiota and metabolome during NASH progression



Figure 4 Methionine-choline-deficient diet induced gut microbiota dysbiosis. A: PCoA plot of the microbiota based on unweighted UniFrac metric. Each symbol represents one sample (*n* = 6 per group). B-D: Top most abundant taxa at the phylum (B), family (C), and genus (D) levels. E: LEfSe cladogram represented taxon enriched in the Control 4w group (green) and in the MCD 4w group (red). Rings from the inside out represented taxonomic levels from phylum to genus. Sizes of the circles indicate the relative abundance levels of the taxa. F: Discriminative biomarkers with an LDA score > 4.8. MCD: Methionine-choline-deficient.

component) showed a significant separation in the metabolomics datasets among the four groups. The explained variance,  $R^2$ , was 0.968. The cross-validated predictive ability  $Q^2$  was 0.914, indicating that a random fecal GC-MS spectrum discriminates among the four groups 91.4% of the time. Therefore, these results indicate the distinct clustering of the fecal metabolomic profiles induced by the MCD diet over time. Characteristic metabolites that had been significantly modified by the MCD diet were further identified according to the OPLS-DA model, with VIP values > 1 and *P* values < 0.05 (Figure 5E and F, and Supplementary Tables 2 and 3). Ultimately, 103 and 93 metabolites were selected at 2 and 4 wk, respectively, most of which were mainly associated with

pathways involved in lipid, amino acid, carbohydrate, nucleotide, cofactors, and vitamin metabolism. S-plots were used to identify further potential biomarkers among the metabolites. As shown in Figure 5C and D, arachidic acid, hexadecane, palmitic acid, and tetracosane at 2 wk and cholic acid, cholesterol, arachidic acid, tetracosane, and stearic acid at 4 wk were the farthest from the origin and were selected as potential biomarkers due to their marked contribution to the separation between the control and MCD groups.

#### DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to





Figure 5 Methionine-choline-deficient diet altered the fecal metabolomic profile during nonalcoholic steatohepatitis progression. A: 4-state model of a PCA plot comparing between the Control 2w (cycle), MCD 2w (triangle), Control 4w (square), and MCD 4w groups (diamond). B: OPLS-DA score scatter plot comparing the Control 2w (cycle), MCD 2w (triangle), Control 4w (square), and MCD 4w groups (diamond). Each symbol represents one sample (*n* = 24 per group, with a quadruplicate technical replicates of 6 samples per group). C-D: S-plot constructed from the OPLS-DA model at 2 wk (C) and 4 wk (D). The selected metabolites (red triangles) are located in the upper far right and lower far left with considerable potential as biomarkers and marked discrimination between the groups. E-F: Euclidean distance hierarchical clustering analysis visualizing the different intensity levels of characteristic metabolites at 2 wk (E) and 4 wk (F). PCA: Principal component analysis; MCD: Methionine-choline-deficient; OPLS-DA: Orthogonal partial least-squares-discriminant analysis.



demonstrate dynamic alterations in the gut microbiota and metabolome in an experimental model of MCD diet-induced steatohepatitis: We sought to determine the key microbiota and metabolites involved in NASH progression over time.

Mice fed the MCD diet developed simple hepatic steatosis at 2 wk and prominent NASH at 4 wk. Among the most abundant taxa, the prevalence of the Rikenellaceae RC9 gut group in the family *Rikenellaceae*, family Desulfovibrionaceae, and family Verrucomicrobiaceae in the phylum Verrucomicrobia was consistently decreased at 2 and 4 wk in the MCD-supplemented group compared with that in the control group, while the phylum Tenericutes was consistently increased in the MCDsupplemented group. The phylum Tenericutes was also increased in the mice fed a high-fat diet and is correlated with obesity-associated metabolic characteristics<sup>[21]</sup>. The Rikenellaceae RC9 gut group was previously shown to be decreased in rats with hypertriglyceridemia-related acute necrotizing pancreatitis and in cows receiving oil supplementation<sup>[22,23]</sup>, but the specific function of this taxa remains poorly understood. High Rikenellaceae abundance is reportedly associated with healthy metabolic states<sup>[24]</sup>, and one study reported the ability of some of the bacteria in the family Rikenellaceae to produce butyrate<sup>[25]</sup>. Desulfovibrionaceae are known as sulfate-reducing bacteria that produce hydrogen sulfide  $(H_2S)^{[26]}$ , which has its pros and cons in relation to gut health. Some studies have demonstrated that H<sub>2</sub>S functions as a mucosal barrier breaker and therefore leads to inflammation<sup>[27,28]</sup>. Regarding the advantages of H<sub>2</sub>S, previous studies have reported that H<sub>2</sub>S is a crucial mediator in gastrointestinal mucosal defense and repair and in reducing systemic inflammation<sup>[26,29]</sup>. Verrucomicrobiaceae abundance is positively correlated with gastrointestinal health and negatively correlated with gut inflammation<sup>[30]</sup>. Therefore, disrupted barrier homeostasis, as evidenced by the ZO-1 immunostaining results in this study, may be associated with a decrease in MCD-sensitive microbiota.

In this study, we found that *Bifidobacterium* in the family Bifidobacteriaceae, Bacteroides in the family Bacteroidaceae, and the family Enterobacteriaceae respond to the MCD diet in a time-dependent manner. The first of these taxa tended to decrease, while the latter two tended to increase after only 4 wk of feeding. Consistently, Bifidobacterium was significantly decreased in NASH subjects compared with that in healthy and obese subjects<sup>[10]</sup>. Various members of the genus Bifidobacterium have recently attracted substantial interest due to their multiple beneficial effects on the host, such as protection against enteropathogenic infection through acetate production<sup>[31]</sup>, promotion of antitumor immunity, and facilitation of programmed cell death protein 1 ligand 1 (PD-L1)-specific antibody therapy<sup>[32]</sup>. Although Bacteroides spp. are overall regarded as beneficial microorganisms<sup>[33]</sup>, they can also cause gut-related bacteremia in conditions of high portal venous pressure<sup>[34]</sup>. *Enterobacteriaceae* include many potential pathogens and LPS-producing bacteria and are significantly increased in NASH patients<sup>[10]</sup>. Furthermore, as evidenced by LEfSe analysis, the MCD diet favored LPS-producing bacteria (*Bilophila*, and *Anaeroplasma*<sup>[35,36]</sup>), pro-inflammatory bacteria (*Anaerotruncus*, and *Turicibacter*<sup>[37,38]</sup>), and other opportunistic pathogens (*SMB53*, *Clostridium*, *Helicobacteraceae* and *Flexispira*<sup>[39-42]</sup>) after 4 wk of feeding and inhibited the promising probiotics *Sutterella* and *Akkermansia*<sup>[43,44]</sup>. Therefore, these data indicate an important role for the microbiota in NAFLD progression to NASH.

To link the gut microbiota with their functional states, an untargeted metabolomics analysis was integrated into this study. A core of the MCD diet-responsive signaling pathways were involved in lipid, nucleotide, cofactor, vitamin, carbohydrate, and amino acid metabolism. S-plots further identified potential biomarkers among the metabolites during NASH development. Arachidic acid under-representation and tetracosane overrepresentation were prominent features in the group with MCD diet-induced steatosis and NASH compared with the corresponding control groups at 2 and 4 wk. However, functional exploration of the association between arachidic acid and tetracosane with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease has not been well documented and warrants further studies. Kuroda et al<sup>[45]</sup> reported that hexadecane causes nonspecific inflammation. Therefore, we speculated in this study that the increased hexadecane levels after the MCD diet treatment for 2 wk may contribute to disease progression, although we have not yet obtained direct evidence for this effect. Jiao et al<sup>[46]</sup> found that the cholic acid level is increased in NASH patients. JianHua et al<sup>[47]</sup> found that cholic acid is significantly decreased in humans with NASH, which is consistent with our study results in the MCD 4w group. Stearic acid is a potent anti-inflammatory lipid and may accelerate hepatic dysfunction recovery in a rat model of liver injury<sup>[48]</sup>. Our study found that the stearic acid level was significantly decreased in the NASH mice after the MCD diet treatment for 4 wk. Although our study found an association between altered gut microbiota and metabolism and NASH, a causative contribution of the gut microbiota and metabolism to NASH progression has not been sufficiently documented. Establishing a better understanding of the gut microbiota and metabolomics in this disease state will provide beneficial information for the treatment and prevention of NAFLD.

In conclusion, the MCD diet induced gut microbiota and metabolome deterioration. Fundamental observations of these alterations will provide new insight into NASH-associated intestinal disorder and gut-targeted therapies for NASH.

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

The contributing role of the gut microbiota in the pathogenesis of nonalcoholic



steatohepatitis (NASH) has been extensively studied.

#### Research motivation

Gut microbiota dysbiosis in NASH is mainly depicted as an endpoint, and little is known regarding the microbiota disturbances during NASH progression.

#### **Research objectives**

Our goal was to investigate dynamic changes in the gut microbiota and its metabolism during the progression from simple hepatic steatosis to NASH in mice fed a methionine-choline-deficient (MCD) diet.

#### **Research methods**

C57BL/6J mice were equally divided into four groups and fed either a methionine-choline-sufficient diet for 2 or 4 wk (the Control 2w group and Control 4w group, respectively) or the MCD diet for 2 or 4 wk (the MCD 2w group and MCD 4w group, respectively) (n = 6 per group). Liver injury, fibrosis, intestinal barrier function, and the fecal microbiome and metabolome were studied.

#### **Research results**

The mice fed with the MCD diet for 2 wk developed simple hepatic steatosis, which progressed to prominent NASH with liver fibrosis after 4 wk. Compared with the control diet, the MCD diet induced gradual intestinal barrier impairment and gut microbiota dysbiosis; the fecal metabolomic profile was also substantially altered by the MCD diet.

#### Research conclusions

The MCD diet induced persistent alteration of the gut microbiota and metabolome.

#### **Research perspectives**

We may have for the first time shown that an MCD diet induced persistent gut microbiota and metabolome deterioration. Fundamental observations of these alterations will provide new insight into NASH-associated intestinal disorder and gut-targeted therapies for NASH.

#### REFERENCES

- Musso G, Cassader M, Gambino R. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: emerging molecular targets and therapeutic strategies. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2016; 15: 249-274 [PMID: 26794269 DOI: 10.1038/ nrd.2015.3]
- 2 Ishioka M, Miura K, Minami S, Shimura Y, Ohnishi H. Altered Gut Microbiota Composition and Immune Response in Experimental Steatohepatitis Mouse Models. *Dig Dis Sci* 2017; 62: 396-406 [PMID: 27913996 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-016-4393-x]
- 3 Wong RJ, Aguilar M, Cheung R, Perumpail RB, Harrison SA, Younossi ZM, Ahmed A. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis is the second leading etiology of liver disease among adults awaiting liver transplantation in the United States. *Gastroenterology* 2015; 148: 547-555 [PMID: 25461851 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.11.039]
- 4 Chalasani N, Younossi Z, Lavine JE, Dichl AM, Brunt EM, Cusi K, Charlton M, Sanyal AJ. The diagnosis and management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: practice Guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, American College of Gastroenterology, and the American Gastroenterological Association. *Hepatology* 2012; **55**: 2005-2023 [PMID: 22488764 DOI: 10.1002/hep.25762]
- 5 Musso G, Gambino R, Tabibian JH, Ekstedt M, Kechagias S, Hamaguchi M, Hultcrantz R, Hagström H, Yoon SK, Charatcharoenwitthaya P, George J, Barrera F, Hafliðadóttir S, Björnsson ES, Armstrong MJ, Hopkins LJ, Gao X, Francque S, Verrijken A, Yilmaz Y, Lindor KD, Charlton M, Haring R, Lerch MM, Rettig R, Völzke H, Ryu S, Li G, Wong LL, Machado M, Cortez-Pinto H, Yasui K, Cassader M. Association of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease with chronic kidney disease: a systematic

review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med* 2014; **11**: e1001680 [PMID: 25050550 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001680]

- 6 Armstrong MJ, Gaunt P, Aithal GP, Barton D, Hull D, Parker R, Hazlehurst JM, Guo K; LEAN trial team, Abouda G, Aldersley MA, Stocken D, Gough SC, Tomlinson JW, Brown RM, Hübscher SG, Newsome PN. Liraglutide safety and efficacy in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (LEAN): a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2 study. *Lancet* 2016; **387**: 679-690 [PMID: 26608256 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00803-X]
- 7 Kirpich IA, Marsano LS, McClain CJ. Gut-liver axis, nutrition, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Biochem* 2015; 48: 923-930 [PMID: 26151226 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2015.06.023]
- 8 Balmer ML, Slack E, de Gottardi A, Lawson MA, Hapfelmeier S, Miele L, Grieco A, Van Vlierberghe H, Fahrner R, Patuto N, Bernsmeier C, Ronchi F, Wyss M, Stroka D, Dickgreber N, Heim MH, McCoy KD, Macpherson AJ. The liver may act as a firewall mediating mutualism between the host and its gut commensal microbiota. *Sci Transl Med* 2014; 6: 237ra66 [PMID: 24848256 DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008618]
- 9 Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Jin C, Hao L, Mehal WZ, Strowig T, Thaiss CA, Kau AL, Eisenbarth SC, Jurczak MJ, Camporez JP, Shulman GI, Gordon JI, Hoffman HM, Flavell RA. Inflammasomemediated dysbiosis regulates progression of NAFLD and obesity. *Nature* 2012; 482: 179-185 [PMID: 22297845 DOI: 10.1038/ nature10809]
- 10 Zhu L, Baker SS, Gill C, Liu W, Alkhouri R, Baker RD, Gill SR. Characterization of gut microbiomes in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) patients: a connection between endogenous alcohol and NASH. *Hepatology* 2013; 57: 601-609 [PMID: 23055155 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26093]
- 11 Safaei A, Arefi Oskouie A, Mohebbi SR, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Mahboubi M, Peyvandi M, Okhovatian F, Zamanian-Azodi M. Metabolomic analysis of human cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis diseases. *Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench* 2016; 9: 158-173 [PMID: 27458508]
- 12 Kleiner DE, Brunt EM, Van Natta M, Behling C, Contos MJ, Cummings OW, Ferrell LD, Liu YC, Torbenson MS, Unalp-Arida A, Yeh M, McCullough AJ, Sanyal AJ; Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Clinical Research Network. Design and validation of a histological scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 2005; **41**: 1313-1321 [PMID: 15915461 DOI: 10.1002/ hep.20701]
- 13 Julio Junior HR, Costa SF, Costa WS, Barcellos Sampaio FJ, Favorito LA. Structural study of the bladder in fetuses with prune belly syndrome. *Neurourol Urodyn* 2018; 37: 148-152 [PMID: 28598513 DOI: 10.1002/nau.23327]
- 14 Wu YS, Tseng JK, Chou CH, Chiu CH, Lin YL, Chen YC. Preventive effects of Ophiocordyceps sinensis mycelium on the liver fibrosis induced by thioacetamide. *Environ Toxicol* 2017; 32: 1792-1800 [PMID: 28181416 DOI: 10.1002/tox.22402]
- 15 Chung CY, Alden SL, Funderburg NT, Fu P, Levine AD. Progressive proximal-to-distal reduction in expression of the tight junction complex in colonic epithelium of virally-suppressed HIV+ individuals. *PLoS Pathog* 2014; **10**: e1004198 [PMID: 24968145 DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004198]
- 16 Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, Costello EK, Fierer N, Peña AG, Goodrich JK, Gordon JI, Huttley GA, Kelley ST, Knights D, Koenig JE, Ley RE, Lozupone CA, McDonald D, Muegge BD, Pirrung M, Reeder J, Sevinsky JR, Turnbaugh PJ, Walters WA, Widmann J, Yatsunenko T, Zaneveld J, Knight R. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. *Nat Methods* 2010; 7: 335-336 [PMID: 20383131 DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.f.303]
- 17 Cole JR, Wang Q, Cardenas E, Fish J, Chai B, Farris RJ, Kulam-Syed-Mohideen AS, McGarrell DM, Marsh T, Garrity GM, Tiedje JM. The Ribosomal Database Project: improved alignments and new tools for rRNA analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2009; **37**: D141-D145 [PMID: 19004872 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkn879]
- 18 Lu H, Ren Z, Li A, Zhang H, Jiang J, Xu S, Luo Q, Zhou K, Sun

X, Zheng S, Li L. Deep sequencing reveals microbiota dysbiosis of tongue coat in patients with liver carcinoma. *Sci Rep* 2016; **6**: 33142 [PMID: 27605161 DOI: 10.1038/srep33142]

- 19 Liu R, Hong J, Xu X, Feng Q, Zhang D, Gu Y, Shi J, Zhao S, Liu W, Wang X, Xia H, Liu Z, Cui B, Liang P, Xi L, Jin J, Ying X, Wang X, Zhao X, Li W, Jia H, Lan Z, Li F, Wang R, Sun Y, Yang M, Shen Y, Jie Z, Li J, Chen X, Zhong H, Xie H, Zhang Y, Gu W, Deng X, Shen B, Xu X, Yang H, Xu G, Bi Y, Lai S, Wang J, Qi L, Madsen L, Wang J, Ning G, Kristiansen K, Wang W. Gut microbiome and serum metabolome alterations in obesity and after weight-loss intervention. *Nat Med* 2017; 23: 859-868 [PMID: 28628112 DOI: 10.1038/nm.4358]
- 20 Wu S, Yi J, Zhang YG, Zhou J, Sun J. Leaky intestine and impaired microbiome in an amyotrophic lateral sclerosis mouse model. *Physiol Rep* 2015; **3**: pii: e12356 [PMID: 25847918 DOI: 10.14814/phy2.12356]
- 21 Robertson RC, Seira Oriach C, Murphy K, Moloney GM, Cryan JF, Dinan TG, Ross RP, Stanton C. Deficiency of essential dietary n-3 PUFA disrupts the caecal microbiome and metabolome in mice. *Br J Nutr* 2017; **118**: 959-970 [PMID: 29173237 DOI: 10.1017/S0007114517002999]
- Huang C, Chen J, Wang J, Zhou H, Lu Y, Lou L, Zheng J, Tian L, Wang X, Cao Z, Zeng Y. Dysbiosis of Intestinal Microbiota and Decreased Antimicrobial Peptide Level in Paneth Cells during Hypertriglyceridemia-Related Acute Necrotizing Pancreatitis in Rats. *Front Microbiol* 2017; 8: 776 [PMID: 28522995 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00776]
- 23 Zened A, Combes S, Cauquil L, Mariette J, Klopp C, Bouchez O, Troegeler-Meynadier A, Enjalbert F. Microbial ecology of the rumen evaluated by 454 GS FLX pyrosequencing is affected by starch and oil supplementation of diets. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 2013; 83: 504-514 [PMID: 22974422 DOI: 10.1111/1574-6941.12011]
- Lippert K, Kedenko L, Antonielli L, Kedenko I, Gemeier C, Leitner M, Kautzky-Willer A, Paulweber B, Hackl E. Gut microbiota dysbiosis associated with glucose metabolism disorders and the metabolic syndrome in older adults. *Benef Microbes* 2017; 8: 545-556 [PMID: 28701081 DOI: 10.3920/BM2016.0184]
- 25 Su XL, Tian Q, Zhang J, Yuan XZ, Shi XS, Guo RB, Qiu YL. Acetobacteroides hydrogenigenes gen. nov., sp. nov., an anaerobic hydrogen-producing bacterium in the family Rikenellaceae isolated from a reed swamp. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol* 2014; 64: 2986-2991 [PMID: 24899658 DOI: 10.1099/ijs.0.063917-0]
- 26 Konturek PC, Koziel J, Dieterich W, Haziri D, Wirtz S, Glowczyk I, Konturek K, Neurath MF, Zopf Y. Successful therapy of Clostridium difficile infection with fecal microbiota transplantation. *J Physiol Pharmacol* 2016; 67: 859-866 [PMID: 28195066]
- 27 Sheng L, Jena PK, Liu HX, Kalanetra KM, Gonzalez FJ, French SW, Krishnan VV, Mills DA, Wan YY. Gender Differences in Bile Acids and Microbiota in Relationship with Gender Dissimilarity in Steatosis Induced by Diet and FXR Inactivation. *Sci Rep* 2017; 7: 1748 [PMID: 28496104 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-01576-9]
- Figliuolo VR, Dos Santos LM, Abalo A, Nanini H, Santos A, Brittes NM, Bernardazzi C, de Souza HSP, Vieira LQ, Coutinho-Silva R, Coutinho CMLM. Sulfate-reducing bacteria stimulate gut immune responses and contribute to inflammation in experimental colitis. *Life Sci* 2017; 189: 29-38 [PMID: 28912045 DOI: 10.1016/ j.lfs.2017.09.014]
- 29 Wallace JL, Motta JP, Buret AG. Hydrogen sulfide: an agent of stability at the microbiome-mucosa interface. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2018; **314**: G143-G149 [PMID: 29025733 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.00249.2017]
- 30 Rodriguez C, Taminiau B, Korsak N, Avesani V, Van Broeck J, Brach P, Delmée M, Daube G. Longitudinal survey of Clostridium difficile presence and gut microbiota composition in a Belgian nursing home. *BMC Microbiol* 2016; 16: 229 [PMID: 27716140 DOI: 10.1186/s12866-016-0848-7]
- 31 **Fukuda S**, Toh H, Hase K, Oshima K, Nakanishi Y, Yoshimura K, Tobe T, Clarke JM, Topping DL, Suzuki T, Taylor TD, Itoh K, Kikuchi J, Morita H, Hattori M, Ohno H. Bifidobacteria can protect

from enteropathogenic infection through production of acetate. *Nature* 2011; **469**: 543-547 [PMID: 21270894 DOI: 10.1038/ nature09646]

- 32 Sivan A, Corrales L, Hubert N, Williams JB, Aquino-Michaels K, Earley ZM, Benyamin FW, Lei YM, Jabri B, Alegre ML, Chang EB, Gajewski TF. Commensal Bifidobacterium promotes antitumor immunity and facilitates anti-PD-L1 efficacy. *Science* 2015; 350: 1084-1089 [PMID: 26541606 DOI: 10.1126/science.aac4255]
- 33 Pferschy-Wenzig EM, Koskinen K, Moissl-Eichinger C, Bauer R. A Combined LC-MS Metabolomics- and 16S rRNA Sequencing Platform to Assess Interactions between Herbal Medicinal Products and Human Gut Bacteria in Vitro: a Pilot Study on Willow Bark Extract. *Front Pharmacol* 2017; 8: 893 [PMID: 29326584 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00893]
- 34 Yao S, Yagi S, Uozumi R, Iida T, Nagao M, Okamura Y, Anazawa T, Okajima H, Kaido T, Uemoto S. A High Portal Venous Pressure Gradient Increases Gut-Related Bacteremia and Consequent Early Mortality After Living Donor Liver Transplantation. *Transplantation* 2018; **102**: 623-631 [PMID: 29319622 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000002047]
- 35 Song JJ, Tian WJ, Kwok LY, Wang YL, Shang YN, Menghe B, Wang JG. Effects of microencapsulated Lactobacillus plantarum LIP-1 on the gut microbiota of hyperlipidaemic rats. Br J Nutr 2017; 118: 481-492 [PMID: 29017628 DOI: 10.1017/S0007114517002380]
- 36 Smith PF, Langworthy TA, Mayberry WR. Distribution and composition of lipopolysaccharides from mycoplasmas. *J Bacteriol* 1976; 125: 916-922 [PMID: 1254559]
- 37 Zinkernagel MS, Zysset-Burri DC, Keller I, Berger LE, Leichtle AB, Largiadèr CR, Fiedler GM, Wolf S. Association of the Intestinal Microbiome with the Development of Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Sci Rep* 2017; 7: 40826 [PMID: 28094305 DOI: 10.1038/srep40826]
- 38 Suriano F, Bindels LB, Verspreet J, Courtin CM, Verbeke K, Cani PD, Neyrinck AM, Delzenne NM. Fat binding capacity and modulation of the gut microbiota both determine the effect of wheat bran fractions on adiposity. *Sci Rep* 2017; 7: 5621 [PMID: 28717237 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-05698-y]
- 39 Horie M, Miura T, Hirakata S, Hosoyama A, Sugino S, Umeno A, Murotomi K, Yoshida Y, Koike T. Comparative analysis of the intestinal flora in type 2 diabetes and nondiabetic mice. *Exp Anim* 2017; 66: 405-416 [PMID: 28701620 DOI: 10.1538/ expanim.17-0021]
- 40 Collins J, Robinson C, Danhof H, Knetsch CW, van Leeuwen HC, Lawley TD, Auchtung JM, Britton RA. Dietary trehalose enhances virulence of epidemic Clostridium difficile. *Nature* 2018; 553: 291-294 [PMID: 29310122 DOI: 10.1038/nature25178]
- 41 Miller WG, Parker CT, Rubenfield M, Mendz GL, Wösten MM, Ussery DW, Stolz JF, Binnewies TT, Hallin PF, Wang G, Malek JA, Rogosin A, Stanker LH, Mandrell RE. The complete genome sequence and analysis of the epsilonproteobacterium Arcobacter butzleri. *PLoS One* 2007; 2: e1358 [PMID: 18159241 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001358]
- 42 **Freeman AF**, Holland SM. Persistent bacterial infections and primary immune disorders. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 2007; **10**: 70-75 [PMID: 17208513 DOI: 10.1016/j.mib.2006.11.005]
- 43 Berer K, Gerdes LA, Cekanaviciute E, Jia X, Xiao L, Xia Z, Liu C, Klotz L, Stauffer U, Baranzini SE, Kümpfel T, Hohlfeld R, Krishnamoorthy G, Wekerle H. Gut microbiota from multiple sclerosis patients enables spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2017; 114: 10719-10724 [PMID: 28893994 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1711233114]
- Wu W, Lv L, Shi D, Ye J, Fang D, Guo F, Li Y, He X, Li L.
   Protective Effect of Akkermansia muciniphila against Immune-Mediated Liver Injury in a Mouse Model. *Front Microbiol* 2017; 8: 1804 [PMID: 29033903 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01804]
- 45 **Kuroda Y**, Ono N, Akaogi J, Nacionales DC, Yamasaki Y, Barker TT, Reeves WH, Satoh M. Induction of lupus-related specific autoantibodies by non-specific inflammation caused by an intraperitoneal injection of n-hexadecane in BALB/c mice.



*Toxicology* 2006; **218**: 186-196 [PMID: 16309812 DOI: 10.1016/ j.tox.2005.10.011]

- 46 Jiao N, Baker SS, Chapa-Rodriguez A, Liu W, Nugent CA, Tsompana M, Mastrandrea L, Buck MJ, Baker RD, Genco RJ, Zhu R, Zhu L. Suppressed hepatic bile acid signalling despite elevated production of primary and secondary bile acids in NAFLD. *Gut* 2017; pii: gutjnl-2017-314307 [PMID: 28774887 DOI: 10.1136/ gutjnl-2017-314307]
- 47 Han J, Dzierlenga AL, Lu Z, Billheimer DD, Torabzadeh E, Lake

AD, Li H, Novak P, Shipkova P, Aranibar N, Robertson D, Reily MD, Lehman-McKeeman LD, Cherrington NJ. Metabolomic profiling distinction of human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease progression from a common rat model. *Obesity* (Silver Spring) 2017; **25**: 1069-1076 [PMID: 28452429 DOI: 10.1002/oby.21855]

48 Hashemi Goradel N, Eghbal MA, Darabi M, Roshangar L, Asadi M, Zarghami N, Nouri M. Improvement of Liver Cell Therapy in Rats by Dietary Stearic Acid. *Iran Biomed J* 2016; 20: 217-222 [PMID: 27090202]

P- Reviewer: Das UN, Shimizu Y, Trovato GMM S- Editor: Wang XJ L- Editor: Filipodia E- Editor: Huang Y






Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

- -

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2482-2490

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2482

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### Case Control Study

# Association of twelve polymorphisms in three onco-IncRNA genes with hepatocellular cancer risk and prognosis: A case-control study

Ben-Gang Wang, Qian Xu, Zhi Lv, Xin-Xin Fang, Han-Xi Ding, Jing Wen, Yuan Yuan

Ben-Gang Wang, Qian Xu, Zhi Lv, Xin-Xin Fang, Han-Xi Ding, Jing Wen, Yuan Yuan, Tumor Etiology and Screening Department of Cancer Institute and General Surgery, the First Hospital of China Medical University, and Key Laboratory of Cancer Etiology and Prevention (China Medical University), Liaoning Provincial Education Department, Shenyang 110001, Liaoning Province, China

**Ben-Gang Wang,** Hepatobiliary Surgery Department of General Surgery Institute, the First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang 110001, Liaoning Province, China

ORCID number: Ben-Gang Wang (0000-0002-5630-1748); Qian Xu (0000-0002-3082-7530); Zhi Lv (0000-0001-8443-169X); Xin-Xin Fang (0000-0002-7617-5099), Han-Xi Ding (0000 -0002-8208-541X); Jing Wen (0000-0002-0629-4631); Yuan Yuan (0000-0002-7394-9036).

Author contributions: Yuan Y conceived and designed this study; Wang BG, Lv Z, Fang XX, and Wen J preformed the experiments; Wang BG, Xu Q, and Ding HX were responsible for the data analysis and performed data interpretation; Wang BG wrote the paper; Lv Z and Yuan Y revised the manuscript.

Supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Liaoning Province in China, No. 20170541001.

Institutional review board statement: The study was approved by the ethics committee of the First Hospital of China Medical University.

Informed consent statement: All patients gave informed consent.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors disclose no conflicts of interest that may bias their work.

**STROBE statement:** The guidelines of the STROBE Statement have been adopted.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative

Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Yuan Yuan, MD, PhD, Professor, Tumor Etiology and Screening Department of Cancer Institute and General Surgery, The First Hospital of China Medical University, No.155 NanjingBei Street, Heping District, Shenyang 110001, Liaoning Province, China. yuanyuan@cmu.edu.cn Telephone: +86-24-83282153 Fax: +86-24-83282383

Received: March 22, 2018 Peer-review started: March 23, 2018 First decision: April 10, 2018 Revised: April 17, 2018 Accepted: May 18, 2018 Article in press: May 18, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

#### Abstract

#### AIM

To evaluate the association of 12 tag single nucleotide polymorphisms (tagSNPs) in three onco-long non-coding RNA (IncRNA) genes (*HOTTIP*, *CCAT2*, *MALAT1*) with the risk and prognosis of hepatocellular cancer (HCC).

#### **METHODS**

Twelve tagSNPs covering the three onco-IncRNAs were genotyped by the KASP method in a total of 1338 samples, including 521 HCC patients and frequencymatched 817 controls. The samples were obtained from an unrelated Chinese population at the First Hospital of



China Medical University from 2012-2015. The expression quantitative trait loci (eQTL) analyses were conducted to explore further the potential function of the promising SNPs.

#### RESULTS

Three SNPs in HOTTIP, one promoter SNP in MALAT1, and one haplotype of HOTTIP were associated with HCC risk. The HOTTIP rs17501292, rs2067087, and rs17427960 SNPs were increased to 1.55-, 1.20-, and 1.18-fold HCC risk under allelic models (P = 0.012, 0.017and 0.049, respectively). MALAT1 rs4102217 SNP was increased to a 1.32-fold HCC risk under dominant models (P = 0.028). In addition, the two-way interaction of HOTTIP rs17501292-MALAT1 rs619586 polymorphisms showed a decreased effect on HCC risk (Pinteraction = 0.028, OR = 0.30) and epistasis with each other. HOTTIP rs3807598 variant genotype showed significantly longer survival time in HBV negative subgroup (P = 0.049, HR = 0.12), and MALAT1 rs591291 showed significantly better prognosis in female and HBV negative subgroups (P =0.022, HR = 0.37; P = 0.042, HR = 0.25, respectively). In the study, no significant effect was observed in eQTL analysis.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Specific IncRNA (*HOTTIP* and *MALAT1*) SNPs have potential to be biomarkers for HCC risk and prognosis.

Key words: Hepatocellular cancer; Single nucleotide polymorphism; Long non-coding RNA; Risk; Prognosis

© **The Author(s) 2018.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** We aim to evaluate the association of twelve tag single nucleotide polymorphisms (tagSNPs) in three onco-IncRNA genes (*HOTTIP*, *CCAT2*, *MALAT1*) with the risk and prognosis of hepatocellular cancer (HCC). Twelve tagSNPs covering the three onco-IncRNAs were genotyped by the KASP method in a total of 1338 samples. We found three SNPs in *HOTTIP*, one promoter SNP in *MALAT1* and one haplotype of *HOTTIP* gene were associated with HCC risk. In addition, *HOTTIP* rs3807598 variant genotype showed significantly longer survival time in hepatitis B virus (HBV) negative subgroup, and *MALAT1* rs591291 showed significantly better prognosis in female and HBV negative subgroups.

Wang BG, Xu Q, Lv Z, Fang XX, Ding HX, Wen J, Yuan Y. Association of twelve polymorphisms in three onco-lncRNA genes with hepatocellular cancer risk and prognosis: A case-control study. *World J Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2482-2490 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v24/i23/2482.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v24. i23.2482

tumor with high incidence and mortality, and it is the main histologic type of primary liver cancer<sup>[1,2]</sup>. Similar to most other solid tumors, HCC patients are considered to be incurable due to the extensive heterogeneity in the clinical manifestations and biological characteristics<sup>[3]</sup>. HCC heterogeneity can be manifested via diverse genetic, epigenetic, and histogenic features, as well as ethnic differences in patients<sup>[4]</sup>. Knowledge of genetic and epigenetic variations could aid the early detection and personalized management of HCC. To date, the research hotspots regarding genetic and epigenetic variations are not only coding genes but also noncoding RNAs.

Long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs) are a type of noncoding RNA with a length of 200 bp, which can function as miRNA sponges to compete with mRNAs by acting as so-called competing endogenous RNAs (ceRNAs)<sup>[5]</sup>. Genetic variations such as single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) can alter the expression of coding genes and IncRNAs<sup>[6]</sup>. To date, several IncRNAs have been reported to be involved in carcinogenesis, such as H19, HOTHAIR, HOTTIP, CCAT2, and MALAT1. Regarding studies of genetic variation, only H19 and HOTAIR SNPs have been well investigated. For example, several meta-analyses showed that H19 and HOTHAIR SNPs were associated with cancer risk<sup>[7-9]</sup>, and the HOTAIR rs920778 SNP was found to be associated with ovarian cancer prognosis<sup>[10]</sup>. Only four studies have focused on the polymorphisms of the onco-IncRNAs HOTTIP, CCAT2, and MALAT1 (Gene ID: 100316868, 101805488, 378938, respectively)<sup>[11-14]</sup>. Among them, Gong et al<sup>[11]</sup> found that these SNPs were significantly associated with lung cancer susceptibility or platinumbased chemotherapy response. However, no SNPs in the above-mentioned IncRNAs have been reported to be associated with HCC risk, and few comprehensive and systematic analyses have been performed on polymorphisms in these three onco-lncRNAs. It thus remains unclear whether the promising SNPs in these IncRNAs have potential to be used as biomarkers for HCC risk and prognosis.

In the present study, we adopted a candidate gene association study strategy with the selected 12 potentially functional tagSNPs covering the three onco-IncRNAs *HOTTIP*, *CCAT2*, and *MALAT1* to determine whether these SNPs are associated with HCC risk and prognosis and whether promising SNPs could affect the expression of corresponding IncRNAs. We aimed to identify predictive biomarkers for HCC risk and prognosis, establish experimental basis for the comprehension of the HCC etiology, and improve our understanding of the pathogenesis and disease progression of HCC.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Patients and study design

This research project was approved by the Ethical Committee of the First Hospital of China Medical University and written informed consent was obtained from each subject at the time of recruitment. The study

#### INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular cancer (HCC) is a common malignant



Wang BG et al. IncRNA SNPs with HCC risk and prognosis

was designed to be composed of two parts: risk and prognosis. In the risk study, a total of 1338 participants were recruited, including 521 patients who underwent surgical operation for HCC at the First Hospital of China Medical University between 2012 and 2015. The inclusion and exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) The participants who underwent surgical operation were diagnosed with HCC by pathological confirmation, in accordance with the World Health Organization (WHO) classification; and (2) removal of other pathological types of liver cancer (gallbladder cell carcinoma, mixtype liver cancer. and hepatosarcoma). A total of 817 frequency-matched controls were also recruited, some of whom were from a health screening program from the Zhuanghe area, Liaoning Province, China, performed between 2002 and 2012, while others were from a health screening program at the First Hospital of China Medical University performed between 2012 and 2015.

To investigate further the association of these IncRNA polymorphisms with clinicopathological parameters and overall survival of HCC patients, we used data of 351 HCC cases for which information on death or survival was available. Patients with (1) distant metastasis found preoperatively or (2) incomplete pathological data entries were excluded from the survival analysis. Follow-up was completed by July 1<sup>st</sup>, 2017. For the promising SNPs, IncRNA expression was investigated to explore the possible mechanism by which they exerted their effects, according to our experimental and bioinformatic data. The study design is shown in Figure 1. This research project was approved by the Ethical Committee of the First Hospital of China Medical University and written informed consent was obtained when the patients and controls were recruited.

#### Selected polymorphic sites

We selected polymorphisms using 1000G data (http:// www.internationalgenome.org/home), as reported previously<sup>[15-17]</sup>. The tagSNPs were selected separately using the following criteria: (1) Haploview with the Tagger function was used; (2) the population of the HapMap selected Chinese Han Beijing (CHB) population; (3) those for which pairwise tagging had  $r^2$  of  $\geq 0.8$ ; and (4) those with a minor allele frequency of  $\geq$  5%. The selection area was enlarged by 10 kb both upstream and downstream for these three IncRNA genes. FastSNP and fSNP searches were used to predict the potential SNP function (http://compbio.cs.queensu.ca/F-SNP/)<sup>[18,19]</sup>. A total of 12 SNPs from the three IncRNA genes were selected by integrating these two publicly available tools. Locations and characteristics of the selected SNPs are shown in Table 1.

#### Genotyping

Genomic DNA was extracted using a previously reported method<sup>[20]</sup> and diluted to a working concentration of 20 ng/µL for genotyping. The genotyping assay was performed by Gene Company (Shanghai, China), using allele-specific PCR with KASPar (KASP) reagents (LGC



Figure 1 Flow chart of the study design.

Genomics, Hoddesdon, United Kingdom). For quality control, we repeatedly genotyped 10% of the total samples at one time. The concordance rate of these repeated samples reached 100%, which demonstrated that the genotyping results were reliable.

#### eQTL analyses

The extraction of total RNA from 68 HCC specimens and corresponding samples from nearby noncancerous regions was performed as described previously<sup>[15]</sup>, and a total of 2.0 µg of isolated RNA was converted into cDNA using Quantscript RT Kit (Tiangen Biotech, Beijing, China). The RNA expression levels of the promising lncRNA genes (*HOTTIP* and *MALAT1*) and an internalcontrol gene (GAPDH) were measured using SYBR Premix Ex Taq II (TaKaRa Biotech, Dalian, China) in an Eppendorf Mastercycler Gradient System (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany). Each reaction was performed in duplicate and controls without a template were also tested every time. The primers are summarized in Supplementary Table 1.

To perform functional candidate polymorphism and expression quantitative trait locus (eQTL) analyses on the promising genes, we mined the data from the following databases: GTExPortal (https://www.gtexportal.org/ home/) and Haploreg (http://www.broadinstitute.org/ mammals/haploreg/haploreg.php)<sup>[21]</sup>.

#### Statistical analysis

Between-group differences in sex variability, as well as accordance with Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, were



Wang BG et al.	IncRNA SNPs	with HCC risk an	d prognosis
----------------	-------------	------------------	-------------

Table T As		IIICKINA gelle	single nucle	olide polymorpi	IISTIIS AND FISK (	ог перагосени	liar cancer (/	")	
Gene	Chr. Pos.	<b>SNP</b> <sup>1</sup>	Loc.	Genotype	Controls (%)	Cases (%)	<b>P</b> <sup>2</sup> value	OR (95%CI)	<b>P</b> <sub>HWE</sub> value
HOTTIP	7p15.2	rs17501292	Exon	TT	732 (91.2)	453 (87.1)		1 (Ref.)	0.190
				TG	71 (8.8)	66 (12.7)	0.021	1.52 (1.06-2.17)	
				GG	0 (0)	1 (0.2)	NA	NA	
				TG + GG vs TT			0.017	1.54 (1.08-2.20)	
				G vs T			0.012	1.55 (1.10-2.18)	
		rs2067087	Exon	GG	174 (21.7)	88 (16.9)		1 (Ref.)	0.674
				GC	405 (50.6)	263 (50.7)	0.236	1.16 (0.90-1.49)	
				CC	222 (27.7)	168 (32.4)	0.015	1.49 (1.08-2.08)	
				CC vs GG + GC			0.035	1.35 (1.02-1.82)	
				C vs G			0.017	1.20 (1.03-1.41)	
		rs17427960	Intron	CC	172 (21.7)	85 (16.7)		1 (Ref.)	0.613
				CA	387 (48.8)	259 (50.9)	0.707	1.05 (0.81-1.35)	
				AA	234 (29.5)	165 (32.4)	0.032	1.78 (1.03-2.00)	
				AA vs CC + CA			0.028	1.39 (1.03-1.85)	
				A vs C			0.049	1.18 (1.00-1.37)	
MALAT1	22q13.2	rs4102217	Promoter	GG	608 (75.1)	362 (69.6)		1 (Ref.)	0.055
				GC	180 (22.2)	148 (28.5)	0.011	1.39 (1.08-1.79)	
				CC	22 (2.7)	10 (1.9)	0.481	0.76 (0.36-1.63)	
				GC + CC vs GG			0.028	1.32 (1.03-1.69)	
				C vs G			0.097	1.20 (0.97-1.50)	

<sup>1</sup>The sort order was according to the SNP location in its genes from 5' starting to 3' ends. <sup>2</sup>*P* value was calculated by adjusted by age and gender. NA: Not available; Chr. Pos.: Chromosomal position; Loc.: Localisation; *P*<sub>HWE</sub>: *P* value for Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium.

compared by the  $\chi^2$  test and by analysis of variance for age variability. Multivariate logistic regression with adjustments for age and sex was used to show the association between selected lncRNA polymorphisms and HCC risk. The haplotypes of each gene were analyzed using SHEsis software<sup>[22]</sup>. The two-way pairwise interactions of lncRNA SNP-SNP were calculated using multivariate logistic regression. Univariate and multivariate survival analyses were carried out by the log-rank test and the Cox proportional hazards model. The differences of relative lncRNA levels between two groups were tested by Student's *t*-test. *P* value < 0.05 was considered to be significant.

#### RESULTS

The association of SNPs in IncRNA genes with HCC risk The demographic characteristics of HCC cases and control subjects are shown in Supplementary Table 2. All polymorphism genotype distributions in cases and controls are shown in Table 1, including 12 SNPs in three IncRNA genes (HOTTIP: rs3807598, rs17501292, rs2067087, rs17427960, rs78248039; CCAT2: rs3843549, rs138947056, rs6983267; MALAT1: rs4102217, rs591291, rs11227209, and rs619586). Among them, most SNPs accorded with Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, except for CCAT2 rs6983267 (PHWE = 0.029). This SNP was thus excluded from further association analysis.

Among these remaining 11 SNPs, four in the *HOTTIP* and *MALAT1* genes were associated with HCC risk, and they all increased HCC risk (*HOTTIP*: rs17501292, rs2067087, rs17427960; *MALAT1*: rs4102217; Table 1, Supplementary Table 3). Among them, two SNPs (*HOTTIP*: rs17501292; *MALAT1*: rs4102217) showed significant in a dominant model and the other two

showed in a recessive model. *HOTTIP* rs17501292 and *MALAT1* rs4102217 were associated with an increased risk of HCC (P = 0.017 and 0.028, OR = 1.54 and 1.32, respectively) in a dominant model. In addition, *HOTTIP* rs2067087 and rs17427960 variant genotypes also showed associations with an increased risk of HCC (P = 0.035 and 0.028, OR = 1.35 and 1.39, respectively) in a recessive model. Stratified analysis based on gender, age, smoking, and drinking was performed to analyze the association between each SNP and HCC risk. The results are shown in Supplementary Table 4 and suggest these variables have potential predictive value for specific subgroup populations in HCC risk.

## The association of haplotype in four IncRNA genes with HCC risk

We chose to exclude haplotypes with a frequency of less than 0.03 from the analysis. We found only one haplotype in the *HOTTIP* gene that was associated with HCC risk. Compared with other haplotypes, patients with the C-G-T-A haplotype of *HOTTIP* rs3807598-rs17501292-rs2067087-rs17427960 showed a 1.91-fold increased risk of HCC (P = 0.006, 95%CI: 1.20-3.05; Table 2).

## Two-way SNP-SNP interaction models for IncRNA polymorphisms

For the data mining of two-way SNP-SNP interactions, we analyzed all possible pair combinations between all of these 11 SNPs and found that the pairwise interaction of *HOTTIP* rs17501292-*MALAT1* rs619586 was significant (*P*<sub>interaction</sub> = 0.028, OR = 0.30, 95%CI: 0.10-0.88; Table 3).

We further analyzed the epistatic effect of *HOTTIP* rs17501292 and *MALAT1* rs619586 and found in the



#### Wang BG et al. IncRNA SNPs with HCC risk and prognosis

Table 2 Association of	haplotype of IncRNA gene an	nd hepatocellular cancer ris	ik ( <i>n</i> )	
Haplotype	Control (%)	Case (%)	OR (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value
HOTTIP <sup>1</sup>				
CGCA	33.54 (2.4)	407.00 (4.5)	1.91 (1.20-3.05)	0.006
CTGC	663.39 (47.3)	389.97 (43.4)	0.85 (0.71-1.01)	0.066
GTCA	604.75 (43.1)	401.77 (44.7)	1.08 (0.91-1.28)	0.406
CCAT2 <sup>2</sup>				
AAG	623.60 (39.8)	434.27 (42.7)	1.13 (0.96-1.33)	0.136
AAT	937.40 (59.8)	577.73 (56.9)	0.89 (0.75-1.04)	0.136
MALAT1 <sup>3</sup>				
CTCA	217.99 (13.8)	167.00 (16.3)	1.22 (0.08-1.52)	0.080
GCCA	934.81 (59.3)	599.74 (58.6)	0.97 (0.82-1.14)	0.718
GTCA	296.19 (18.8)	1720 (16.6)	0.86 (0.70-1.06)	0.160
GTGG	85.00 (5.4)	58.94 (5.8)	1.07 (0.76-1.51)	0.689

Haplotype for <sup>1</sup>*HOTTIP* rs3807598-rs17501292-rs2067087-rs17427960; <sup>2</sup>*CCAT2* rs3843549-rs138947056-rs6983267; <sup>3</sup>*MALAT1* rs4102217-rs591291-rs11227209-rs619586.

 
 Table 3
 The two-way interaction of HOTTIP rs17501292-MALAT1 rs619586 polymorphisms in the risk of hepatocellular cancer

Variables	MALAT1 rs619586					
	AA	AG + GG				
	HCC vs CON (	(n = 335 vs 572)				
HOTTIP rs17501292						
TT						
Case/control	372/617	78/107				
OR (95%CI)	1	1.21(0.88-1.66)				
TG + GG						
Case/control	61/55	6/15				
OR (95%CI)	1.84 (1.25-2.71)	0.66 (0.26-1.73)				
	$P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.028, \text{OR}$ (95	5%CI) = 0.30 (0.10-0.88)				

HCC: Hepatocellular cancer; CON: Control.

subset with *MALAT1* rs619586 AA wild type and *HOTTIP* rs17501292 SNP an increased risk of HCC under a dominant model (P = 0.002, OR = 1.85); however, in the subset with the *HOTTIP* rs17501292 TG+GG genotype, the *MALAT1* rs619586 SNP decreased the risk of HCC under a dominant model (P = 0.050, OR = 0.36; Supplementary Table 5).

#### The association of IncRNA SNPs with HCC cancer prognosis

We analyzed the association of all 11 SNPs with the overall survival of HCC patients but found no significant association in either univariate or multivariate Cox proportional hazard analysis (Supplementary Table 6). In the stratified analysis, those with the *HOTTIP* rs3807598 variant genotype were shown to have a significantly longer survival time in the HBV-negative subgroup (P = 0.049, HR = 0.12, 95%CI = 0.02-0.99), and *MALAT1* rs591291 showed an association with a significantly better prognosis in the female and HBV-negative subgroups (P = 0.022, HR = 0.37, 95%CI = 0.16-0.87; P = 0.042, HR = 0.25, 95%CI = 0.07-0.95, respectively; Table 4, Supplementary Table 7).

#### eQTL analysis

We used eQTL analysis to investigate the effect of the SNPs identified to be associated with HCC risk on IncRNA expression. In neither the cancerous group nor the noncancerous group was a significant difference observed for the effect of the positive SNPs on IncRNA expression levels (Table 5). Among them, only the heterozygote genotype of intronic rs17427960 of the HOTTIP gene was associated with higher IncRNA-HOTTIP expression, with borderline significance (CA vs CC: P = 0.063; Table 5). Next, we searched public databases for the SNPs for which positive results were obtained in the eQTL analysis (rs17501292, rs2067087, rs17427960, rs4102217). The results from the GTExPortal showed that rs4102217 is a functional SNP in 34 different tissues, such as pancreas and stomach (Supplementary Table 8), and that rs17501292 is a functional SNP in tibial artery tissue; however, no eQTL data for rs2067087 and rs17427960 were found in the public databases. In addition, in Haploreg, it was shown that these SNPs are associated with several kinds of regulatory motifs if the SNP bases altered (Supplementary Figure 1).

#### DISCUSSION

In this study, we preliminarily screened all of the tagSNPs covering three onco-IncRNAs, *HOTTIP*, *CCAT2*, and *MALAT1*, for associations with HCC risk and prognosis. We identified four promising risk-associated SNPs, one haplotype, and a two-way pairwise interaction combination associated with HCC risk. We also found that patients carrying the *HOTTIP* rs3807598 and *MALAT1* rs591291 variant genotypes had a longer survival time in the HBV-negative subgroup. Further molecular experiments were also conducted to investigate whether the tagSNPs could affect the expression of the corresponding IncRNAs. Our study provides an experimental basis for seeking predictive biomarkers for the risk and prognosis of HCC.

Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Table 4 Univariate proportional hazard analysis stratified by host characteristics for the association of *lncRNA* polymorphisms and hepatocellular cancer n (%)

Gene	SNP	Stratified	Stratified factors	Genotype	НСС	Death	MST (M)	<i>P</i> value	Hazard ratio (95%CI)
HOTTIP	rs3807598				<i>n</i> = 136				
		HBV	Positive	CC	30 (22.06)	12	90.0		1 (reference)
				CG	73 (53.68)	23	90.1 <sup>b</sup>	0.391	0.74 (0.37-1.48)
				GG	33 (24.26)	11	64.1 <sup>b</sup>	0.680	0.84 (0.37-1.91)
					n = 31				· · · ·
			Negative	CC	10 (32.26)	7	21.0		1 (reference)
				CG	13 (41.94)	4	41.8 <sup>b</sup>	0.374	0.60 (0.16-1.97)
				GG	8 (25.80)	1	70.3 <sup>b</sup>	0.049	0.12 (0.02-0.99)
					n = 285				
MALAT1	rs591291				n = 286				
		Gender	Male	CC	98 (34.27)	39	48.0		1 (reference)
				TC	146 (51.05)	56	56.0	0.865	0.97 (0.64-1.45)
				TT	42 (14.68)	19	47.0	0.678	1.12 (0.65-1.94)
					n = 64				
			Female	CC	22 (34.38)	13	32.0		1 (reference)
				TC	37 (57.81)	9	56.0	0.022	0.37 (0.16-0.87)
				TT	5 (7.81)	0	NA	0.286	0.04 (0.00-16.09)
					n = 139				
		HBV	Positive	CC	54 (38.85)	18	69.0		1 (reference)
				TC	69 (49.64)	21	92.1 <sup>b</sup>	0.816	0.93 (0.49-1.74)
				TT	16 (11.51)	7	90.0	0.965	0.98 (0.41-2.35)
					n = 31				
			Negative	CC	8 (25.81)	5	6.0		1 (reference)
				TC	16 (51.61)	4	27.0	0.042	0.25 (0.07-0.95)
				TT	7 (22.58)	3	21.0	0.215	0.40 (0.09-1.71)

HR: Hazard rate; MST: Median survival time (months); NA: Not available.

#### Table 5 Differences of IncRNA gene mRNA levels in different genotypes in hepatocellular cancer and non-cancer tissues

Variable	Non-cancer tissues					Cance	r tissues	
	n	$\Delta Ct$ (Mean ± SD)	Normalized 2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct	<b>P</b> <sup>1</sup> value	п	$\Delta Ct$ (Mean ± SD)	Normalized 2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct	<b>P</b> <sup>1</sup> value
The effect of	The effect of HOTTIP rs17501292 genotypes to HOTTIP mRNA expression							
TT	10	$12.32 \pm 4.06$	1 (0.60, 16.68)	Ref.	25	$11.84 \pm 3.87$	1.39 (0.10, 20.39)	Ref.
TG	1	NA	NA	NA	2	$15.30 \pm 1.65$	NA	0.735
GG	0	NA	NA	NA	0	NA	NA	NA
The effect of	HOTTIP 1	rs2067087 genotypes to	HOTTIP mRNA expre	ession				
GG	2	$8.64 \pm 2.06$	1 (0.24, 4.17)	Ref.	5	$11.66 \pm 1.43$	1 (0.37, 2.69)	Ref.
GC	5	$12.25 \pm 4.17$	0.13 (0.01, 1.23)	0.253	13	$11.85 \pm 3.53$	0.88 (0.08, 10.13)	0.101
CC	4	$13.70 \pm 3.86$	0.03 (0.00, 0.86)	0.453	8	$12.23 \pm 5.42$	0.67 (0.02, 28.84)	0.444
The effect of	HOTTIP 1	rs17427960 genotypes t	to HOTTIP mRNA exp	ression				
CC	2	$8.64 \pm 2.06$	1 (0.24, 4.17)	Ref.	6	$12.47 \pm 2.34$	1 (0.20, 5.06)	Ref.
CA	5	$11.55 \pm 3.21$	0.13 (0.01, 1.15)	0.254	13	$11.88 \pm 3.72$	2.13 (0.04, 125.37)	0.063
AA	3	$13.56 \pm 4.71$	0.03 (0.00, 0.86)	0.465	6	$11.38 \pm 5.88$	1.51 (0.11, 19.84)	0.348
The effect of	MALAT1	rs4102217 genotypes t	o MALAT1 mRNA exp	pression				
GG	52	$-2.25 \pm 4.40$	1 (0.05, 21.11)	Ref.	51	$-0.98 \pm 4.88$	1 (0.03, 29.45)	Ref.
GC	16	$-3.76 \pm 3.60$	2.85 (0.23, 34.54)	0.404	16	$-2.79 \pm 4.55$	3.51 (0.15, 82.14)	0.742
CC	NA	NA	NA	NA	1	NA	NA	NA

<sup>1</sup>The statistical analysis for the effect of genotype to phenotype was used two-independent sample *t*-test, and for the combination of genotype to phenotype was used ANOVA analysis. NA: Not available.

LncRNAs function as ceRNAs to compete with mRNAs for access to miRNAs, which could regulate the expression of coding genes<sup>[5]</sup>. Most studies on lncRNA expression have focused on H19 and HOTAIR as well as other lncRNAs such as PRNCR1, *HOTTIP*, CCAT1, *CCAT2*, and *MALAT1*. *HOTTIP*, *CCAT2*, and *MALAT1* are all onco-lncRNAs, which have similar biological functions in promoting cell proliferation and invasion<sup>[23-29]</sup>. They can also promote HCC metastasis and epithelial-mesenchymal

transition<sup>[30-33]</sup>. The *HOTTIP* gene is located in 7p15.2 and has three exons, the *CCAT2* gene is located in 8q24.21 and has one exon, and the *MALAT1* gene is located in 11q13.1 and has two exons. The most common SNPs reported for these genes are *HOTTIP* rs3807598, *CCAT2* rs6983267, and *MALAT1* rs619586. The first of these was found to be predictive of hematological toxicity in a three-way interaction pattern<sup>[34]</sup>, and the latter two were indicated to be associated with platinum-based

chemotherapy response in lung cancer<sup>[11]</sup>. In this study, we found that SNPs in two exons (rs17501292 and rs2067087) and one intron (rs17427960) of the HOTTIP gene as well as an SNP in the promoter (rs4102217) of the MALAT1 gene were associated with HCC risk; these variant alleles increased HCC risk in the range from 1.18to 1.55-fold. These four SNPs are reported here for the first time to be associated with cancer risk. Concerning the commonly studied HOTTIP rs3807598 and MALAT1 rs619586 SNPs, no significant associations with HCC risk were found in this study, which is consistent with the findings in a report by Liu<sup>[35]</sup>. In addition, we found that none of the CCAT2 SNPs was associated with HCC risk. Following the identification of the possible significant SNPs, we further analyzed the relationship between the HOTTIP C-G-C-A haplotype of rs3807598-rs17501292rs2067087-rs17427960 and HCC risk. The results showed an increase in HCC risk of 1.91-fold in those with this haplotype, and the OR value was greater than that for each SNP alone. Taking these findings together, it is newly indicated that the HOTTIP SNPs rs17501292, rs2067087, and rs17427960 and the MALAT1 SNP rs4102217 have potential to be biomarkers for HCC risk.

Combined interaction analysis for multiple SNPs from different genes is more sensitive and powerful than one-dimensional SNP analysis<sup>[36]</sup>. For individual SNPs at single loci that were previously shown to have no or a weak effect on disease risk, an epistatic effect may appear when they are analyzed in combination<sup>[3/]</sup>.</sup> One of the most significant findings in this study was the SNP-SNP interaction identified for the HOTTIP rs17501292-MALAT1 rs619586 polymorphisms, which was confirmed by the epistatic effect analysis. In the main-effect analysis, HOTTIP rs17501292 had a weak effect, and MALAT1 rs619586 had no effect on the risk of HCC. However, the pairwise analysis of these two in combination showed that they had an interactive effect on HCC risk. Subsequently, we analyzed the epistatic effect of these two SNPs and found that MALAT1 rs619586 was associated with a decreased risk of HCC only in the presence of the HOTTIP rs17501292 TG+GG genotype. A similar epistatic effect between coding genes was also found in our previous study<sup>[38]</sup>. Further investigations are needed to verify our findings and the mechanism involved in the epistatic phenomenon.

In the prognostic analysis, we found no significant association of the studied SNPs with the overall survival of HCC patients. However, in the stratified analysis based on gender, we found that *MALAT1* rs591291 was associated with significantly better prognosis in the female subgroup. When stratified by HBV infection status, we found that patients carrying *HOTTIP* rs3807598 and *MALAT1* rs591291 variant genotypes had longer survival times. As some biomarkers are specific for certain subgroups and have potential to be used for the diagnosis or individualized therapy of specific subgroups<sup>[39]</sup>, the above-mentioned polymorphisms could have value in predicting HCC prognosis for certain subgroups.

eQTL is an analysis in which the combination of mRNA expression and genotype data is applied to determine which variants are correlated with the transcription levels of genes<sup>[40]</sup>. We analyzed the SNPs potentially associated with HCC risk in our own data and then reanalyzed them in two public databases for the eQTL analysis. HOTTIP rs17501292 and rs2067087 are both located in exon 2 of this gene, while rs17427960 is in intron 2. In contrast, rs4102217 is located at -1255 bp of the MALAT1 gene, within the promoter region. Among these four SNPs, we found that only the heterozygous genotype of intronic rs17427960 of the HOTTIP gene was associated with a higher IncRNA-HOTTIP expression level, with borderline significance. The public databases offered some supportive evidence for this from findings in other tissues, suggesting that rs4102217 in the MALAT1 promoter is a functional SNP in 34 different tissues, such as pancreas and stomach, and that exonic rs17501292 of HOTTIP is a functional SNP in tibial artery tissue. In addition, some regulatory motifs, which were predicted by the bioinformatical software listed in Supplementary Figure 1, are transcription factors like PAX-4 and AP1. Thus, it is reasonable to assume that these SNPs could regulate certain motifs, leading to higher expression of oncogenic IncRNA and thus an elevation of HCC risk. However, further functional research is required to confirm this.

In summary, we found that the SNPs rs17501292, rs2067087, and rs17427960 in the *HOTTIP* gene, rs4102217 in the *MALAT1* gene, and a haplotype of *HOTTIP* increased the risk of HCC. In addition the SNPs *HOTTIP* rs3807598 and *MALAT1* rs591291 were associated with longer survival time in the HBV-negative subgroup.

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Genetic polymorphisms could be biomarkers for cancer risk and prognosis. Recent years, it was found that coding genes and non-coding genes had single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). LncRNAs had important roles in the tumor incidence, progression, and prognosis. Thus, IncRNA polymorphisms had potential to be biomarkers for cancer precaution and prognostic prediction.

#### **Research motivation**

The aim of this study is to screen out the effective biomarkers for the hepatocellular cancer (HCC) risk and prognosis. The selected polymorphisms would have potential for the prediction of cancer risk and prognosis.

#### **Research objectives**

Five hundred and twenty-one patients of HCC and frequency matched 817 controls were studied for the cancer risk study. Among them, 351 patients for which the information was all available were recruited for the prognosis study. Then, 68 HCC specimens and corresponding samples from the noncancerous region were detected for the expression level study.

#### Research methods

For the risk and prognosis study, the samples were detected by the genomic DNA extracted and allele-specific PCR with KASPar reagents. The single nucleotide polymorphisms were selected by the Haploview software. The expression level study isolated the RNA isolated and then converted it to cDNA.



The SYBR based real-time PCR were adopted for the IncRNA expression.

#### **Research results**

We found the *HOTTIP* rs17501292, rs2067087, and rs17427960 SNPs increased HCC risk by 1.55-, 1.20-, and 1.18-fold under an allelic model, and the *MALAT1* rs4102217 SNP increased HCC risk by 1.32-fold under a dominant model. In addition, the two-way interaction of *HOTTIP* rs17501292 and *MALAT1* rs619586 polymorphisms decreased HCC risk and exhibited epistatic effects. In the survival analysis, the *HOTTIP* rs3807598 variant genotype showed significantly longer survival time in the hepatitis B virus (HBV)-negative subgroup, and *MALAT1* rs591291 showed an association with significantly better prognosis in the female and HBV-negative group. In this study, no significant effect in eQTL analysis was observed.

#### **Research conclusions**

Some specific HOTTIP and MALAT1 SNPs have the potential to be biomarkers for HCC risk and prognosis.

#### **Research perspectives**

Screening SNPs could be valuable for the identification of biomarkers for HCC risk and prognosis. It could also be used for patient care, as there would be a cohort of patients who would benefit from screening using these positive SNPs.

#### REFERENCES

- Bosetti C, Turati F, La Vecchia C. Hepatocellular carcinoma epidemiology. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2014; 28: 753-770 [PMID: 25260306 DOI: 10.1016/j.bpg.2014.08.007]
- 2 Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. *Int J Cancer* 2010; 127: 2893-2917 [PMID: 21351269 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.25516]
- 3 **Roessler S**, Budhu A, Wang XW. Deciphering cancer heterogeneity: the biological space. *Front Cell Dev Biol* 2014; **2**: 12 [PMID: 25364720 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2014.00012]
- 4 Shen H, Laird PW. Interplay between the cancer genome and epigenome. *Cell* 2013; **153**: 38-55 [PMID: 23540689 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.008]
- 5 Wang J, Liu X, Wu H, Ni P, Gu Z, Qiao Y, Chen N, Sun F, Fan Q. CREB up-regulates long non-coding RNA, HULC expression through interaction with microRNA-372 in liver cancer. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2010; 38: 5366-5383 [PMID: 20423907 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkq285]
- 6 Hu Z, Chen J, Tian T, Zhou X, Gu H, Xu L, Zeng Y, Miao R, Jin G, Ma H, Chen Y, Shen H. Genetic variants of miRNA sequences and non-small cell lung cancer survival. *J Clin Invest* 2008; 118: 2600-2608 [PMID: 18521189 DOI: 10.1172/JCI34934]
- 7 Li XF, Yin XH, Cai JW, Wang MJ, Zeng YQ, Li M, Niu YM, Shen M. Significant association between lncRNA H19 polymorphisms and cancer susceptibility: a meta-analysis. *Oncotarget* 2017; 8: 45143-45153 [PMID: 28404885 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.16658]
- 8 Lv Z, Xu Q, Yuan Y. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between long non-coding RNA polymorphisms and cancer risk. *Mutat Res* 2017; 771: 1-14 [PMID: 28342449 DOI: 10.1016/j.mrrev.2016.10.002]
- 9 Chu H, Chen Y, Yuan Q, Hua Q, Zhang X, Wang M, Tong N, Zhang W, Chen J, Zhang Z. The HOTAIR, PRNCR1 and POLR2E polymorphisms are associated with cancer risk: a meta-analysis. *Oncotarget* 2017; 8: 43271-43283 [PMID: 28159929 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.14920]
- 10 Qiu H, Wang X, Guo R, Liu Q, Wang Y, Yuan Z, Li J, Shi H. HOTAIR rs920778 polymorphism is associated with ovarian cancer susceptibility and poor prognosis in a Chinese population. *Future Oncol* 2017; 13: 347-355 [PMID: 27690631 DOI: 10.2217/ fon-2016-0290]
- 11 Gong WJ, Yin JY, Li XP, Fang C, Xiao D, Zhang W, Zhou HH, Li X, Liu ZQ. Association of well-characterized lung cancer lncRNA polymorphisms with lung cancer susceptibility and platinum-based

chemotherapy response. *Tumour Biol* 2016; **37**: 8349-8358 [PMID: 26729200 DOI: 10.1007/s13277-015-4497-5]

- 12 Wang JZ, Xiang JJ, Wu LG, Bai YS, Chen ZW, Yin XQ, Wang Q, Guo WH, Peng Y, Guo H, Xu P. A genetic variant in long non-coding RNA MALAT1 associated with survival outcome among patients with advanced lung adenocarcinoma: a survival cohort analysis. *BMC Cancer* 2017; **17**: 167 [PMID: 28253859 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-017-3151-6]
- 13 Kasagi Y, Oki E, Ando K, Ito S, Iguchi T, Sugiyama M, Nakashima Y, Ohgaki K, Saeki H, Mimori K, Maehara Y. The Expression of CCAT2, a Novel Long Noncoding RNA Transcript, and rs6983267 Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism Genotypes in Colorectal Cancers. *Oncology* 2017; **92**: 48-54 [PMID: 27875818 DOI: 10.1159/000452143]
- 14 Hu P, Qiao O, Wang J, Li J, Jin H, Li Z, Jin Y. rs1859168 A > C polymorphism regulates HOTTIP expression and reduces risk of pancreatic cancer in a Chinese population. *World J Surg Oncol* 2017; 15: 155 [PMID: 28818070 DOI: 10.1186/s12957-017-1218-0]
- 15 Xu Q, Chen MY, He CY, Sun LP, Yuan Y. Promoter polymorphisms in trefoil factor 2 and trefoil factor 3 genes and susceptibility to gastric cancer and atrophic gastritis among Chinese population. *Gene* 2013; **529**: 104-112 [PMID: 23933418 DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2013.07.070]
- 16 Gong Y, He C, Duan Z, Sun L, Xu Q, Xing C, Yuan Y. Association of two ERCC4 tagSNPs with susceptibility to atrophic gastritis and gastric cancer in Chinese. *Gene* 2013; 519: 335-342 [PMID: 23415627 DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2013.01.059]
- 17 Vineis P, Manuguerra M, Kavvoura FK, Guarrera S, Allione A, Rosa F, Di Gregorio A, Polidoro S, Saletta F, Ioannidis JP, Matullo G. A field synopsis on low-penetrance variants in DNA repair genes and cancer susceptibility. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2009; 101: 24-36 [PMID: 19116388 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djn437]
- 18 Tabor HK, Risch NJ, Myers RM. Candidate-gene approaches for studying complex genetic traits: practical considerations. *Nat Rev Genet* 2002; 3: 391-397 [PMID: 11988764 DOI: 10.1038/nrg796]
- 19 Yuan HY, Chiou JJ, Tseng WH, Liu CH, Liu CK, Lin YJ, Wang HH, Yao A, Chen YT, Hsu CN. FASTSNP: an always up-to-date and extendable service for SNP function analysis and prioritization. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2006; 34: W635-W641 [PMID: 16845089 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkl236]
- 20 Xu Q, Yuan Y, Sun LP, Gong YH, Xu Y, Yu XW, Dong NN, Lin GD, Smith PN, Li RW. Risk of gastric cancer is associated with the MUC1 568 A/G polymorphism. *Int J Oncol* 2009; 35: 1313-1320 [PMID: 19885554]
- 21 Westra HJ, Peters MJ, Esko T, Yaghootkar H, Schurmann C, Kettunen J, Christiansen MW, Fairfax BP, Schramm K, Powell JE, Zhernakova A, Zhernakova DV, Veldink JH, Van den Berg LH, Karjalainen J, Withoff S, Uitterlinden AG, Hofman A, Rivadeneira F, Hoen PAC', Reinmaa E, Fischer K, Nelis M, Milani L, Melzer D, Ferrucci L, Singleton AB, Hernandez DG, Nalls MA, Homuth G, Nauck M, Radke D, Völker U, Perola M, Salomaa V, Brody J, Suchy-Dicey A, Gharib SA, Enquobahrie DA, Lumley T, Montgomery GW, Makino S, Prokisch H, Herder C, Roden M, Grallert H, Meitinger T, Strauch K, Li Y, Jansen RC, Visscher PM, Knight JC, Psaty BM, Ripatti S, Teumer A, Frayling TM, Metspalu A, van Meurs JBJ, Franke L. Systematic identification of trans eQTLs as putative drivers of known disease associations. *Nat Genet* 2013; **45**: 1238-1243 [PMID: 24013639 DOI: 10.1038/ng.2756]
- 22 Li Z, Zhang Z, He Z, Tang W, Li T, Zeng Z, He L, Shi Y. A partition-ligation-combination-subdivision EM algorithm for haplotype inference with multiallelic markers: update of the SHEsis (http://analysis.bio-x.cn). *Cell Res* 2009; **19**: 519-523 [PMID: 19290020 DOI: 10.1038/cr.2009.33]
- 23 Deng X, Zhao Y, Wu X, Song G. Upregulation of CCAT2 promotes cell proliferation by repressing the P15 in breast cancer. *Biomed Pharmacother* 2017; 91: 1160-1166 [PMID: 28531944 DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.05.030]
- 24 Wu ZJ, Li Y, Wu YZ, Wang Y, Nian WQ, Wang LL, Li LC, Luo HL, Wang DL. Long non-coding RNA CCAT2 promotes the breast cancer growth and metastasis by regulating TGF-β signaling

pathway. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2017; 21: 706-714 [PMID: 28272713]

- 25 Cheng Y, Jutooru I, Chadalapaka G, Corton JC, Safe S. The long non-coding RNA HOTTIP enhances pancreatic cancer cell proliferation, survival and migration. *Oncotarget* 2015; 6: 10840-10852 [PMID: 25912306 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.3450]
- 26 Zhang S, Wang W, Liu G, Xie S, Li Q, Li Y, Lin Z. Long noncoding RNA HOTTIP promotes hypoxia-induced epithelialmesenchymal transition of malignant glioma by regulating the miR-101/ZEB1 axis. *Biomed Pharmacother* 2017; 95: 711-720 [PMID: 28886531 DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.08.133]
- 27 Wang Y, Zhang Y, Yang T, Zhao W, Wang N, Li P, Zeng X, Zhang W. Long non-coding RNA MALAT1 for promoting metastasis and proliferation by acting as a ceRNA of miR-144-3p in osteosarcoma cells. *Oncotarget* 2017; 8: 59417-59434 [PMID: 28938647 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.19727]
- 28 Zuo Y, Li Y, Zhou Z, Ma M, Fu K. Long non-coding RNA MALAT1 promotes proliferation and invasion via targeting miR-129-5p in triple-negative breast cancer. *Biomed Pharmacother* 2017; 95: 922-928 [PMID: 28915533 DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.09.005]
- 29 Shi B, Wang Y, Yin F. MALAT1/miR-124/Capn4 axis regulates proliferation, invasion and EMT in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. *Cancer Biol Ther* 2017; 18: 792-800 [PMID: 28857668 DOI: 10.1080/15384047.2017.1373214]
- 30 Xu Y, Wang B, Zhang F, Wang A, Du X, Hu P, Zhu Y, Fang Z. Long non-coding RNA CCAT2 is associated with poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma and promotes tumor metastasis by regulating Snail2-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Onco Targets Ther* 2017; 10: 1191-1198 [PMID: 28280353 DOI: 10.2147/OTT.S127100]
- 31 Zhou N, Si Z, Li T, Chen G, Zhang Z, Qi H. Long non-coding RNA CCAT2 functions as an oncogene in hepatocellular carcinoma, regulating cellular proliferation, migration and apoptosis. *Oncol Lett* 2016; 12: 132-138 [PMID: 27347113 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2016.4580]
- 32 Chen F, Bai G, Li Y, Feng Y, Wang L. A positive feedback loop of long noncoding RNA CCAT2 and FOXM1 promotes hepatocellular

carcinoma growth. Am J Cancer Res 2017; 7: 1423-1434 [PMID: 28744394]

- 33 Chen L, Yao H, Wang K, Liu X. Long Non-Coding RNA MALAT1 Regulates ZEB1 Expression by Sponging miR-143-3p and Promotes Hepatocellular Carcinoma Progression. J Cell Biochem 2017; 118: 4836-4843 [PMID: 28543721 DOI: 10.1002/jcb.26158]
- 34 Gong WJ, Peng JB, Yin JY, Li XP, Zheng W, Xiao L, Tan LM, Xiao D, Chen YX, Li X, Zhou HH, Liu ZQ. Association between well-characterized lung cancer lncRNA polymorphisms and platinum-based chemotherapy toxicity in Chinese patients with lung cancer. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 2017; 38: 581-590 [PMID: 28260796 DOI: 10.1038/aps.2016.164]
- 35 Liu Y, Pan S, Liu L, Zhai X, Liu J, Wen J, Zhang Y, Chen J, Shen H, Hu Z. A genetic variant in long non-coding RNA HULC contributes to risk of HBV-related hepatocellular carcinoma in a Chinese population. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e35145 [PMID: 22493738 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035145]
- 36 Yin J, Vogel U, Ma Y, Qi R, Wang H. HapMap-based study of the DNA repair gene ERCC2 and lung cancer susceptibility in a Chinese population. *Carcinogenesis* 2009; **30**: 1181-1185 [PMID: 19406934 DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgp107]
- 37 Carlborg O, Haley CS. Epistasis: too often neglected in complex trait studies? *Nat Rev Genet* 2004; 5: 618-625 [PMID: 15266344 DOI: 10.1038/nrg1407]
- 38 He C, Tu H, Sun L, Xu Q, Gong Y, Jing J, Dong N, Yuan Y. SNP interactions of Helicobacter pylori-related host genes PGC, PTPN11, IL1B, and TLR4 in susceptibility to gastric carcinogenesis. *Oncotarget* 2015; 6: 19017-19026 [PMID: 26158864 DOI: 10.18632/ oncotarget.4231]
- Baker SG, Kramer BS, Sargent DJ, Bonetti M. Biomarkers, subgroup evaluation, and clinical trial design. *Discov Med* 2012; 13: 187-192 [PMID: 22463794]
- 40 **Gupta RM**, Musunuru K. Mapping Novel Pathways in Cardiovascular Disease Using eQTL Data: The Past, Present, and Future of Gene Expression Analysis. *Front Genet* 2013; **3**: 232 [PMID: 23755065 DOI: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00232]

P- Reviewer: Gingras MC, Lepetsos P, Ratnasari N S- Editor: Wang XJ L- Editor: Filipodia E- Editor: Huang Y







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2491

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2491-2500 ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### **Retrospective Cohort Study**

### Subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy for the treatment of slow transit constipation in an aged population: A retrospective control study

Yang Yang, Yong-Li Cao, Wen-Hang Wang, Yuan-Yao Zhang, Nan Zhao, Dong Wei

Yang Yang, Yong-Li Cao, Wen-Hang Wang, Yuan-Yao Zhang, Nan Zhao, Dong Wei, Institute of Anal-Colorectal Surgery, No. 150 Central Hospital of PLA, Luoyang 471000, Henan Province, China

ORCID number: Yang Yang (0000-0002-9663-4715); Yong-Li Cao (0000-0002-4111-7171); Wen-Hang Wang (0000-0002 -5823-3486); Yuan-Yao Zhang (0000-0002-0629-3882); Nan Zhao (0000-0003-3874-2651); Dong Wei (0000-0001-8857-8605).

Author contributions: Yang Y and Cao YL contributed equally; Wei D, Yang Y, and Cao YL designed the research; Cao YL, Wang WH, and Zhang YY performed the research; Yang Y and Zhao N analyzed the data; Yang Y wrote the paper; and Wei D and Cao YL critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content.

Supported by the Medical Science and Technology Project of Henan Province, No. 2011030031.

Institutional review board statement: The protocol of this study was approved by the Ethics Committee of No. 150 Central Hospital of PLA. All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were conducted in accordance with the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Informed consent statement: Written informed consent was obtained from all patients.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Dong Wei, MD, Chief Doctor, Professor, Institute of Anal-Colorectal Surgery, No. 150 Central Hospital of PLA, Huaxia Road, Luoyang 471031, Henan Province, China. yy 150@126.com Telephone: +86-379-64169319 Fax: +86-379-64169319

Received: March 15, 2018 Peer-review started: March 16, 2018 First decision: March 30, 2018 Revised: April 5, 2018 Accepted: May 18, 2018 Article in press: May 18, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

#### Abstract

#### AIM

To compare the efficacy, improved quality of life, and prognosis in patients undergoing either subtotal colonic bypass with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy (SCBAC) or subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy (SCBCAC) for the treatment of slow transit constipation.

#### **METHODS**

Between October 2010 and October 2014, aged patients with slow transit constipation who were hospitalized and underwent laparoscopic surgery in our institute were



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

divided into two groups: the bypass group, 15 patients underwent SCBAC, and the bypass plus colostomy group, 14 patients underwent SCBCAC. The following preoperative and postoperative clinical data were collected: gender, age, body mass index, operative time, first flatus time, length of hospital stay, bowel movements (BMs), Wexner fecal incontinence scale, Wexner constipation scale (WCS), gastrointestinal quality of life index (GIQLI), numerical rating scale for pain intensity (NRS), abdominal bloating score (ABS), and Clavien-Dindo classification of surgical complications (CD) before surgery and at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery.

#### RESULTS

All patients successfully underwent laparoscopic surgery without open surgery conversion or surgeryrelated death. The operative time and blood loss were significantly less in the bypass group than in the bypass plus colostomy group (P = 0.007). No significant differences were observed in first flatus time, length of hospital stay, or complications with CD > 1 between the two groups. No patients had fecal incontinence after surgery. At 3, 6, and 12 mo after surgery, the number of BMs was significantly less in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group. The parameters at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery in both groups significantly improved compared with the preoperative conditions (P < 0.05), except NRS at 3, 6 mo after surgery in both groups, ABS at 12, 24 mo after surgery and NRS at 12, 24 mo after surgery in the bypass group. WCS, GIQLI, NRS, and ABS significantly improved in the bypass plus colostomy group compared with the bypass group at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery (P < 0.05) except WCS, NRS at 3, 6 mo after surgery and ABS at 3 mo after surgery. At 1 year after surgery, a barium enema examination showed that the emptying time was significantly better in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group (P = 0.007).

#### CONCLUSION

Laparoscopic SCBCAC is an effective and safe procedure for the treatment of slow transit constipation in an aged population and can significantly improve the prognosis. Its clinical efficacy is more favorable compared with that of SCBAC. Laparoscopic SCBCAC is a better procedure for the treatment of slow transit constipation in an aged population.

Key words: Subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy; Subtotal colonic bypass with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy; Minimally invasive surgery for treatment of constipation; Clinical efficacy; Slow transit constipation in an aged population

© **The Author(s) 2018.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Constipation is one of the most common gastrointestinal symptoms. From October 2010 to October 2014, we employed laparoscopic subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy (SCBCAC) to treat aged patients with constipation and conducted a retrospective control study in comparison with subtotal colonic bypass with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy (SCBAC). From our study, we concluded that laparoscopic SCBCAC is an effective and safe procedure for the treatment of slow transit constipation in an aged population and can significantly improve the prognosis. Its clinical efficacy is more favorable compared with that of SCBAC.

Yang Y, Cao YL, Wang WH, Zhang YY, Zhao N, Wei D. Subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy for the treatment of slow transit constipation in an aged population: A retrospective control study. *World J Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2491-2500 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet.com/1007-9327/full/v24/i23/2491.htm DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2491

#### INTRODUCTION

Constipation is one of the most common gastrointestinal symptoms. Generally, the incidence is 16% in females and 12% in males, but it affects more than 30% of the aged population<sup>[1]</sup> and seriously alters the life quality of patients. In terms of treatments for constipation<sup>[2]</sup>, surgery is a common approach for treatment of intractable slow transit constipation (STC), especially for those with poor responses to conservative treatment. One of the two commonly used surgical approaches is total colectomy with ileorectal anastomosis (TC-IRA), which is widely used in the treatment of slow transit constipation because of its high cure rate<sup>[3-5]</sup>. Although constipation is alleviated, the main problem after surgery is the increased number of bowel movements (BMs), which causes some patients to suffer from abdominal pain, abdominal bloating, refractory diarrhea, loss of nutrients, and intestinal obstruction<sup>[5-8]</sup>. The other surgical approach is subtotal colectomy with cecorectal anastomosis (SCCRA)<sup>[9,10]</sup>, which preserves the ileocecal valve and partial colon to be conducive to the absorption of water, electrolytes, bile salts, and vitamins and can alleviate severe postoperative diarrhea. More importantly, SCCRA is associated with a lower incidence of intestinal obstruction and can considerably improve the life quality of patients<sup>[11-14]</sup>. Based on different anastomosis sites, SCCRA is divided into two procedures: subtotal colectomy with isoperistaltic cecorectal anastomosis (SCICRA) and subtotal colectomy with antiperistaltic cecorectal anastomosis (SCACRA). SCICRA requires rotation of the ileocecal junction, which may easily lead to blood vessel torsion and poor blood circulation<sup>[9,15-19]</sup>. In contrast, SCACRA does not require rotation of the ileocecal junction and can avoid causing blood vessel torsion. Additionally, the function of the ileocecal junction is preserved. Thus, the SCACRA surgical method maintains the physiological anatomy<sup>[10,20-25]</sup>. Although the abovementioned methods have good efficacy in the treatment of slow transit



WJG | www.wjgnet.com

constipation, they are not suitable for aged patients or patients in poor physical condition because of the large wound produced and the length of the operation; these patients need non-surgical treatments. After longterm treatment with oral laxative agents, the patients become nonresponsive to these agents and have to undergo enema administration periodically to alleviate their constipation. Some patients cannot tolerate the suffering of constipation and have to choose ileostomy, which considerably impacts the quality of life of patients. In 2010, Yong-Gang Wang reported a subtotal colonic bypass with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy (SCBAC) via an abdominal approach to treat slow transit constipation. In Wang's study, the average patient age was 51 years (range: 28-75 years). In patients who received 1-year follow-up, the alleviation rate of constipation was up to 75% (9/12)<sup>[26]</sup>. The procedure Wang used involved closing the distal portion of the cecum, after which side-side anastomosis was performed between the blinding end of the cecum and the rectum. In 2010, we performed four laparoscopic SCBACs in patients over 70 years old. After surgery, two patients experienced severe abdominal pain, abdominal bloating, rectal discomfort, and tenesmus. They did not respond to oral laxatives and required enemas for daily BMs. We examined these four patients with barium enemas and found barium retention in the excluded colon for 84 h in one case and 300 h in another. Therefore, we considered that the patient's postoperative symptoms may be related to the retention of indigested food and feces in the excluded colon. If the upper portion of the rectum was occluded with endside anastomosis between the cecum and rectum, the excluded colon could become a closed loop. Thus, colonic mucus and fluid cannot be discharged, and observation of the excluded colon becomes impossible, which may cause delays in the detection and treatment of potential colonic lesions. From October 2010 to October 2014, we employed laparoscopic subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy (SCBCAC) to treat aged patients with constipation and conducted a retrospective control study in comparison with SCBAC.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Patient selection

This was a two-phase study conducted in the Institute of Anal-Colorectal Surgery of PLA. From October 2010 to June 2012, 15 consecutive patients over 70 years old underwent laparoscopic SCBAC (LSCBAC); this group of patients was defined as the bypass group. From July 2012 to October 2014, 15 consecutive patients over 70 years old underwent laparoscopic SCBCAC (LSCBCAC); this group of patients was defined as the bypass plus colostomy group. Follow-ups were performed in these two groups of patients for more than 2 years. One patient in the bypass plus colostomy group was lost during follow-up. The preoperative examination included colonic transit test, defecography, colonoscopy, electromyography, anorectal manometry, and routine preoperative examination for colonic resection.

The surgical indications for this study are described as follows. Inclusion criteria: (1) The Rome III diagnosis criteria for constipation; (2) confirmed diagnosis of slow colon transit constipation (at least two positive colonic transit tests were recorded before surgery); (3) chronic (non-surgical treatment for more than 5 years), severe (WCS > 15), refractory (long-term dependence on high-dose laxative or application of enema) slow transit constipation; and (4) age  $\geq$  70 years. The exclusion criteria included: (1) American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score > 3; (2) liver and kidney dysfunction; (3) patients with psychological symptoms or with history of mental illness, such as rectal abuse, vaginal abuse, etc.; (4) patients with obvious signs of outlet obstruction (such as frequent defecation, difficult defecation without dry feces, and anorectal dysfunction); (5) patients with a history of major abdominal surgery; (6) exclusion of organic colon disease; and (7) patients with life-threatening diseases, such as cancer.

#### Surgical procedure

Each procedure was performed by the same surgical team of the Institute of Anal-Colorectal Surgery of PLA. The patients were placed in the Trendelenburg position  $(\leq 15^{\circ})$  with legs apart. The pneumoperitoneum was maintained at 8 kPa or less. In the bypass plus colostomy group, laparoscopy was performed via five incisions. The five trocars were placed as follows: trocar 1 was placed at a site 0.5-1 cm above the umbilicus, trocar 2 was placed at the lateral margin of the left rectus abdominis muscle 4 cm below the umbilicus, trocar 3 was placed at the lateral margin of the left rectus abdominis muscle 2 cm above the umbilicus, and trocars 4 and 5 were placed at the mirror position of trocars 2 and 3 at the lateral margin of the right rectus abdominis muscle. The surgeon stood on the left side of the patient to mobilize the ileocecal junction and the ascending colon and to lower the ileocecal junction down to the pelvic inlet with preservation of the blood supply. A laparoscopic linear cutting stapler with a 45-mm green staple unit was used to transect the ascending colon at a site 2-3 cm distal to the ileocecal junction. Then, the appendix was excised. The surgeon then moved to the right side of the patient to dissect the lateral peritoneum of the sigmoid colon. At a site 4-6 cm above the peritoneal fold or at the level of the sacral promontory, a laparoscopic linear cutting stapler with a 45-mm green staple unit was used to transect the upper rectum after dissection of the rectal mesentery and ligation of the marginal arteries. The lower right abdominal incision was extended to the desired length. The head of a 29- to 33-mm circular stapler was placed in the bottom of the cecum. The shaft of the stapler was placed in the rectum via the anal canal to complete endside anastomosis (end rectum to lateral cecum). The

Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com

ileocecal junction did not need rotation. The lower left abdominal incision was extended to desired length. The end of the rectal-sigmoid colon was used for colostomy *via* an extraperitoneal approach. At the end of the procedure, a drainage tube was placed in the Douglas' pouch.

In the bypass group, laparoscopy was performed *via* three incisions. The placements of trocars 1, 2, and 3 were the same as in the bypass plus colostomy group. The surgeon stood on the left side of the patient, and the surgical procedures were the same as those of the bypass plus colostomy group except for the rectal transection. The shaft of the stapler was placed in the rectum *via* the anal canal to complete side-side anastomosis between the right wall of the rectum and the cecum at the level above the rectal ampulla or sacral promontory. At the end of the procedure, a drainage tube was placed in the Douglas' pouch.

#### Patient data collection

The following statistical data were collected: (1) Patient sex, age, and body mass index (BMI); (2) surgical parameters (operative time and blood loss); and (3) postoperative recovery (first flatus time, length of hospital stay, and postoperative complications). The following clinical data were collected before surgery and 3, 6, and 12 mo after surgery: the number of daily BMs and the Wexner incontinence scale (WIS, on a scale of 0-20, in which 0 represents the best and 20 represents complete incontinence)<sup>[4]</sup>. The following clinical data were collected before surgery and 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery: The Wexner constipation scale<sup>[27]</sup> (WCS, on a scale of 0-30 in which the higher score represents more severe constipation; the scores of healthy individuals are less than 8), the gastrointestinal quality of life index<sup>[28]</sup> (GIQLI, on a scale of 0-144 in which (125.80  $\pm$  13.00) represents the index in healthy population), abdominal pain intensity indicated by the numerical rating scale (0-10)<sup>[29]</sup> (NRS, 0-3: Mild pain and no impact on sleep; 4-6: Moderate tolerable pain and mild impact on sleep; 7-10: Severe pain and serious impact on sleep), and the abdominal bloating score (ABS, the score is inferred from the GIQLI scoring table, from 0-4: 0 = absent; 1 = occasionally; 2 =sometimes; 3 = most of the time; 4 = all the time). Symptoms with scores > 1 were defined as surgeryrelated abdominal pain and bloating, and symptoms with scores  $\geq$  3 were defined as severe postoperative frequent abdominal pain and bloating. The Clavien-Dindo classification<sup>[30]</sup> was used to assess surgical complications. The complications defined as class II or above were studied. All postoperative data were obtained from the questionnaire by clinical visit or telephone follow-up. This study began in October 2012.

#### Statistical analysis

We compared the postoperative parameters at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery of the two groups, including the WCS, ABS, GIQLI, and NRS with preoperative parameters. We studied the variations in parameters among patients in each group. We also compared the postoperative parameters between the two groups at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery, including the WIS, WCS, ABS, GIQLI, NRS, and BM. Thus, the effects of two different surgical methods for the treatment of STC patients were evaluated.

The variables were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). T-tests were used for the comparison of paired data at different time points within each group. For the comparison of data between the two groups, independent samples *t*-test and Fisher's exact test were applied. For the comparison of postoperative functional recovery (WIS, WCS, ABS, GIQLI, NRS, and BM) between groups, analysis of covariance was applied. *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All data were analyzed using SPSS version 19.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States).

#### RESULTS

#### Basic information and preoperative data

Patient characteristics were not significantly different between the two groups. Both groups predominantly consisted of females, with ages ranging from 70 to 80 years. The average age was 74.86  $\pm$  3.42 in the bypass plus colostomy group and 74.73  $\pm$  3.11 in the bypass group. All patients in both groups suffered from severe constipation before surgery. The preoperative WCS scores were 16.86  $\pm$  1.56 and 16.93  $\pm$  1.16 in the bypass plus colostomy group and the bypass group, respectively. The preoperative GIQLI scores were very low in both groups (64.00  $\pm$  3.51 and 63.20  $\pm$  2.40 in the bypass plus colostomy group and the bypass group, respectively). No patient in either group experienced fecal incontinence but somewhat suffered from abdominal pain and bloating (Table 1).

#### Surgical data and postoperative results

All patients successfully underwent laparoscopic surgery without open surgery conversion or surgery-related death. The operative times were short in both groups  $(42.67 \pm 3.35 \text{ min in the bypass plus colostomy group})$ and  $36.56 \pm 4.06$  min in the bypass group). However, the operative time was significantly longer in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group (P <0.001). The blood loss was negligible in both groups  $(14.43 \pm 3.11 \text{ mL} \text{ in the bypass plus colostomy group})$ and  $11.13 \pm 2.93$  mL in the bypass group). However, the blood loss was significantly less in the bypass group than in the bypass plus colostomy group (P = 0.007). No significant differences were observed in first flatus time or length of hospital stay between the two groups (P = 0.317 and P = 0.644, respectively). We compared each complication of Clavien-Dindo > 1 and did not note differences between the groups (P = 0.007) (Table 1). No anastomotic leakage was reported in either group,



Table 1       Clinical characteristics of patients (mean ± SD)								
			Bypass plus colostomy group $(n = 14)$	Bypass group $(n = 15)$	<i>P</i> value			
Basic information	Sex	M/F	6/8	5/10	0.710			
	Age	yr	$74.86 \pm 3.42$	$74.73 \pm 3.11$	0.919			
	BMI	$kg/m^2$	$20.03 \pm 1.09$	$20.27 \pm 1.39$	0.612			
Preoperative data	WCS	(0-30)	$16.86 \pm 1.56$	$16.93 \pm 1.16$	0.882			
	GIQLI	(0-144)	$64.00 \pm 3.51$	$63.20 \pm 2.40$	0.477			
	ABS	(0-4)	$2.71 \pm 0.73$	$2.40 \pm 0.63$	0.224			
	NRS	(0-10)	$3.00 \pm 1.04$	$2.87 \pm 1.30$	0.764			
Operative and	Operative time	min	$42.67 \pm 3.35$	$36.86 \pm 4.06$	< 0.001			
postoperative data	Blood loss	mL	$14.43 \pm 3.11$	$11.13 \pm 2.95$	0.007			
	First flatus time	d	$1.86 \pm 1.03$	$2.20 \pm 0.78$	0.317			
	Hospital stay	d	$14.00 \pm 1.66$	$13.67 \pm 2.13$	0.644			
	Morbidity (Dindo > I)	n (%)	1 (7.14)	1 (6.67)	0.960			

BMI: Body mass index; WCS: Wexner constipation scale; GIQLI: Gastrointestinal quality of life index; ABS: Abdominal bloating score; NRS: Numerical rating scale.

but one case of pneumonia was reported in each group. Both cases of pneumonia were cured. No patients had fecal incontinence after surgery. At 3, 6, and 12 mo after surgery, the WIS was significantly better, and the number of BMs was significantly less in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group.

#### Functional recovery

**Functional recovery compared at different time points within the same group:** WCS and GIQLI significantly improved (P < 0.001) at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery in both groups. In the bypass plus colostomy group, NRS significantly improved at 12 and 24 mo after surgery (P < 0.001); ABS significantly improved (P < 0.001) at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery. In the bypass group, NRS did not improve at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery; ABS significantly improved (P = 0.003) at 3 and 6 mo but did not improve at 12 and 24 mo after surgery (P = 0.207 and P = 0.670, respectively) (Table 2).

#### Functional recovery compared between groups:

At 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery, WCS, GIQLI, NRA, and ABS were compared between the two groups. WCS and NRS remained unimproved at 3 and 6 mo after surgery, and ABS remained unchanged at 3 mo after surgery. Additional above-noted parameters were significantly better in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group at each time point. These improvements continued over the time course, as shown in Figure 1 and Table 3.

At 1 year after surgery, barium enema examinations were performed in all patients of both groups. The barium emptying times were 22.71 ± 4.41 h and 113.60 ± 110.53 h in the bypass plus colostomy group and the bypass group, respectively. The former group was significantly better than the latter group (P = 0.007). In the bypass group, barium emptying time  $\ge$  72 h was seen in eight (53.33%) patients. In contrast, the longest barium emptying time was 30 h in the bypass plus colostomy group and did not exceed 72 h (P = 0.002).

#### DISCUSSION

Primarily, constipation occurs in the aged population and shows increased incidence and severity with aging. Aged patients over 70 years often have varying degrees of accompanying cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases and cannot tolerate some major surgeries. In our study, the preserved length of the ileocecal junction was determined in reference to Wei's study<sup>[31]</sup> in which the lengths of the preserved cecum were 2-3 cm distal to the upper edge of the ileocecal junction. All surgeries in the 29 patients were successful. The surgical procedures were the same in both groups except for the cecorectal anastomosis, for which side-side anastomosis was used in the bypass group, while end-side anastomosis and colostomy were used in the bypass plus colostomy group. The preoperative characteristics of the patients were not significantly different between the two groups. Water and fluid diet could be started 24 h after surgery. No obvious abdominal pain was reported after surgery, and the signs of early recovery of intestinal function were noted. The follow-up data showed there was no intestinal obstruction due to adhesions that required surgery.

The results obtained in this study for the treatment of slow transit constipation in an aged population with SCBCAC are very satisfactory. The quality of life has been improved significantly after operations in all the patients. This indicates that these two surgeries have advantages, including minimal trauma, fast recovery, and safe and feasible procedures. There are some explanations for these good results. The first is that we selected the patients strictly before operation. Rigorous psychological assessment is needed before surgery in order to eliminate the patients with psychological symptoms or with history of mental illness. Also, a careful physiologic assessment is necessary to eliminate other causes of constipation, such as organic colon disease, outlet

#### Yang Y et al. SCBCAC for treatment of slow transit constipation

Table 2 Pr	eoperative and post	operative fu	nctional recovery	results (mea	n <u>+</u> SD)				
	Вур	ass plus colost	omy group ( $n = 14$	ł)	Bypass group $(n = 15)$				
-	Preoperative	Poste	operative	P value	Preoperative	Posto	operative	P value	
WCS	$16.86 \pm 1.56$	3 mo	$2.71 \pm 2.30$	< 0.001	$16.93 \pm 1.16$	3 mo	$4.33 \pm 3.83$	< 0.001	
		6 mo	$2.64 \pm 2.50$	< 0.001		6 mo	$5.07 \pm 4.06$	< 0.001	
		12 mo	$2.36 \pm 2.13$	< 0.001		12 mo	$6.40 \pm 5.16$	< 0.001	
		24 mo	$1.86 \pm 1.46$	< 0.001		24 mo	$6.60 \pm 5.42$	< 0.001	
GIQLI	$64.00 \pm 3.51$	3 mo	$106.57 \pm 5.79$	< 0.001	$63.20\pm2.40$	3 mo	$88.27 \pm 12.26$	< 0.001	
		6 mo	$114.50 \pm 7.59$	< 0.001		6 mo	$95.13 \pm 14.87$	< 0.001	
		12 mo	$119.79 \pm 8.24$	< 0.001		12 mo	$97.60 \pm 18.38$	< 0.001	
		24 mo	$122.21 \pm 6.85$	< 0.001		24 mo	$98.47 \pm 18.09$	< 0.001	
ABS	$2.71 \pm 0.73$	3 mo	$1.29 \pm 0.83$	< 0.001	$2.40 \pm 0.63$	3 mo	$1.53 \pm 0.83$	0.003	
		6 mo	$0.86 \pm 0.77$	< 0.001		6 mo	$1.67 \pm 0.82$	0.003	
		12 mo	$0.86 \pm 0.66$	< 0.001		12 mo	$2.07 \pm 0.88$	0.207	
		24 mo	$0.79 \pm 0.70$	< 0.001		24 mo	$2.27 \pm 1.16$	0.670	
NRS	$3.00 \pm 1.04$	3 mo	$2.50 \pm 1.29$	0.187	$2.87 \pm 1.30$	3 mo	$3.27 \pm 1.34$	0.320	
		6 mo	$2.21 \pm 1.47$	0.094		6 mo	$3.53 \pm 2.00$	0.126	
		12 mo	$1.14 \pm 0.86$	< 0.001		12 mo	$3.93 \pm 2.92$	0.123	
		24 mo	$1.07 \pm 0.62$	< 0.001		24 mo	$4.07\pm3.04$	0.105	

WCS: Wexner constipation scale; GIQLI: Gastrointestinal quality of life index; ABS: Abdominal bloating score; NRS: Numerical rating scale.



Figure 1 X-axis: Preoperative and postoperative time points. A: Y-axis: WCS scores; ▲: Mean of WCS in the bypass plus colostomy group; △: Mean of WCS in the bypass group; |: 95% confidence interval of WCS. B: Y-axis: GIQLI scores; ◆: Mean of GIQLI in the bypass plus colostomy group; ○: Mean of GIQLI in the bypass group; |: 95% confidence interval of GIQLI. C: Y-axis: NRS scores; ■: Mean of NRS in the bypass plus colostomy group; □: Mean of NRS in the bypass group; |: 95% confidence interval of NRS. D: Y-axis: ABS scores; ●: Mean of ABS in the bypass plus colostomy group; □: Mean of ABS in the bypass group; |: 95% confidence interval of NRS. D: Y-axis: ABS scores; ●: Mean of ABS in the bypass plus colostomy group; ○: Mean of ABS in the bypass group; |: 95% confidence interval of NRS. D: Y-axis: ABS scores; ●: Mean of ABS in the bypass plus colostomy group; ○: Mean of ABS in the bypass group; |: 95% confidence interval of ABS. WCS: Wexner constipation scale; GIQLI: Gastrointestinal quality of life index; ABS: Abdominal bloating score; NRS: Numerical rating scale.

Table 3 Postoperative f	functional recovery cor	nparison between the two groups (mean	( <u>+</u> 50)	
	Time (postoperative)	Bypass plus colostomy group $(n = 14)$	Bypass group $(n = 15)$	P value
Barium emptying times	12 mo	22.71 ± 4.41	113.60 ± 110.53	0.007
BMs	3 mo	$4.07 \pm 1.90$	$5.60 \pm 1.24$	0.016
	6 mo	$3.21 \pm 0.89$	$4.20 \pm 1.47$	0.038
	12 mo	$2.43 \pm 0.85$	$3.60 \pm 1.35$	0.010
WIS	3 mo	$4.14 \pm 1.41$	$5.60 \pm 1.60$	0.015
	6 mo	$1.86 \pm 1.29$	$3.87 \pm 1.55$	0.001
	12 mo	$1.36 \pm 0.63$	$3.53 \pm 2.00$	0.001
WCS	3 mo	$2.71 \pm 2.30$	$4.33 \pm 3.83$	0.183
	6 mo	$2.64 \pm 2.50$	$5.07 \pm 4.06$	0.063
	12 mo	$2.36 \pm 2.13$	$6.40 \pm 5.16$	0.012
	24 mo	$1.86 \pm 1.46$	$6.60 \pm 5.42$	0.005
GIQLI	3 mo	$106.57 \pm 5.79$	88.27 ± 12.26	< 0.001
	6 mo	$114.50 \pm 7.59$	$95.13 \pm 14.87$	< 0.001
	12 mo	$119.79 \pm 8.24$	$97.60 \pm 18.38$	< 0.001
	24 mo	$122.21 \pm 6.85$	$98.47 \pm 18.09$	< 0.001
ABS	3 mo	$1.29 \pm 0.83$	$1.53 \pm 0.83$	0.429
	6 mo	$0.86 \pm 0.77$	$1.67 \pm 0.82$	0.011
	12 mo	$0.86 \pm 0.66$	$2.07 \pm 0.88$	< 0.001
	24 mo	$0.79 \pm 0.70$	$2.27 \pm 1.16$	< 0.001
NRS	3 mo	$2.50 \pm 1.29$	$3.27 \pm 1.34$	0.127
	6 mo	$2.21 \pm 1.47$	$3.53 \pm 2.00$	0.054
	12 mo	$1.14 \pm 0.86$	$3.93 \pm 2.92$	0.003
	24 mo	$1.07 \pm 0.62$	$4.07 \pm 3.04$	0.002

BMs: Bowel movements; WIS: Wexner fecal incontinence scale; WCS: Wexner constipation scale; GIQLI: Gastrointestinal quality of life index; ABS: Abdominal bloating score; NRS: Numerical rating scale.

obstruction syndrome, mixed constipation, or small intestinal dysfunction. The other possible reason for the results is the innovation in operative procedures. The procedure of SCBCAC can be manipulated simply and has characteristic features of less invasion and good effect. It also should intuitively require shorter operation time and less risk of contamination during surgery so that the aged population could be well-tolerated and compatible with this procedure.

We found that WCS and GIQLI at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery significantly improved compared with the values before surgery in both groups. In the bypass plus colostomy group, ABS significantly improved at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery compared with that before surgery. Compared with NRS before surgery, NRS improvement was not noted at 3 and 6 mo but was evident at 12 and 24 mo after surgery. In the bypass group, NRS did not improve at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery compared with that before surgery. ABS improvement was seen at 3 and 6 mo but disappeared at 12 and 24 mo after surgery. These results suggest that the efficacy of the bypass plus colostomy is better than that of the bypass group. The reasons for these observations may be that SCBAC cannot improve but can actually worsen symptoms of abdominal pain and bloating.

Based on changes in WIS and BM, we noted that the number of BMs increased somewhat in both groups; however, the movements appeared to decrease over time. These results indicate that the number of BMs at 6 or 12 mo after surgery was lower in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group. WIS was relatively low in both groups 3 mo after surgery and appeared to decrease over time. Obviously, the WIS improvements at 3, 6, and 12 mo after surgery were significantly better in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group. The above-noted results suggest that the isolated bypass surgery cannot improve the symptoms of abdominal pain and bloating but can worsen the symptoms of rectal discomfort and increase the number of BMs.

In terms of the changes in WCS, GIQLI, ABS, and NRS at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery, we noted that WCS was not significantly different at 3 and 6 mo after surgery between the two groups but that it improved in the bypass plus colostomy group and worsened in the bypass group overtime. WCS at 12 and 24 mo after surgery was better in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group. In the bypass plus colostomy group, GIQLI at 3 mo after surgery significantly improved and continued to improve over time, eventually reaching the average level of the healthy population. In the bypass group, GIQLI improved without significance. At 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery, GIQLI was significantly better in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group. ABS and NRS were not different at 3 mo after surgery, but these parameters continued to improve in the bypass plus colostomy group but conversely worsened in the bypass group over time. At 12 and 24 mo after surgery, ABS and NRS became significantly different between the two groups. In terms of the incidence rates of postoperative abdominal pain and bloating, the incidence rates of severe abdominal bloating were 0 vs 46.67% (7/15) between the bypass

WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Barium enema examination of a patient in the bypass group at 1 year after surgery.



Figure 3 The longest emptying time of a patient in the bypass group: 360 h after barium enema examination at 1 year after surgery.

plus colostomy group and the bypass group, and the incidence rates of severe abdominal pain were 0 vs 40% (6/15), respectively, between the bypass plus colostomy group and the bypass group. These results suggest that bypass plus colostomy has more advantages in improving the symptoms of constipation, relieving abdominal pain and bloating, and improving the quality of life in aged patients.

What are the causes of abdominal pain, abdominal bloating, rectal discomfort, and increased BMs after surgery? To address these questions, we performed barium enema examinations in these patients at 1 year after surgery and compared the barium emptying times between the two groups. The barium emptying time was significantly shorter in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group. Moreover, the barium retention sites were in the excluded colon rather than in the small intestine. Further analysis of these data revealed that the longest emptying times were 30 h and 360 h in the bypass plus colostomy group and the bypass group, respectively (shown in Figures 2 and 3). Moreover, the barium emptying times were > 72 h in eight of 15 patients of the bypass group. Therefore, we postulated that postoperative abdominal bloating may be caused by undigested food entering the excluded colon, which

produces gas and that postoperative abdominal pain may be caused by food-residue-stimulated peristalsis or even intestinal spasm. The feces in the excluded colon will cause a desire for defecation and rectal discomfort, but the amount of defecation each time is small, and the patient experiences a feeling of incomplete defecation. These symptoms reduce patient quality of life. To this end, we recommend using subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy rather than an isolated bypass of the colon for the treatment of refractory constipation in aged patients.

Of course, there is no denying that colostomy may bring a little inconvenience to the patients' daily life compared with healthy people, but unlike other permanent colostomy, the colostomy in SCBCAC does not need to excrete a large amount of stool every day. In our study, the healing of the abdominal wall stoma was favorable. A small amount of intestinal fluid or mucus was drained every 1-3 d, but the drainage amount gradually decreased over time. No ulcers or hemorrhages were seen in the skin around the stoma because no feces were discharged from it. The daily life of patients was not negatively affected. Obviously, colostomy for benign disease did not influence quality of life in aged population. However, this could not be accepted for a younger patient population. Also, there is a problem that tumor occurrence might be increased in the nonfunctional colon and further research is needed to confirm this.

This work is a retrospective single-center study and has certain limitations. We will further develop a multicenter randomized controlled study. Meanwhile, we will expand the sample size and continue long-term follow-up to further evaluate the efficacy of the subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy.

Laparoscopic SCBCAC is an effective procedure for the treatment of slow transit constipation and is particularly suitable for aged people in poor physical condition who are not suitable for subtotal colonic resection. The efficacy of laparoscopic SCBCAC is superior to that of SCBAC in the aged population.

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Constipation affects more than 30% of the aged population and seriously alters the life quality of patients. In terms of treatments for constipation, surgical treatment is a common approach for treatment of intractable slow transit constipation, especially for those with poor responses to conservative treatment. This study offers a better procedure for the treatment of slow transit constipation in an aged population.

#### **Research motivation**

Although the current surgical methods have good efficacy in the treatment of slow transit constipation, they are not suitable for aged patients or patients in poor physical condition because of the large wound produced and the length of the operation; these patients need non-surgical treatments. After long-term treatment with oral laxative agents, patients become nonresponsive to these agents and have to undergo enema administration periodically to alleviate their constipation. Some patients cannot tolerate the suffering of constipation and



have to choose ileostomy.

#### **Research objectives**

The main aim of this study is to compare the efficacy, improved quality of life, and prognosis in patients undergoing either subtotal colonic bypass with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy (SCBAC) or subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy (SCBCAC) for the treatment of slow transit constipation.

#### **Research methods**

Aged patients between October 2010 and October 2014, who had slow transit constipation, were hospitalized and underwent laparoscopic surgery in our institute and were divided into two groups: the bypass group and the bypass plus colostomy group. The following preoperative and postoperative clinical data were collected: gender, age, body mass index, operative time, first flatus time, length of hospital stay, bowel movements (BMs), Wexner fecal incontinence scale, Wexner constipation scale (WCS), gastrointestinal quality of life index (GIQLI), numerical rating scale for pain intensity (NRS), abdominal bloating score (ABS), and Clavien-Dindo classification of surgical complications (CD) before surgery and at 3, 6, 12, and 24 mo after surgery.

#### **Research results**

All patients successfully underwent laparoscopic surgery without open surgery conversion or surgery-related death. The operative time and blood loss were significantly less in the bypass group than in the bypass plus colostomy group. No significant differences were observed in first flatus time, length of hospital stay, or complications with CD > 1 between the two groups. No patients had fecal incontinence after surgery. At month 3, 6, and 12 after surgery, the number of BMs was significantly less in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group. The parameters at month 3, 6, 12, and 24 after surgery in both groups significantly improved compared with the preoperative conditions, except for NRS at month 3 and 6 after surgery in both groups, ABS at month 12 and 24 after surgery, and NRS at month 12 and 24 after surgery in the bypass group. WCS, GIQLI, NRS, and ABS significantly improved in the bypass plus colostomy group compared with the bypass group at month 3, 6, 12, and 24 after surgery except WCS, NRS at month 3, 6 after surgery and ABS at month 3 after surgery. At 1 year after surgery, a barium enema examination showed that the emptying time was significantly better in the bypass plus colostomy group than in the bypass group.

#### **Research conclusions**

We draw a conclusion from this study that laparoscopic SCBCAC is an effective and safe procedure for the treatment of slow transit constipation in an aged population and can improve the prognosis significantly. Its clinical efficacy is more favorable compared with that of SCBAC. Laparoscopic SCBCAC is a better procedure for the treatment of slow transit constipation in the aged population.

#### **Research perspectives**

This work is a retrospective single-center study. We will further develop a multicenter randomized controlled study. Meanwhile, we will expand the sample size and continue long-term follow-up to evaluate further efficacy of the subtotal colonic bypass plus colostomy.

#### REFERENCES

- Stewart WF, Liberman JN, Sandler RS, Woods MS, Stemhagen A, Chee E, Lipton RB, Farup CE. Epidemiology of constipation (EPOC) study in the United States: relation of clinical subtypes to sociodemographic features. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999; **94**: 3530-3540 [PMID: 10606315 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.1999.01642.x]
- 2 Park MI, Shin JE, Myung SJ, Huh KC, Choi CH, Jung SA, Choi SC, Sohn CI, Choi MG; Korean Society of Neurogastroenterology and Motility. [Guidelines for the treatment of constipation]. *Korean J Gastroenterol* 2011; 57: 100-114 [PMID: 21350321]
- 3 Knowles CH, Scott M, Lunniss PJ. Outcome of colectomy for slow transit constipation. Ann Surg 1999; 230: 627-638 [PMID:

10561086 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-199911000-00004]

- 4 Pikarsky AJ, Singh JJ, Weiss EG, Nogueras JJ, Wexner SD. Longterm follow-up of patients undergoing colectomy for colonic inertia. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2001; 44: 179-183 [PMID: 11227933 DOI: 10.1007/BF02234290]
- 5 Ternent CA, Bastawrous AL, Morin NA, Ellis CN, Hyman NH, Buie WD; Standards Practice Task Force of The American Society of Colon and Rectal Surgeons. Practice parameters for the evaluation and management of constipation. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2007; 50: 2013-2022 [PMID: 17665250 DOI: 10.1007/s10350-007-9000-y]
- 6 Lubowski DZ, Chen FC, Kennedy ML, King DW. Results of colectomy for severe slow transit constipation. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1996; 39: 23-29 [PMID: 8601352 DOI: 10.1007/BF02048263]
- 7 FitzHarris GP, Garcia-Aguilar J, Parker SC, Bullard KM, Madoff RD, Goldberg SM, Lowry A. Quality of life after subtotal colectomy for slow-transit constipation: both quality and quantity count. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2003; 46: 433-440 [PMID: 12682533 DOI: 10.1097/01.DCR.0000059324.54281.7D]
- 8 Thaler K, Dinnewitzer A, Oberwalder M, Weiss EG, Nogueras JJ, Efron J, Vernava AM 3rd, Wexner SD. Quality of life after colectomy for colonic inertia. *Tech Coloproctol* 2005; **9**: 133-137 [PMID: 16007361 DOI: 10.1007/s10151-005-0211-8]
- 9 Sarli L, Costi R, Sarli D, Roncoroni L. Pilot study of subtotal colectomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy for the treatment of chronic slow-transit constipation. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2001; 44: 1514-1520 [PMID: 11598483 DOI: 10.1007/BF02234608]
- 10 Marchesi F, Sarli L, Percalli L, Sansebastiano GE, Veronesi L, Di Mauro D, Porrini C, Ferro M, Roncoroni L. Subtotal colectomy with antiperistaltic cecorectal anastomosis in the treatment of slowtransit constipation: long-term impact on quality of life. *World J Surg* 2007; **31**: 1658-1664 [PMID: 17541684 DOI: 10.1007/ s00268-007-9111-6]
- 11 Iannelli A, Piche T, Dainese R, Fabiani P, Tran A, Mouiel J, Gugenheim J. Long-term results of subtotal colectomy with cecorectal anastomosis for isolated colonic inertia. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007; 13: 2590-2595 [PMID: 17552007 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i18.2590]
- 12 LEVITAN R, FORDTRAN JS, BURROWS BA, INGELFINGER FJ. Water and salt absorption in the human colon. J Clin Invest 1962; 41: 1754-1759 [PMID: 14464699 DOI: 10.1172/JCI104634]
- 13 **Todd IP**. Constipation: Results of surgical treatment. *Br J Surg* 1985; **72**: s12-s13 [DOI: 10.1002/bjs.1800721309]
- 14 Yoshioka K, Keighley MR. Clinical results of colectomy for severe constipation. *Br J Surg* 1989; 76: 600-604 [PMID: 2758267 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.1800760625]
- 15 LILLEHEI RC, WANGENSTEEN OH. Bowel function after colectomy for cancer, polyps, and diverticulitis. *J Am Med Assoc* 1955; **159**: 163-170 [PMID: 13251858 DOI: 10.1001/jama.1955.0 296020009003]
- 16 Perrier G, Peillon C, Testart J. [Modifications of the Deloyers procedure in order to perform a cecal-rectal anastomosis without torsion of the vascular pedicle]. *Ann Chir* 1999; 53: 254 [PMID: 10339871]
- 17 Deloyers L. Suspension of the right colon permits without exception preservation of the anal sphincter after extensive colectomy of the transverse and left colon (including rectum). technic-indications- immediate and late results. *Lyon Chir* 1964; 60: 404-413 [PMID: 14167748]
- 18 Zinzindohoué F. Difficult colo-colonic or colo-rectal anastomoses: trans-mesenteric anastomoses and anastomoses with right colonic inversion. *Ann Chir* 1998; 52: 571-573 [PMID: 9752509]
- Ryan J, Oakley W. Cecoproctostomy. Am J Surg 1985; 149:
   636-639 [PMID: 3993845 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9610(85)80145-8]
- 20 Sarli L, Costi R, Iusco D, Roncoroni L. Long-term results of subtotal colectomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy. *Surg Today* 2003; 33: 823-827 [PMID: 14605953 DOI: 10.1007/s00595-003-2611-6]
- 21 **Marchesi F**, Percalli L, Pinna F, Cecchini S, Ricco' M, Roncoroni L. Laparoscopic subtotal colectomy with antiperistaltic cecorectal anastomosis: a new step in the treatment of slow-transit

constipation. *Surg Endosc* 2012; **26**: 1528-1533 [PMID: 22179477 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-011-2092-4]

- 22 Jiang CQ, Qian Q, Liu ZS, Bangoura G, Zheng KY, Wu YH. Subtotal colectomy with antiperistaltic cecoproctostomy for selected patients with slow transit constipation-from Chinese report. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2008; 23: 1251-1256 [PMID: 18696088 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-008-0552-7]
- 23 Iannelli A, Fabiani P, Mouiel J, Gugenheim J. Laparoscopic subtotal colectomy with cecorectal anastomosis for slow-transit constipation. *Surg Endosc* 2006; 20: 171-173 [PMID: 16314994 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-005-0099-4]
- 24 Sarli L, Iusco D, Costi R, Roncoroni L. Laparoscopically assisted subtotal colectomy with antiperistaltic cecorectal anastomosis. *Surg Endosc* 2002; 16: 1493 [PMID: 12098034 DOI: 10.1007/ s00464-002-4517-6]
- 25 Sarli L, Iusco D, Violi V, Roncoroni L. Subtotal colectomy with antiperistaltic cecorectal anastomosis. *Tech Coloproctol* 2002; 6: 23-26 [PMID: 12077637 DOI: 10.1007/s101510200004]
- Wang Y, Zhai C, Niu L, Tian L, Yang J, Hu Z. Retrospective series of subtotal colonic bypass and antiperistaltic eccoproctostomy for the treatment of slow-transit constipation. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2010; 25: 613-618 [PMID: 20127341 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-010-0877-x]
- 27 Agachan F, Chen T, Pfeifer J, Reissman P, Wexner SD. A

constipation scoring system to simplify evaluation and management of constipated patients. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1996; **39**: 681-685 [PMID: 8646957 DOI: 10.1007/BF02056950]

- 28 Eypasch E, Williams JI, Wood-Dauphinee S, Ure BM, Schmülling C, Neugebauer E, Troidl H. Gastrointestinal Quality of Life Index: development, validation and application of a new instrument. Br J Surg 1995; 82: 216-222 [PMID: 7749697 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.1800820229]
- 29 Downie WW, Leatham PA, Rhind VM, Wright V, Branco JA, Anderson JA. Studies with pain rating scales. *Ann Rheum Dis* 1978; 37: 378-381 [PMID: 686873 DOI: 10.1136/ard.37.4.378]
- 30 Clavien PA, Barkun J, de Oliveira ML, Vauthey JN, Dindo D, Schulick RD, de Santibañes E, Pekolj J, Slankamenac K, Bassi C, Graf R, Vonlanthen R, Padbury R, Cameron JL, Makuuchi M. The Clavien-Dindo classification of surgical complications: five-year experience. *Ann Surg* 2009; **250**: 187-196 [PMID: 19638912 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181b13ca2]
- 31 Wei D, Cai J, Yang Y, Zhao T, Zhang H, Zhang C, Zhang Y, Zhang J, Cai F. A prospective comparison of short term results and functional recovery after laparoscopic subtotal colectomy and antiperistaltic cecorectal anastomosis with short colonic reservoir vs. long colonic reservoir. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2015; 15: 30 [PMID: 25887580 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-015-0257-7]

P- Reviewer: Eleftheriadis NP, Michel B, Vasilescu C S- Editor: Wang XJ L- Editor: Filipodia E- Editor: Huang Y







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2501

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2501-2507

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### **Retrospective Study**

## Transarterial embolization and low-dose continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy with oxaliplatin and raltitrexed for hepatocellular carcinoma with major portal vein tumor thrombus

Lin-Zhong Zhu, Song Xu, Hai-Long Qian

Lin-Zhong Zhu, Department of Interventional Therapy, Beijing Cancer Hospital, Beijing 100142, China

Song Xu, Department of Radiology, Yunnan Second People's Hospital, Kunming 650021, Yunnan Province, China

Hai-Long Qian, Interventional Therapy, Baotou Cancer Hospital, Baotou 014030, Inner Mongolia, China

ORCID number: Lin-Zhong Zhu (0000-0001-9477-6659); Song Xu (0000-0002-7494-0359); Hai-Long Qian (0000-0002 -2691-5394).

Author contributions: Zhu LZ and Qian HL designed and performed this study; Zhu LZ analyzed the data; Xu S wrote the paper; Zhu LZ revised the manuscript for final submission.

Supported by the National Key R and D Program of China, No. 2016YFC0106604; and the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81502591.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Peking University Cancer Hospital's Institutional Review Board.

Institutional animal care and use committee statement: The pharmacokinetics study was reviewed and approved by the Department of Laboratory Animal Science, Peking University Health Science Center.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors declare, to the best of our knowledge, no conflict of interest exists.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this

work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Hai-Long Qian, MD, Doctor, Department of Interventional Therapy, Baotou Cancer Hospital, 18 Tuanjie Street, Qingshan District, Baotou 014030, Inner Mongolia, China. hailongqian@163.com Telephone: +86-472-5156644

Received: February 7, 2018 Peer-review started: February 7, 2018 First decision: February 24, 2018 Revised: March 9, 2018 Accepted: March 25, 2018 Article in press: March 25, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

#### Abstract

#### AIM

To determine the efficacy and safety of transarterial embolization and low-dose continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy with oxaliplatin and raltitrexed in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) with major portal vein tumor thrombus (MPVTT).

#### METHODS

Eighty-six patients with MPVTT accepted routine embolization. The catheter was kept in the hepatic artery and oxaliplatin (50 mg in 250 mL of glucose) was infused by pump for 4 h, followed by raltitrexed (2 mg in 100 mL of 0.9% saline) infusion by pump for the next 1 h. The efficacy and safety were evaluated after



the transarterial chemoembolization (TACE).

#### RESULTS

Full or partial embolization was achieved in 86 cases, where all the cases received low dose continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy. Complete responses (CRs), partial responses (PRs), stable disease (SD), and disease progression (PD) for intrahepatic disease were observed in 0, 45, 20, and 21 patients, respectively. The 1-, 2-and 3-year overall survival rates of the 86 patients were 40.7%, 22.1%, and 8.1% respectively, and the median survival time was 8.7 mo. Complication was limited.

#### **CONCLUSION**

TACE with low dose continuous hepatic arterial infusion of oxaliplatin and raltitrexed could be an option in MPVTT patient; it was shown to be effective in patients with advanced HCC with MPVTT with less toxicity.

Key words: Transarterial embolization; Oxaliplatin; Major portal vein tumor thrombus; Raltitrexed; Continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy

© **The Author(s) 2018.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** We analyzed the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic characteristics of continuous hepatic arterial infusion of oxaliplatin and raltitrexed to aid interventional radiologist in determining a more accurate infusion protocol. The clinical protocol based on the pharmacokinetics study in a swine model and the pharmacodynamics study in tumor cell lines was shown to be effective and safe in hepatocellular carcinoma with main portal vein tumor thrombus.

Zhu LZ, Xu S, Qian HL. Transarterial embolization and lowdose continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy with oxaliplatin and raltitrexed for hepatocellular carcinoma with major portal vein tumor thrombus. *World J Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2501-2507 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v24/i23/2501.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2501

#### INTRODUCTION

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) is the sixth most prevalent cancer and the third most common cause of cancer-related death worldwide<sup>[1,2]</sup>, particularly in Asian countries<sup>[3]</sup>. Recent studies have indicated that the overall clinical survival of HCC remains extremely poor, especially among patients with invasion of the portal vein branches<sup>[4]</sup>. Portal vein tumor thrombosis (PVTT) is a strong predictor of mortality in patients with HCC<sup>[5]</sup> and is usually associated with an unsatisfactory prognosis<sup>[6]</sup>. The median survival time is only approximately 2-4 mo compared with 10-24 mo among those without PVTT<sup>[7]</sup>. When a thrombus involves the main portal vein, the prognosis is much worse than in cases in which a thrombus involves a branch of the portal vein<sup>[8]</sup>.

Treatment of advanced HCC with major portal vein tumor thrombosis (MPVTT) remains a challenge. MPVTT can increase the risk of wide tumor transmission and also increase the pressure of the portal vein (especially when accompanied with arterial portal vein shunt), which results in acute variceal hemorrhaging, intractable ascites, hepatic encephalopathy, and failure. All of these conditions limit treatment choices.

It is well known that transarterial chemotherapy can achieve high local concentrations. Many patients who cannot endure systemic chemotherapy can benefit from transarterial chemoembolization (TACE). We have adopted continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy technique in our center for the treatment of colon cancer liver metastasis and have demonstrated its safety and advantage<sup>[9]</sup>. However, PVTT patients cannot endure a regular dose of chemotherapy due to its high risk and high complexity, and we need a more effective and safe protocol that uses the smallest dose possible to provide a sufficient effect while limiting toxicity.

When we sought to create a protocol for transarterial infusion chemotherapy (TAI), we needed to determine a total dose and infusion time, but we first needed to solve following problems: (1) How does a certain dose and infusion time influence the concentration in local tissue? (*i.e.*, pharmacokinetics)? (2) How do high-concentration drugs interact with the tumor (*i.e.*, pharmacodynamics)? And (3) What are the optimum time and concentration for the application of a certain chemotherapy drug, and how can these parameters be realized in the clinic?

We firstly performed a pharmacokinetics study in a swine model and pharmacodynamics studies in different tumor cell lines to learn the real-time drug concentration in local tissue and how tumor cells respond under such an environment during continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy. Based on our findings, we determined the suitable concentration and infusion time for a certain agent, designed a protocol based on the above mentioned studies, and observed its efficacy and safety for patients with MPVTT.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Patients

This was a retrospective study. All patients were admitted to our hospital between May 2010 and March 2017. A total of 86 consecutive patients with unresectable advanced HCC and major PVTT received TACE. The diagnoses of HCC were established using pathology in 64 patients, and the diagnoses were established based on two types of typical HCC imaging, *i.e.*, computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging



Table 1	Characteristics of	the patients wi	th major portal	vein tumor thrombosis
---------	--------------------	-----------------	-----------------	-----------------------

MPVTT characteristics	Portal trunk + left branch	Portal trunk + right branch	Portal trunk + SMV or SV	Portal trunk + IVC
п	27	36	12	11
Gender				
Male	27	30	8	8
Female	0	6	4	3
Age	35-84	33-72	42-70	37-74
Child-Pugh grade				
Child A	6	6	3	3
Child B	17	22	5	6
Child C	4	8	4	2
Tumor Size				
5-10 cm	15	16	8	7
> 10 cm	12	20	4	4
Gastric esophageal varices	11	30	7	7
Splenomegaly	15	32	7	6
Hypersplenism	12	26	5	3
Ascites	10	22	7	4
Hepatic artery-portal vein shunt	10	15	3	7

MPVTT: Main portal vein tumor thrombus.

(MRI), plus a serum alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) level of more than 400 ng/mL in 30 patients.

All patients were categorized as American Joint Committee on Cancer stage IIIa  $(6^{th} \text{ edition})^{[10]}$ . Portal vein thrombosis was evaluated according to criteria of the Liver Cancer Group of Japan<sup>[11]</sup>.

The baseline data are presented in Table 1. Most of the patients were positive for hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection. Seventy-eight patients were male, and 16 were female. Forty-four (46.8%) patients had a tumor larger than 10 cm. Etiologies of HBV and HCV infection were identified in 72 and four cases, respectively. The age range was 31-84 years (mean: 53.7 years). The pre-treatment evaluations consisted of a complete history and physical examination, blood cell count, liver and renal panels, AFP value assessment, and a triphase CT scan or dynamic MRI of the liver. All patients had an ECOG performance status  $\leq$  2, a serum total bilirubin  $\leq$  3.0 mg/L, a serum aminotransferase  $\leq$  100 IU/L, a white blood cell count  $\geq$  3000/µL, a hemoglobin level  $\geq$  8 g/dL, and a platelet level  $\geq$  7.5  $\times$  10<sup>4</sup>/µL or corrected to this level via embolization of the spleen. Sixteen patients had gastrointestinal bleeding, and 46 patients had ascites upon admission.

## Protocol for the continuous hepatic arterial infusion of oxaliplatin and raltitrexed

After routine embolization, we kept the catheter in the segmental artery and confirmed its proper position *via* fluorescence imaging. When the patient was returned to the ward, 50 mg oxaliplatin in 250 mL of glucose was infused with a pump over 4 h. Then, 2 mg raltitrexed in 100 mL of 0.9% normal saline was infused with a pump over the next 1 h. Ondansetron was used to prevent vomiting.

The treatment protocol began with 1-11 sessions of TACE (average interval: 3.2 mo). The patients were followed up every 1-3 mo to check whether new tumor lesions had developed in the liver. When lesions were detected, TACE was performed again to control the intrahepatic lesions.

#### Evaluation

The acute and late toxicities from the treatments were graded according to the NCI-CTCAE version  $4.0^{[12]}$  Monthly evaluations of the responses to TACE were recommended.

The responses were defined using the mRECIST criteria<sup>[13]</sup> based on an enhanced CT and MRI of the liver.

#### Statistical analysis

SPSS version 19.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States) for Windows was used for the data analysis. Overall survival (OS) was calculated from the date of HCC diagnosis until death or until the date of the last follow-up visit for all patients who were still alive.

#### RESULTS

Full embolization was achieved in 68 cases, and partial embolization was achieved in 18 cases. For 86 patients who received embolization, the catheter was kept in the hepatic artery and them low-dose continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy was administered. Radiologically complete responses (CRs), partial responses (PRs), stable disease (SD), and disease progression (PD) of the intrahepatic disease were observed in 0, 45, 20, and 21 patients, respectively. The following time was 1-55 mo, the 1-, 2- and 3-year overall survival rates of the 86 patients were 40.7%, 22.1% and 8.1%, respectively, and the median survival time was 8.7 mo. Moreover, in 35 patients, we observed the uptake of lipiodol in the MPVTT after TACE, and with the passage of time, collateral circulation was gradually established, and the incidences of bleeding and ascites



Figure 1 Kaplan-Meier curves of the overall survival for all 86 patients (months).

decreased. These changes may have contributed to the OS benefit (Table 1).

Thirty-five cases died within the first 6 mo, and these deaths were mainly due to bleeding and acute liver failure. Subsequently, the rate of death slowed (Figure 1).

#### Case 1

In a 47-year-old man with a HCC and MPVTT, an angiography *via* the proper hepatic artery revealed a tumor stain in the liver (Figure 2A), a stain in the right branch, and a portal trunk tumor thrombus (Figure 2B). We performed super-selective catheterization and administered embolization and chemotherapy infusion (Figure 2C). A post-operative CT scan revealed scattered deposition of lipiodol inside the MPVTT as well as intra-hepatic lesions (Figure 2D).

#### Case 2

In a 51-year-old woman with a HCC and MPVTT, a preoperative CT scan revealed a tumor thrombus invading into the right branch and portal trunk (Figure 3A and B). Angiography *via* the celiac hepatic artery revealed a tumor stain in the liver and right branch and a portal trunk tumor thrombus (Figure 3C). A post-operative CT scan revealed the deposition of lipiodol inside the MPVTT (Figure 3D).

#### Complications

The main complications included acute variceal hemorrhaging, intractable ascites, and hepatic encephalopathy and failure. Twenty-eight cases exhibited variceal hemorrhaging after TACE; 19 of these complications occurred within 3 mo, and 14 of these patients died. Fourteen cases had intractable ascites after TACE, and, among the 15 cases with ascites before TACE, the ascites decreased or disappeared after the TACE.

Although a majority of the cases had background cirrhosis, acute liver failure was rare and was observed in six cases. Twenty-eight cases had moderately increased ALT and AST levels, but the T-Bil levels were slightly increased. Eight of these patients exhibited transient abnormal renal function, but function returned to normal within 1 wk in all cases. This phenomenon might have been due to the massive necrosis of the tumor cells.

Postembolization syndrome, which included pain and fever, occurred frequently and was successfully treated with conservative treatment. Twenty-five cases experienced nausea and loss of appetite. However, no cases had severe (grades 3 or 4) adverse effects, and symptoms were controllable with medical treatment. Myelosuppression was very rare; only eight cases exhibited slight reductions of the WBC and PLT count and recovered within 1 week without medical treatment.

#### DISCUSSION

The western guidelines of the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) staging system are frequently applied for decisions regarding initial treatments<sup>[14]</sup> for PVTT, but the management options for HCC with PVTT are more limited. To date, radiation and systematic chemotherapy or sorafenib targeted therapy<sup>[15]</sup> have been used for PVTT. However, the median survival time with sorafenib is only 6.5 mo in Asia<sup>[16]</sup>. In China, economic conditions restrict the application of sorafenib for most patients. Therefore, consecutive TACE is still used to treat selected patients with PVTT.

TACE has traditionally been considered to be contraindicated in cases of PVTT due to its high embolic effect and the potential for inducing hepatic necrosis and worsening liver dysfunction<sup>[6,16]</sup>. However, with progress of the technique, the effects of TACE have been confirmed in some randomized controlled trials (RCTs)<sup>[17]</sup>. A meta-analysis of prospective randomized trials demonstrated that survival is improved and good liver function is preserved after TACE for unresectable HCC<sup>[15]</sup> TACE can be safely performed in patients with HCCs that invade the main portal vein and may improve overall survival<sup>[18]</sup>. A meta-analysis of prospective randomized trials<sup>[19]</sup> demonstrated that TACE is potentially suitable and safe for patients with advanced HCC with PVTT, including patients with MPV obstructions. For selected patients with MPV obstructions, especially those with established collateral circulation and good liver function preservation, TACE treatment may prolong survival<sup>[20]</sup>. Although PVTTs are located outside of the liver parenchyma, their feeding artery still arises from the hepatic artery branches. We successfully embolized lesions in the liver and PVTTs via the hepatic artery branches in 86 cases; in the remaining eight patients, we still performed infusion chemotherapy via the hepatic artery despite the presence of shunts because we found stains of intrahepatic lesions.

Hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy has been investigated for the treatment of advanced HCC with portal vein tumor thrombosis in Asian countries. In



Figure 2 Images of case 1. A: Angiography via the proper hepatic artery revealed a tumor stain in the liver; B: Portal trunk tumor thrombus; C: Super-selective catheterization and administered embolization and chemotherapy infusion; D: Post-operative computed tomography (CT) scan revealed scattered deposition of lipiodol inside the major portal vein tumor thrombosis as well as intra-hepatic lesions.

this protocol, chemotherapeutic agent is infused into the hepatic artery *via* an implanted catheter, which reduces systemic side effects by first pass effects and maximizes drug delivery to the tumor. However, for HCC with MPVTT, patients always exhibit accompanying hypertension and hypersplenism. Thus, regulardose chemotherapy may elicit more serious systemic toxicity, and patients may be more prone to have serious myelosuppression and gastrointestinal reaction and bleeding. Additionally, the nutrition conditions of MPTVV patients are generally poor, which makes a loss of appetite even more dangerous. Therefore, we need a more feasible protocol to ensure effectiveness while limiting the toxicity of chemotherapy.

In interventional therapy, the most feasible methods for reducing systemic toxicity are to reduce the dose or prolong the infusion time. However, doctors may worry that low doses could reduce the effect and wonder how a suitable dose and infusion time can be selected to ensure the effect. Where is the balance point? To find the answer, we must first understand the local plasma concentrations during the infusion process under different doses and whether these concentrations could meet our needs; subsequently, we can make the right decisions.

We performed a pharmacokinetics study with 1 mg/4 mg raltitrexed and 35 mg/150 mg oxaliplatin in a swine model. During infusion, both oxaliplatin

and raltitrexed maintained high concentrations in the lobar hepatic artery during the whole infusion process. The highest concentrations of 35 mg and 150 mg of oxaliplatin at 4 h infusion time were 4259  $\mu$ g/L and 14287  $\mu$ g/L, respectively. The highest concentrations of 1 mg raltitrexed at 30 min, 60 min, and 120 min infusion times were 405, 212, and 128  $\mu$ g/L, respectively. The corresponding highest concentrations in the 4-mg raltitrexed group were 1601, 902, and 587  $\mu$ g/L. These results indicated that, even with the lowest dose and the longest infusion time, relatively high concentrations could be maintained.

However, we still needed to demonstrate how such high concentrations would act on tumor cells. We used the concentrations obtained from the pharmacokinetics study to perform an *in vitro* pharmacodynamics study in multiple tumor cell models. A MTT assay was used to measure the effects of oxaliplatin and raltitrexed on cell viability using different combinations of concentrations and times. We found that oxaliplatin and raltitrexed increased cell death in a concentration and time dependent manner. For oxaliplatin, a concentration of 5000-10000  $\mu$ g/L and an infusion time of 4 h was a suitable combination. For raltitrexed, a suitable time was 60-120 min, and a suitable concentration was 250-500  $\mu$ g/L.

By using super-selective or super super-selective techniques, we advanced a catheter into the segmental

#### Zhu LZ et al. TACE for HCC with MPVTT



Figure 3 Images of case 2. A: Pre-operative CT scan (right branch); B: Pre-operative CT scan (portal trunk); C: Tumor stain in the liver and right branch and a portal trunk tumor thrombus; D: Post-operative CT scan revealed the deposition of lipiodol inside the major portal vein tumor thrombosis.

branch in most cases, and the blood flow in the target artery ranged from 1-2 mL/s. From this information, we could calculate the dose needed during infusion. For example, if we wanted to achieve a final 5000  $\mu$ g/L concentration in the target artery, the required oxaliplatin could be calculated as 5000 ( $\mu$ g/L) × 14400 s × 1 (mL/s)/10<sup>6</sup> = 72 mg; if we wanted to achieve a final concentration of 500  $\mu$ g/L in the target artery, the required raltitrexed could be calculated as 5000 ( $\mu$ g/L) × 3600 s × 1 (mL/s)/10<sup>6</sup> = 1.8 mg.

Based on the results from these studies, 50 mg oxaliplatin was infused for 4 h, and 2 mg raltitrexed was infused for the next 1 h. This protocol produced good results and fewer complications. The 1-, 2-, and 3-year overall survival rates were 40.7%, 22.1%, and 8.1%, respectively. The complications were acceptable. Myelosuppression was observed in only eight patients. Twenty-eight patients exhibited bleeding, but 19 of these complications occurred within 3 mo after the TACE and may have been due to the establishment of collateral circulation and a decrease of portal vein pressure. Obviously, low-dose continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy can ensure a sufficient local concentration and an increase in cell death in tumor tissue, and longer infusion times mean that the tumor tissue can take up more of the agent. Additionally, the human body has more time to eliminate the agent, which dramatically reduces the toxicity.

The limitations of this study were the small number of patients and the retrospective design. Multivariate analysis may not precisely identify the factors associated with OS and PFS in such a small study.

In conclusion, this pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study provided important information regarding the characteristics of drugs during continuous hepatic arterial infusion. TACE with low dose oxaliplatin and raltitrexed was effective and less toxic in patients with advanced HCC with MPVTT, making it a viable option for such patients.

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

We had generated a pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics model for transarterial infusion. Here, we aimed to translate these findings into a clinical protocol for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) with portal vein tumor thrombus (PVTT).

#### **Research motivation**

Although transarterial chemoembolization (TACE) is widely used in the treatment of HCC with PVTT, the incidence of complication is high and overall survival is short, thereby limiting its use. More safe and effective protocols need to be developed to improve therapeutic effects.

#### **Research objectives**

We want to provide a simple and effect way to determine a clinical protocol based on pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies.

#### **Research methods**

After embolization, we kept the catheter in the feeding artery of the tumor and infused chemotherapy: oxaliplatin 50 mg in 250 mL of glucose was infused by pump for 4 h and raltitrexed 2 mg in 100 mL of 0.9% saline for the next 1 h after.



#### Research results

All cases received low dose continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy without major complications. Complete responses, partial responses, stable disease, and disease progression for intrahepatic disease were observed in 0, 45, 20, and 21 patient, respectively. The 1-, 2-, and 3-year overall survival rates of the 86 patients were 40.7%, 22.1%, and 8.1% respectively, and the median survival time was 8.7 mo.

#### **Research conclusions**

TACE with low dose continuous hepatic arterial infusion of oxaliplatin and raltitrexed could be safely used in major portal vein tumor thrombosis (MPVTT) patients. It is effective in patients with advanced HCC with MPVTT and is less toxic.

#### Research perspectives

Continuous hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy was shown to be effective with limited complications. Based on results from pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics studies; we were able to choose agents and adjust the protocol with high efficiency.

#### REFERENCES

- Forner A, Llovet JM, Bruix J. Hepatocellular carcinoma. Lancet 2012; 379: 1245-1255 [PMID: 22353262 DOI: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(11)61347-0]
- Quirk M, Kim YH, Saab S, Lee EW. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein thrombosis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21: 3462-3471 [PMID: 25834310 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i12.3462]
- 3 Zhu P, Liao Y, Fan J, Li X, Su L, Li J, Yuan S, Yu J, Liao W. Preoperative prediction of hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombus based on conventional data. *Oncotarget* 2017; 8: 104227-104237 [PMID: 29262635 DOI: 10.18632/ oncotarget.22198]
- 4 European Association for the Study of the Liver; European Organisation For Research And Treatment Of Cancer. EASL-EORTC clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 908-943 [PMID: 22424438 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.12.001]
- 5 Suzuki Y, Takeda M. Keratins in the developing olfactory epithelia. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 1991; 59: 171-178 [PMID: 1717178 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i47.7561]
- 6 Katagiri S, Yamamoto M. Multidisciplinary treatments for hepatocellular carcinoma with major portal vein tumor thrombus. *Surg Today* 2014; 44: 219-226 [PMID: 23591833 DOI: 10.1007/ s00595-013-0585-6]
- 7 Lin DX, Zhang QY, Li X, Ye QW, Lin F, Li LL. An aggressive approach leads to improved survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients with portal vein tumor thrombus. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* 2011; **137**: 139-149 [PMID: 20340033 DOI: 10.1007/s00432-010-0868-x]
- 8 Lazo M, Hernaez R, Eberhardt MS, Bonekamp S, Kamel I, Guallar E, Koteish A, Brancati FL, Clark JM. Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the United States: the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. *Am J Epidemiol* 2013; **178**: 38-45 [PMID: 23703888 DOI: 10.1093/aje/kws448]
- 9 **Guo JH**, Zhang HY, Gao S, Zhang PJ, Li XT, Chen H, Wang XD, Zhu X. Hepatic artery infusion with raltitrexed or 5-fluorouracil for

colorectal cancer liver metastasis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2017; **23**: 1406-1411 [PMID: 28293087 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i8.1406]

- 10 Henderson JM, Sherman M, Tavill A, Abecassis M, Chejfec G, Gramlich T. AHPBA/AJCC consensus conference on staging of hepatocellular carcinoma: consensus statement. *HPB* (Oxford) 2003; **5**: 243-250 [PMID: 18332995 DOI: 10.1080/136518203100 15833]
- 11 Liver Cancer Study Group of Japan. Primary liver cancer in Japan. Clinicopathologic features and results of surgical treatment. *Ann Surg* 1990; 211: 277–287 [PMID: 2155591]
- 12 NIH Publication 09-5410: Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) v4.03: June 14, 2010. United States Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute
- 13 Lencioni R, Llovet JM. Modified RECIST (mRECIST) assessment for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Semin Liver Dis* 2010; **30**: 52-60 [PMID: 20175033 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1247132]
- 14 Lin M, Pellerin O, Bhagat N, Rao PP, Loffroy R, Ardon R, Mory B, Reyes DK, Geschwind JF. Quantitative and volumetric European Association for the Study of the Liver and Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors measurements: feasibility of a semiautomated software method to assess tumor response after transcatheter arterial chemoembolization. *J Vasc Interv Radiol* 2012; 23: 1629-1637 [PMID: 23177109 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jvir.2012.08.028]
- 15 Llovet JM, Ricci S, Mazzaferro V, Hilgard P, Gane E, Blanc JF, de Oliveira AC, Santoro A, Raoul JL, Forner A, Schwartz M, Porta C, Zeuzem S, Bolondi L, Greten TF, Galle PR, Seitz JF, Borbath I, Häussinger D, Giannaris T, Shan M, Moscovici M, Voliotis D, Bruix J; SHARP Investigators Study Group. Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* 2008; **359**: 378-390 [PMID: 18650514 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0708857]
- 16 Hsu CH, Yang TS, Hsu C, Toh HC, Epstein RJ, Hsiao LT, Chen PJ, Lin ZZ, Chao TY, Cheng AL. Efficacy and tolerability of bevacizumab plus capecitabine as first-line therapy in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Br J Cancer* 2010; 102: 981-986 [PMID: 20160718 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.660558]
- 17 Niu ZJ, Ma YL, Kang P, Ou SQ, Meng ZB, Li ZK, Qi F, Zhao C. Transarterial chemoembolization compared with conservative treatment for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombus: using a new classification. *Med Oncol* 2012; 29: 2992-2997 [PMID: 22200992 DOI: 10.1007/s12032-011-0145-0]
- 18 Chung GE, Lee JH, Kim HY, Hwang SY, Kim JS, Chung JW, Yoon JH, Lee HS, Kim YJ. Transarterial chemoembolization can be safely performed in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma invading the main portal vein and may improve the overall survival. *Radiology* 2011; 258: 627-634 [PMID: 21273524 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.10101058]
- 19 Xue TC, Xie XY, Zhang L, Yin X, Zhang BH, Ren ZG. Transarterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombus: a meta-analysis. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2013; 13: 60 [PMID: 23566041 DOI: 10.1186/1471-230X-13-60]
- 20 Sacco R, Bargellini I, Bertini M, Bozzi E, Romano A, Petruzzi P, Tumino E, Ginanni B, Federici G, Cioni R, Metrangolo S, Bertoni M, Bresci G, Parisi G, Altomare E, Capria A, Bartolozzi C. Conventional versus doxorubicin-eluting bead transarterial chemoembolization for hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Vasc Interv Radiol* 2011; 22: 1545-1552 [PMID: 21849247 DOI: 10.1016/ j.jvir.2011.07.002]

P- Reviewer: Dulciene DM, Teresa VM, Yuan YF S- Editor: Wang XJ L- Editor: Filipodia E- Editor: Huang Y







Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2508

**Clinical Trials Study** 

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2508-2517

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## Clinical and prognostic significance of Raf kinase inhibitory protein expression in gastrointestinal stromal tumors

Yang Wang, Juan-Juan Chen, Xiao-Fei Wang, Qiang Wang

Yang Wang, Juan-Juan Chen, Xiao-Fei Wang, Qiang Wang, Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang 110004, Liaoning Province, China

ORCID number: Yang Wang (0000-0002-1819-4937); Juan-Juan Chen (0000-0002-4874-4864); Xiao-Fei Wang (0000-0003-2309-3775); Qiang Wang (0000-0003-0630-3320).

Author contributions: Wang Y designed research; Wang Y performed research; Wang Y and Chen JJ contributed new reagents or analytic tools; Wang Y and Wang XF analyzed data; Wang Y wrote the paper; Wang Q edited the paper and provided primary revised opinion.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by Sheng-Jing Hospital of China Medical University Institutional Review Board.

**Informed consent statement:** The patient involved in this study gave her written informed consent authorizing use and disclosure of her protected health information.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors have no conflicts of interests to declare.

**CONSORT 2010 statement:** the guidelines of the CONSORT 2010 Statement have been adopted.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Correspondence to: Qiang Wang, PhD, Doctor, Professor, Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Shengjing Hospital of

China Medical University, Shenyang 110004, Liaoning Province, China. wangq@sj-hospital.org Telephone: +86-24-96615

Received: March 14, 2018 Peer-review started: March 14, 2018 First decision: March 30, 2018 Revised: April 5, 2018 Accepted: April 26, 2018 Article in press: April 26, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

#### Abstract

#### AIM

To detect the expression of Raf kinase inhibitory protein (RKIP) in gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs) and to analyze its relationship with clinicopatholgical characteristics and prognosis of this disease.

#### **METHODS**

Sixty-three patients with pathologically diagnosed GISTs who underwent surgical resection at the Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University from January 2011 to January 2015 and had complete clinical, pathological, and follow-up data were included. Immunohistochemical method was used to detect the expression of RKIP in GIST tissue samples from these patients. Kaplan-Meier method was used to calculate the survival rate of 60 patients with complete follow-up data, and Cox regression analysis was performed to identify factors affecting the prognosis of patients GISTs to evaluate further the diagnostic and prognostic value of RKIP in GISTs.

#### RESULTS

In GIST tissues, RKIP positive signals, manifesting as brownish yellow or brown granules, were located in the cytoplasm or on the membrane. Of 63 tissue samples included in this study, 34 (54%) were positive and 29 (46%) were negative for RKIP expression. Statistical analysis showed that RKIP expression in GISTs was significantly associated with tumor size, National Institutes of Health (NIH) risk grade, and mucosal invasion, but had no significant association with age, gender, tumor location, or the number of mitotic figures. Univariate Kaplan-Meier analysis revealed that the 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates were 94.4%, 89.2%, and 80.5% for patients with positive RKIP expression, and 88.6%, 68.2%, and 48.2% for patients with negative RKIP expression, suggesting that patients with high RKIP expression had significantly higher survival rates than those with low expression (Log-rank test, P =0.0015). Cox regression analysis demonstrated that NIH risk grade was significantly associated with the prognosis of GISTs (P = 0.037), suggesting that NIH risk grade is a significant predictor of the prognosis of GISTs. RKIP expression had a tendency to predict the survival of GISTs (P = 0.122), suggesting that RKIP expression may have appreciated value to predict the prognosis of GISTs.

#### CONCLUSION

This study demonstrated that: (1) RKIP expression in GISTs is associated with tumor size, NIH risk grade, and mucosal invasion, and low or no expression of RKIP predicts a high malignancy potential; (2) high RKIP correlates positively with the survival of patients with GISTs; and (3) RKIP expression has appreciated value for predicting the survival of patients with GISTs, although it is not an independent prognostic factor in GISTs.

Key words: Gastrointestinal stromal tumors; Raf kinase inhibitory protein; Immunohistochemistry; Survival analysis

© **The Author(s) 2018.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** In this study, the expression of Raf kinase inhibitory protein (RKIP) in gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs) was examined by immunohistochemistry. We explored the relationship between RKIP protein expression and survival and prognosis in a large sample of GIST patients in China. RKIP protein expression was correlated with tumor growth, differentiation, malignancy, and the prognosis of the tumor. Our findings provide evidence for the diagnosis and prognosis assessment of GIST and offer new tumor treatment targets in GIST.

Wang Y, Chen JJ, Wang XF, Wang Q. Clinical and prognostic significance of Raf kinase inhibitory protein expression in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *World J Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2508-2517 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v24/i23/2508.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2508

#### INTRODUCTION

Gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs) have previously been classified or pathologically diagnosed as leiomyosarcomas, leiomyomas, or leiomyoblastomas. For many years, surgical resection was the only effective treatment for GISTs. Until 1983, Mazur and Clark, two professors of pathology at the State University of New York, found that these "leiomyomas" have neither smooth muscle characteristics nor Schwann characteristics, and they for the first time proposed the concept of GISTs<sup>[1,2]</sup>. In 1998, Hirota *et al*<sup>[3]</sup> at the Osaka University reported that GISTs contained activated *c-kit* mutations. Further immunohistochemical examination showed that GIST tissue was positive for CD34 and CD117. Since then, the diagnosis of GISTs entered the standardization phase<sup>[4]</sup>.

GISTs are now considered the most common gastrointestinal mesenchymal tumors, accounting for about 1%-4% of all gastrointestinal neoplasms. With the application of endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) in the gastrointestinal tract, more GISTs have been detected and distinguished form other subepithelial lesions<sup>[5-7]</sup>. The annual incidence of GISTs is about 2/100000<sup>[8,9]</sup>. Approximately 90% of GISTs are located in the stomach and small intestine, with gastric lesions being the most common (~60%). Geneticists estimate that about 10% of all individuals suffer from deleterious gene mutations<sup>[10]</sup>, and current research shows that the development of GISTs is associated with multiple gene mutations, such as *c*-kit and  $PDGFR\alpha$  (platelet derived growth factor receptor alpha) mutations. C-kit gene mutations generally occur in exon 11 (~60%) and include deletions, point mutations, and insertions. In some GISTs without *c-kit* mutations, *PDGFR*α mutations may occur, which account for about 8% of all GISTs. PDGFR $\alpha$  mutations occur mainly in exon 18 (~6% of all GISTs) and occasionally in exons 12 and 14 (~1.5% and 0.5% of all GISTs, respectively). Exons 18 and 12 encode the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain and jaxtamembrane domain, respectively. Of note, a small portion of GISTs are wild-type tumors, without c-kit or  $PDGFR\alpha$  abnormalities.

GISTs are basically a malignancy, and there are almost no absolutely benign GISTs. Seemingly benign GISTs have the potential to be malignant. For many years, treatment of GISTs was limited to surgical resection and the application of chemotherapy regimens for sarcomas, but with poor efficacy. In 2000, the first successful case using the targeted drug "imatinib" in GISTs was reported. Imatinib is a small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor that targets c-kit and PDGFRa and can prevent the initiation of the downstream oncogenes by inhibiting theses tyrosine kinases.

The application of the targeted drug imatinib in GISTs was a milestone in the understanding and gene therapy of GISTs. However, with the increased

Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com

application of imatinib in clinical cases, drug resistance is beginning to emerge. Thus, it is important to investigate further the pathogenesis of GISTs and discover new therapeutic targets for this malignancy.

Raf kinase inhibitory protein (RKIP), also known as phosphatidylethanolamine-binding protein 1 (PEBP1), is an important endogenous modulator of many kinases and the star protein of recent oncology research. This protein was initially identified in the brain of cattle<sup>[11]</sup>. RKIP belongs to a highly conserved family of phospholipidbinding proteins, which contains more than 400 members and is widely distributed in microbes, plants, and mammals. RKIP can regulate multiple signaling transduction pathways, including the Raf/MAP kinase (MAPK) pathway, the  $\beta$ -adrenergic ( $\beta$ -AR) pathway, and the NF-kappa B pathway<sup>[12-14]</sup>. RKIP is not only a kinase inhibitor but also a target of phosphorylation, having important and complex functions, such as regulating tumor growth and metastasis and affecting cell cycle and apoptosis.

Recently, there have been many studies on RKIP, including in gastric cancer, colon cancer, esophageal cancer, and gynecological tumors. However, there have been very few reports on RKIP in GISTs. The role of this protein in the growth and metastasis of GISTs, the relationship between RKIP expression and clinical characteristics of GISTs, and the effect of RKIP expression on the prognosis of GISTs remain unclear. To address these problems, we detected the expression of RKIP in GISTs by immunohistochemistry and analyzed the clinical and prognostic significance of RKIP expression in GISTs, with an aim to provide a basis for GIST diagnosis, prognosis evaluation, and identification of new tumor therapeutic targets.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Patients

Sixty-three patients with pathologically diagnosed GISTs who underwent surgical resection at the Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University from January 2011 to January 2015 and had complete clinical, pathological, and follow-up data were included in this study. There were 33 men and 30 women, with a mean age of 56.2 years (range, 21-83 years). The location of GISTs included the stomach (n = 35, 55.6%), duodenum (n = 12, 19.0%), jejunoileum (n = 14, 22.2%), and colon (n = 2, 3.1%).

The diagnostic criteria for GISTs were histopathological features consistent with GISTs and immunohistochemical positivity for CD117, immunohistochemical negativity for CD117 but positivity for CD34, or immunohistochemical negativity for CD117 and CD34 as well as smooth muscle actin (SMA), desmin, and S-100 (to exclude smooth muscle tumors and neurogenic tumors). There were 59 (90.8%) cases positive for CD117 and 50 (76.9%) cases positive for CD34 (Table 1).

GISTs were graded based on the National Institutes

## Table 1 Clinicopathological data of the 63 patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumors

Characteristic	Patient	s(n = 63)
	Number	Percentage (%)
Gender		
Male	33	52.4
Female	30	47.6
Age (yr)		
≥ 56	32	50.8
< 56	31	49.2
Tumor location		
Stomach	35	55.6
Duodenum	12	19.0
Jejunoileum	14	22.2
Colon	2	3.2
Tumor size (cm)		
< 2	11	17.5
2-5.9	20	31.7
6-10	18	28.6
> 10	14	22.2
NIH risk grade		
Very low	10	15.9
Low	19	30.1
Moderate	10	15.9
High	24	38.1
Mitotic figures per 50 HPFs		
0	11	17.5
1-4	35	55.6
5-9	6	9.4
>10	11	17.5
Mucosal invasion		
Yes	33	52.4
No	30	47.6

HPFs: High-power fields.

of Health (NIH) consensus on defining the risk of aggressive behavior: (1) Very low risk of aggressive behavior (grade I), tumor size < 2 cm and mitotic figures < 5/50 high-power fields (HPFs); low risk (grade II), tumor size of 2-5 cm and mitotic figures < 5/50 HPFs; moderate risk (grade III), tumor size of 5-10 cm and mitotic figures < 5/50 HPFs, or tumor size < 5 cm and mitotic figures > 5 cm and mitotic figures > 5/50 HPFs, or tumor size > 10 cm and mitotic figures > 10/50 HPFs.

Of 63 cases of GISTs included in this study, three died from other reasons and the remaining 60 had complete follow-up data, with a mean follow-up period of 48 mo (range, 5-61 mo). Tumor-adjacent tissue samples were collected as controls.

#### Immunohistochemical staining

GIST tissue samples were fixed in formalin, embedded in paraffin, and cut into 4  $\mu$ m sections. The sections were then routinely dewaxed and rehydrated. After endogenous peroxidase was inactivated with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, heatmediated antigen retrieval was performed. The sections were then blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) blocking solution for 20 min at room temperature. Subsequently, the sections were incubated with primary



Figure 1 Immunohistochemcial staining for Raf kinase inhibitory protein in gastrointestinal stromal tumor tissues. A: Negative expression; B: Mildly positive expression; C: Moderately positive expression; D: Strongly positive expression. Scale bars on Figure. Magnification is 200 ×.

antibody (rabbit anti-RKIP antibody) for 12 h at room temperature, followed by incubation with secondary antibody (biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG) for 20 min at 25 °C. After that, the sections were incubated with SABC-AP/BCIP reagents to develop the color. Finally, the sections were counterstained with nuclear fast red, dehydrated, mounted, and observed under a microscope.

#### Evaluation of immunohistochemical staining

Positive immunohistochemical staining signals for RKIP were present in the cytoplasm or on the membrane. A semi-quantitative method that combines staining intensity and the percentage of positive cells was adopted to evaluate the expression of RKIP. Ten HPFs were randomly selected from a slide, and 100 cells were counted in each HPF to calculate the percentage of positive cells. The staining intensity was graded as follows: 0, no staining; 1, yellow; 2, brownish yellow; and 3, brown. The percentage of positive cells was scored as follows: 0, < 25%; 1, 25% to 50%; 2, 51% to 75%; and  $3_{,} > 75\%$ . The overall score was the product of the staining intensity and the percentage of positive cells and graded as negative (0-2), mildly positive (+, 3), moderately positive (++, 4-6), or strongly positive (+++, 9). RKIP expression was judged to be either negative (0-2) or positive (3-9).

#### Follow-up

The patients were followed by telephone, outpatient visits, or letters. Survival time was defined as the period

from the date of surgery to the date of the last followup or death. Of the 63 cases included, 60 had complete follow-up data and three died of other diseases or accidents. The follow-up period was between January 2013 and December 31, 2017.

#### Statistical analysis

SPSS17.0 software was used for all statistical analyses. Percentages were compared using the chi-square test. Survival curves were plotted with GRAPHPAD software, and survival analysis was performed using the Kaplan-Meier method and the log-rank test. Multivariate prognostic analysis was performed using a Cox regression model. *P*-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

## Relationship between RKIP expression and clinicopathological characteristics of GISTs

In GIST tissue, RKIP positive signals, manifesting as brownish yellow or brown granules, were located in the cytoplasm or on the membrane (Figure 1). Of 63 tissue samples included in this study, 14 were strongly positive (+++), 16 moderately positive (++), four mildly positive (+), and 29 negative for RKIP expression (Figure 1A-D, respectively). In total, 34 (54%) cases were positive and 29 (46%) were negative for RKIP expression. Statistical analysis showed that RKIP expression in GISTs was significantly associated with Table 2 Relationship between raf kinase inhibitory protein expression and clinical and pathological characteristics of gastrointestinal stromal tumors

Chavactovictic	Number	DKID o	D value	
Characteristic	Number		P value	
		Positive ( $\geq 3$ )	Negative (< 3)	
Gender				
Male	33	19	14	0.547
Female	30	15	15	
Age (yr)				
≥ 56	32	20	12	0.167
< 56	31	14	17	
Tumor location				
Stomach	35	16	19	0.503
Duodenum	12	8	4	
Jejunoileum	14	9	5	
Colon	2	1	1	
Tumor size (cm)				
< 2	11	10	1	< 0.01 <sup>1</sup>
2-5	20	15	5	
6-10	18	5	13	
> 10	14	4	10	
NIH risk grade				
Very low	10	8	2	< 0.01 <sup>1</sup>
Low	19	16	3	
Moderate	10	3	7	
High	24	7	17	
Mitotic figures per 50 HPFs				
0	11	8	3	0.218
1-4	35	20	15	
5-9	6	2	4	
> 10	11	4	7	
Mucosal invasion				
Yes	33	13	20	$0.015^{1}$
No	30	21	9	

<sup>1</sup>RKIP positive percentage were compared using the  $\chi$  test, P < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. RKIP: Raf kinase inhibitory protein; HPFs: High-power fields.



Figure 2 Relationship between Raf kinase inhibitory protein expression and National Institutes of Health risk grade in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. The figure shows RKIP positive rate is different between each NIH risk grade group: The higher risk grade group with the lower RKIP positive rate. RKIP: Raf kinase inhibitory protein; NIH: National Institutes of Health; GISTs: Gastrointestinal stromal tumors.

tumor size, NIH risk grade, and mucosal invasion. The positive rates of RKIP expression were 80.0%, 84.2%, 30.0%, and 29.2% in the very low risk, low risk, moderate risk, and high risk groups, respectively (P <

0.01); 90.9%, 75.0%, 27.8%, and 28.6% in tumors of < 2 cm, 2-5.9 cm, 6-10 cm, and > 10 cm, respectively (P < 0.01); and 39.4% and 70.0% in tumors with and without mucosal invasion, respectively (P = 0.015). However, RKIP expression had no significant association with age, gender, tumor location, or the number of mitotic figures (Table 2, Figures 2-4).

#### Follow-up data

Of 60 patients who were followed, two were lost to follow-up, and the rate of follow-up was 92.1%. Fourteen patients died of GISTs. The median survival time was 54.96 mo. The 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates for all patients were 91.7%, 83.3%, and 71.7%, respectively, and the mean survival time was 47.66  $\pm$  16.61 mo (Figure 5).

## Relationship between RKIP expression and prognosis of GISTs

Univariate Kaplan-Meier analysis revealed that the survival rates differed significantly between patients with positive and negative RKIP expression (Log-rank test, P = 0.0015) (Figure 6). The 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates were 94.4%, 89.2%, and 80.5% for patients with positive RKIP expression, and 88.6%,

Table 3 Multivariate analysis of factors affecting prognosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumors $(n = 63)$								
	В	SE	Wald	df	significance	Exp (B)		
NIH risk grade	1.299	0.624	4.337	1	0.037	3.664		
Age	-0.008	0.019	0.186	1	0.667	0.992		
Sex	-0.500	0.561	0.795	1	0.373	0.606		
<b>RKIP</b> expression	1.049	0.678	2.395	1	0.122	2.855		
Mitotic figures	0.087	0.283	0.095	1	0.758	1.091		
Tumor size	-0.121	0.435	0.078	1	0.781	0.886		
Tumor location	0.269	0.351	0.589	1	0.443	1.309		

NIH: National Institutes of Health; RKIP: Raf kinase inhibitory protein.



Figure 3 Relationship between Raf kinase inhibitory protein expression and mucosal invasion in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. RKIP expression is related with mucosal invasion status in GISTs: the RKIP positive rate of the mucosal invaded group is lower than the control group whose mucosa has not been invaded (P < 0.05). RKIP: Raf kinase inhibitory protein; GISTs: Gastrointestinal stromal tumors.



Figure 4 Relationship between Raf kinase inhibitory protein expression and tumor size in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. RKIP positive rate declined as the tumor size increased. RKIP: Raf kinase inhibitory protein; GISTs: Gastrointestinal stromal tumors.

68.2%, and 48.2% for patients with negative RKIP expression, suggesting that patients with high RKIP expression had higher survival rates than those with low expression.

## Multivariate analysis of factors affecting prognosis of GISTs

Cox regression analysis demonstrated that NIH risk grade was significantly associated with the survival of GISTs (P = 0.037) (Table 3), suggesting that NIH risk grade is a significant predictor of the prognosis of GISTs. Of note, RKIP expression had a tendency to predict the survival of GISTs (P = 0.122), suggesting that RKIP expression may have appreciated value to predict the prognosis of GISTs. In contrast, other factors, including age, gender, number of mitotic figures, and tumor size, did not significantly predict the prognosis of GISTs (Table 3).

#### DISCUSSION

GISTs are the most common gastrointestinal mesenchymal neoplasms. In the past 30 years, the pathogenesis of GISTs has gradually been elucidated, and their diagnosis and treatment has become standardized<sup>[15-19]</sup>. However, there is still a significant number of recurrent or metastatic GISTs. Because of their resistance to radiation and chemotherapy, recurrent or metastatic GISTs were once considered an incurable disease. GIST patients with metastasis have a median survival period as low as 20 mo, and for patients with locally recurrent GISTs, the median survival period is only 9-12 mo<sup>[20,21]</sup>. Imatinib, which is a drug that targets *c-kit* and *PDGFR* $\alpha$  gene mutations, is the first choice of molecular therapy for GISTs. However, there are currently no other targets for therapy and prognosis monitoring in GISTs.

RKIP is a structurally complex protein that can act as a "multidirectional switch" to regulate multiple signaling transduction pathways, including the Raf/MAPK pathway, the  $\beta$ -AR pathway, and the NF-kappa B pathway<sup>[12,13]</sup>. RKIP protein is not only a kinase inhibitor but also a target of phosphorylation. For example, in the MAPK pathway, RKIP binds and inhibits Raf protein, and in the G protein-coupled pathway, RKIP binds to GRK2. This functional shift is achieved through the phosphorylation of the S153 residue by protein kinase C (PKC)<sup>[22]</sup>. Recently, the regulatory function of RKIP protein in tumors has gradually become a hot research topic, but the data on its expression in GISTs are limited.

In this study, we found in GIST tissue that RKIP



Figure 5 Survival rate of 60 gastrointestinal stromal tumors patients at follow-up. GIST: Gastrointestinal stromal tumors.



Figure 6 Relationship between raf kinase inhibitory protein expression and prognosis in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Compared with the RKIP negative Group, the high RKIP expression group is correlated with a better survival rate, the difference was significant. (Log-Rank analysis, P = 0.0015). RKIP: Raf kinase inhibitory protein.

was mainly expressed in the cytoplasm and on the membrane, presenting as brownish yellow or brown granules. Such an expression pattern is consistent with many previous reports. RKIP is mainly expressed in the human cytoplasm or on the membrane. The RKIP gene is located on chromosome 12g24.23 and contains four exons, spanning a length of 1435 bp and encoding a 21 KDa protein containing 187 amino acid residues<sup>[23]</sup>. Immunohistochemical results showed that the expression of RKIP in GISTs tissue was correlated with tumor size; in tumors of < 2 cm, 3-5.9 cm, 6-10 cm, or > 10 cm, the positive expression rates of RKIP were 90.9%, 75%, 27.8%, and 28.6%, respectively (P < 0.01). As the tumor size increased, the degree of malignancy increased, and the expression of RKIP was gradually reduced or absent. This result suggests that the expression of RKIP may be associated with the growth of GISTs. Consistent with this finding, Eves et al<sup>[24]</sup> reported the lack of RKIP protein expression in hepatoma cells, which can lead to rapid cell division and increased cell proliferation instability<sup>[25]</sup>. As far as the mechanism is concerned, RKIP protein is an important regulatory factor in the MAPK signaling transduction pathway, and its ligand Raf-1 can regulate the cell cycle of mitotic cells<sup>[26]</sup>. In addition, the activation of downstream protein ERK1/2 in the MAPK pathway can control important structures that are related to cell division, such as centromeres, spindles, and intermediates<sup>[27,28]</sup>. Collectively, RKIP can regulate tumor cell cycle and mitosis by regulating the phosphorylation and activation of Raf-1 and the activation of downstream MEK/ERK. In GIST cells, the low or no expression of RKIP protein can reduce its inhibitory effect on the MAPK pathway, thus resulting in the proliferation of tumor cells<sup>[29]</sup>. Therefore, there is a negative correlation between tumor volume and RKIP expression.

When analyzing the relationship between RKIP protein expression and tumor invasion, we found that there was a significant difference in the positive rate of RKIP between GISTs with and without mucosal invasion (P = 0.015). Previously, many reports on RKIP in other tumor types have found that RKIP protein was related to invasion or metastasis suppression, suggesting a general role of RKIP protein in tumor metastasis and invasion. In the earliest research on RKIP in prostate cancer, Fu et al<sup>[30]</sup> performed a gene chip analysis of mRNA expression in a prostate cancer cell line with a low metastatic potential (LNCaP cells) and a prostate cancer cell line with a high metastatic potential (C42B cells) and found that the expression level of RKIP was lower in C42B cells than in LNCaP cells. The study of specimens from patients with prostate cancer also showed that the expression of RKIP was lower in metastatic prostate cancer. These results suggest that there is a correlation between RKIP expression and tumor metastasis. Furthermore, an in vitro tumor invasion assay demonstrated that downregulation of RKIP expression in LNCaP cells can enhance their invasion ability, while restoring RKIP expression in C42B cells can weaken their ability of invasion<sup>[31]</sup>. In both in vivo and in vitro studies of prostate cancer and melanoma, high expression of RKIP can reduce vessel invasion and reduce metastasis risk<sup>[32]</sup>. Similar results have also been reported in studies on breast cancer with lymph node metastasis<sup>[33]</sup>, insulinoma<sup>[34]</sup>, colon cancer<sup>[35,36]</sup>, liver cancer<sup>[25]</sup>, ovarian cancer<sup>[37]</sup>, and thyroid cancer<sup>[38]</sup>.

In the present study, the positive rate of RKIP expression differed significantly among different NIH risk grades (very low risk: 80.0%; low risk: 84.2%; moderate risk: 30.0%; high risk: 29.2%; P < 0.01). Fletcher discovered that tumor size and the number of mitotic figures are the main prognostic factors to evaluate the malignant potential of GISTs; and, therefore, proposed a risk grading system (NIH grading), which is of great importance in clinical and pathological diagnosis. In this study, the expression of RKIP was correlated with the size of GISTs: the larger the tumor and the higher the malignancy, the higher the possibility of negative expression of RKIP. However, our results indicated that

the expression of RKIP did not significantly correlate with the number of mitotic figures. This result is similar to the study of Miettinen, who found that small intestinal stromal tumors had higher malignant potential than gastric stromal tumors. Gastric stromal tumors had good biological behavior as long as the number of mitotic figures was no more than 5/50 HPFs, and duodenal stromal tumors had good prognosis only when the number of mitotic figures was less than 2/50 HPFs<sup>[39]</sup>. These findings suggest that other factors (such as tumor location) may also affect the weight of the number of mitotic figures as one of the only two indicators of the NIH risk grading system. To overcome this problem, Miettinen further proposed a new risk assessment system to use anatomical site as an independent assessment factor. In 2013, Sebatian et al<sup>[40]</sup> performed an immunohistochemical analysis of 161 surgical specimens and a survival analysis based on the clinical and pathological data of these surgical patients and found that the low expression of RKIP was significantly correlated with both high NIH risk grade (P = 0.033, moderate vs low risk group) and high Miettnen grade (P = 0.044, moderate vs low risk group).

In order to have a more direct understanding of the impact of RKIP expression on the prognosis of patients with GISTs, we followed 60 GISTs patients (median follow-up period, 54.96 mo) and plotted the survival curve of these patients according to RKIP expression using univariate Kaplan-Meier method. The results showed that the survival rate differed significantly between patients with positive and negative expression of RKIP (Log-rank test, P = 0.0015). The 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates were 94.4%, 89.2%, and 80.5% for patients with positive RKIP expression, and 88.6%, 68.2%, and 48.2% for patients with negative RKIP expression, suggesting that patients with high RKIP expression had higher survival rates than those with low expression. Thus, RKIP expression has appreciated value for evaluating the prognosis of patients with GISTs.

Further, Cox regression analysis showed that the prognosis of GISTs patients was related to NIH risk grade (P = 0.037), indicating that NIH risk grade is an important parameter to evaluate the prognosis of patients. RKIP expression had a tendency to predict the prognosis of GISTs (P = 0.122), suggesting that RKIP expression may have appreciated value to predict the survival of GISTs. RKIP as a prognostic factor has been reported in many other tumors. For example, Fu *et al*<sup>[41]</sup> used prostate cancer tissue chip to detect RKIP expression in non-tumor tissues, primary tumor tissues, and metastasis tumor tissues and found that RKIP was strongly expressed in the majority of nontumor tissues. Although RKIP was weakly expressed in advanced prostate cancer (Gleason score, 6-7), it was strongly expressed in the rest prostate cancer tissues. RKIP expression, however, almost disappeared in metastasis tumor tissues. These results are consistent with the above-mentioned observation that RKIP may

act as a metastasis suppressor gene, and also indicate that RKIP can be used as a prognostic factor for prostate cancer. In gliomas, the absence of RKIP correlated with a higher malignancy and a shorter survival period. Yu *et al*<sup>(42)</sup> performed a meta-analysis of RKIP expression in gastrointestinal tumors, in which they systematically summarized and analyzed 28 articles that met the criteria, and found that low expression of RKIP is associated with a poor prognosis and short survival time.

Although both univariate and multivariate analyses indicated that RKIP expression had appreciated significance in prognosis evaluation in patients with GISTs in this study, multivariate analysis demonstrated that RKIP expression cannot be an independent prognostic factor in GISTs (P = 0.122). Similarly, Marcus Valadao concluded that RKIP expression does not affect the overall survival (P = 0.73), progression free survival (P = 0.22), or objective response rate  $(P = 0.30)^{[43]}$ . Sebatian *et al*<sup>[40]</sup> performed a multiple regression analysis of factors affecting overall survival (age, gender, imatinib chemotherapy, Flecher grade, etc.) in patients with GISTs and suggested that low expression of RKIP does not have prognostic significance. This may be because current studies are all limited to detection of RKIP expression at the protein level using immunohistochemical method. Because of the qualitative nature and limited number of experimental samples, there is a lack of quantitative research and detection of RKIP expression at the genetic level.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that: (1) RKIP expression in GISTs is associated with tumor size, NIH risk grade, and mucosal invasion, and low or no expression of RKIP predicts a high malignancy potential; (2) high RKIP correlates positively with the survival of patients with GISTs; and (3) RKIP expression has appreciated value for predicting survival of patients with GISTs, although it is not an independent prognostic factor in GISTs. These findings suggest that RKIP expression in GISTs is closely related to the diagnosis and treatment of this disease and RKIP may be used as a novel target for therapy and prognostic evaluation in GISTs. Future studies should further investigate the role and underlying mechanism of RKIP in GISTs.

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs) are the most common gastrointestinal mesenchymal tumor. Raf kinase inhibitory protein (RKIP) protein is both a kinase inhibitor and a phosphorylation target. It has important and complex functions in regulating tumor growth, metastasis, cell cycle, and apoptosis. Many recent articles on RKIP proteins have reported a link to various cancers, including gastric cancer, bowel cancer, esophageal cancer, and gynecologic oncology. However, there are only a few references on the expression of RKIP protein in gastrointestinal stromal tumors.

#### **Research motivation**

The following problems, which we need to solve urgently, are also the research motivation of this article: (1) The function of the RKIP in the GISTs neoplastic

Baishideng®

generation and metastasis; (2) the relationship between the RKIP expression and GIST clinical data; and (3) the relationship between the prognosis of GIST and RKIP.

#### **Research objectives**

In this study, we examined the expression of RKIP in GISTs by immunohistochemistry to explore the clinical significance of GIST expression and its prognosis. This research will provide evidence and support for the diagnosis of GIST, prognostic evaluation, and new tumor treatment targets

#### **Research methods**

The study included 63 cases of paraffin-embedded specimens of surgically resected and pathologically confirmed clinical specimens from Shengjing Hospital Affiliated to China Medical University. All the cases are clinically and pathologically complete, dated from January 2011 to January 2015. The expression of RKIP protein was analyzed by immunohistochemistry. The Kaplan-Meier method was used to calculate the overall survival of 60 patients followed up for survival analysis. The prognostic significance of each index was analyzed by COX multiple regression to clarify further the value of RKIP protein level in the diagnosis and prognosis of GISTs.

#### **Research results**

In GIST tissues, RKIP protein was positively expressed in the cytoplasm and cell membrane with brownish-yellow or brown granules. RKIP protein positive expression was found in 34 (54%) of the 63 specimens in this experiment, and the total negative expression was 29 (46%). The RKIP positive expression was related with GIST tumor size, NIH grade, and mucosal invasion. RKIP and age, gender, tumor location, and how many mitotic figures were not related. Kaplan-Meier method was used to draw the survival curves related to RKIP differential expression. The results showed that the 1, 3, and 5-year survival rates of RKIP positive group were 94.4%, 89.2% and 80.5%, respectively. The survival rates of RKIP negative group at 1, 3, and 5 years were only 88.6%, 68.2%, and 48.2%, respectively. Comparing with the RKIP negative Group, the RKIP high expression group was correlated with a better survival rate (Log-Rank analysis, P = 0.0015). The results of the COX multivariate analysis showed that the prognosis of patients with GISTs was related to NIH grade (P = 0.037) and Exp (B) was 3.664, indicating that NIH risk grade was an important factor to evaluate the prognosis of patients. However, the expression of RKIP correlated with the prognosis of patients (P = 0.122). The Exp (B) value was 2.855, suggesting that RKIP expression may have some reference value for the survival of GIST.

#### **Research conclusions**

The expression of RKIP protein in GISTs correlated with tumor size, NIH stage, and invasiveness of the mucosa (invasion degree), and each index suggested that the higher the degree of malignancy was associated with lower or more loss of RKIP expression. When compared with other factors (age, sex, tumor location, *etc.*), there was no relationship with RKIP level. RKIP overexpression was positively correlated with the survival of patients with GISTs, which has some implications for the prognosis of patients. RKIP expression has certain reference value for the survival of GIST, but it cannot be used as an independent factor to evaluate the prognosis of GISTs.

#### **Research perspectives**

As a complex protein, RKIP has a "multi-directional switch" function on many cell conduction pathways. RKIP remains a hot topic in recent cancer research. However, data on the relationship between RKIP and the pathogenesis and treatment of GIST still remains unclear. Additional studies on the mechanisms underlying RKIP expression disorder will possibly find that RKIP protein is marker protein for prognostication of GIST. In addition to its potential as a monitoring indicator, regulation and target treatment of RKIP could be a treatment option for GIST. Thus, RKIP may have practical value in understanding the biological characteristics and expression of GIST.

#### REFERENCES

 Mazur MT, Clark HB. Gastric stromal tumors. Reappraisal of histogenesis. Am J Surg Pathol 1983; 7: 507-519 [DOI: 10.1097/0 0000478-198309000-00001]

- 2 Ersan V, Kutlu R, Erdem C, Karagul S, Kayaalp C. Colorectal Stenting for Obstruction due to Retrorectal Tumor in a Patient Unsuitable for Surgery. *J Transl Int Med* 2017; 5: 186-188 [PMID: 29164050 DOI: 10.1515/jtim-2017-0026]
- 3 Hirota S, Isozaki K, Moriyama Y, Hashimoto K, Nishida T, Ishiguro S, Kawano K, Hanada M, Kurata A, Takeda M, Muhammad Tunio G, Matsuzawa Y, Kanakura Y, Shinomura Y, Kitamura Y. Gain-of-function mutations of c-kit in human gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Science* (NY) 1998; 279: 577-580 [DOI: 10.1126/science.279.5350.577]
- 4 Shi Y. Gastrointestinal stromal tumor. People's Medical Publishing House, 2011
- 5 Butt MO, Luck NH, Hassan SM, Abbas Z, Mubarak M. Gastritis profunda cystica presenting as gastric outlet obstruction and mimicking cancer: A case report. *J Transl Int Med* 2015; **3**: 35-37 [PMID: 27847884 DOI: 10.4103/2224-4018.154296]
- 6 Zhou C, Wang S, Tang W, Qian M, Cheng G, Chen G, Hu D. A rare case of spherical calcifications presenting as a submucosal lesion on the stomach wall: An EUS analysis. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2016; 5: 137-139 [PMID: 27080615 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.180482]
- 7 Park HY, Jeon SW, Lee HS, Cho CM, Bae HI, Seo AN, Kweon OK. Can contrast-enhanced harmonic endosonography predict malignancy risk in gastrointestinal subepithelial tumors? *Endosc Ultrasound* 2016; **5**: 384-389 [PMID: 28000630 DOI: 10.4103/230 3-9027.195871]
- 8 Miettinen M, Sobin LH, Lasota J. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors of the stomach: a clinicopathologic, immunohistochemical, and molecular genetic study of 1765 cases with long-term followup. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2005; 29: 52-68 [PMID: 15613856 DOI: 10.1097/01.pas.0000146010.92933.de]
- 9 Wu D, Li JN, Qian JM. Endoscopic Diagnosis and Treatment of Precancerous Colorectal Lesions in Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease: How Does the Latest SCENIC International Consensus Intersect with Our Clinical Practice? J Transl Int Med 2017; 5: 4-7 [PMID: 28680833 DOI: 10.1515/jtim-2017-0008]
- 10 Grouse L Md PhD. Galileo in Bethesda: The future of gene editing. J Transl Int Med 2016; 4: 143-146 [PMID: 28191536 DOI: 10.1515/jtim-2016-0014]
- Bernier I, Jolles P. Purification and characterization of a basic 23 kDa cytosolic protein from bovine brain. *BBA-BIOMEMBRANES* 1984; 790: 174-181 [DOI: 10.1016/0167-4838(84)90221-8]
- 12 Odabaei G, Chatterjee D, Jazirehi AR, Goodglick L, Yeung K, Bonavida B. Raf-1 kinase inhibitor protein: structure, function, regulation of cell signaling, and pivotal role in apoptosis. *Adv Cancer Res* 2004; 91: 169-200 [DOI: 10.1016/S0065-230X(04)91005-6]
- 13 Skinner JJ, Rosner MR. RKIP structure drives its function: a three-state model for regulation of RKIP. *Crit Rev Oncogenesis* 2014; 19: 483-488 [DOI: 10.1615/CritRevOncog.2014012001]
- 14 Montagnani F, Di Leonardo G, Pino M, Perboni S, Ribecco A, Fioretto L. Protracted Inhibition of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Signaling Improves Survival in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review. J Transl Int Med 2017; 5: 18-26 [PMID: 28680835 DOI: 10.1515/jtim-2017-0005]
- 15 Ignee A, Jenssen C, Hocke M, Dong Y, Wang WP, Cui XW, Woenckhaus M, Iordache S, Saftoiu A, Schuessler G, Dietrich CF. Contrast-enhanced (endoscopic) ultrasound and endoscopic ultrasound elastography in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2017; 6: 55-60 [PMID: 28218202 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.200216]
- 16 Ge N, Zhang S, Jin Z, Sun S, Yang A, Wang B, Wang G, Xu G, Hao J, Zhong L, Zhong N, Li P, Zhu Q, Nian W, Li W, Zhang X, Zhou X, Yang X, Cui Y, Ding Z. Clinical use of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration: Guidelines and recommendations from Chinese Society of Digestive Endoscopy. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2017; 6: 75-82 [PMID: 28440232 DOI: 10.4103/eus.eus\_20\_17]
- 17 Hoda KM, Rodriguez SA, Faigel DO. EUS-guided sampling of suspected GI stromal tumors. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: 1218-1223 [PMID: 19394006 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.09.045]

- 18 Sandhu DS, Holm AN, El-Abiad R, Rysgaard C, Jensen C, Gerke H. Endoscopic ultrasound with tissue sampling is accurate in the diagnosis and subclassification of gastrointestinal spindle cell neoplasms. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2017; 6: 174-180 [PMID: 28621294 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.208173]
- 19 Okasha HH, Naguib M, El Nady M, Ezzat R, Al-Gemeie E, Al-Nabawy W, Aref W, Abdel-Moaty A, Essam K, Hamdy A. Role of endoscopic ultrasound and endoscopic-ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration in endoscopic biopsy negative gastrointestinal lesions. *Endosc Ultrasound* 2017; 6: 156-161 [PMID: 28621291 DOI: 10.4103/2303-9027.201086]
- 20 DeMatteo RP, Lewis JJ, Leung D, Mudan SS, Woodruff JM, Brennan MF. Two hundred gastrointestinal stromal tumors: recurrence patterns and prognostic factors for survival. *Ann Surg* 2000; 231: 51-58 [PMID: 10636102 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-2000 01000-00008]
- 21 Yamane S, Katada C, Tanabe S, Azuma M, Ishido K, Yano T, Wada T, Watanabe A, Kawanishi N, Furue Y, Kondo Y, Komori S, Ishiyama H, Hayakawa K, Koizumi W. Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cancer of Unknown Primary Site Treated By Gastrointestinal Oncologists. *J Transl Int Med* 2017; **5**: 58-63 [PMID: 28680840 DOI: 10.1515/jtim-2017-0006]
- 22 Granovsky AE, Clark MC, McElheny D, Heil G, Hong J, Liu X, Kim Y, Joachimiak G, Joachimiak A, Koide S, Rosner MR. Raf kinase inhibitory protein function is regulated via a flexible pocket and novel phosphorylation-dependent mechanism. *Mol Cell Biol* 2009; 29: 1306-1320 [PMID: 19103740 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.01271-08]
- 23 Hori N, Chae KS, Murakawa K, Matoba R, Fukushima A, Okubo K, Matsubara K. A human cDNA sequence homologue of bovine phosphatidylethanolamine-binding protein. *Gene* 1994; 140: 293-294 [PMID: 8144042]
- 24 Eves EM, Shapiro P, Naik K, Klein UR, Trakul N, Rosner MR. Raf kinase inhibitory protein regulates aurora B kinase and the spindle checkpoint. *Mol Cell* 2006; 23: 561-574 [PMID: 16916643 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.07.015]
- 25 Lee HC, Tian B, Sedivy JM, Wands JR, Kim M. Loss of Raf kinase inhibitor protein promotes cell proliferation and migration of human hepatoma cells. *Gastroenterology* 2006; **131**: 1208-1217 [PMID: 17030190 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.07.012]
- 26 Ziogas A, Lorenz IC, Moelling K, Radziwill G. Mitotic Raf-1 is stimulated independently of Ras and is active in the cytoplasm. *J Biol Chem* 1998; 273: 24108-24114 [PMID: 9727031 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.273.37.24108]
- 27 Shapiro PS, Vaisberg E, Hunt AJ, Tolwinski NS, Whalen AM, McIntosh JR, Ahn NG. Activation of the MKK/ERK pathway during somatic cell mitosis: direct interactions of active ERK with kinetochores and regulation of the mitotic 3F3/2 phosphoantigen. *J Cell Biol* 1998; 142: 1533-1545 [PMID: 9744882 DOI: 10.1083/ jcb.142.6.1533]
- 28 Zecevic M, Catling AD, Eblen ST, Renzi L, Hittle JC, Yen TJ, Gorbsky GJ, Weber MJ. Active MAP kinase in mitosis: localization at kinetochores and association with the motor protein CENP-E. J Cell Biol 1998; 142: 1547-1558 [PMID: 9744883 DOI: 10.1083/ jcb.142.6.1547]
- 29 Yesilkanal AE, Rosner MR. Raf kinase inhibitory protein (RKIP) as a metastasis suppressor: regulation of signaling networks in cancer. *Crit Rev Oncogenesis* 2014; 19: 447-454 [DOI: 10.1615/CritRevOncog.2014012000]
- 30 **Fu Z**, Smith PC, Zhang L, Rubin MA, Dunn RL, Yao Z, Keller ET. Effects of raf kinase inhibitor protein expression on suppression of

prostate cancer metastasis. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2003; **95**: 878-889 [PMID: 12813171 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/95.12.878]

- 31 Yang KG. Progress in research of RKIP in tumors. *Lingnan Mod Clin Surg* 2015; **15**: 514-515
- 32 Schuierer MM, Bataille F, Hagan S, Kolch W, Bosserhoff AK. Reduction in Raf kinase inhibitor protein expression is associated with increased Ras-extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling in melanoma cell lines. *Cancer Res* 2004; 64: 5186-5192 [PMID: 15289323 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3861]
- 33 Hagan S, Al-Mulla F, Mallon E, Oien K, Ferrier R, Gusterson B, García JJ, Kolch W. Reduction of Raf-1 kinase inhibitor protein expression correlates with breast cancer metastasis. *Clin Cancer Res* 2005; 11: 7392-7397 [PMID: 16243812 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0283]
- 34 Zhang L, Fu Z, Binkley C, Giordano T, Burant CF, Logsdon CD, Simeone DM. Raf kinase inhibitory protein inhibits beta-cell proliferation. *Surgery* 2004; 136: 708-715 [PMID: 15349122 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2003.12.013]
- 35 Minoo P, Zlobec I, Baker K, Tornillo L, Terracciano L, Jass JR, Lugli A. Loss of raf-1 kinase inhibitor protein expression is associated with tumor progression and metastasis in colorectal cancer. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2007; **127**: 820-827 [PMID: 17439843 DOI: 10.1309/5D7MM22DAVGDT1R8]
- 36 Lossignol D. A little help from steroids in oncology. J Transl Int Med 2016; 4: 52-54 [PMID: 28191519 DOI: 10.1515/ jtim-2016-0011]
- 37 Li HZ, Wang Y, Gao Y, Shao J, Zhao XL, Deng WM, Liu YX, Yang J, Yao Z. Effects of raf kinase inhibitor protein expression on metastasis and progression of human epithelial ovarian cancer. *Mol Cancer Res* 2008; 6: 917-928 [PMID: 18567796 DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-08-0093]
- 38 Akaishi J, Onda M, Asaka S, Okamoto J, Miyamoto S, Nagahama M, Ito K, Kawanami O, Shimizu K. Growth-suppressive function of phosphatidylethanolamine-binding protein in anaplastic thyroid cancer. *Anticancer Res* 2006; 26: 4437-4442 [PMID: 17201166]
- 39 Miettinen M, Lasota J. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors: review on morphology, molecular pathology, prognosis, and differential diagnosis. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2006; 130: 1466-1478 [PMID: 17090188]
- 40 Schoppmann SF, Beer A, Nirtl N, Ba-Ssalamah A, Brodowicz T, Streubel B, Birner P. Downregulation of phosphatidylethanolamine binding protein 1 associates with clinical risk factors in gastrointestinal stromal tumors, but not with activation of the RAF-1-MEK-ETV1 pathway. *Cancer Lett* 2013; 335: 26-30 [PMID: 23376254 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2013.01.044]
- 41 Martinho O, Granja S, Jaraquemada T, Caeiro C, Miranda-Gonçalves V, Honavar M, Costa P, Damasceno M, Rosner MR, Lopes JM, Reis RM. Downregulation of RKIP is associated with poor outcome and malignant progression in gliomas. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e30769 [PMID: 22292035 DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0030769]
- Yu M, Wang Q, Ding JW, Yang Z, Xie C, Lu NH. Association between raf kinase inhibitor protein loss and prognosis in cancers of the digestive system: a meta-analysis. *Cancer Biomark* 2014; 14: 389-400 [PMID: 25171481 DOI: 10.3233/CBM-140410]
- 43 Valadão M, Braggio D, Santos AF, Pimenta-Inada HK, Linhares E, Gonçalves R, Romano S, Vilhena B, Small I, Cubero D, Cruz F, Oliveira AT, Martinho O, Reis RM, Guimarães DP, Ferreira CG. Involvement of signaling molecules in the prediction of response to imatinib treatment in metastatic GIST patients. *J Surg Res* 2012; 178: 288-293 [PMID: 22516345 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2012.03.031]

P- Reviewer: Michael Z, Janus O, Yukihiko T S- Editor: Wang XJ L- Editor: Filipodia E- Editor: Huang Y



Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com


Submit a Manuscript: http://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2518

World J Gastroenterol 2018 June 21; 24(23): 2518-2536

ISSN 1007-9327 (print) ISSN 2219-2840 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

# Comparing outcomes for endoscopic submucosal dissection between Eastern and Western countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Dane Christina Daoud, Nicolas Suter, Madeleine Durand, Mickael Bouin, Bernard Faulques, Daniel von Renteln

Dane Christina Daoud, Mickael Bouin, Bernard Faulques, Daniel von Renteln, Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology, Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CHUM) and Centre de Recherche du Centre hospitalier de l' Université de Montréal (CRCHUM), Montreal, Quebec H2X 0A9, Canada

Nicolas Suter, Madeleine Durand, Department of Medicine, Division of Internal Medicine, Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CHUM) and Centre de Recherche du Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CRCHUM), Montreal, Quebec H2X 0A9, Canada

ORCID number: Dane Christina Daoud (0000-0002-1292-7570); Nicolas Suter (0000-0002-3417-8953); Madeleine Durand (0000-0002-9459-9549); Mickael Bouin (0000-0003-4272-6793); Bernard Faulques (0000-0002-7648-4705); Daniel von Renteln (0000-0002-6125-0068).

Author contributions: Daoud DC designed the study, collected and analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; Suter N collected and analyzed the data; Durand M performed the statistical analysis and analyzed the data; von Renteln D designed the study, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; Bouin M and Faulques B revised the manuscript critically for intellectual content; and all the authors provided intellectual input for the study and approved the final version of the manuscript.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** None of the authors have any potential personal conflict of interest with regard to the study to declare.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article which was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Correspondence to: Madeleine Durand, FRCP(C), MD, MSc, Assistant Professor, Doctor, Department of Medicine, Division of Internal Medicine, Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CHUM) and Centre de Recherche du Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CRCHUM), 850 Rue Saint-Denis, Montréal, Québec H2X 0A9, Canada. madeleine.durand@gmail.com Telephone: +1-514-8908444

Received: March 10, 2018 Peer-review started: March 11, 2018 First decision: March 29, 2018 Revised: May 5, 2018 Accepted: June 2, 2018 Article in press: June 2, 2018 Published online: June 21, 2018

# Abstract

#### AIM

To compare endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) outcomes between Eastern and Western countries.

## **METHODS**

A systematic review and meta-analysis was performed using PubMed, MEDLINE, Web of Science, CINAHL and EBM reviews to identify studies published between 1990 and February 2016. The primary outcome was the efficacy of ESD based on information about either curative resection, *en bloc* or R0 resection rates. Secondary outcomes were complication rates, local recurrence rates and procedure times.

## RESULTS

Overall, 238 publications including 84318 patients and 89512 gastrointestinal lesions resected using ESD were identified. 90% of the identified studies reporting ESD

on 87296 lesions were conducted in Eastern countries and 10% of the identified studies reporting ESD outcomes in 2216 lesions were from Western countries. Meta-analyses showed higher pooled percentage of curative, *en bloc*, and R0 resection in the Eastern studies; 82% (CI: 81%-84%), 95% (CI: 94%-96%) and 89% (CI: 88%-91%) compared to Western studies; 71% (CI: 61%-81%), 85% (CI: 81%-89%) and 74% (CI: 67%-81%) respectively. The percentage of perforation requiring surgery was significantly greater in the Western countries (0.53%; CI: 0.10-1.16) compared to Eastern countries (0.01%; CI: 0%-0.05%). ESD procedure times were longer in Western countries (110 min *vs* 77 min).

## CONCLUSION

Eastern countries show better ESD outcomes compared to Western countries. Availability of local ESD expertise and regional outcomes should be considered for decision making to treat gastrointestinal lesions with ESD.

Key words: Curative resection; *En bloc* resection; R0 resection; Perforation

© **The Author(s) 2018.** Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core tip:** Endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) has become the preferred approach to remove larger or advanced gastrointestinal lesions in Asian countries. However, there might be regional differences in outcomes since the majority of ESD publications come from the Eastern world. To provide such information we conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis comparing ESD outcomes for different regions of the world. This study found that there are indeed regional differences for ESD outcomes. Eastern countries had better curative, *en bloc* and R0 resection rate than Western countries as well as less perforation requiring surgery.

Daoud DC, Suter N, Durand M, Bouin M, Faulques B, von Renteln D. Comparing outcomes for endoscopic submucosal dissection between Eastern and Western countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Gastroenterol* 2018; 24(23): 2518-2536 Available from: URL: http://www.wjgnet. com/1007-9327/full/v24/i23/2518.htm DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2518

# INTRODUCTION

Digestive cancers account for 20% of cancers diagnosed worldwide. The global age-standardized incidence rate (ASR) of esophageal, stomach and colorectal cancer are 5.9, 12.1 and 17.2 per 100000 respectively. Some geographic differences in the incidence of gastrointestinal cancers exist. Colorectal cancer rates are considerably higher in Western countries, while gastric cancer is the

most prevalent gastrointestinal cancer in Asian countries. Esophageal squamous cell cancer is predominant in Eastern countries, but the incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma has been increasing significantly in several Western countries<sup>[1]</sup>. Curative endoscopic therapy is possible for such gastrointestinal cancers or precancerous lesions if they are detected at a stage where the risk of lymph node metastasis is low<sup>[2]</sup>.

Endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) has been developed in Japan to allow for endoscopic en bloc and curative removal of larger superficial gastrointestinal lesions and early gastrointestinal cancers according to oncologic standards (R0 and *en bloc* resection)<sup>[3,4]</sup>. It is assumed that en bloc resection translates into lower recurrence rates compared to other endoscopic treatment options such as endoscopic mucosal resection (EMR). EMR requires the removal of gastrointestinal lesions > 20 mm, usually in several pieces, thus making it impossible to confirm a complete resection in histopathology with margins free of dysplastic or cancer tissue<sup>[5,6]</sup>. Consequently, ESD has become the preferred approach to remove larger or advanced gastrointestinal lesions in many Asian countries. Furthermore, previous systematic reviews comparing ESD to EMR have come up with the conclusion that ESD yields better results for complete and en bloc removal compared to EMR<sup>[7-11]</sup>.

Despite these results, widespread adoption of ESD has remained limited in Western countries and EMR continues to be the mainstay of endoscopic therapy. ESD is known to have high complication rates, demands long procedure times and requires substantial training and expertise development<sup>[7-11]</sup>. Differences in incidence (e.g., for gastric cancer) provide different local exposure to develop adequate ESD skills. Furthermore, differences in remuneration systems (e.g., fee per service systems without specific procedure codes) are other factors that might influence regional uptake of ESD. Such regional differences of case load and/or lesions suitable to develop ESD skills might translate into different regional outcomes for ESD. Consequently, Western centers might have different results and such differences are important to consider for clinical decision-making. Previous studies have focused on comparing ESD to EMR and without considering that there might be differences for regional ESD outcomes<sup>[7-11]</sup>. To provide such information we conducted a systematic review comparing ESD outcomes for different regions of the world.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

We conducted a systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis, and reported our results in accordance to PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) recommendations.

### Search strategy

A computerized, systematic bibliographic search was performed on PubMed, MEDLINE (OVID), EMBASE



(OVID), Web of Science (Clarivate Analytics), CINAHL (EBSCO) and EBM reviews (OVID) databases to identify relevant publications. The search keywords were "endoscopic submucosal dissection" and "ESD." The search was limited by the non-restrictive filters "Human", "Clinical Trial" and publication language "English". For each database, terms and expressions from controlled vocabulary (MeSH, EMTREE, *etc.*) were used. Free-text searching was also used for each database. Full paper publications and abstracts from January 1990 through February 2016 were considered for review.

## Trial selection and patient population

Selection criteria included randomized controlled trials (RCT), prospective and retrospective studies. Nonhuman trials, case-control studies and publications in a language other than English were excluded. To reduce bias from learning curves of ESD and from possible patient selection, case series and studies with less than 50 patients were excluded. Studies reporting on ESD for non-gastrointestinal lesion (*e.g.* pharyngeal lesions), studies using hybrid ESD technique or studies targeting subepithelial lesions were excluded. We excluded studies with missing or unclear information on success rates of either *en bloc*, R0 or curative resections. Full-text articles of potentially relevant studies were obtained. Abstract publications containing our primary endpoint were included in the quantitative analysis.

## Data extraction

Data were extracted by two authors independently (DCD, NS) and were then compared for accuracy. When data did not match, both reviewers reviewed the study a third time and divergences were resolved by consensus. In case of disagreement, a third reviewer (DvR) was available to arbitrate. The following information was collected: first author, journal, year of publication, number of patients, age and sex of patients, number of lesions, location and mean size of lesions, achievement of *en bloc*, R0 and curative resection, procedure time, type of knives used, procedure related bleeding and perforation as well as local recurrence.

## Technical and oncologic outcomes of ESD

The primary outcome was efficacy of ESD based on information on either *en bloc*, R0 and curative resection rates. *En bloc* resection refers to a one-piece resection without fragmentation, R0 corresponds to a complete resection, which means no residual tumor. A resection was defined as curative when the histological findings showed no neoplasia in both lateral and vertical margins, as well as no lymphatic or venous invasion. The secondary outcomes included perforation, bleeding during or after the procedure, operation time and local recurrence rates. Perforation was either identified endoscopically post resection or by the presence of free air on imaging studies. We planned using the Clavien-Dindo scale for the analysis of procedural complications. In cases where data for number of males, lesion location, *en bloc*, R0, curative resection, or complications were expressed as a percentage, they were mathematically converted and rounded to the closest whole number. Eastern countries included studies reported from China, Japan, Korea and Taiwan. Western countries included studies reported from Europe, North and South America, as well as Australia. Each study's region was identified in the article or through the affiliation of the corresponding author.

## Quality assessment and publication bias

Quality assessment of the included studies was done by identifying study designs as well as stratifying by study design according to their retrospective or prospective characteristic. We did not rely on GRADE or other tools because the data extracted for this review did not represent the primary outcome of all the included studies<sup>[12]</sup>. For the same reason we did not formally assess publication bias by means of funnel plots.

## Statistical analysis

For each outcome of interest the number of outcomes over the number of lesions with available results for that outcome was expressed as a proportion. Those percentages were amalgamated and analyzed using the metaprop command of Stata 11 (StataCorp.2009. Stat Statistical Software: Release 11. College Station, TX: StatCorp LP). Meta-analyses were stratified by Eastern and Western study regions. Random effects meta-analysis was conducted for all outcomes, as heterogeneity was suspected a priori between Eastern and Western studies. Heterogeneity was assessed using the I-square statistic, with small P-values for I-square values indicating high chances of heterogeneity. To compare procedure time among Eastern and Western studies, a weighted average of these, as reported in minutes in the different studies, was computed.

## Secondary analysis

We repeated analysis stratifying by organ (oesophagus, stomach, colo-rectum), by study design (retrospective, prospective) and by country.

# RESULTS

The literature search identified 2532 studies (after duplicates were removed) (Figure 1). Based on title and abstract screening, 2159 studies were excluded. 135 further articles were excluded after full-text review of the publications. Thus, 238 studies were eligible for analysis, including 140 full-text and 98 abstract publications<sup>[6,13-249]</sup>. One study included ESD data from both a Japanese center and a center from the United States<sup>[18]</sup>. It was therefore divided into Western and Eastern part for our quantitative analysis, thus counting as two distinct studies. However, it was only considered as a single study when assessed for eligibility. The

WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Flow diagram. The flow diagram shows the study selection process. <sup>1</sup>One study was divided into Western and Eastern parts for our quantitative analysis (thus counting as two studies). It was however only counted as a single study when assessed for eligibility; <sup>2</sup>Missing/incomplete data regarding our primary outcome (curative, *en bloc*, R0 resection); <sup>3</sup>Non-ESD study, hybrid ESD technique, ESD with snare; <sup>4</sup>Submucosal lesions, pharyngeal lesions; <sup>5</sup>Case-control, case report, questionnaire. ESD: Endoscopic submucosal dissection.

majority of the studies were retrospective cohort studies (168/239 trials). Only 7 studies were randomized controlled trials (although the randomized intervention was not ESD but some other aspect of endoscopy, such as, for example, analgesia type); others were prospective cohort studies. Overall, 90% of the included studies were from Eastern countries (216/239 trials) while only 10% (23 trials) were from Western countries (Belgium, Brazil, Colombia, France, Germany, Italy, Poland, Portugal, Turkey, and the United States).

A total of 84318 patients were enrolled in this analysis, including 82183 patients in the Eastern group and 2135 patients treated in Western countries. ESD was performed on 89512 lesions, comprising 87296 lesions in the Eastern group and 2216 in the Western group. Patient age and size of lesions were occasionally missing and the included studies were heterogeneous in terms of number of patients and lesions. The weighted average of subjects age was 66.4 and 66 years in the Eastern and Western group respectively. The weighted average for lesion size was 25.7 mm and 34.1 mm respectively. Table 1 and Supplementary Table 1 show characteristics of the included studies stratified into Eastern versus Western. Data regarding different knives used were not analyzed because most studies used multiple different knifes, and no standardization was available.

#### Curative resection rate

90 studies (81 Eastern, 9 Western) provided the curative resection rate involving 43854 lesions in the Eastern group and 922 lesions in the Western group. The overall curative resection percentage was 81.4% (95%CI: 79.6%-83.1%). This analysis showed a significant difference between the two groups in favor of the Eastern countries, where curative resection reached 82.3% (95%CI: 80.6%-84.1%) compared to 71.3% (95%CI: 61.1%-80.5%) in Western countries. The results are shown as a forest plot in Figure 2A.

#### En bloc resection rate

215 studies (192 Eastern, 23 Western) collected the *en bloc* resection rate including 74883 lesions in the Eastern group and 2216 lesions in the Western group. The overall *en bloc* resection percentage was 94.4% (95%CI: 93.7%-95.0%). As for the curative resection, the pooled proportion of *en bloc* resection in the Eastern countries, 95.1% (95%CI: 94.4%-95.7%), was significantly higher than in the Western countries, 85.3% (95%CI: 81.3%-89.0%) (Figure 2B).

#### R0 resection rate

Overall, 154 studies (135 Eastern, 19 Western) reported the R0 resection rate totaling 50540 lesions in the Eastern group and 1948 lesions in the Western

WJG www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Characteristics of the included studies and patients			
	Total	Eastern countries	Western countries
Age (yr) <sup>1</sup>	66.4	66.4	66
Total number of patients ( <i>n</i> )	84318	82183	2135
Total number of lesions ( <i>n</i> )	89512	87296	2216
Esophagus	5597	5276	321
Stomach	59966	59173	793
Duodenum	15	8	7
Colorectum	23934	22839	1095
Lesion diameter (mm) <sup>1</sup>	26	25.7	34.1
Procedure time (min) <sup>1</sup>	78	77	110
Total number of studies	239	216	23
Randomized controlled trial	7	7	0
Prospective studies	61	53	11
Retrospective studies	168	156	12
Full-text	140	130	10
Abstract	99	86	13

<sup>1</sup>Weighted average, with number of patients in study used as weights.

group. The overall R0 resection percentage was 88.0% (95%CI: 86.7%-89.3%). The R0 resection rate of the Eastern countries was statistically superior. The pooled proportion of the Eastern group was 89.5% (95%CI: 88.3%-90.6%) while that of the Western group is 74.4% (95%CI: 67.3%-80.9%) (Figure 2C).

#### Complications

Two hundred and nine studies reported complications related to the procedure involving 65956 patients in the Eastern group and 1893 in the Western group. There was no statistical difference for the overall bleeding and perforation rate between the Eastern and Western world. The proportions of bleeding (early and late) were 2.85% (95%CI: 2.44%-3.28%) and 4.03% (95%CI: 2.61%-5.70%) in the Eastern and Western groups, respectively (Figure 3A). Similarly, the perforation rates were 3.11% (95%CI: 2.79%-3.46%) and 3.38% (95%CI: 1.83%-5.29%) respectively (Figure 3B). As for the perforations requiring surgery, the Eastern countries percentage was significantly lower than the Western countries; 0.01% (95%CI: 0%-0.05%) and 0.53% (95%CI: 0.10%-1.16%) respectively (Figure 3C). With regards to complication rates, we initially planned using the Clavien-Dindo scale for the analysis of procedural complications, but because reporting of complication consequences was lacking in many studies we could not analyze this outcome.

## Local recurrence and procedure time

Local recurrence was reported in 149 studies (12 Eastern, 137 Western), including 40936 patients in the Eastern group and 1188 patients in the Western group. The overall local recurrence percentage was 0.74% (95%CI: 0.48%-1.05%). There was no statistical difference between both groups and the proportion of local recurrence was 0.69% (95%CI: 0.42%-1.00%) and 1.82% (95%CI: 0.84%-3.07%) in the Eastern and Western group respectively (Figure 4).

The Western group weighted average of procedure time (110 minutes) was longer than the Eastern countries (77 min) (Table 1).

## Stratification by organ

Because ESD outcomes may vary according to the organ, studies were stratified by lesion location (oesophagus, stomach, colo-rectum). For the oesophagus only the pooled proportion of *en bloc* resection showed a significant difference in favor of the Eastern countries. As for gastric lesions, all outcomes were similar except for local recurrence which was superior in Western countries. Finally, for colorectal lesions, Eastern countries had better curative, *en bloc* and R0 resection rate (Supplementary Figures 1-9).

#### Stratification by country

Meta-analyses for primary outcomes were stratified by countries. Secondary outcomes were not stratified because of the limited data available. Pooled proportions for curative, *en bloc* and R0 resections were similar among all Eastern countries and Western countries (Supplementary Figures 10-15).

### Quality assessment

Stratification by study design was not different from the pooled proportion. The same trend was seen when stratifying by retrospective *vs* prospective results (Supplementary Figures 16-22).

## Heterogeneity assessment

There was evidence of statistical heterogeneity for curative, *en bloc* and R0 resection as well as for bleeding, perforation, perforation requiring surgery and local recurrences (Figures 2-4).

## DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this meta-analysis is the





Figure 2 Efficacy of endoscopic submucosal dissection. Forest plot for curative resection (A), en bloc resection (B) and R0 resection (C).

## Daoud DC et al. Comparing Eastern to Western ESD



Figure 3 Complications of endoscopic submucosal dissection. Forest plot for bleeding (A), perforation (B) and perforation requiring surgery (C).

Baishideng®

WJG www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Forest plot for local recurrence.

first to compare ESD results between different regions of the world. Our results showed that Eastern countries have better rates of curative, en bloc and R0 resection compared to ESD results reported in North and South America, Europe and Australia. Moreover, ESD performed in Western countries was associated with a higher proportion of perforations requiring surgery. There was no significant difference found between regions with regards to other minor complications (e.g. bleeding) or local recurrence rates. Our meta-analysis also supports the fact that ESD efficacy varies according to the location of the lesion. Indeed, both Eastern and Western countries have similar outcomes for gastric lesions. As for colorectal ESD, which is a more difficult technique, the Eastern world shows better results. This difference could be due to the fact that Western countries still favor EMR for colic lesions and are less experienced. Furthermore, procedure times for ESD were longer in Western countries but the lesions removed by ESD in Western countries also tended to be larger.

The superiority of ESD compared to EMR with regard to curative, en bloc and R0 resection has been demonstrated in several meta-analysis<sup>[7-11]</sup>. However, these previous meta-analyses included studies only from the Eastern world thereby they do not provide an accurate representation for ESD outcomes in other regions of the world. The results from our meta-analysis showed that ESD outcomes differ globally and ESD results achieved for critical outcomes were different in the Western hemisphere. This might explain why the Western world is more reluctant to adopt widespread ESD use. However, there remains some level of uncertainty to which extent this is influenced by procedural expertise, case volumes and/or patient or lesion selection. With regards to regional complication rates, our analysis did not show any statistical differences in terms of overall perforation and bleeding rates, but we also found that ESD perforations requiring surgery occurred more often in Western countries. These results point out that the East has been doing these procedures longer than the West and therefore has more expertise with it. Furthermore, the overall numbers of lesions resected using ESD reflects well the steep difference in utilization (and thus likely expertise) with ESD in Eastern versus Western countries. Out of a total of 91582 ESD resection only 2289 ESDs were reported from the Western countries. It might therefore be important to consider available local expertise for clinical decision making and not assume that local outcomes will necessarily resemble outcomes from high volume Asian ESD centers. However, such expertise can be learned. A recent prospective multicenter French study reported outcomes for 314 patients undergoing ESD between 2010 and 2013 and 188 patients undergoing ESD between 2008 and 2010. An improvement in the rates of en bloc resection from 77.1% to 91.7% as well as a decrease in the complication rates (from 29.2% to 14.1% P < 0.0001) was demonstrated<sup>[250]</sup>. These rates are similar to outcomes reported from Japan, suggesting that adequate training, caseload and practice are mandatory to achieve optimal outcomes. However, at present few endoscopists in Western countries are adequately trained for ESD. Consequently, lesion size, lesion location and available expertise for ESD versus EMR need to be considered when choosing the appropriate approach for an individual patient. A recent literature review of the colorectal ESD series showed a low rate of superficially invasive cancer (8%) with a number needed to treat (NNT) for curative resection of 16. The majority of resected lesions were benign adenomas (82.2%) of which 26.8% were low grade dysplasia<sup>[251]</sup>. This study shows that histological description is a key element in evaluating ESD outcomes.

Data regarding the histology of the resected lesions was not analyzed in our meta-analysis because information was often incomplete or unavailable. We suggest that in future studies the histological features be described and analyzed.

Our meta-analysis has several limitations. First, there is an unequal distribution of studies between both groups. All the included RCTs are from the Eastern world, which also carries far more prospective studies than the Western world. Secondly, there is a lack of high quality studies, given that more than half of the included studies in this meta-analysis are retrospective. But in order to ensure the best snapshot of global ESD outcomes and include Western ESD outcomes, retrospective trial data needed to be included in our review. The large amount of retrospective studies and the differences of methodology in the prospective trials included are a limitation inherent to the current literature available. In order to avoid disadvantaging the Western group the inclusion of these publications was necessary. We propose that further studies be done in a more rigorous and standardized way. Because few studies reported systematic outcomes for trainee level, we decided to exclude studies with less than 50 patients to reduce bias from learning curves and patient selection. Future studies should report systematic outcomes for trainee level. Thirdly, there was evidence of statistical heterogeneity for most of our endpoints because of differences between study participants and differences of lesion size between the included studies. To reduce this heterogeneity, exclusion of studies contributing to the high heterogeneity could have been made. However, this was not done because it would have implied the exclusion of several Western studies that are already scarce. Fourthly, analyses were limited by missing data. Data regarding bleeding and use of anti-thrombotics were not analyzed because they were incomplete or unavailable in most studies. Such limitations seem to be an inherent weakness in the currently published ESD literature and a standardized and detailed reporting of ESD outcomes and use of anti-thrombotics seems warranted for future studies. However, our meta-analysis included 238 studies with 84318 patients (89512 ESD procedures) which reduces the above-mentioned risk for bias, thus optimizing generalizability.

In conclusion, this meta-analysis shows that ESD performed in Eastern countries is associated with better outcomes than studies reported from Western countries with regard to R0, *en bloc* and curative resection rates. Moreover, perforations requiring surgery are more common in Western studies. The clinical decision-making for or against ESD versus EMR should consider regional outcomes and locally available expertise as well as the necessity for resection according to oncologic standard based on the risk for cancer versus pre-cancerous lesions. Furthermore, standardized reporting of outcomes

should be used for future ESD studies.

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) has become the preferred approach to remove advanced gastrointestinal lesions in Asian countries while widespread adoption in the Western world remains limited.

#### Research motivation

Many previous meta-analyses suggest that ESD is a superior technique for treatment of precancerous gastrointestinal lesions or early cancers. However, there might be regional differences in outcomes since the majority of ESD publications come from the Eastern world. Studies evaluating differences for ESD outcomes between Eastern and Western countries are lacking.

#### Research objectives

To provide a global comparison of ESD outcomes between Eastern and Western countries.

#### Research methods

A systematic review and meta-analysis were conducted on studies reporting ESD outcomes. Were excluded studies with less than 50 patients, using hybrid ESD technique or targeting subepithelial lesions. Primary and secondary outcomes were efficacy of ESD (curative, *en bloc* and R0 resection), complications (bleeding, perforation) and other related factors as local recurrence and procedural time.

#### **Research results**

Our meta-analysis showed that Eastern countries have better ESD outcomes compared to Western countries for curative, *en bloc* and R0 resection. ESD performed in Western countries were associated with a higher proportion of perforation requiring surgery. Subgroups analysis by organ showed similar outcomes for gastric lesions while Eastern countries had better curative, *en bloc* and R0 resection rates for colorectal lesions.

#### **Research conclusions**

This meta-analysis provided evidence that there are regional differences for ESD outcomes. Eastern countries show better ESD outcomes compared to Western countries.

#### Research perpective

Clinical decision-making for or against ESD should consider such outcomes and locally available expertise. Standardized reporting of outcomes should be used for future ESD studies.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Alan Barkun (RI-MUHC) did a critical review of the manuscript. Daniela Ziegler, M.S.I. (CHUM Library, Montreal, Quebec, Canada) did the computerized systematic bibliographic search. Nicolas Garcia, MD (CHUM, Montreal, Quebec, Canada) contributed to the literature search.

#### REFERENCES

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray F. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *Int J Cancer* 2015; 136: E359-E386 [PMID: 25220842 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.29210]
- 2 Kim JB, Lee HS, Lee HJ, Kim J, Yang DH, Yu CS, Kim JC,



Byeon JS. Long-Term Outcomes of Endoscopic Versus Surgical Resection of Superficial Submucosal Colorectal Cancer. *Dig Dis Sci* 2015; **60**: 2785-2792 [PMID: 25586088 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-015-3530-2]

- 3 Ono H, Kondo H, Gotoda T, Shirao K, Yamaguchi H, Saito D, Hosokawa K, Shimoda T, Yoshida S. Endoscopic mucosal resection for treatment of early gastric cancer. *Gut* 2001; **48**: 225-229 [PMID: 11156645 DOI: 10.1136/gut.48.2.225]
- 4 Gotoda T, Kondo H, Ono H, Saito Y, Yamaguchi H, Saito D, Yokota T. A new endoscopic mucosal resection procedure using an insulation-tipped electrosurgical knife for rectal flat lesions: report of two cases. *Gastrointest Endosc* 1999; **50**: 560-563 [PMID: 10502182]
- 5 Terasaki M, Tanaka S, Oka S, Nakadoi K, Takata S, Kanao H, Yoshida S, Chayama K. Clinical outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection and endoscopic mucosal resection for laterally spreading tumors larger than 20 mm. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 27: 734-740 [PMID: 22098630 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2011.06977.x]
- 6 Saito Y, Fukuzawa M, Matsuda T, Fukunaga S, Sakamoto T, Uraoka T, Nakajima T, Ikehara H, Fu KI, Itoi T, Fujii T. Clinical outcome of endoscopic submucosal dissection versus endoscopic mucosal resection of large colorectal tumors as determined by curative resection. *Surg Endosc* 2010; 24: 343-352 [PMID: 19517168 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-009-0562-8]
- 7 Arezzo A, Passera R, Marchese N, Galloro G, Manta R, Cirocchi R. Systematic review and meta-analysis of endoscopic submucosal dissection vs endoscopic mucosal resection for colorectal lesions. United European Gastroenterol J 2016; 4: 18-29 [PMID: 26966519 DOI: 10.1177/2050640615585470]
- Cao Y, Liao C, Tan A, Gao Y, Mo Z, Gao F. Meta-analysis of endoscopic submucosal dissection versus endoscopic mucosal resection for tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. *Endoscopy* 2009; 41: 751-757 [PMID: 19693750 DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1215053]
- 9 Chao G, Zhang S, Si J. Comparing endoscopic mucosal resection with endoscopic submucosal dissection: the different endoscopic techniques for colorectal tumors. *J Surg Res* 2016; 202: 204-215 [PMID: 27083968 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2015.12.027]
- 10 Park YM, Cho E, Kang HY, Kim JM. The effectiveness and safety of endoscopic submucosal dissection compared with endoscopic mucosal resection for early gastric cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Surg Endosc* 2011; 25: 2666-2677 [PMID: 21424201 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-011-1627-z]
- 11 Repici A, Hassan C, De Paula Pessoa D, Pagano N, Arezzo A, Zullo A, Lorenzetti R, Marmo R. Efficacy and safety of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal neoplasia: a systematic review. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 137-150 [PMID: 22271024 DOI: 10.1055/s-0031-1291448]
- 12 Naylor CD. Two cheers for meta-analysis: problems and opportunities in aggregating results of clinical trials. *CMAJ* 1988; 138: 891-895 [PMID: 3365624]
- 13 Abe N, Gotoda T, Hirasawa T, Hoteya S, Ishido K, Ida Y, Imaeda H, Ishii E, Kokawa A, Kusano C, Maehata T, Ono S, Takeuchi H, Sugiyama M, Takahashi S. Multicenter study of the long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer in patients 80 years of age or older. *Gastric Cancer* 2012; 15: 70-75 [PMID: 21667133 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-011-0067-8]
- 14 Abe S, Oda I, Suzuki H, Nonaka S, Yoshinaga S, Odagaki T, Taniguchi H, Kushima R, Saito Y. Short- and long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for undifferentiated early gastric cancer. *Endoscopy* 2013; 45: 703-707 [PMID: 23990481 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344396]
- 15 Ahn JY, Jung HY, Choi KD, Choi JY, Kim MY, Lee JH, Choi KS, Kim DH, Song HJ, Lee GH, Kim JH, Park YS. Endoscopic and oncologic outcomes after endoscopic resection for early gastric cancer: 1370 cases of absolute and extended indications. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 485-493 [PMID: 21741645 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.04.038]
- 16 Akasaka T, Nishida T, Tsutsui S, Michida T, Yamada T, Ogiyama H, Kitamura S, Ichiba M, Komori M, Nishiyama O, Nakanishi F,

Zushi S, Nishihara A, Iijima H, Tsujii M, Hayashi N. Short-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) for early gastric neoplasm: multicenter survey by osaka university ESD study group. *Dig Endosc* 2011; **23**: 73-77 [PMID: 21198921 DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2010.01062.x]

- 17 Antillon MR, Pais WP, Diaz-Arias AA, Tekwani SS, Ibdah JA, Marshall JB. Effectiveness of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection As An Alternative to Traditional Surgery for Large Lateral Spreading Polyps and Early Malignancies of the Colon and Rectum in the United States. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: AB279 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.752]
- 18 Antillon MR, Saito Y, Pais WP, Nakajima T, Bechtold ML, Matsuda T, Puli SR, Yahagi N. Safety and Efficacy of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) in the Therapy of Rectal Neoplasias and Cancers: A Multicenter Study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: AB257-AB258 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.666]
- 19 Baek DH, Kim GH, Song GA, Kim DU, Ryu DY, Lee BE, Kim TK. Sa1486 Long-Term Outcomes of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Early Gastric Cancer: a Single Center Experience. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB223 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2013.03.537]
- 20 Baldaque-Silva F, Marques M, Vilas Boas F, Duarte E, Lopes J, Carneiro F, Macedo G. Efficacy and Safety of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection in an European Center. *Endoscopy* 2013; 45: A19 [DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1354624]
- 21 Baldaque-Silva F, Marques M, Vilas-Boas F, Sousa Na, Ribeiro D, Duarte E, Lopes JD, Carneiro F, Macedo G. 504 Safety of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection in an Outpatient Setting. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: AB154 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2014.02.135]
- 22 Byeon JS, Yang DH, Kim KJ, Ye BD, Myung SJ, Yang SK, Kim JH. Endoscopic submucosal dissection with or without snaring for colorectal neoplasms. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 1075-1083 [PMID: 21663905 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.03.1248]
- 23 Cai MY, Zhou PH, Yao LQ, Xu MD, Zhong YS, Zhang YQ, Chen WF, Qin WZ, Hu JW, Li QL, Qin XY. The comparison of endoscopic submucosal dissection with hybridKnife versus conventional knives for early gastric cancer: A single-center randomized controlled trial. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 27: 59-438
- 24 Chang CC, Lee IL, Chen PJ, Wang HP, Hou MC, Lee CT, Chen YY, Cho YP, Lin JT. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric epithelial tumors: a multicenter study in Taiwan. *J Formos Med Assoc* 2009; **108**: 38-44 [PMID: 19181606 DOI: 10.1016/S0929-6646(09)60030-9]
- 25 Chaves DM, Moura EG, Milhomem D, Arantes VN, Yamazaki K, Maluf F, Albuquerque W, Conrado AC, Araújo JC, Uejo PH, Sakai P. Initial experience of endoscopic submucosal dissection in Brazil to treat early gastric and esophagheal cancer: a multi-institutional analysis. *Arq Gastroenterol* 2013; **50**: 148-152 [PMID: 23903626]
- 26 Chen T, Xu JM, Zhou PH, Xu MD, Yao LQ, Zhong YS. 8th Annual Meeting of Chinese College of Surgeons and 19th Annual Meeting of the European Society of Surgery. *Europ Surg* 2015; 47: 1-281 [DOI: 10.1007/s10353-015-0305-0]
- 27 Chevaux JB, Piessevaux H, Jouret-Mourin A, Yeung R, Danse E, Deprez PH. Clinical outcome in patients treated with endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial Barrett's neoplasia. *Endoscopy* 2015; 47: 103-112 [PMID: 25412090 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0034-1390982]
- 28 Cho K, Jang B, Chung WJ, Park KS, Hwang J. Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Colorectal Tumor Larger Than 10mm: Single Center Experience. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: AB280 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.755]
- 29 Choi CW, Kang DH, Kim HW, Park SB, Jeong EJ, Kim MIND. Tu1497 Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Gastric Adenomatous Polyps; Predictive Factors for Early Gastric Cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 73: AB427-AB428 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2011.03.988]
- 30 **Choi CW**, Kang DH, Kim HW, Park SB, Kim S, Cho M. Endoscopic submucosal dissection as a treatment for gastric

adenomatous polyps: predictive factors for early gastric cancer. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2012; **47**: 1218-1225 [PMID: 22839759 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2012.666674]

- 31 Choi CW, Kim HW, Kang DH, Park SB, Hong YM, Kim SJ, Park JH, Jong KH, Jang HH, Kim TK. Endoscopic submucosal dissection as a treatment for gastric low grade adenoma (Category 3 lesion). J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 27: 59-438
- 32 Choi JY, Jeon SW, Cho KB, Park KS, Kim ES, Park CK, Chung YJ, Kwon JG, Jung JT, Kim EY, Kim KO, Jang BI, Lee SH, Park JB, Yang CH. Non-curative endoscopic resection does not always lead to grave outcomes in submucosal invasive early gastric cancer. *Surg Endosc* 2015; 29: 1842-1849 [PMID: 25294549 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-014-3874-2]
- 33 Choi MK, Kim GH, Park DY, Song GA, Kim DU, Ryu DY, Lee BE, Cheong JH, Cho M. Long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer: a single-center experience. *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27: 4250-4258 [PMID: 23765426 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-3030-4]
- 34 Chung IK, Lee JH, Lee SH, Kim SJ, Cho JY, Cho WY, Hwangbo Y, Keum BR, Park JJ, Chun HJ, Kim HJ, Kim JJ, Ji SR, Seol SY. Therapeutic outcomes in 1000 cases of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric neoplasms: Korean ESD Study Group multicenter study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: 1228-1235 [PMID: 19249769 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.09.027]
- 35 Chung WC, Kim BW, Lim CH, Kim TH, Park JM, Kim JS. Grasper type scissors for endoscopic submucosal dissection of gastric epithelial neoplasia. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 6221-6227 [PMID: 24115820 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i37.6221]
- 36 Emura F, Mejía J, Donneys A, Ricaurte O, Sabbagh L, Giraldo-Cadavid L, Oda I, Saito Y, Osorio C. Therapeutic outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection of differentiated early gastric cancer in a Western endoscopy setting (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 82: 804-811 [PMID: 25952087 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.03.1960]
- 37 Farhat S, Chaussade S, Ponchon T, Coumaros D, Charachon A, Barrioz T, Koch S, Houcke P, Cellier C, Heresbach D, Lepilliez V, Napoleon B, Bauret P, Coron E, Le Rhun M, Bichard P, Vaillant E, Calazel A, Bensoussan E, Bellon S, Mangialavori L, Robin F, Prat F; SFED ESD study group. Endoscopic submucosal dissection in a European setting. A multi-institutional report of a technique in development. *Endoscopy* 2011; **43**: 664-670 [PMID: 21623560 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1256413]
- 38 Fleischmann C, Probst A, Messmann H. Sa1548 Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) in the Colorectum - Long Term Data. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 81: AB256-AB257 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.03.321]
- 39 Fujino Y, Okamoto K, Muguruma N, Okazaki J, Okada Y, Tanaka H, Miyoshi J, Takaoka T, Kitamura S, Miyamoto H, Okahisa T, Takayama T. Sa1419 Usefulness of a New Sphincterotome for the Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection of Colorectal Neoplasms. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB198 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.03.470]
- 40 Fujishiro M, Yahagi N, Kakushima N, Kodashima S, Muraki Y, Ono S, Yamamichi N, Tateishi A, Oka M, Ogura K, Kawabe T, Ichinose M, Omata M. Outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal epithelial neoplasms in 200 consecutive cases. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2007; 5: 678-83; quiz 645 [PMID: 17466600 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2007.01.006]
- 41 Gong EJ, Kim DH, Jung HY, Choi YK, Lim H, Choi KS, Ahn JY, Lee JH, Choi KD, Song HJ, Lee GH, Kim JH. Clinical outcomes of endoscopic resection for gastric neoplasms in the pylorus. *Surg Endosc* 2015; 29: 3491-3498 [PMID: 25676201 DOI: 10.1007/ s00464-015-4099-8]
- 42 Goto A, Nishikawa J, Okamoto T, Hamabe K, Nishimura J, Nakamura M, Kiyotoki S, Saito M, Miura O, Sakaida I. Outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer and factors associated with incomplete resection. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2013; 60: 46-53 [PMID: 22975584 DOI: 10.5754/hge12533]
- 43 Goto O, Fujishiro M, Kodashima S, Kakushima N, Ono S, Yahagi

N, Omata M. Feasibility of electrocautery snaring as the final step of endoscopic submucosal dissection for stomach epithelial neoplasms. *Dig Liver Dis* 2009; **41**: 26-30 [PMID: 18394978 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2008.02.023]

- 44 Goto O, Fujishiro M, Kodashima S, Ono S, Omata M. Outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer with special reference to validation for curability criteria. *Endoscopy* 2009; 41: 118-122 [PMID: 19214889 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0028-1119452]
- 45 Ha JK, Choi CW, Kim HW, Kang DH, Park SB, Park CH, Hong YMI, Yoon JH. Tu1691 Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection as a Treatment for Gastric Adenomatous Polyps: Predictive Factors for Early Gastric Cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB490 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.03.1337]
- 46 Han JP, Hong SJ, Kim HK. Long-term outcomes of early gastric cancer diagnosed as mixed adenocarcinoma after endoscopic submucosal dissection. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015; **30**: 316-320 [PMID: 25351280 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12838]
- 47 Harada A, Gotoda T, Fukuzawa M, Moriyasu F. Clinical impact of endoscopic devices for colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Digestion* 2013; 88: 72-78 [PMID: 23941804 DOI: 10.1159/000352024]
- 48 Hayashi N, Tanaka S, Nishiyama S, Terasaki M, Nakadoi K, Oka S, Yoshihara M, Chayama K. Predictors of incomplete resection and perforation associated with endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal tumors. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: 427-435 [PMID: 24210654 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.09.014]
- 49 He YQ, Wang X, Li AQ, Yang L, Zhang J, Kang Q, Tang S, Jin P, Sheng JQ. Factors for Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection in Early Colorectal Neoplasms: A Single Center Clinical Experience in China. *Clin Endosc* 2015; **48**: 405-410 [PMID: 26473124 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2015.48.5.405]
- 50 He Z, Sun C, Wang J, Zheng Z, Yu Q, Wang T, Chen X, Liu W, Wang B. Efficacy and safety of endoscopic submucosal dissection in treating gastric subepithelial tumors originating in the muscularis propria layer: a single-center study of 144 cases. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2013; 48: 1466-1473 [PMID: 24131359 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2013.845796]
- 51 Higuchi K, Tanabe S, Azuma M, Katada C, Sasaki T, Ishido K, Naruke A, Katada N, Koizumi W. A phase II study of endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial esophageal neoplasms (KDOG 0901). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; **78**: 704-710 [PMID: 23680178 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.04.182]
- 52 Hirasawa K, Kokawa A, Oka H, Yahara S, Sasaki T, Nozawa A, Morimoto M, Numata K, Taguri M, Morita S, Maeda S, Tanaka K. Risk assessment chart for curability of early gastric cancer with endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 74: 1268-1275 [PMID: 22015001 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.07.067]
- 53 Hirasawa K, Kokawa A, Oka H, Yahara S, Sasaki T, Nozawa A, Tanaka K. Superficial adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction: long-term results of endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **72**: 960-966 [PMID: 21034897 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.07.030]
- 54 Hochberger J, Wilhelms G, Froelich M, Menke D, Wedi E, Buerrig K-F, Kruse E. Tu1526 Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) up to 11 cm for 54 Large Laterally Spreading Tumors or Local Recurrencies in the Recto-Sigmoid. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; **73**: AB437 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.03.1017]
- 55 Homma K, Otaki Y, Sugawara M, Kobayashi M. Efficacy of novel SB knife Jr examined in a multicenter study on colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Dig Endosc* 2012; 24 Suppl 1: 117-120 [PMID: 22533765 DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2012.01266. x]
- 56 Hong YM, Kang DH, Kim HW, Choi CW, Kim SJ, Kim DJ, Lee CS, Kim MD, Lee JH. Sa1588 Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection As a Treatment for Gastric Low Grade Adenoma (Category 3 Lesion); Predictive Factors for Category 4 or 5 Lesions. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB259 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2013.03.639]
- 57 Horikawa Y, Mizutamari H, Mimori N, Kato Y, Shibata M,



Yoshida N, Okubo S. Technical difficulty extremely differs from tumor location in colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissection: Classification by endoscopic controllability. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; **27**: 59-438

- 58 Hosokawa A, Kondo H, Doyama H, Kaneko Y, Yoshida M, Takahashi H, Sumiyoshi T, Ohta T, Watari J, Sumi S, Sugiyama T. A multicenter prospective study of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer. American Gastroenterological Association. 2010
- 59 Hoteya S. Current status of gastric endoscopic submucosal dissection: A retrospective cohort study of 4894 gastric neoplasia patients in Japan. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; 54: 836
- 60 Hoteya S, Iizuka T, Kikuchi D, Yahagi N. Benefits of endoscopic submucosal dissection according to size and location of gastric neoplasm, compared with conventional mucosal resection. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 24: 1102-1106 [PMID: 19383079 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2009.05811.x]
- 61 Hoteya S, Matsui A, Iizuka T, Kikuchi D, Yamada A, Yamashita S, Furuhata T, Domon K, Nakamura M, Mitani T, Ogawa O, Kasie M. Comparison of the clinicopathological characteristics and results of endoscopic submucosal dissection for esophagogastric junction and non-junctional cancers. *Digestion* 2013; 87: 29-33 [PMID: 23343966 DOI: 10.1159/000343934]
- 62 Hoteya S, Yamada A, Yamashita S, Kikuchi D, Nakamura M, Mastui A, Kuroki Y, Mitani T, Iizuka T, Kaise M. Outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancers hat fulfilled the expanded node-negative criteria; a large consecutive case analysis in single center. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010; 25: A23-A78
- 63 Hoteya S, Yamashita S, Kikuchi D, Nakamura M, Fujimoto A, Matsui A, Nishida N, Mitani T, Kuroki Y, Iizuka T, Yahagi N. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for submucosal invasive gastric cancer and curability criteria. *Dig Endosc* 2011; 23: 30-36 [PMID: 21198914 DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2010.01040.x]
- 64 Hotta K, Oyama T, Akamatsu T, Tomori A, Hasebe O, Nakamura N, Kojima E, Suga T, Miyabayashi H, Ohta H. A comparison of outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) For early gastric neoplasms between high-volume and low-volume centers: multi-center retrospective questionnaire study conducted by the Nagano ESD Study Group. *Intern Med* 2010; 49: 253-259 [PMID: 20154428]
- 65 Hotta K, Oyama T, Akamatsu T, Tomori A, Hasebe O, Nakamura N, Kojima E, Suga T, Miyabayashi H, Sezumi H, Ohta H. A Multicenter Retrospective Study of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Early Gastric Neoplasms-The Nagano ESD Study Group Report. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2007; 65: AB272 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.03.654]
- 66 Hotta K, Saito Y, Uraoka T, Yamaguchi Y, Sakamoto N, Ikematsu H, Fukuzawa M, Kobayashi N, Nasu J, Michida T, Ikehara H, Otake Y, Nakajima T, Matsuda T, Yamada M, Harada K, Shinohara T, Hori S, Yoshida S. 834 Long-Term Outcomes of 844 Patients Who Underwent Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Colorectal Neoplasms: Results From a Japanese Multicenter Cohort Study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: AB176 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2014.02.192]
- 67 Hsieh YY, Lee IL, Wei KL, Chang TS, Tung SY, Wu CS, Lin YH. Outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer and precancer lesion: Experience from a center in Southern Taiwan. *Adv Dig Med* 2015; 2: 95-101 [DOI: 10.1016/j.aidm.2014.06.002]
- 68 Hulagu S, Senturk O, Aygun C, Kocaman O, Celebi A, Konduk T, Koc D, Sirin G, Korkmaz U, Duman AE, Bozkurt N, Dindar G, Attila T, Gurbuz Y, Tarcin O, Kalayci C. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for premalignant lesions and noninvasive early gastrointestinal cancers. *World J Gastroenterol* 2011; 17: 1701-1709 [PMID: 21483630 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i13.1701]
- 69 Iacopini F, Bella A, Costamagna G, Gotoda T, Saito Y, Elisei W, Grossi C, Rigato P, Scozzarro A. Stepwise training in rectal and colonic endoscopic submucosal dissection with differentiated learning curves. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **76**: 1188-1196 [PMID:

23062760 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.08.024]

- 70 Iacopini F, Costamagna G, Saito Y, Takuji G, Grossi C, Elisei W, Montagnese F, Scozzarro A. Definition of easy and difficult colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) in the western setting. *Dig Liver Dis* 2014; 46: S44-S45
- 71 Iacopini F, Rigato P, Bella A, Gotoda T, Saito Y, Costamagna G, Elisei W, Grossi C, Scozzarro A. Mo1401 Prospective Study for the Learning Curves of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) in the Rectum and Colon. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB413 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.03.1107]
- 72 Ide D, Saito S, Inomata H, Ohya TR, Tamai N, Kato T, Tajiri H. Tu1544 The Utility of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) for Rectal Neoplasms and the Clinical Short-Term Outcomes. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: AB472 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.02.990]
- 73 Iizuka T, Kikuchi D, Hoteya S, Kaise M. Clinical outcome of endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus. *Dis Esophagus* 2012; 25: 33A-180A
- 74 Iizuka T, Kikuchi D, Hoteya S, Yahagi N. Outcomes of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection with Flex Knife for Esophageal Tumor in More Than 300 Consecutive Cases. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: AB341-AB342 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.995]
- 75 Iizuka T, Kikuchi D, Yamada A, Nakamura M, Mitani T, Hoteya S, Kaise M. Tu1713 Usefulness of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection in the Treatment of Adenocarcinoma of the Esophagogastric Junction. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; 75: AB498 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.03.1359]
- 76 Ikehara H, Yamaguchi Y, Kakushima N, Tanaka M, Takizawa K, Matsubayashi H, Ono H. Feasibility of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colonic neoplasms using it knife2. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 24: A106
- Ikehara H, Yokoi C, Kusano C, Gotoda T. Feasibility of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colonic neoplasms. *Colorectal Dis* 2011; 13: 41-88 [DOI: 10.1111/j.1463-1318.2011.02656.x]
- 78 Imagawa A, Okada H, Kawahara Y, Takenaka R, Kato J, Kawamoto H, Fujiki S, Takata R, Yoshino T, Shiratori Y. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer: results and degrees of technical difficulty as well as success. *Endoscopy* 2006; 38: 987-990 [PMID: 17058162 DOI: 10.1055/ s-2006-944716]
- 79 Isomoto H, Nishiyama H, Yamaguchi N, Fukuda E, Ishii H, Ikeda K, Ohnita K, Nakao K, Kohno S, Shikuwa S. Clinicopathological factors associated with clinical outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal epithelial neoplasms. *Endoscopy* 2009; **41**: 679-683 [PMID: 19670135 DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1214979]
- 80 Jang JS, Choi SR, Qureshi W, Kim MC, Kim SJ, Jeung JS, Han SY, Noh MH, Lee JH, Lee SW, Baek YH, Kim SH, Choi PJ. Long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection in gastric neoplastic lesions at a single institution in South Korea. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2009; 44: 1315-1322 [PMID: 19891582 DOI: 10.31 09/00365520903254304]
- 81 Jang YS, Lee BE, Kim GH, Park DY, Jeon HK, Baek DH, Kim DU, Song GA. Factors Associated With Outcomes in Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection of Gastric Cardia Tumors: A Retrospective Observational Study. *Medicine* (Baltimore) 2015; 94: e1201 [PMID: 26252277 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000001201]
- 82 Jeon SW, Jung MK, Cho CM, Tak WY, Kweon YO, Kim SK, Choi YH. Predictors of immediate bleeding during endoscopic submucosal dissection in gastric lesions. *Surg Endosc* 2009; 23: 1974-1979 [PMID: 18553202 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-008-9988-7]
- Jingjing M, Shuping Y, Xueliang L, Lianzhen Y, Ruihua S. A Chinese single center experience with endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancers. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2013; 28: 23-693 [DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12363\_2]
- 84 Joh DH, Park CH, Jung S, Choi SH, Kim HK, Lee H, Park JC, Shin SK, Lee YC, Lee SK. Safety and feasibility of simultaneous endoscopic submucosal dissection for multiple gastric neoplasias. *Surg Endosc* 2015; 29: 3690-3697 [PMID: 25783832 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-015-4139-4]
- 85 Jung DH, Youn YH, Kim JH, Park H. Endoscopic submucosal

dissection for colorectal lateral spreading tumors larger than 10 cm: is it feasible? *Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; **81**: 614-620 [PMID: 25440691 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.09.001]

- 86 Kakushima N, Hagiwara T, Tanaka M, Sawai H, Kawata N, Takizawa K, Imai K, Takao T, Hotta K, Yamaguchi Y, Matsubayashi H, Ono H. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer in cases preoperatively contraindicated for endoscopic treatment. *United European Gastroenterol J* 2013; 1: 453-460 [PMID: 24917997 DOI: 10.1177/2050640613508550]
- 87 Kanzaki H, Uedo N, Yamamoto S, Takeuchi Y, Higashino K, Ishihara R, Iishi H. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer performed by supervised residents: Assessment of feasibility and learning curve. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010; 25: A23-A78
- 88 Karr JR, Decker CH, Margolin DA, Whitlow C, Eriksen C, Davis NK, Antillon MR, Pak KJ, Roy PK. Tu1438 Modified Needle Knives in Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection of Large Sessile and Flat Colorectal Lesions: the Largest US Experience. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB540 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.03.919]
- 89 Kasuga A, Yamamoto Y, Fujisaki J, Okada K, Omae M, Ishiyama A, Hirasawa T, Chino A, Tsuchida T, Hoshino E, Igarashi M. Simultaneous endoscopic submucosal dissection for synchronous double early gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer* 2013; 16: 555-562 [PMID: 23187881 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-012-0218-6]
- 90 Kato M, Nishida T, Hamasaki T, Kawai N, Yoshio T, Egawa S, Yamamoto K, Ogiyama H, Komori M, Nakahara M, Yabuta T, Nishihara A, Hayashi Y, Yamada T, Takehara T. Outcomes of ESD for patients with early gastric cancer and comorbid liver cirrhosis: a propensity score analysis. *Surg Endosc* 2015; 29: 1560-1566 [PMID: 25294528 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-014-3841-y]
- 91 Kato M, Nishida T, Tsutsui S, Komori M, Michida T, Yamamoto K, Kawai N, Kitamura S, Zushi S, Nishihara A, Nakanishi F, Kinoshita K, Yamada T, Iijima H, Tsujii M, Hayashi N. Endoscopic submucosal dissection as a treatment for gastric noninvasive neoplasia: a multicenter study by Osaka University ESD Study Group. *J Gastroenterol* 2011; 46: 325-331 [PMID: 21107615 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-010-0350-1]
- 92 Kawahara Y, Hori K, Takenaka R, Nasu J, Kawano S, Kita M, Tsuzuki T, Matsubara M, Kobayashi S, Okada H, Yamamoto K. Endoscopic submucosal dissection of esophageal cancer using the Mucosectom2 device: a feasibility study. *Endoscopy* 2013; 45: 869-875 [PMID: 23884795 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344229]
- 93 Kim BW, Chung WC, Lim C-H, Kim TH, Park JM, Kim JIL. Sa1645 Usefulness of Novel Grasper Type Scissors for Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection in Gastric Neoplasia Comparing to Hook Knife Plus Coagrasper: A Multicenter Randomized Trial. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB232 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2012.04.434]
- 94 Kim DH, Jung HY, Choi KD, Song HJ, Lee GH, Choi KS, Lee JH, Kim MY, Ahn JY, Choi JY, Kim JH. Sa1539 Long-Term Outcomes of Endoscopic Resection for Superficial Esophageal Neoplasms: Comparison Between EMR and ESD Method. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; **73**: AB201 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.03.273]
- 95 Kim HG, Cho JY, Bok GH, Cho WY, Kim WJ, Hong SJ, Ko BM, Kim JO, Lee JS, Lee MS, Shim CS. A novel device for endoscopic submucosal dissection, the Fork knife. *World J Gastroenterol* 2008; 14: 6726-6732 [PMID: 19034979]
- 96 Kim M, Jeon SW, Cho KB, Park KS, Kim ES, Park CK, Seo HE, Chung YJ, Kwon JG, Jung JT, Kim EY, Jang BI, Lee SH, Kim KO, Yang CH; Daegu-Kyungpook Gastrointestinal Study Group (DGSG). Predictive risk factors of perforation in gastric endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer: a large, multicenter study. *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27: 1372-1378 [PMID: 23239296 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-012-2618-4]
- 97 Kim MN, Kim HK, Shim CN, Lee HJ, Lee H, Park JC, Shin SK, Lee SK, Lee YC. Tumour size is related to the curability of signet ring cell early gastric cancer with endoscopic submucosal dissection: a retrospective single centre study. *Dig Liver Dis* 2014; 46: 898-902 [PMID: 24973115 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2014.05.019]
- 98 Kim N, Yoo YC, Lee SK, Kim H, Ju HM, Min KT. Comparison

of the efficacy and safety of sedation between dexmedetomidineremifentanil and propofol-remifentanil during endoscopic submucosal dissection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; **21**: 3671-3678 [PMID: 25834336 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i12.3671]

- 99 Kim SG. JGA Keynote Program. The 3rd Internation Gastrointestinal Consesus Symposium (IGICS). *Digestion* 2010; 81: 145-171 [DOI: 10.1159/000258816]
- 100 Kim SY, Jeong HY, Lee BS, Sung J, Moon HS. Mo1250 Is Endoscopic Mucosal Resection a Sufficient Treatment for Low-Grade Gastric Epithelial Dysplasia? *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; 75: AB364-AB365 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.03.956]
- 101 Kim YD, Lee J, Cho JY, Kim SW, Kim SH, Cho YK, Jang JS, Han JS, Cho JY. Efficacy and safety of 0.4 percent sodium hyaluronate for endoscopic submucosal dissection of gastric neoplasms. *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; **19**: 3069-3076 [PMID: 23716986 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i20.3069]
- 102 Kim YJ, Kim ES, Cho KB, Park KS, Jang BK, Chung WJ, Hwang JS. Comparison of clinical outcomes among different endoscopic resection methods for treating colorectal neoplasia. *Dig Dis Sci* 2013; **58**: 1727-1736 [PMID: 23385636 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-013-2560-x]
- 103 Kim YY, Jeon SW, Kim J, Park JC, Cho KB, Park KS, Kim E, Chung YJ, Kwon JG, Jung JT, Kim EY, Kim KO, Jang B, Lee SH, Yang CH. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer with undifferentiated histology: could we extend the criteria beyond? *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27: 4656-4662 [PMID: 23943115 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-3099-9]
- 104 Kiriyama S, Saito Y, Matsuda T, Nakajima T, Mashimo Y, Joeng HK, Moriya Y, Kuwano H. Comparing endoscopic submucosal dissection with transanal resection for non-invasive rectal tumor: a retrospective study. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 26: 1028-1033 [PMID: 21299616 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2011.06684.x]
- 105 Kiriyama S, Saito Y, Yamamoto S, Soetikno R, Matsuda T, Nakajima T, Kuwano H. Comparison of endoscopic submucosal dissection with laparoscopic-assisted colorectal surgery for earlystage colorectal cancer: a retrospective analysis. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 1024-1030 [PMID: 23012216 DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1310259]
- 106 Ko BM, Lee MS, Kim HK, Hong SJ, Ryu CB, Kim YS, Moon JH, Kim JO, Cho JY, Lee JS. W1432: Safety and Usefulness of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) in Large Colorectal Tumors (≥3 cm): Single Center Study in Korea. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **71**: AB327 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.03.845]
- 107 Kobayashi N, Saito Y, Uraoka T, Matsuda T, Suzuki H, Fujii T. Treatment strategy for laterally spreading tumors in Japan: before and after the introduction of endoscopic submucosal dissection. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009; 24: 1387-1392 [PMID: 19702907 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2009.05893.x]
- 108 Konishi J, Kobayashi N, Hirahara Y, Sekiguchi R. Tu1626 The Usefulness of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Superficial Esophageal Cancers Comparing With Endoscopic Mucosal Resection. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB469 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2012.03.1272]
- 109 Kosaka T, Endo M, Toya Y, Abiko Y, Kudara N, Inomata M, Chiba T, Takikawa Y, Suzuki K, Sugai T. Long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer: a single-center retrospective study. *Dig Endosc* 2014; 26: 183-191 [PMID: 23560494 DOI: 10.1111/den.12099]
- 110 Kruse E, Wilhelms G, Herbst C, Stueber H, Menke D, Buerrig KF, Hochberger J. ESGE Newsletter. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 440-444 [DOI: 10.1055/s-0032-1306693]
- 111 Kuroki Y, Hoteya S, Mitani T, Yamashita S, Kikuchi D, Fujimoto A, Matsui A, Nakamura M, Nishida N, Iizuka T, Yahagi N. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for residual/locally recurrent lesions after endoscopic therapy for colorectal tumors. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010; 25: 1747-1753 [PMID: 21039836 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2010.06331.x]
- 112 Lee EJ, Lee JB, Lee SH, Youk EG. Endoscopic Treatment of Colorectal Tumors Larger Than 20 mm. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: AB284 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.772]
- 113 Lee EJ, Lee JB, Lee SH, Kim DS, Lee DH, Lee DS, Youk EG.

Endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal tumors--1,000 colorectal ESD cases: one specialized institute's experiences. *Surg Endosc* 2013; **27**: 31-39 [PMID: 22729707 DOI: 10.1007/ s00464-012-2403-4]

- 114 Lee EJ, Lee JB, Lee SH, Kim DS, Lee DH, Youk EG. The 9th Japan-Korea Joint Symposium on Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. *Dig Endosc* 2010; 22: A19-A69 [DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2010.01003.x]
- 115 Lee EJ, Lee JB, Lee SH, Youk EG. Endoscopic treatment of large colorectal tumors: comparison of endoscopic mucosal resection, endoscopic mucosal resection-precutting, and endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Surg Endosc* 2012; 26: 2220-2230 [PMID: 22278105 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-012-2164-0]
- 116 Lee H, Yun WK, Min BH, Lee JH, Rhee PL, Rhee JC, Kim KM, Kim JJ. A large-scale feasibility study of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer in Korea. *Gastroenterology* 2010; 1: S346-S347
- 117 Lee HS, Jeon SW. Endoscopic mucosal resection and endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal laterally spreading tumors over 20 mm in diameter. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 29: 51-313
- 118 Lee MS, Ryu CB, Bae JY, Ahn HS, Min SK, Park JS, Tae JW, Yoo HY. Prospective study for assessment of pain using visual analogue scale and associated factors after endoscopic submucosal dissection. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 26: 16-288 [DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2011.06898.x]
- 119 Lee TH, Cho JY, Chang YW, Kim JO, Lee JS, Cho WY, Kim HG, Kim WJ, Park YS, Jin SY. Appropriate indications for endoscopic submucosal dissection of early gastric cancer according to tumor size and histologic type. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **71**: 920-926 [PMID: 20338564 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.12.005]
- 120 Lee TH, Chung IK, Park JY, Lee CK, Lee SH, Kim HS, Park SH, Kim SJ, Cho HD, Hwangbo Y. Usefulness of magnifying endoscopy in post-endoscopic resection scar for early gastric neoplasm: a prospective short-term follow-up endoscopy study. *World J Gastroenterol* 2009; 15: 349-355 [PMID: 19140236 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.349]
- 121 Lian J, Chen S, Ma L, Yao L. Sa1585 Long-Term Clinical Evaluation of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Early Gastric Neoplasms. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB258 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2013.03.636]
- 122 Libânio D, Afonso LP, Henrique R, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Pimentel-Nunes P. 212 Management and Long-Term Outcomes After Gastric Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection in an European Center. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 81: AB125 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2015.03.031]
- 123 Lim SM, Park JC, Lee H, Shin SK, Lee SK, Lee YC. Impact of cumulative time on the clinical outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection in gastric neoplasm. *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27: 1397-1403 [PMID: 23233016 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-012-2643-3]
- 124 Machida H, Tominaga K, Nagami Y, Sugimori S, Nakatani M, Kameda N, Okazaki H, Tanigawa T, Watanabe K, Watanabe T, Fujiwara Y, Arakawa T. T1406: Clinical Outcome of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Superficial Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **71**: AB269 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2010.03.619]
- 125 Man-I M, Toyonaga T, Morita Y, Inokuchi H, Kutsumi H, Azuma T. Long-Term Results of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Early-Stage Gastrointestinal Tumors. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: AB133 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.173]
- 126 Matsuo Y, Yamamoto Y, Taniguchi C, Morishige K, Horiuchi Y, Yoshizawa N, Suganuma T, Kubota M, Nego M, Okada K, Ishiyama A, Hirasawa T, Tsuchida T, Fujisaki J, Hoshino E, Igarashi M. Sa1691 The Clinicopathological Findings of the Patient Who Needed Clip Hemostasis for Perioperative Bleeding During Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Early Gastric Cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB246 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.04.211]
- 127 Michida T, Nishio A, Iwahashi K, Oonishi Y, Kita H, Kanno T, Matsuura T, Ikezawa K, Ono A, Mizuno T, Chiba M, Aketa H, Maeda K, Naito M, Katayama K, Oota T. Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) for Early Gastric Cancer (GC) -

Long-Term Outcomes of a Prospective Study in Its Expanded Indication. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; **69**: AB262 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2009.03.684]

- 128 Min BH, Kim KM, Park CK, Lee JH, Rhee PL, Rhee JC, Kim JJ. Outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for differentiatedtype early gastric cancer with histological heterogeneity. *Gastric Cancer* 2015; 18: 618-626 [PMID: 24801199 DOI: 10.1007/ s10120-014-0378-7]
- 129 Min BH, Lee JH, Kim JJ, Shim SG, Chang DK, Kim YH, Rhee PL, Kim KM, Park CK, Rhee JC. Clinical outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection (ESD) for treating early gastric cancer: comparison with endoscopic mucosal resection after circumferential precutting (EMR-P). *Dig Liver Dis* 2009; 41: 201-209 [PMID: 18571998 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2008.05.006]
- 130 Min Ko B, Sik Myung Y, Ran Jeon S, Pil Han J, Kim JO, Lee MS. Long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal epithelial neoplasms. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* (Australia) 2015; **30**: 193-195
- 131 Colon. Am J Gastroenterol 2015; 110 Suppl 1: S550-S595 [PMID: 26436810 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2015.294]
- 132 Mizuno K, Takahashi Y, Hashimoto S, Takeuchi M, Kobayashi M, Yokoyama J, Sato Y, Aoyagi Y. Tu1461 Long-Term Outcomes of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Colorectal Neoplasms. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB549 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.03.942]
- 133 Mizushima T, Kato M, Iwanaga I, Sato F, Kubo K, Ehira N, Uebayashi M, Ono S, Nakagawa M, Mabe K, Shimizu Y, Sakamoto N. Technical difficulty according to location, and risk factors for perforation, in endoscopic submucosal dissection of colorectal tumors. *Surg Endosc* 2015; 29: 133-139 [PMID: 24993172 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-014-3665-9]
- 134 The American Society of Colon and Rectal Surgeons. Dis Colon Rectum 2013; 56: e65-e313 [DOI: 10.1097/ DCR.0b013e31828d97c9]
- 135 Nagai K, Mitsui S, Nomura M, Aoki H, Tanuma T, Kaneko M, Murakami K, Yamazaki H, Kwan C. Techniques for safer colonic endoscopic submucosal dissections. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; 54: 1138
- 136 Nagata S, Jin YF, Tomoeda M, Kitamura M, Yuki M, Yoshizawa H, Kubo C, Ito Y, Uedo N, Ishihara R, Iishi H, Tomita Y. Influential factors in procedure time of endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric cancer with fibrotic change. *Dig Endosc* 2011; 23: 296-301 [PMID: 21951089 DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2011.01148.x]
- 137 Nakajima T, Saito Y, Tanaka S, Iishi H, Kudo SE, Ikematsu H, Igarashi M, Saitoh Y, Inoue Y, Kobayashi K, Hisasbe T, Matsuda T, Ishikawa H, Sugihara K. Current status of endoscopic resection strategy for large, early colorectal neoplasia in Japan. *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27: 3262-3270 [PMID: 23508817 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-2903-x]
- 138 Nakamoto S, Sakai Y, Kasanuki J, Kondo F, Ooka Y, Kato K, Arai M, Suzuki T, Matsumura T, Bekku D, Ito K, Tanaka T, Yokosuka O. Indications for the use of endoscopic mucosal resection for early gastric cancer in Japan: a comparative study with endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Endoscopy* 2009; **41**: 746-750 [PMID: 19681023 DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1215010]
- 139 Nakamura F, Saito Y, Sakamoto T, Otake Y, Nakajima T, Yamamoto S, Matsuda T. 767 Colorectal Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection Is a Highly Effective, Minimally Invasive and Safe Alternative to Laparoscopic Colectomy- a Prospective Comparison of Post-Operative Clinical Course. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB167 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.04.116]
- 140 Nakamura F, Saito Y, Sakamoto T, Otake Y, Nakajima T, Yamamoto S, Murakami Y, Ishikawa H, Matsuda T. Potential perioperative advantage of colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissection versus laparoscopy-assisted colectomy. *Surg Endosc* 2015; 29: 596-606 [PMID: 25037724 DOI: 10.1007/ s00464-014-3705-5]
- 141 Nakamura K, Honda K, Akahoshi K, Ihara E, Matsuzaka H, Sumida Y, Yoshimura D, Akiho H, Motomura Y, Iwasa T, Komori K, Chijiiwa Y, Harada N, Ochiai T, Oya M, Oda Y, Takayanagi R.

Suitability of the expanded indication criteria for the treatment of early gastric cancer by endoscopic submucosal dissection: Japanese multicenter large-scale retrospective analysis of short- and long-term outcomes. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2015; **50**: 413-422 [PMID: 25635364 DOI: 10.3109/00365521.2014.940377]

- 142 Endoscopy. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2015; **110** Suppl 1: S628-S684 [PMID: 26436812 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2015.272]
- 143 Nakao M, Arai S, Matsukawa M, Ochiai Y, Shono T, Togawa O, Nishimura M, Ishikawa K, Kita H. Tu1577 Analysis of One Hundred and Five Consecutive Lesions of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Esophageal Superficial Neoplasms. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB452 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.03.1223]
- 144 Nakatani M, Machida H, Tominaga K, Minamino H, Nagami Y, Sugimori S, Kameda N, Okazaki H, Yamagami H, Tanigawa T, Watanabe K, Watanabe T, Fujiwara Y, Arakawa T. Sa1655 Clinical Long-Term Prognosis of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Early Gastric Cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; **73**: AB236 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.03.390]
- 145 Nakatani M, Machida H, Tominaga K, Nagami Y, Ochi M, Sugimori S, Kameda N, Ashida R, Okazaki H, Yamagami H, Tanigawa T, Watanabe K, Tominaga K, Watanabe T, Fujiwara Y, Arakawa T. M1552: Clinical Outcomes and Long-Term Efficacy of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Patients With Early Gastric Cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **71**: AB252 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2010.03.553]
- 146 Nakayama S, Machida H, Tominaga K, Shiba M, Nagami Y, Sugimori S, Nakatani M, Kameda N, Okazaki H, Yamagami H, Tanigawa T, Watanabe K, Watanabe T, Fujiwara Y, Arakawa T. Mo1547 Usefulness of Narrow-Band Imaging in Delineating Early Gastric Cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; **73**: AB383 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.03.846]
- 147 Nawata Y, Homma K, Suzuki Y. Retrospective study of technical aspects and complications of endoscopic submucosal dissection for large superficial colorectal tumors. *Dig Endosc* 2014; 26: 552-555 [PMID: 24405078 DOI: 10.1111/den.12217]
- 148 Niimi K, Fujishiro M, Kodashima S, Goto O, Ono S, Hirano K, Minatsuki C, Yamamichi N, Koike K. Long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal epithelial neoplasms. *Endoscopy* 2010; 42: 723-729 [PMID: 20806156 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1255675]
- 149 Ninomiya Y, Oka S, Tanaka S, Nishiyama S, Tamaru Y, Asayama N, Shigita K, Hayashi N, Chayama K. Risk of bleeding after endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal tumors in patients with continued use of low-dose aspirin. *J Gastroenterol* 2015; **50**: 1041-1046 [PMID: 25682173 DOI: 10.1007/s00535-015-1053-4]
- 150 Nishikawa J, Satake M, Hamabe K, Fukagawa Y, Shirai Y, Kiyotoki S, Saito M, Okamoto T, Sakaida I. Fine-tuning the criteria for strip biopsy and endoscopic submucosal dissection improves the outcome of early gastric carcinoma treatment. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2010; 25: 1514-1517 [PMID: 20796148 DOI: 10.1111/ j.1440-1746.2010.06340.x]
- 151 Nishimura J, Nishikawa J, Hamabe K, Nakamura M, Goto A, Okamoto T, Miura O, Sakaida I. Efficacy of endoscopic submucosal dissection for cancer of the operated stomach. J Gastrointest Cancer 2014; 45: 27-33 [PMID: 23999820 DOI: 10.1007/s12029-013-9544-0]
- 152 Nishiyama H, Isomoto H, Yamaguchi N, Fukuda E, Ikeda K, Ohnita K, Mizuta Y, Nakamura T, Nakao K, Kohno S, Shikuwa S. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal epithelial neoplasms. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2010; **53**: 161-168 [PMID: 20087091 DOI: 10.1007/DCR.0b013e3181b78cb6]
- 153 Nonaka K, Sakurai K, Kita H, Sasaki Y. Short term results of endoscopic submucosal dissection in superficial esophageal squamous cell neoplasms. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 27: 59-438
- 154 Nonaka S, Oda I, Makazu M, Haruyama S, Abe S, Suzuki H, Yoshinaga S, Nakajima T, Kushima R, Saito Y. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer in the remnant stomach after gastrectomy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; **78**: 63-72 [PMID: 23566640 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.02.006]

- 155 Nonaka S, Oda I, Nakaya T, Kusano C, Suzuki H, Yoshinaga S, Fukagawa T, Katai H, Gotoda T. Clinical impact of a strategy involving endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer: determining the optimal pathway. *Gastric Cancer* 2011; 14: 56-62 [PMID: 21327923 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-011-0008-6]
- 156 Nonaka S, Oda I, Sato C, Abe S, Suzuki H, Yoshinaga S, Hokamura N, Igaki H, Tachimori Y, Taniguchi H, Kushima R, Saito Y. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for gastric tube cancer after esophagectomy. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: 260-270 [PMID: 24060521 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.07.059]
- 157 Oda I, Saito D, Tada M, Iishi H, Tanabe S, Oyama T, Doi T, Otani Y, Fujisaki J, Ajioka Y, Hamada T, Inoue H, Gotoda T, Yoshida S. A multicenter retrospective study of endoscopic resection for early gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer* 2006; 9: 262-270 [PMID: 17235627 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-006-0389-0]
- 158 Ohnita K, Isomoto H, Matsushima K, Akazawa Y, Yamaguchi N, Nishiyama H, Fukuda E, Takeshima F, Shikuwa S, Nakao K. Sa1644 Outcomes and Long Term Prognosis of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Early Gastric Cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB232 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.04.433]
- 159 Ohnita K, Isomoto H, Shikuwa S, Yajima H, Minami H, Matsushima K, Akazawa Y, Yamaguchi N, Fukuda E, Nishiyama H, Takeshima F, Nakao K. Early and long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer in a large patient series. *Exp Ther Med* 2014; **7**: 594-598 [PMID: 24520251 DOI: 10.3892/etm.2014.1488]
- 160 Oka S, Tanaka S, Higashiyama M, Numata N, Sanomura Y, Yoshida S, Arihiro K, Chayama K. Clinical validity of the expanded criteria for endoscopic resection of undifferentiated-type early gastric cancer based on long-term outcomes. *Surg Endosc* 2014; 28: 639-647 [PMID: 24114514 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-3222-y]
- 161 Oka S, Tanaka S, Kaneko I, Mouri R, Hirata M, Kawamura T, Yoshihara M, Chayama K. Advantage of endoscopic submucosal dissection compared with EMR for early gastric cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 64: 877-883 [PMID: 17140890 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2006.03.932]
- 162 Oka S, Tanaka S, Saito Y, Iishi H, Kudo SE, Ikematsu H, Igarashi M, Saitoh Y, Inoue Y, Kobayashi K, Hisabe T, Tsuruta O, Sano Y, Yamano H, Shimizu S, Yahagi N, Watanabe T, Nakamura H, Fujii T, Ishikawa H, Sugihara K; Colorectal Endoscopic Resection Standardization Implementation Working Group of the Japanese Society for Cancer of the Colon and Rectum, Tokyo, Japan. Local recurrence after endoscopic resection for large colorectal neoplasia: a multicenter prospective study in Japan. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2015; 110: 697-707 [PMID: 25848926 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2015.96]
- 163 Okada K, Fujisaki J, Yoshida T, Ishikawa H, Suganuma T, Kasuga A, Omae M, Kubota M, Ishiyama A, Hirasawa T, Chino A, Inamori M, Yamamoto Y, Yamamoto N, Tsuchida T, Tamegai Y, Nakajima A, Hoshino E, Igarashi M. Long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for undifferentiated-type early gastric cancer. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 122-127 [PMID: 22271022 DOI: 10.1055/s-0031-1291486]
- 164 Ominami M, Nagami Y, Shiba M, Sakai T, Maruyama H, Okamoto J, Kato K, Minamino H, Fukunaga S, Tanaka F, Sugimori S, Kamata N, Yamagami H, Tanigawa T, Watanabe T, Tominaga K, Fujiwara Y, Arakawa T. Tu1578 The Five-Year Survival Rate After Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Superficial Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 81: AB516-AB517 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.03.1766]
- 165 Ono A, Ohata K, Ito T, Chiba H, Tsuji Y, Matsuhashi N. Tu1696 Safety of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Esophageal Cancer in Elderly Patients. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB492 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.03.1342]
- 166 Ono H, Hasuike N, Inui T, Takizawa K, Ikehara H, Yamaguchi Y, Otake Y, Matsubayashi H. Usefulness of a novel electrosurgical knife, the insulation-tipped diathermic knife-2, for endoscopic submucosal dissection of early gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer* 2008; 11: 47-52 [PMID: 18373177 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-008-0452-0]
- 167 **Ono S**, Fujishiro M, Niimi K, Goto O, Kodashima S, Yamamichi N, Omata M. Long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal



dissection for superficial esophageal squamous cell neoplasms. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; **70**: 860-866 [PMID: 19577748 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.04.044]

- 168 Onozato Y, Ishihara H, Iizuka H, Sohara N, Kakizaki S, Okamura S, Mori M. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancers and large flat adenomas. *Endoscopy* 2006; **38**: 980-986 [PMID: 17058161 DOI: 10.1055/s-2006-944809]
- 169 Oyama T, Tomori A, Hotta K, Morita S, Kominato K, Tanaka M, Miyata Y. Endoscopic submucosal dissection of early esophageal cancer. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005; 3: S67-S70 [PMID: 16013002]
- 170 Park CH, Min JH, Yoo YC, Kim H, Joh DH, Jo JH, Shin S, Lee H, Park JC, Shin SK, Lee YC, Lee SK. Sedation methods can determine performance of endoscopic submucosal dissection in patients with gastric neoplasia. *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27: 2760-2767 [PMID: 23389074 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-013-2804-z]
- 171 Park CH, Shin S, Lee H, Park JC, Shin SK, Lee YC, Lee SK. Clinical outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for undifferentiated early gastric cancer: Single center experiences in Korea. *Gastrointestinal endoscopy* 2013; 1: AB223
- 172 Park CH, Shin S, Park JC, Shin SK, Lee SK, Lee YC, Lee H. Long-term outcome of early gastric cancer after endoscopic submucosal dissection: expanded indication is comparable to absolute indication. *Dig Liver Dis* 2013; 45: 651-656 [PMID: 23422031 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2013.01.014]
- 173 Park H, Kim DH, Gong EJ, Ahn JY, Choi K-S, Lee JH, Jung KW, Choi KD, Song HJ, Jung H-Y, Kim JH. Tu1577 Endoscopic and Oncologic Outcomes of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Superficial Esophageal Neoplasm. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 81: AB516 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.03.1765]
- 174 Park JC, Lee SK, Seo JH, Kim YJ, Chung H, Shin SK, Lee YC. Predictive factors for local recurrence after endoscopic resection for early gastric cancer: long-term clinical outcome in a singlecenter experience. *Surg Endosc* 2010; 24: 2842-2849 [PMID: 20428894 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-010-1060-8]
- 175 Park SB, Kim HW, Kang DH, Choi CW, Kim SJ, Nam HS. Advantage of endoscopic mucosal resection with a cap for rectal neuroendocrine tumors. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21: 9387-9393 [PMID: 26309365 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i31.9387]
- 176 Peng CY, Lv Y, Zhang XQ, Ling TS, Wang L, Zou XP. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for eradication of early squamous esophageal neoplasms in a cohort of 331 patients: A prospective study. *J Dig Dis* 2014; 15: 13 [DOI: 10.1111/17512980.12195]
- 177 Peng CY, Zou XP. Endoscopic submucosal dissection is safe in elderly patients with superficial squamous esophageal neoplasms where compared to nonelderly patients. *J Dig Dis* 2015; 16: 91 [DOI: 10.1111/17512980.12277]
- 178 Pimentel-Nunes P, Mourão F, Veloso N, Afonso LP, Jácome M, Moreira-Dias L, Dinis-Ribeiro M. Long-term follow-up after endoscopic resection of gastric superficial neoplastic lesions in Portugal. *Endoscopy* 2014; 46: 933-940 [PMID: 25019970 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1377348]
- 179 Probst A, Aust D, Märkl B, Anthuber M, Messmann H. Early esophageal cancer in Europe: endoscopic treatment by endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Endoscopy* 2015; 47: 113-121 [PMID: 25479563 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1391086]
- 180 Probst A, Golger D, Anthuber M, Märkl B, Messmann H. Endoscopic submucosal dissection in large sessile lesions of the rectosigmoid: learning curve in a European center. *Endoscopy* 2012; 44: 660-667 [PMID: 22528673 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0032-1309403]
- 181 Probst A, MäRkl B, Anthuber M, Messmann H. 354 Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) in Early Barretts Cancer -Experience From a European Center. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; 79: AB134 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.02.085]
- 182 Probst A, Pommer B, Golger D, Arnholdt H, Anthuber M, Messmann H. M1586: Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) in Gastric Lesions - The European Experience. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; **71**: AB261 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.03.587]
- 183 Ritsuno H, Sakamoto N, Osada T, Goto SP, Murakami T, Ueyama

H, Mori H, Matsumoto K, Beppu K, Shibuya T, Nagahara A, Ogihara T, Watanabe S. Prospective clinical trial of traction deviceassisted endoscopic submucosal dissection of large superficial colorectal tumors using the S-O clip. *Surg Endosc* 2014; **28**: 3143-3149 [PMID: 24879138 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-014-3572-0]

- 184 Saito Y, Fujishiro M, Tanaka S, Iishi H, Miyata T, Kaise M, Shimbo T, Ishikawa H, Uemura N, Yoshino J, Obara K, Kaminishi M, Tajiri H. Tu1539 Evaluation of a Novel Approach to Early Stage Colorectal Neoplasms: Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection. a Japanese National Registry Study. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: AB576-AB577 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.02.985]
- 185 Saito Y, Otake Y, Sakamoto T, Nakajima T, Yamada M, Haruyama S, So E, Abe S, Matsuda T. Indications for and technical aspects of colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Gut Liver* 2013; 7: 263-269 [PMID: 23710305 DOI: 10.5009/gnl.2013.7.3.263]
- 186 Saito Y, Uraoka T, Matsuda T, Emura F, Ikehara H, Mashimo Y, Kikuchi T, Fu KI, Sano Y, Saito D. Endoscopic treatment of large superficial colorectal tumors: a case series of 200 endoscopic submucosal dissections (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2007; 66: 966-973 [PMID: 17524403 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.02.053]
- 187 Saito Y, Uraoka T, Yamaguchi Y, Hotta K, Sakamoto N, Ikematsu H, Fukuzawa M, Kobayashi N, Nasu J, Michida T, Otake Y, Ikehara H, Nakajima T, Matsuda T, Yoshida S. A Multi-Center Retrospective Study of 1,111 Colorectal Endoscopic Submucosal Dissections (ESD). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: AB114 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.100]
- 188 Saito Y, Uraoka T, Yamaguchi Y, Hotta K, Sakamoto N, Ikematsu H, Fukuzawa M, Kobayashi N, Nasu J, Michida T, Yoshida S, Ikehara H, Otake Y, Nakajima T, Matsuda T, Saito D. A prospective, multicenter study of 1111 colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissections (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; 72: 1217-1225 [PMID: 21030017 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.08.004]
- 189 Saito Y, Yamaguchi Y, Uraoka T, Hotta K, Sakamoto N, Ikematsu H, Fukuzawa M, Kobayashi N, Nasu J, Michida T, Ikehara H, Otake Y, Nakajima T, Matsuda T. 785 A Large Multicenter Study on Long-Term Outcomes of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Early Colorectal Cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; **73**: AB149-AB150 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.03.115]
- 190 Sanomura Y, Oka S, Tanaka S, Numata N, Higashiyama M, Kanao H, Yoshida S, Ueno Y, Chayama K. Continued use of low-dose aspirin does not increase the risk of bleeding during or after endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer* 2014; 17: 489-496 [PMID: 24142107 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-013-0305-3]
- 191 Sekiguchi M, Suzuki H, Oda I, Abe S, Nonaka S, Yoshinaga S, Taniguchi H, Sekine S, Kushima R, Saito Y. Favorable long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for locally recurrent early gastric cancer after endoscopic resection. *Endoscopy* 2013; 45: 708-713 [PMID: 23918620 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344332]
- 192 Shiga H, Endo K, Kuroha M, Kakuta Y, Takahashi S, Kinouchi Y, Shimosegawa T. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal neoplasia during the clinical learning curve. *Surg Endosc* 2014; 28: 2120-2128 [PMID: 24515262 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-014-3443-8]
- 193 Shimamura Y, Ishii N, Nakano K, Ikeya T, Nakamura K, Takagi K, Iizuka Y, Fukuda K, Fujita Y. Sa1583 Repeat Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (Re-ESD) Is a Safe and Effective Treatment for Locally Recurrent Gastric Cancers. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB258 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.03.634]
- 194 Shin KY, Jeon SW, Cho KB, Park KS, Kim ES, Park CK, Chung YJ, Kwon JG, Jung JT, Kim EY, Kim KO, Jang BI, Lee SH, Park JB, Yang CH. Clinical outcomes of the endoscopic submucosal dissection of early gastric cancer are comparable between absolute and new expanded criteria. *Gut Liver* 2015; **9**: 181-187 [PMID: 25167797 DOI: 10.5009/gnl13417]
- 195 Sohara N, Hagiwara S, Arai R, Iizuka H, Onozato Y, Kakizaki S. Can endoscopic submucosal dissection be safely performed in a smaller specialized clinic? *World J Gastroenterol* 2013; 19: 528-535 [PMID: 23382632 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i4.528]
- 196 **Spychalski M**, Dziki A. Safe and efficient colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissection in European settings: is successful

implementation of the procedure possible? *Dig Endosc* 2015; **27**: 368-373 [PMID: 25181427 DOI: 10.1111/den.12353]

- 197 Sugimoto T, Okamoto M, Mitsuno Y, Kondo S, Ogura K, Ohmae T, Mizuno H, Yoshida S, Isomura Y, Yamaji Y, Kawabe T, Omata M, Koike K. Endoscopic submucosal dissection is an effective and safe therapy for early gastric neoplasms: a multicenter feasible study. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2012; 46: 124-129 [PMID: 21959325 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e31822f3988]
- 198 Sumiyama K, Toyoizumi H, Ohya TR, Dobashi A, Hino S, Kobayashi M, Goda K, Imazu H, Kawakita Y, Kato T, Tajiri H. A double-blind, block-randomized, placebo-controlled trial to identify the chemical assistance effect of mesna submucosal injection for gastric endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2014; **79**: 756-764 [PMID: 24238308 DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2013.09.027]
- 199 Suzuki H, Oda I, Yoshinaga S, Nonaka S, Saito Y. 1172 Long-Term Outcomes of Early Gastric Cancers Treated by Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection: A Large Consecutive Series At a Single Center. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2011; 73: AB162 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2011.03.151]
- 200 Suzuki H, Oda I, Yoshinaga S, Nonaka S, Saito Y. 664 Chronological Trends in Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection of Early Gastric Cancer. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB157 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.04.108]
- 201 Tajika M, Niwa Y, Bhatia V, Kondo S, Tanaka T, Mizuno N, Hara K, Hijioka S, Imaoka H, Ogura T, Haba S, Yamao K. Comparison of endoscopic submucosal dissection and endoscopic mucosal resection for large colorectal tumors. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 23: 1042-1049 [PMID: 21869682 DOI: 10.1097/ MEG.0b013e32834aa47b]
- 202 Abstracts presented at the 12th World Congress of the International Society for Diseases of the Esophagus, Kagoshima, Japan, September 2-5, 2010. *Dis Esophagus* 2010; 23 Suppl 1: 1A-134A
  [PMID: 21199113 DOI: 10.1111/j.1442-2050.2010.01101.x]
- 203 Takahashi H, Arimura Y, Masao H, Okahara S, Tanuma T, Kodaira J, Kagaya H, Shimizu Y, Hokari K, Tsukagoshi H, Shinomura Y, Fujita M. Endoscopic submucosal dissection is superior to conventional endoscopic resection as a curative treatment for early squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus (with video). *Gastrointest Endosc* 2010; 72: 255-264, 264.e1-264.e2 [PMID: 20541198 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2010.02.040]
- 204 Takahashi Y, Ichi Mizuno K, Kobayashi M, Takahashi K, Ki Nishigaki Y, Hashimoto S, Takeuchi M, Yamamoto T, Yutaka H, Yokoyama J, Ichi Sato Y. Long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal neoplasms. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 29: 51-313
- 205 Takenaka R, Kawahara Y, Hori K, Kawano S, Okada H, Takemoto K, Taira A, Tsugeno H, Fujiki S. Efficacy and safety of endoscopic submucosal dissection for esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Dis Esophagus* 2012; 25: 33A-180A
- 206 Takenaka R, Kawahara Y, Imagawa A, Yamasaki Y, Kono Y, Takemoto K, Taira A, Tsugeno H, Fujiki S. Sa1686 Repeat Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Locally Recurring Gastric Cancers. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; 75: AB244 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2012.04.206]
- 207 Takenaka R, Kawahara Y, Okada H, Hori K, Inoue M, Kawano S, Tanioka D, Tsuzuki T, Yagi S, Kato J, Uemura M, Ohara N, Yoshino T, Imagawa A, Fujiki S, Takata R, Yamamoto K. Risk factors associated with local recurrence of early gastric cancers after endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2008; 68: 887-894 [PMID: 18565523 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.03.1089]
- 208 Takeuchi Y, Iishi H, Tanaka S, Saito Y, Ikematsu H, Kudo SE, Sano Y, Hisabe T, Yahagi N, Saitoh Y, Igarashi M, Kobayashi K, Yamano H, Shimizu S, Tsuruta O, Inoue Y, Watanabe T, Nakamura H, Fujii T, Uedo N, Shimokawa T, Ishikawa H, Sugihara K. Factors associated with technical difficulties and adverse events of colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissection: retrospective exploratory factor analysis of a multicenter prospective cohort. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2014; 29: 1275-1284 [PMID: 24986141 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-014-1947-2]

- 209 Takimoto K, Ueda T, Shimamoto F, Kojima Y, Fujinaga Y, Kashiwa A, Yamauchi H, Matsuyama K, Toyonaga T, Yoshikawa T. Sedation with dexmedetomidine hydrochloride during endoscopic submucosal dissection of gastric cancer. *Dig Endosc* 2011; 23: 176-181 [PMID: 21429025 DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2010.01080. x]
- 210 Tamai N, Saito Y, Sakamoto T, Nakajima T, Matsuda T, Tajiri H. Mo1377 Safety and Effectiveness of Colorectal Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection in Elderly Patients: Clinical Outcomes Including Long-Term Follow-up. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2012; **75**: AB405 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.03.1083]
- 211 Tamaru Y, Tanaka S, Oka S, Hiraga Y, Kunihiro M, Nagata S, Furudoi A, Ninomiya Y, Asayama N, Shigita K, Hayashi N, Chayama K. Sa1570 A Multicenter Cohort Study of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Anorectal Tumor Close to the Dentate Line. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 81: AB265 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.03.1359]
- 212 Tamegai Y, Saito Y, Masaki N, Hinohara C, Oshima T, Kogure E, Liu Y, Uemura N, Saito K. Endoscopic submucosal dissection: a safe technique for colorectal tumors. *Endoscopy* 2007; **39**: 418-422 [PMID: 17516348 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-966427]
- 213 Tanaka M, Ono H, Kakushima N, Takizawa K, Takao T, Hotta K, Yamaguchi Y, Matsubayashi H. Long-term outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial esophageal squamous cell neoplasms. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 27: 59-438
- 214 Tanaka S, Oka S, Kaneko I, Hirata M, Mouri R, Kanao H, Yoshida S, Chayama K. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal neoplasia: possibility of standardization. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2007; 66: 100-107 [PMID: 17591481 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2007.02.032]
- 215 Toyanaga T, Man-I M, Ivanov D, Sanuki T, Morita Y, Kutsumi H, Inokuchi H, Azuma T. The results and limitations of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal tumors. *Acta Chir Iugosl* 2008; 55: 17-23 [PMID: 19069688 DOI: 10.2298/ACI0803017T]
- 216 Toyokawa T, Fujita I, Morikawa T, Okamoto A, Miyasaka R, Watanabe K, Horii J, Gobaru M, Terao M, Murakami T, Tomoda J. Clinical outcomes of ESD for early gastric neoplasms in elderly patients. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2011; 41: 474-478 [PMID: 21128933 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.2010.02428.x]
- 217 Toyokawa T, Inaba T, Izumikawa K, Fujita I, Horii J, Ishikawa S, Tomoda J, Kim JY, Do YR, Park K, Song HS, Lee KW, Kim SJ, Kim YJ, Kim JH, Park DJ, Kim HH, Lee JS, Yoon DH, Jang G, Kim JH, Kim YH, Son S, Kim JY, Park SI, Kim HR, Jung HY, Lee GH, Choi KD, Song HJ, Song HY, Shin JH, Cho KJ, Kim SB, Lin CC, Hsu CH, Tzen KY, Cheng JC, Lee JM, Wang HP, Huang PM, Hsu FM, Chen WW, Huang TC, Cheng AL. Efficacy of endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric neoplasms: Analysis of 1123 lesions. Ann Oncol 2012; 23: xi45-xi46 [DOI: 10.1093/ annonc/mds560]
- 218 Toyokawa T, Inaba T, Omote S, Izumikawa K, Horii J, Fujita I, Ishikawa S, Tomoda J. MIS3. gastric cancer. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015; 30: 27-71 [DOI: 10.1111/jgh.13089]
- 219 Toyonaga T, Man-I M, Morita Y, Sanuki T, Yoshida M, Kutsumi H, Inokuchi H, Azuma T. The new resources of treatment for early stage colorectal tumors: EMR with small incision and simplified endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Dig Endosc* 2009; 21 Suppl 1: S31-S37 [PMID: 19691730 DOI: 10.1111/j.1443-1661.2009.00872.x]
- 220 Toyonaga T, Man-i M, East JE, Nishino E, Ono W, Hirooka T, Ueda C, Iwata Y, Sugiyama T, Dozaiku T, Hirooka T, Fujita T, Inokuchi H, Azuma T. 1,635 Endoscopic submucosal dissection cases in the esophagus, stomach, and colorectum: complication rates and long-term outcomes. *Surg Endosc* 2013; 27: 1000-1008 [PMID: 23052530 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-012-2555-2]
- 221 Tseng MY, Lin JC, Huang TY, Shih YL, Chu HC, Chang WK, Hsieh TY, Chen PJ. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for early colorectal neoplasms: clinical experience in a tertiary medical center in taiwan. *Gastroenterol Res Pract* 2013; 2013: 891565 [PMID: 23533391 DOI: 10.1155/2013/891565]
- 222 **Tsujii Y**, Nishida T, Kawai N, Yamamoto K, Kitamura S, Yoshio T, Ogiyama H, Nakamura T, Komori M, Nishihara A,

Kato M, Yamada T, Iijima H, Tsujii M, Takehara T. Tu1278 Short-Term Outcomes of Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection (ESD) for rankingerficial Esophageal Neoplasms: a Multicenter Survey. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; **77**: AB484 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2013.03.759]

- 223 Tsujii Y, Nishida T, Nishiyama O, Yamamoto K, Kawai N, Yamaguchi S, Yamada T, Yoshio T, Kitamura S, Nakamura T, Nishihara A, Ogiyama H, Nakahara M, Komori M, Kato M, Hayashi Y, Shinzaki S, Iijima H, Michida T, Tsujii M, Takehara T. Clinical outcomes of endoscopic submucosal dissection for superficial esophageal neoplasms: a multicenter retrospective cohort study. *Endoscopy* 2015; 47: 775-783 [PMID: 25826277 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1391844]
- 224 Uemura M, Ishii N, Itoh T, Suzuki K, Fujita Y. Effects of carbon dioxide insufflation in esophageal endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2012; **59**: 734-737 [PMID: 22020910 DOI: 10.5754/hge11547]
- 225 Urabe Y, Hiyama T, Tanaka S, Yoshihara M, Arihiro K, Chayama K. Advantages of endoscopic submucosal dissection versus endoscopic oblique aspiration mucosectomy for superficial esophageal tumors. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2011; 26: 275-280 [PMID: 21261716 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2010.06503.x]
- 226 Uraoka T, Higashi R, Kato J, Kaji E, Suzuki H, Ishikawa S, Akita M, Hirakawa T, Saito S, Hori K, Kawahara Y, Mead RJ, Yamamoto K. Colorectal endoscopic submucosal dissection for elderly patients at least 80 years of age. *Surg Endosc* 2011; 25: 3000-3007 [PMID: 21484532 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-011-1660-y]
- 227 Wang NJ, Yao SZ, Linghu E, Lu ZS, Wang XD, Du H, Zhu J, Meng JY, Wang HB. Clinical study of endoscopic submucosal dissection(ESD) for 333 cases of early gastric cancer and previous cancer lesion. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2014; **109**: S46 [DOI: 10.1038/ ajg.2014.274]
- 228 Watanabe K, Ogata S, Kawazoe S, Watanabe K, Koyama T, Kajiwara T, Shimoda Y, Takase Y, Irie K, Mizuguchi M, Tsunada S, Iwakiri R, Fujimoto K. Clinical outcomes of EMR for gastric tumors: historical pilot evaluation between endoscopic submucosal dissection and conventional mucosal resection. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2006; 63: 776-782 [PMID: 16650537 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2005.08.049]
- 229 Watanabe T, Kume K, Taip M, Shibata M, Kubo H, Ejiri Y, Otsuki M. Gastric mucosal cancer smaller than 7mm can be treated with conventional endoscopic mucosal resection as effectively as with endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2010; 57: 668-673 [PMID: 20698247]
- 230 Wen J, Linghu E, Yang Y, Liu Q, Yang J, Wang S, Wang X, Du H, Meng J, Wang H, Lu Z. Effectiveness and safety of endoscopic submucosal dissection for intraepithelial neoplasia of the esophagogastric junction. *Chin Med J* (Engl) 2014; **127**: 417-422 [PMID: 24451944]
- 231 Xu LH, Jun Bo Q, Liu Gen G, Fei L, Ya Min W, Yu Ming L, Hua Sheng L. Treatment of gastric epithelial tumours by endoscopic submucosal dissection using an insulated-tip diathermic knife. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2011; 25: 97-101 [PMID: 21321682]
- 232 Xu MD, Wang XY, Li QL, Zhou PH, Yao LQ. Clinicopathology and outcome of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal laterally spreading tumors. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 27: 59-438
- 233 Xu MD, Wang XY, Li QL, Zhou PH, Zhang YQ, Zhong YS, Chen WF, Ma LL, Qin WZ, Hu JW, Yao LQ. Colorectal lateral spreading tumor subtypes: clinicopathology and outcome of endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2013; 28: 63-72 [PMID: 22842665 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-012-1543-2]
- 234 Yamada M, Oda I, Nonaka S, Suzuki H, Yoshinaga S, Taniguchi H, Sekine S, Kushima R, Saito Y, Gotoda T. Long-term outcome of endoscopic resection of superficial adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction. *Endoscopy* 2013; 45: 992-996 [PMID: 24288219 DOI: 10.1055/s-0033-1344862]
- 235 Yamada T, Nishida T, Shinzaki S, Maekawa A, Tsujii Y, Kato M, Hayashi Y, Akasaka T, Kondo J, Watabe K, Iijima H, Tsujii M, Takehara T. Su1490 Esophageal Endoscopic Submucosal

Dissection Using in Combination With Scissors-Type Device. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB344 [DOI: 10.1016/ j.gie.2013.03.1143]

- 236 Yamaguchi Y, Katusmi N, Aoki K, Toki M, Nakamura K, Abe N, Morozumi K, Sugiyama M, Ishida H, Takahashi S. Resection area of 15 mm as dividing line for choosing strip biopsy or endoscopic submucosal dissection for mucosal gastric neoplasm. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2007; **41**: 472-476 [PMID: 17450029 DOI: 10.1097/01.mcg.0000247987.02677.b3]
- 237 Yamamoto K, Hayashi S, Saiki H, Indo N, Nakabori T, Yamamoto M, Shibuya M, Nishida T, Ichiba M, Inada M. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for large superficial colorectal tumors using the "clip-flap method". *Endoscopy* 2015; 47: 262-265 [PMID: 25412089 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1390739]
- 238 Yamamoto S, Uedo N, Ishihara R, Kajimoto N, Ogiyama H, Fukushima Y, Yamamoto S, Takeuchi Y, Higashino K, Iishi H, Tatsuta M. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer performed by supervised residents: assessment of feasibility and learning curve. *Endoscopy* 2009; **41**: 923-928 [PMID: 19802773 DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1215129]
- 239 Yamashita T, Zeniya A, Ishii H, Tsuji T, Tsuda S, Nakane K, Komatsu M. Endoscopic mucosal resection using a cap-fitted panendoscope and endoscopic submucosal dissection as optimal endoscopic procedures for superficial esophageal carcinoma. *Surg Endosc* 2011; 25: 2541-2546 [PMID: 21359894 DOI: 10.1007/ s00464-011-1584-6]
- 240 Yang DH, Bae JH, Soh JS, Lee S, Lee HS, Lee HJ, Park SH, Kim KJ, Ye BD, Byeon JS, Myung SJ, Yang SK, Kim HG, Friedland S. 722 Endoscopic Mucosal Resection With Circumferential Precut (Precut EMR) for Colorectal Neoplasia: Comparative Analysis With Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2015; 81: AB168 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2015.03.123]
- 241 Yoon JY, Shim CN, Chung SH, Park W, Chung H, Lee H, Shin SK, Lee SK, Lee YC, Park JC. Impact of tumor location on clinical outcomes of gastric endoscopic submucosal dissection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2014; 20: 8631-8637 [PMID: 25024619 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i26.8631]
- 242 Yoshida N, Naito Y, Kugai M, Inoue K, Wakabayashi N, Yagi N, Yanagisawa A, Yoshikawa T. Efficient hemostatic method for endoscopic submucosal dissection of colorectal tumors. *World J Gastroenterol* 2010; 16: 4180-4186 [PMID: 20806436]
- 243 Yoshida N, Naito Y, Sakai K, Sumida Y, Kanemasa K, Inoue K, Morimoto Y, Konishi H, Wakabayashi N, Kokura S, Yagi N, Yanagisawa A, Yoshikawa T. Outcome of endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal tumors in elderly people. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2010; 25: 455-461 [PMID: 19921221 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-009-0841-9]
- 244 Yoshida N, Wakabayashi N, Sakai K, Kanemasa K, Sumida Y, Inoue K, Morimoto Y, Kashiwa A, Konishi H, Yagi N, Naito Y, Yoshikawa T. Analysis of Efficient Mucosal Resection and Complications in Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Colorectal Tumors. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2009; 69: AB380 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.03.1148]
- 245 Yoshioka T, Nishida T, Tsujii M, Kato M, Hayashi Y, Komori M, Yoshihara H, Nakamura T, Egawa S, Yoshio T, Yamada T, Yabuta T, Yamamoto K, Kinoshita K, Kawai N, Ogiyama H, Nishihara A, Michida T, Iijima H, Shintani A, Takehara T. Renal dysfunction is an independent risk factor for bleeding after gastric ESD. *Endosc Int Open* 2015; **3**: E39-E45 [PMID: 26134770 DOI: 10.1055/ s-0034-1390762]
- Zhong Y, Pinghong Z, Yao LQ, Xu MD, Chen T. Tu1451 Endoscopic Submucosal Dissection for Colorectal Submucosal Tumors: a Large Study of 255 Cases. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2013; 77: AB545 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2013.03.932]
- 247 Zhong YS, Yao LQ, Xu JM, Zhou PH, Wu HF, Xu MD. The value of endoscopic submucosal dissection treating flat rectal precancer or cancer in-situ lesions. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2012; 27: 59-438
- 248 Zhou PH, Yao LQ, Qin XY. Endoscopic submucosal dissection for colorectal epithelial neoplasm. *Surg Endosc* 2009; 23: 1546-1551 [PMID: 19263116 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-009-0395-5]

WJG | www.wjgnet.com

#### Daoud DC et al. Comparing Eastern to Western ESD

- 249 Zhu LY, Dai J, Zhao YJ, Xue HB, Ge ZZ, Li XB. Endoscopic resection for gastric epithelial neoplasia: how to solve pathological discrepancy and achieve curative resection? *J Dig Dis* 2013; 14: 231-237 [PMID: 23297845 DOI: 10.1111/1751-2980.12032]
- 250 Barret M, Lepilliez V, Coumaros D, Chaussade S, Leblanc S, Ponchon T, Fumex F, Chabrun E, Bauret P, Cellier C, Coron E, Bichard P, Bulois P, Charachon A, Rahmi G, Bellon S, Lerhun M, Arpurt JP, Koch S, Napoleon B, Vaillant E, Esch A, Farhat S, Robin F, Kaddour N, Prat F; Société Française d'Endoscopie Digestive (SFED). The expansion of endoscopic submucosal

dissection in France: A prospective nationwide survey. *United European Gastroenterol J* 2017; **5**: 45-53 [PMID: 28405321 DOI: 10.1177/2050640616644392]

- 251 Fuccio L, Repici A, Hassan C, Ponchon T, Bhandari P, Jover R, Triantafyllou K, Mandolesi D, Frazzoni L, Bellisario C, Bazzoli F, Sharma P, Rösch T, Rex DK. Why attempt en bloc resection of non-pedunculated colorectal adenomas? A systematic review of the prevalence of superficial submucosal invasive cancer after endoscopic submucosal dissection. *Gut* 2017; Epub ahead of print [PMID: 29208675 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-315103]
- P- Reviewer: Kim BW, Nishida T, Sugimoto M S- Editor: Gong ZM L- Editor: A E- Editor: Huang Y







# Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

7901 Stoneridge Drive, Suite 501, Pleasanton, CA 94588, USA Telephone: +1-925-223-8242 Fax: +1-925-223-8243 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: http://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk http://www.wjgnet.com





© 2018 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.